

# Federal Technology Transfer Legislation and Policy

# The Green Book

Prepared by the Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer



I			



## Federal Technology Transfer Legislation and Policy The Green Book

Prepared by the Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer

I			

# Seventh Edition ©2023 Those portions of this work prepared by United States Government personnel are not covered by copyright. The United States Government may have certain rights in this copyright. The Green Book iii

#### OTHER FLC PUBLICATIONS AND RESOURCES

In addition to *The Green Book*, the FLC offers a wide range of publications and materials for technology transfer (T2) professionals and the general public. These publications and resources include:

- FLC Technology Transfer Desk Reference—A comprehensive introduction to T2 and the background, concepts, and practical knowledge required for T2 practitioners. This guide offers a great primer for Office of Research and Technology Applications (ORTA) personnel and others new to the T2 field.
- Technology Transfer Playbook—An online compilation of 15 key "plays," or best practices, currently being utilized at federal laboratories nationwide to improve the T2 process.
- Success Stories Gallery—The FLC's online gallery that features stories of successfully commercialized federal laboratory technology from over the years. Located on the FLC website, the Gallery is searchable by state, region, agency, or laboratory and includes an interactive U.S. map.
- LabTech in Your Life—An interactive virtual environment that reveals the common technologies people use every day that were originally developed inside a federal laboratory and later introduced to the commercial marketplace.
- Learning Center—A variety of interactive e-courses, on-demand webinars, and white papers on diverse technology transfer topics, hosted on the FLC website.
- FLC Business—An online comprehensive database designed for industry, agencies, and academia to search the abundance of federal laboratories, readyto-license technologies, facilities, equipment, programs, and funding resources available to aid business development and accelerate technology transfer.
- FLC Digest—A customized digital newsletter that features FLC news, T2 and member laboratory news, ready-for-transfer technologies, events, careers, and more.
- FLC Annual Report to the President and Congress—Published annually, the FLC Annual Report details the organization's mission initiatives, activities, efforts, and achievements that take place during a fiscal year period.
- FLC Planner—An annual collection of images that showcases the innovative scientific and technological research and development that takes place every day throughout our federal laboratory system.
- T2 Mechanisms Database—An online reference guide to technology transfer mechanisms used by federal agencies. This product includes a searchable database to help users explore the wide variety of T2 agreement paths available and locate sample agreements used at various agencies.

All of these resources are available on the FLC website, www.federallabs.org.

#### **CONTENTS**

OTHER FLC PUBLICATIONS AND RESOURCES	4
CONTENTS	
INTRODUCTION TO TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER LEGISLATION AND POLICY	11
TECHNOLOGY INNOVATION LEGISLATION HIGHLIGHTS	13
STEVENSON-WYDLER TECHNOLOGY INNOVATION ACT OF 1980 (P.L. 96-480)	
BAYH-DOLE ACT OF 1980 (P.L. 96-517)	13
SMALL BUSINESS INNOVATION DEVELOPMENT ACT OF 1982 (P.L. 97-219)	13
FEDERAL TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER ACT OF 1986 (P.L. 99-502)	
EXECUTIVE ORDER 12591 (1987)	14
OMNIBUS TRADE AND COMPETITIVENESS ACT OF 1988 (P.L. 100-418)	
NATIONAL COMPETITIVENESS TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER ACT OF 1989 (P.L. 101-189)	
AMERICAN TECHNOLOGY PREEMINENCE ACT OF 1991 (P.L. 102-245)	15
SMALL BUSINESS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ENHANCEMENT ACT OF 1992 (P.L. 102-564)	
NATIONAL DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE AUTHORIZATION ACT FOR 1994 (P.L. 103-160)	
NATIONAL TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER AND ADVANCEMENT ACT OF 1995 (P.L. 104-113)	
TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER COMMERCIALIZATION ACT OF 2000 (P.L. 106-404)	
ENERGY POLICY ACT OF 2005 (P.L. 109-58)	
AMERICA COMPETES ACT (P.L. 110-69)	
AMERICA INVENTS ACT (P.L. 112-29) OTHER LEGISLATION	
UNITED STATES CODE	
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS	
SECTION 1	
Technology Innovation Legislation Applicable to All Federal Agencies	
U.S.C. TITLE 15 — COMMERCE AND TRADE	
CHAPTER 63 — TECHNOLOGY INNOVATION	
§3701. Findings	
§3702. Purpose	
§3703. Definitions	
§3704. Experimental Program to Stimulate Competitive Technology	
§3704a. Clearinghouse for State and Local Initiatives on Productivity, Technology, and Innovation	
§3704b. National Technical Information Service	
§3704b-2. Transfer of Federal Scientific and Technical Information	
§3705. Cooperative Research Centers	
§3706. Grants and Cooperative Agreements	
§3707. National Science Foundation Cooperative Research Centers	
§3708. Administrative Arrangements	
§3710. Utilization of Federal Technology	35
§3710a. Cooperative Research and Development Agreements	40
§3710b. Rewards for Scientific, Engineering, and Technical Personnel of Federal Agencies	45
§3710c. Distribution of Royalties Received by Federal Agencies	45
§3710d. Employee Activities	47
§3711. National Technology and Innovation Medal	48
§3712. Personnel Exchanges	
§3715. Use of Partnership Intermediaries	
§3719. Prize Competitions	
§638. Research and Development (SBIR/STTR)	
U.S.C. TITLE 35 — PATENTS	
Patentability of Inventions and Grant of Patents (AIA)	
CHAPTER 10 — PATENTABILITY OF INVENTIONS (§100-§105)	
§100. Definitions	
§101. Inventions Patentable	
§102. Conditions for Patentability; Novelty	
groz. Conditions for rateritability, recording	50

§103. Conditions for Patentability; Non-Obvious Subject Matter	57
§105. Inventions in Outer Space	57
CHAPTER 18 — PATENT RIGHTS IN INVENTIONS MADE WITH FEDERAL ASSISTANCE	57
§200. Policy and Objective	57
§201. Definitions	58
§202. Disposition of Rights	59
§203. March-in Rights	
§204. Preference for United States Industry	
§205. Confidentiality	
§206. Uniform Clauses and Regulations.	
§207. Domestic and Foreign Protection of Federally Owned Inventions	
§208. Regulations Governing Federal Licensing	
§209. Licensing Federally Owned Inventions	
§210. Precedence of Chapter	
§212. Disposition of Rights in Educational Awards	
U.S.C. TITLE 17 — COPYRIGHTS	
§105. Subject Matter of Copyright: United States Government Works	
U.S.C. TITLE 18 — CRIMES AND CRIMINAL PROCEDURE	
§208. Acts Affecting a Personal Financial Interest	
§209. Salary of Government Officials and Employees Payable Only by United States	
§1905. Disclosure of Confidential Information Generally	
•	
SECTION 2	
Federal Regulations Relating to Technology Transfer	
U.S.C. TITLE 37— PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, AND COPYRIGHTS	
FEDERAL ENTITIESFEDERAL ENTITIES	
§17.1. Scope	
§17.1. Scope	
§17.2. Definitions \$17.2. Definitions \$17.3. Exchange of Federal Laboratory Personnel with Recipients of Federal Funding	
§17.3. Exchange of Federal Laboratory Personnel With Recipients of Federal Funding	
§17.5. Personnel Exchanges to a Federal Laboratory	
Under Government Grants, Contracts, and Cooperative Agreements	
§401.1. Scope	
§401.2. Definitions	
§401.3. Use of the Standard Clauses at §401.14	
§401.4. Contractor Appeals of Exceptions	
§401.5. Modification and Tailoring of Clauses	
§401.6. Exercise of March-in Rights	
§401.7. Small Business Preference	
§401.8. Reporting on Utilization of Subject Inventions	
§401.9. Retention of Rights by Contractor Employee Inventor	
§401.10. Government Assignment to Contractor of Rights in Invention of Government Employe	
§401.11. Appeals	
§401.12. Licensing of Background Patent Rights to Third Parties	
§401.13. Administration of Patent Rights Clauses	
§401.14. Standard Patent Rights Clauses	
§401.15. Deferred Determinations	
§401.16. Electronic Filing	
§401.17. Submissions and Inquiries	
37 CFR PART 404 — LICENSING OF GOVERNMENT-OWNED INVENTIONS	97
37 CFR PART 501 — UNIFORM PATENT POLICY FOR RIGHTS IN INVENTIONS MADE BY	
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES	
§501.1. Purpose	
§501.2. Scope	105

§501.3. Definitions	105
§501.4. Determination of Inventions and Rights	106
§501.5. Agency Liaison Officer	106
§501.6. Criteria for the Determination of Rights in and to Inventions	106
§501.7. Agency Determination	
§501.8. Appeals by Employees	107
§501.9. Patent Protection	108
§501.10. Dissemination of this Part and of Implementing Regulations	109
§501.11. Submissions and Inquiries	109
SECTION 3	
Special Legislative Provisions Applicable to Specific Agencies	111
U.S.C. TITLE 10 — ARMED FORCES	
CHAPTER 111 — SUPPORT OF SCIENCE, MATHEMATICS, AND ENGINEERING EDUCATION	113
§2193. Improvement of Education in Technical Fields: Grants for Higher Education in Science and	
Mathematics	
§2194. Education Partnerships	
§2195. Department of Defense Cooperative Education Programs	
§2260. Licensing of Intellectual Property: Retention of Fees	
§2563. Articles and Services of Industrial Facilities: Sale to Persons Outside the Department of Defe	
§3243. Encouragement of New Competitors: Qualification Requirement	
§4001. Research and Development Projects	
§4021. Research Projects: Transactions Other than Contracts and Grants	
§4025. Prizes for Advanced Technology Achievements	
§4175. Use of Test and Evaluation Installations by Commercial Entitie	
§4543. Army Industrial Facilities: Sales of Manufactured Articles or Services Outside Department of Defense	
§4831. Defense Dual-Use Critical Technology Program	
§4832. Encouragement of Technology Transfer	
§4892. Availability of Samples, Drawings, Information, Equipment, Materials, and Certain Services.	
U.S.C. TITLE 16 — CONSERVATION	
CHAPTER 36 — FOREST AND RANGELAND RENEWABLE RESOURCES PLANNING	
§1650. Hardwood Technology Transfer and Applied Research	
U.S.C. TITLE 23 — HIGHWAYS	
CHAPTER 5 — RESEARCH, TECHNOLOGY, AND EDUCATION	
§502. Surface Transportation Research, Development, and Technology	134
U.S.C. TITLE 42 — THE PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELFARE	
CHAPTER 6A — PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE	141
§241. Research and Investigations Generally [an excerpt]	141
§282. Director of National Institutes of Health [an excerpt]	141
§283q. Eureka Prize Competitions	141
§284. Directors of National Research Institutes [an excerpt]	142
CHAPTER 23 — DEVELOPMENT AND CONTROL OF ATOMIC ENERGY	143
§2053. Research for Others; Charges	143
CHAPTER 84 — DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY	
§7261. Acquisition of Copyrights, Patents, etc.	
CHAPTER 149 — NATIONAL ENERGY POLICY AND PROGRAMS	
§16358. Strategic Research Portfolio Analysis and Coordination Plan	
§16391. Improved Technology Transfer of Energy Technologies	
§16396. Prizes for Achievement in Grand Challenges of Science and Technology	
§16538. Advanced Research Projects Agency-Energy	
CHAPTER 152 — ENERGY INDEPENDENCE AND SECURITY	
§17243. Bright Tomorrow Lighting Prizes	
TITLE 47 — TELECOMMUNICATIONS	163

CHAPTER 14 — MAKING OPPORTUNITIES FOR BROADBAND INVESTMENT AND LIMITING EXCESSIVE AND NEEDLESS OBSTACLES TO WIRELESS	163
§1509. Spectrum Challenge Prize	
TITLE 51 — NATIONAL AND COMMERCIAL SPACE PROGRAMS	
CHAPTER 201 — NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE PROGRAM	
§20113. Powers of the Administration in Performance of Functions [an excerpt]	
Section 4	
Executive Guidance	
EXECUTIVE ORDER 10096	
EXECUTIVE ORDER 12591 - FACILITATING ACCESS TO SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY	169
PRESIDENTIAL MEMORANDUM – ACCELRATING TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER AND	
COMMERCIALIZATION OF FEDERAL RESEARCH IN SUPPORT OF HIGH-GROWTH BUSINES	
	172
EXECUTIVE ORDER 14104 – FEDERAL RESERCH AND EVELOPMENT IN SUPPORT OF	175
DOMESTIC MANUFACTURING AND UNITED STATES JOBS	
Section 5	
OFFICE OF GOVERNMENT AND ETHICS ON EMPLOYEE PRIOR INVENTIONS	
OFFICE OF GOVERNMENT AND ETHICS ON EMPLOYEE FRIOR INVENTIONS	
18 U.S.C. §203 and 205 (Representation)	
5 C.F.R. §2635.807 (Teaching, Speaking, and Writing) and 18 U.S.C. §209 (Supplementation of	
Federal Salary)	
18 U.S.C. §208	
5 C.F.R. §2635.502 (Impartiality)	
SEPTEMBER 13, 1993	
MEMORANDUM FOR STEPHEN D. POTTS DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF GOVERNMENT ETHICS	185
18 U.S.C. §208(a)	186
18 U.S.C. §208(b)	186
15 U.S.C. §3710d	189
C.F.R. §101.8.	189
RIGHTS TO FEDERALLY FUNDED INVENTIONS AND LICENSING OF GOVERNMENT OWNED	
INVENTIONS	
INDEX	10/

#### **Our Contributors**

The FLC would like to recognize the following authors:

Elizabeth Arwine, Department of Defense

Bruce Goldstein, Department of health and Human Services

Kent Hibben, Department of Energy

Zarpheen Jinnah, Department of health and Human Services

James Kasischke, Department of Defense

Marianne Lynch, Department of Energy

Amy Thomsen, FLC Staff

Paul Zielinski, FLC Staff

# INTRODUCTION TO TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER LEGISLATION AND POLICY

Over the past several decades, presidents, Congress and federal agencies have worked together to establish a policy framework that enables the federal government to transfer its technology to the nonfederal sector, which includes industry, academic institutions and state and local governments. Through this technology transfer process, federal laboratories share the benefits of the national investment in research and development (R&D) with all segments of society.

The Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer (FLC) is pleased to publish Federal Technology Transfer Legislation and Policy, 7th Edition (2023), which provides the principal statutory, regulatory and executive policies that constitute the framework of the federal technology transfer program. This publication, known as The Green Book, is intended to assist government policymakers and technology transfer practitioners by serving as a legal reference resource. The Green Book also aims to help those outside the government acquire a fundamental understanding of the legal framework within which technology transfer works.

The FLC published its first consolidated guide to technology transfer legislation in 1991. Subsequent editions were published in 1994, 2005, 2009, 2013 and 2018.

The newest edition of *The Green Book* provides insight into R&D and updated information from Title 35 on Patents as well as the addition of Titles 17 (copyrights) and 18 (crimes and criminal procedure regarding financial interests, payments and disclosure of confidential information). Section 5 provides a new chapter focused on policies, including the Office of Legal Counsel's memorandum on Ethics Issues Related to the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986 and the National Institute of Standards and Technology's final rule on Rights to Federally Funded Inventions and Licensing of Government Owned Inventions.

The Green Book is not intended to be used as the authoritative state of the law, and this edition does not contain statutory notes. Each section heading links to the law as it stood at the time of publication. Links are also provided at the bottom of each page for the reader to refer to the website of the U.S. House of Representatives Office of the Law Revision Counsel (http://uscode.house.gov) for the legislative history

and the latest changes to the U.S. Code section(s) of interest and the National Archives Code of Federal Regulations (www.ecfr.gov) for current laws.

The reader is advised that, although this guide includes the legislation and policies that establish technology transfer policy, as well as many federal departments' and agencies' regulations concerning its practice, each department or agency may develop its own policies, procedures and boilerplate agreements that further guide how technology transfer works within its organization.

The FLC's mission is to support federal laboratories in maximizing the impact of technology transfer for the benefit of the United States. To advance this mission, our staff and numerous committees led by federal technology transfer professionals are happy to offer assistance in response to your questions. Additional information about the consortium can be found at the FLC website (www.federallabs.org), along with a digital, mobile-friendly version of *The Green Book*. If you have a question or would like a print edition of *The Green Book*, please send your request to info@federallabs.org.

Respectfully,

Linda Burger, Chair

Linda L. Burger

Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer

Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer

For more information about the FLC, contact: Website: www.federallabs.org

#### TECHNOLOGY INNOVATION LEGISLATION HIGHLIGHTS

Since 1980, Congress has enacted a series of laws to promote technology transfer and to provide technology transfer mechanisms and incentives. The intent of these laws and related Executive Orders is to encourage the pooling of resources when developing commercial technologies. The bidirectional sharing between federal laboratories and private industry includes not only technologies, but personnel, facilities, methods, expertise, and technical information in general. Highlights of major technology transfer legislation are discussed within this section.

#### STEVENSON-WYDLER TECHNOLOGY INNOVATION ACT OF 1980 (P.L. 96-480)

The Stevenson-Wydler Act of 1980 is the first of a continuing series of laws that define and promote technology transfer. This Act made it easier for federal laboratories to transfer technology to nonfederal parties and provided outside organizations with a means to access federal laboratory developments.

The primary focus of the Stevenson-Wydler Act concerned the dissemination of information from the federal government and getting federal laboratories more involved in the technology transfer process. The law requires laboratories to take an active role in technical cooperation and to set apart a percentage of the laboratory budget specifically for technology transfer activities. The law also established an Office of Research and Technology Applications (ORTA) in each laboratory to coordinate and promote technology transfer.

#### **BAYH-DOLE ACT OF 1980 (P.L. 96-517)**

The Bayh-Dole Act of 1980, together with P.L. 98-620, established more boundaries regarding patents and licenses for federally funded research and development. Small businesses, universities, and not- for-profit organizations were allowed to obtain titles to inventions developed with federal funds. Government owned and government operated (GOGO) laboratories were permitted to grant exclusive patent licenses to commercial organizations.

#### SMALL BUSINESS INNOVATION DEVELOPMENT ACT OF 1982 (P.L. 97-219)

The Small Business Innovation Development Act of 1982 established the Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) Program, requiring agencies to provide special funds for small business R&D connected to the agencies' missions.

SBIR is a highly competitive program designed to encourage innovation, as well as the commercialization of products and processes developed by small businesses through federal funds. Each year, 11 federal departments and agencies are required to reserve a portion (3.2 percent in FY 2023) of their extramural R&D budgets for SBIR awards. These agencies designate SBIR R&D topics and accept proposals. SBIR awards or grants are awarded competitively to U.S.-owned commercial businesses of fewer than 500 employees that submit proposals addressing topics published by the agencies. In response, agencies make SBIR awards based on technical merit, degree of innovation, and future market potential. Award of a contract or grant provides entry to a three-phase program. Participants are down-selected through the phases, with the objective of phase III being commercialization or use of the innovation. The SBIR Program provides protection for data created in the program, and the awardee obtains title to any inventions made by its participation. There are special considerations when an SBIR awardee partners with a federal laboratory. For more information on the SBIR Program, visit the SBA SBIR/STTR website at <a href="https://www.sbir.gov">www.sbir.gov</a>.

#### FEDERAL TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER ACT OF 1986 (P.L. 99-502)

The Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986 was the second major piece of legislation to focus directly on technology transfer. All federal laboratory scientists and engineers are required to consider technology transfer an individual responsibility, and technology transfer activities are to be considered in employee performance evaluations.

This 1986 law also established a charter and funding mechanism for the previously existing Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer (FLC). In addition, the law enabled GOGO laboratories to enter into Cooperative Research and Development Agreements (CRADAs) and to negotiate licensing arrangements for patented inventions made at the laboratories. It also required that government-employed inventors share in royalties from patent licenses. Further, the law provided for the exchange of personnel, services, and equipment among the laboratories and nonfederal partners.

Other specific requirements, incentives, and authorities were added, including the ability of GOGO laboratories to grant or waive rights to laboratory inventions and intellectual property and permission for current and former federal employees to participate in commercial development, to the extent that there is no conflict of interest.

#### **EXECUTIVE ORDER 12591 (1987)**

Executive Order 12591, Facilitating Access to Science and Technology (1987), was written to ensure that federal laboratories and agencies assist universities and the private sector by transferring technical knowledge. The order required agency and laboratory heads to identify and encourage individuals who would act as conduits of information among federal laboratories, universities, and the private sector. It also underscored the government's commitment to technology transfer and urged GOGO laboratories to enter into cooperative agreements to the limits permitted by law.

The order also promoted commercialization of federally funded inventions by requiring that, to the extent permitted by law, laboratories grant to contractors the title to patents developed in whole or in part with federal funds, as long as the government is given a royalty-free license for use.

#### OMNIBUS TRADE AND COMPETITIVENESS ACT OF 1988 (P.L. 100-418)

The Omnibus Trade and Competitiveness Act of 1988 emphasized the need for public/private cooperation in realizing the benefits of R&D, established centers for transferring manufacturing technology, established Industrial Extension Services and an information clearinghouse on state and local technology programs, and extended royalty payment requirements to non-government employees of federal laboratories. It also changed the name of the National Bureau of Standards to the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) and broadened its technology transfer role, including making NIST the FLC's host agency.

# NATIONAL COMPETITIVENESS TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER ACT OF 1989 (P.L. 101-189)

The National Competitiveness Technology Transfer Act of 1989 provided additional guidelines and coverage for the use of CRADAs, extending to government owned and contractor operated (GOCO) laboratories essentially the same ability to enter into CRADAs that previously had been granted to GOGO laboratories by the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986.

To protect the commercial nature of the agreements, the Act allowed information and innovations that were created through a CRADA, or brought into a CRADA, to be protected from disclosure to third parties. The Act also provided a technology transfer mission for the Department of Energy's (DOE) nuclear weapons laboratories.

#### AMERICAN TECHNOLOGY PREEMINENCE ACT OF 1991 (P.L. 102-245)

The American Technology Preeminence Act of 1991 contained several provisions covering the FLC and the use of CRADAs. The mandate for the FLC was extended to 1996, the requirement that the FLC conduct a grant program was removed, and a requirement for an independent annual audit was added.

With respect to CRADAs, the Act included intellectual property as a potential laboratory contribution under CRADAs. The exchanging of intellectual property among the parties to an agreement was allowed. It also allowed laboratory directors to give excess equipment to educational institutions and nonprofit organizations as a gift.

# SMALL BUSINESS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ENHANCEMENT ACT OF 1992 (P.L. 102-564)

This Act established the Small Business Technology Transfer (STTR) Program. STTR is a three-phase program similar to the SBIR Program in many ways. The key differences are that STTR funding is available only from five agencies, and the small business must partner a minimum of 30% of the effort with a U.S. college or university, nonprofit research organization, or federally funded research and development center (FFRDC). The designated agencies select R&D topics, accept proposals, and award grants for a three-phase program that mirrors the SBIR Program. Awards are based on small business/nonprofit research institution qualifications, degree of innovation, and future market potential. The STTR Program provides early-stage R&D funding directly to small companies working cooperatively with researchers at other research institutions. The objectives of the STTR Program are to bridge the funding gap between basic research and commercial products, and to provide a way for researchers to pursue commercial applications of technologies. Unlike SBIR, a small business may partner with a federal laboratory that is an FFRDC without the need of a waiver from SBA. For more information about the STTR Program, visit the SBA SBIR/STTR website www.sbir.gov.

# NATIONAL DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE AUTHORIZATION ACT FOR 1994 (P.L. 103-160)

This Act broadened the definition of a laboratory to include weapons production facilities at the DOE.

# NATIONAL TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER AND ADVANCEMENT ACT OF 1995 (P.L. 104-113)

This law amended the Stevenson-Wydler Act to make CRADAs more attractive to both federal laboratories and scientists and to private industry. The law provides assurances to U.S. companies that they will be granted sufficient intellectual property rights to justify prompt commercialization of inventions arising from a CRADA with a federal laboratory and gives the collaborating party in a CRADA the right to choose an exclusive or nonexclusive license for a pre-negotiated field of use for an invention resulting from joint research under a CRADA. The CRADA partner may also retain title to an invention made solely by its employees in exchange for granting the government a worldwide license to use the invention. Financial rewards for federal scientists who develop marketable technology were revised—increasing the annual limit of payment of royalties to laboratories from \$100,000 per person to \$150,000.

In addition, the Act permanently provided the FLC with funding from the agencies.

#### TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER COMMERCIALIZATION ACT OF 2000 (P.L. 106-404)

This Act recognizes the success of CRADAs for federal technology transfer and broadens the CRADA licensing authority to include preexisting government inventions to make CRADAs more attractive to private industry and increase the transfer of federal technology. The Act permits federal laboratories to grant a license for a federally owned invention that was created prior to the signing of a CRADA. In addition, the Act requires an agency to provide a 15-day public notice before granting an exclusive or partially exclusive license and requires licensees to provide a plan for development and/or marketing of the invention and to make a commitment to achieve a practical application of the invention within a reasonable period of time; however, the Act exempts from these requirements the licensing of any inventions made under a CRADA.

#### ENERGY POLICY ACT OF 2005 (P.L. 109-58)

This Act established, within the Department of Energy, a technology transfer coordinator as the principal advisor to the Secretary on all matters related to technology transfer and commercialization; a technology transfer working group to coordinate technology transfer activities at the DOE labs (with oversight by the technology transfer coordinator); and an energy technology commercialization fund to provide matching funds with private partners to promote energy technologies for commercial purposes.

#### **AMERICA COMPETES ACT (P.L. 110-69)**

This Act authorized programs in multiple agencies focused on the overarching themes of increasing funding for basic research; strengthening teacher capabilities and encouraging student opportunities in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) educational programs; enhancing support for higher risk, higher reward research; and supporting early career research programs for young investigators. The primary impact on technology transfer included the elimination of the Department of Commerce Office of Technology Administration, and the associated Under Secretary, which had the principal reporting and analytical responsibilities for technology transfer activities government-wide (these duties were reassigned within Commerce).

#### **AMERICA INVENTS ACT (P.L. 112-29)**

This law made major changes to the United States patent system. The most prominent change was changing the patent system from a first to invent system to a hybrid first inventor to file system. The inventor with the earliest filed patent application is entitled to the patent, not the earliest inventor. This harmonized the U.S. patent system with much of the rest of the world, with the goal of making it more efficient, predictable, and easier for entrepreneurs to simultaneously market products worldwide. The law also allowed filing of patent applications by the owners of interests in the invention, rather than exclusively by the inventor. This simplified processing of inventions when inventors are obligated to assign their inventions to their employer. The law also established administrative procedures for challenging patents in order to improve patent quality.

#### OTHER LEGISLATION

Other laws and policies that are part of the technology transfer effort include the following:

- The Cooperative Research Act of 1984 (P.L. 98-462) established several R&D consortia (e.g., Semiconductor Research Corporation and Microelectronics and Computer Technology Corporation) and eliminated some of the antitrust concerns of companies wishing to pool R&D resources.
- P.L. 98-620 permitted patent license decisions to be made at the laboratory level in GOCO laboratories and permitted contractors to receive patent royalties to support the R&D effort. Private companies were also permitted to obtain exclusive licenses.
- <u>The Japanese Technical Literature Act of 1986 (P.L. 99-382)</u> improved the availability of Japanese science and engineering literature in the U.S.
- The National Institute of Standards and Technology Authorization Act for FY 1989 (P.L. 100-519) permitted contractual consideration for intellectual property rights other than patents in CRADAs and included software developers as eligible for technology transfer awards.
- The Defense Authorization Act for FY 1991 (P.L. 101-510) established model programs for national defense laboratories to demonstrate successful relationships between the federal government, state and local governments, and small businesses and permitted those laboratories to enter into a contract or a Memorandum of Understanding with an intermediary to perform services related to cooperative or joint activities with small businesses. This established Partnership Intermediary Agreements.
- The National Defense Authorization Act for FY 1993 (P.L. 102-484) extended the
  potential for CRADAs to some Department of Defense-funded FFRDCs not owned by
  the government.
- <u>37 CFR Parts 401 and 404</u> were revised in 2018 to update regulations related to rights in federally funded inventions and the licensing of government-owned inventions to conform with changes in patent laws and address subject inventions when a federal employee is a co- inventor.
- A variety of authorities have been given to agencies over the last ten years to award prizes based on solving technical problems.

#### **UNITED STATES CODE**

All of the legislation included in *The Green Book* is embodied in the United States Code (U.S.C.), which is the codification by subject matter of the general and permanent laws of the United States. The U.S. Code is divided by broad subjects into 53 Titles (1-54, except 53 is reserved) and is published once every six years by the Office of the Law Revision Counsel of the

U.S. House of Representatives pursuant to <u>2 U.S.C.</u> §285b. Each Title of the U.S.C. is subdivided into a combination of smaller units such as subtitles, chapters, parts, subparts, and sections, not necessarily in that order. Sections are again often subdivided into a combination of smaller units such as subsections, paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses, subclauses, and items. In addition to the sections themselves, the U.S.C. includes statutory provisions set out as statutory notes, the Constitution, several sets of Federal court rules, and certain Presidential documents, such as Executive Orders, determinations, notices, and proclamations, that implement or relate to the statutory provisions in the U.S.C. The Code does not include treaties, agency regulations, State or District of Columbia laws, or most acts that are temporary or special, such as those that appropriate money for specific years or that apply to only a limited number of people or a specific place. The latest official version of the U.S.C. is available at: <a href="https://www.govinfo.gov/app/collection/uscode/2021/">https://www.govinfo.gov/app/collection/uscode/2021/</a>.

Section 1 of *The Green Book* provides a compilation of sections or subsections under Titles 15 (Commerce and Trade), 17 (Copyrights), 18 (Crimes and Criminal Procedures), and 35 (Patents) of the U.S. Code, that are applicable to federal research and technology transfer activities.

#### **CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS**

While the U.S.C. is a collection of general and permanent laws passed by the Congress, applicable to all U.S residents, the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) annual edition is the codification of the general and permanent rules and regulations published in the Federal Register by the Executive departments and agencies of the federal government. It is divided into 50 titles that represent broad areas subject to federal regulation. The 50 subject-matter titles contain one or more individual volumes, which are updated once each calendar year on a staggered basis. The annual update cycle is as follows: titles 1- 16 are revised as of January 1; titles 17-27 are revised as of April 1; titles 28-41 are revised as of July 1; and titles 42-50 are revised as of October 1. Each title is divided into chapters, which usually bear the name of the issuing agency. Each chapter is further subdivided into parts that cover specific regulatory areas. Large parts may be subdivided into subparts. All parts are organized in sections, and most citations to the CFR refer to material at the section level. The latest federal regulations are available at http://www.ecfr.gov.

Section 2 of *The Green Book* focuses on Chapter IV of Title 37, which directly relates to the Federal regulations for technology transfer activities. It highlights the regulations surrounding government rights to inventions made under federally funded research, licensing government-owned inventions, and patent policies for the government with respect to inventions made by federal employees. Section 2 of *The Green Book* also discusses regulations for exchange of personnel between federal labs and non-federal entities.

## **SECTION 1**

### **Technology Innovation Legislation Applicable to All Federal Agencies**

#### U.S.C. TITLE 15 — COMMERCE AND TRADE

#### CHAPTER 63 — TECHNOLOGY INNOVATION

#### §3701. Findings

The Congress finds and declares that:

- (1) Technology and industrial innovation are central to the economic, environmental, and social well-being of citizens of the United States.
- (2) Technology and industrial innovation offer an improved standard of living, increased public and private sector productivity, creation of new industries and employment opportunities, improved public services and enhanced competitiveness of United States products in world markets.
- (3) Many new discoveries and advances in science occur in universities and Federal laboratories, while the application of this new knowledge to commercial and useful public purposes depends largely upon actions by business and labor. Cooperation among academia, Federal laboratories, labor, and industry, in such forms as technology transfer, personnel exchange, joint research projects, and others, should be renewed, expanded, and strengthened.
- (4) Small businesses have performed an important role in advancing industrial and technological innovation.
- (5) Industrial and technological innovation in the United States may be lagging when compared to historical patterns and other industrialized nations.
- (6) Increased industrial and technological innovation would reduce trade deficits, stabilize the dollar, increase productivity gains, increase employment, and stabilize prices.
- (7) Government antitrust, economic, trade, patent, procurement, regulatory, research and development, and tax policies have significant impacts upon industrial innovation and development of technology, but there is insufficient knowledge of their effects in particular sectors of the economy.
- (8) No comprehensive national policy exists to enhance technological innovation for commercial and public purposes. There is a need for such a policy, including a strong national policy supporting domestic technology transfer and utilization of the science and technology resources of the Federal Government.
- (9) It is in the national interest to promote the adaptation of technological innovations to State and local government uses. Technological innovations can improve services, reduce their costs, and increase productivity in State and local governments.
- (10) The Federal laboratories and other performers of federally funded research and development frequently provide scientific and technological developments of potential use to State and local governments and private industry. These developments, which include inventions, computer software, and training technologies, should be made accessible to those governments and industry. There is a need to provide means of access and to give adequate personnel and funding support to these means.
- (11) The Nation should give fuller recognition to individuals and companies which have made outstanding contributions to the promotion of technology or technological manpower for the improvement of the economic, environmental, or social well-being of the United States. There is a need to provide means of access and to give adequate

personnel and funding support to these means.

(Pub. L. 96-480, §2, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2311; Pub. L. 99-502, §9(f)(1), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat.1797)

#### §3702. Purpose

It is the purpose of this chapter to improve the economic, environmental, and social well-being of the United States by—

- (1) establishing organizations in the executive branch to study and stimulate technology;
- (2) promoting technology development through the establishment of cooperative research centers;
- (3) stimulating improved utilization of federally funded technology developments, including inventions, software, and training technologies, by State and local governments and the private sector;
- (4) providing encouragement for the development of technology through the recognition of individuals and companies which have made outstanding contributions in technology; and
- (5) encouraging the exchange of scientific and technical personnel among academia, industry, and Federal laboratories.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §3, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2312; Pub. L. 99–502, §9(b)(1), (f)(2), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1795, 1797.)

#### §3703. Definitions

As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, the term—

- (1) "Secretary" means the Secretary of Commerce.
- (2) "Centers" means the Cooperative Research Centers established under section §3705 or §3707 of this title.
- (3) "Nonprofit institution" means an organization owned and operated exclusively for scientific or educational purposes, no part of the net earnings of which transfers to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual.
- (4) "Federal laboratory" means any laboratory, any federally funded research and development center, or any center established under section §3705 or §3707 of this title that is owned, leased, or otherwise used by a Federal agency and funded by the Federal Government, whether operated by the Government or by a contractor.
- (5) "Supporting agency" means either the U.S. Department of Commerce or the National Science Foundation, as appropriate.
- (6) "Federal agency" means any executive agency as defined in section 105 of title 5 and the military departments as defined in section 102 of such title, as well as any agency of the legislative branch of the Federal Government.
- (7) "Invention" means any invention or discovery which is or may be patentable or otherwise protected under title 35 or any novel variety of plant which is or may be protectable under the Plant Variety Protection Act (7 U.S.C. §2321 et seq.).
- (8) "Made" when used in conjunction with any invention means the conception or first actual reduction to practice of such invention.
- (9) "Small business firm" means a small business concern as defined in section 632 of this title and implementing regulations of the Administrator of the Small Business Administration.

- (10) "Training technology" means computer software and related materials which are developed by a federal agency to train employees of such agency, including but not
  - limited to software for computer-based instructional systems and for interactive video disc systems.
- (11) "Clearinghouse" means the Clearinghouse for State and Local Initiatives on Productivity, Technology, and Innovation established by section §3704a of this title.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §4, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2312; Pub. L. 99–502, §9(b)(2), (d), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1795, 1796; Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(b), Aug.23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1439; Pub. L. 100–519, title II, §201(d)(1), Oct. 24, 1988, 102 Stat. 2594; Pub. L. 102–245, title III, §304, Feb. 14, 1992, 106 Stat. 20; Pub. L.106–404, §7(1), (2), Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1745; Pub. L. 110–69, title III,§3002(c)(3), Aug. 9, 2007, 121 Stat. 586.)

#### §3704. Experimental Program to Stimulate Competitive Technology

#### (a) Program establishment

(1) In general

Beginning in fiscal year 1999, the Secretary shall establish a program to be known as the Experimental Program to Stimulate Competitive Technology (referred to in this subsection as the "program"). The purpose of the program shall be to strengthen the technological competitiveness of those States that have historically received less Federal research and development funds than those received by a majority of the States.

- (2) Arrangements
  - In carrying out the program, the Secretary shall—
  - (A) enter into such arrangements as may be necessary to provide for the coordination of the program through the State committees established under the Experimental Program to Stimulate Competitive Research of the National Science Foundation; and
  - (B) cooperate with-
    - any State science and technology council established under the program under subparagraph (A); and
    - (ii) representatives of small business firms and other appropriate technology- based businesses.
- (3) Grants and cooperative agreements

In carrying out the program, the Secretary may make grants or enter into cooperative agreements to provide for—

- (A) technology research and development;
- (B) technology transfer from university research;
- (C) technology deployment and diffusion; and
- (D) the strengthening of technological capabilities through consortia comprised of—
  - (i) technology-based small business firms;
  - (ii) industries and emerging companies;
  - (iii) universities; and
  - (iv) State and local development agencies and entities.
- (4) Requirements for making awards

- (A) In general—In making awards under this subsection, the Secretary shall ensure that the awards are awarded on a competitive basis that includes a review of the merits of the activities that are the subject of the award.
- (B) Matching requirement—The Non-Federal share of the activities (other than planning activities) carried out under an award under this subsection shall be not less than 25 percent of the cost of those activities.
- (5) Criteria for States

The Secretary shall establish criteria for achievement by each State that participates in the program. Upon the achievement of all such criteria, a State shall cease to be eligible to participate in the program.

#### (b) Coordination

To the extent practicable, in carrying out subsection (a), the Secretary shall coordinate the program with other programs of the Department of Commerce.

- (c) Minority Serving Institution Digital and Wireless Technology Opportunity Program
  - (1) In general The Secretary shall establish a Minority Serving Institution Digital and Wireless Technology Opportunity Program that awards grants, cooperative agreements, and contracts to eligible institutions to enable the eligible institutions in acquiring, and augmenting the institutions' use of, digital and wireless networking technologies to improve the quality and delivery of educational services at eligible institutions.
  - (2) Application and review procedures
    - (A) In general

To be eligible to receive a grant, cooperative agreement, or contract under this subsection, an eligible institution shall submit an application to the Secretary at such time, in such manner, and containing such information as the Secretary may require. Such application, at a minimum, shall include a description of how the funds will be used, including a description of any digital and wireless networking technology to be acquired, and a description of how the institution will ensure that digital and wireless networking technology will be made accessible to, and employed by, students, faculty, and administrators. The Secretary, consistent with subparagraph

- (C) and in consultation with the advisory council established under subparagraph (B), shall establish procedures to review such applications. The Secretary shall publish the application requirements and review criteria in the Federal Register, along with a statement describing the availability of funds.
- (B) Advisory council

The Secretary shall establish an advisory council to advise the Secretary on the best approaches to encourage maximum participation by eligible institutions in the program established under paragraph (1), and on the procedures to review applications submitted to the program. In selecting the members of the advisory council, the Secretary shall consult with representatives of appropriate organizations, including representatives of eligible institutions, to ensure that the membership of the advisory council includes representatives of minority businesses and eligible institution communities. The Secretary shall

also consult with experts in digital and wireless networking technology to ensure that such expertise is represented on the advisory council.

(C) Review panels

Each application submitted under this subsection by an eligible institution shall be reviewed by a panel of individuals selected by the Secretary to judge the quality and merit of the proposal, including the extent to which the eligible institution can effectively and successfully utilize the proposed grant, cooperative agreement, or contract to carry out the program described in paragraph (1). The Secretary shall ensure that the review panels include representatives of minority serving institutions and others who are knowledgeable about eligible institutions and technology issues. The Secretary shall ensure that no individual assigned under this subsection to review any application has a conflict of interest with regard to that application. The Secretary shall take into consideration the recommendations of the review panel in determining whether to award a grant, cooperative agreement, or contract to an eligible institution.

#### (3) Awards

#### (A) Limitation

An eligible institution that receives a grant, cooperative agreement, or contract under this subsection that exceeds \$2,500,000 shall not be eligible to receive another grant, cooperative agreement, or contract under this subsection.

#### (B) Consortia

Grants, cooperative agreements, and contracts may only be awarded to eligible institutions. Eligible institutions may seek funding under this subsection for consortia, which may include other eligible institutions, a State or a State educational agency, local educational agencies, institutions of higher education, community-based organizations, national nonprofit organizations, or businesses, including minority businesses.

#### (C) Planning grants

The Secretary may provide funds to develop strategic plans to implement grants, cooperative agreements, or contracts awarded under this subsection.

(D) Institutional diversity

In awarding grants, cooperative agreements, and contracts to eligible institutions, the Secretary shall ensure, to the extent practicable, that awards are made to all types of institutions eligible for assistance under this subsection.

#### (E) Need

In awarding funds under this subsection, the Secretary shall give priority to the eligible institution with the greatest demonstrated need for assistance.

#### (4) Authorized activities

An eligible institution may use a grant, cooperative agreement, or contract awarded under this subsection—

- (A) to acquire equipment, instrumentation, networking capability, hardware and software, digital network technology, wireless technology, and infrastructure to further the objective of the program described in paragraph (1);
- (B) to develop and provide training, education, and professional development programs, including faculty development, to increase the use of, and usefulness of, digital and wireless networking technology;
- (C) to provide teacher education, including the provision of preservice teacher training and in-service professional development at eligible institutions,

- (D) library and media specialist training, and preschool and teacher aid certification to individuals who seek to acquire or enhance technology skills in order to use digital and wireless networking technology in the classroom or instructional process, including instruction in science, mathematics, engineering, and technology subjects;
- (E) to obtain capacity-building technical assistance, including through remote technical support, technical assistance workshops, and distance learning services; or
- (F) to foster the use of digital and wireless networking technology to improve research and education, including scientific, mathematics, engineering, and technology instruction.
- (5) Information dissemination

The Secretary shall convene an annual meeting of eligible institutions receiving grants, cooperative agreements, or contracts under this subsection to foster collaboration and capacity-building activities among eligible institutions.

(6) Matching requirement

The Secretary may not award a grant, cooperative agreement, or contract to an eligible institution under this subsection unless such institution agrees that, with respect to the costs incurred by the institution in carrying out the program for which the grant, cooperative agreement, or contract was awarded, such institution shall make available, directly, or through donations from public or private entities, non-Federal contributions in an amount equal to 25 percent of the grant, cooperative agreement, or contract awarded by the Secretary, or \$500,000, whichever is the lesser amount. The Secretary shall waive the matching requirement for any institution or consortium with no endowment, or an endowment that has a current dollar value lower than \$50,000,000.

- (7) Annual report and assessments
  - (A) Annual report required from recipients

Each eligible institution that receives a grant, cooperative agreement, or contract awarded under this subsection shall provide an annual report to the Secretary on its use of the grant, cooperative agreement, or contract.

- (B) Independent assessments
  - (i) Contract to conduct assessments

Not later than 6 months after August 14, 2008, the Secretary shall enter into a contract with the National Academy of Public Administration to conduct periodic assessments of the program established under paragraph (1). The assessments shall be conducted once every 3 years during the 10-year period following August 14, 2008.

(ii) Evaluations and recommendations

The assessments described in clause (i) shall include—

- (I) an evaluation of the effectiveness of the program established under paragraph (1) in improving the education and training of students, faculty, and staff at eligible institutions that have been awarded grants, cooperative agreements, or contracts under the program;
- (II) an evaluation of the effectiveness of the program in improving access to, and familiarity with, digital and wireless networking technology for students, faculty, and staff at all eligible institutions;

- (III) an evaluation of the procedures established under paragraph (2)(A); and
- (IV) recommendations for improving the program, including recommendations concerning the continuing need for Federal support.
- (iii) Review of reports

In carrying out the assessments under this subparagraph, the National Academy of Public Administration shall review the reports submitted to the Secretary under subparagraph (A).

(iv) Report to Congress

Upon completion of each assessment under this subparagraph, the Secretary shall transmit the assessment to Congress along with a summary of the Secretary's plans, if any, to implement the recommendations of the National Academy of Public Administration.

#### (8) Definitions

In this subsection:

(A) Digital and wireless networking technology

The term "digital and wireless networking technology" means computer and communications equipment and software that facilitates the transmission of information in a digital format.

(B) Eligible institution

The term "eligible institution" means an institution that is-

- (i) a part B institution, as defined in section §1061(2) of title 20, an institution identified in subparagraph (A), (B), or (C) of section § 1063b(e)(1) of title 20, or a consortium of institutions described in this clause;
- (ii) a Hispanic-serving institution, as defined in section §1101a(a)(5) of title 20;
- (iii) a Tribal College or University, as defined in section §1059c(b)(3) of title 20;
- (iv) an Alaska Native-serving institution, as defined in section §1059d(b) of title 20;
- (v) a Native Hawaiian-serving institution, as defined in section §1059d(b) of title 20;
- (vi) a Predominately Black Institution, as defined in section §1059e of title 20;
- (vii) a Native American-serving, nontribal institution, as defined in section §1059f of title 20;
- (viii)an Asian American and Native American Pacific Islander-serving institution, as defined in section §1059g of title 20; or
- (ix) a minority institution, as defined in section 1067k of title 20, with an enrollment of needy students, as defined in section 1058(d) of title 20.
- (C) Institution of higher education

The term "institution of higher education" has the meaning given the term in section 1001 of title 20.

(D) Local educational agency

The term "local educational agency" has the meaning given the term in section 7801 of title 20.

(E) Minority business

The term "minority business" includes HUBZone small business concerns (as defined in section 632(p) of this title).

(F) Minority individual

The term "minority individual" means an American Indian, Alaskan Native, Black (not of Hispanic origin), Hispanic (including persons of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, and Central or South American origin), or Pacific Islander individual.

(G) State

The term "State" has the meaning given the term in section 7801 of title 20.

(H) State educational agency
 The term "State educational agency" has the meaning given the term in section 7801 of title 20

(Pub. L. 96–480, §5, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2312; Pub. L. 99–382, §2, Aug. 14, 1986, 100 Stat. 811; Pub. L. 99–502, §9(b)(3)–(5), (e)(2)(A), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1795, 1797; Pub. L. 100–519, title II, §201(a)–(c), (d)(2), Oct. 24, 1988, 102 Stat. 2593, 2594; Pub. L. 102–245, title III, §306, Feb. 14, 1992, 106 Stat. 20; Pub. L. 105–309, §9, Oct. 30, 1998, 112 Stat. 2938; Pub. L. 106–404, §7(3), Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1745; Pub. L. 110–69, title III, §3002(a), Aug. 9, 2007, 121 Stat. 586; Pub. L. 110–315, title IX, §971, Aug. 14, 2008, 122 Stat. 3473; Pub. L. 114–95, title IX, §9215(sss), Dec. 10, 2015, 129 Stat. 2190.)

#### §3704a. Clearinghouse for State and Local Initiatives on Productivity, Technology, and Innovation

#### (a) Establishment

There is established within the Office of Productivity, Technology, and Innovation a Clearinghouse for State and Local Initiatives on Productivity, Technology, and Innovation. The Clearinghouse shall serve as a central repository of information on initiatives by State and local governments to enhance the competitiveness of American business through the stimulation of productivity, technology, and innovation and Federal efforts to assist State and local governments to enhance competitiveness.

#### (b) Responsibilities

The Clearinghouse may—

- (1) establish relationships with State and local governments, and regional and multistate organizations of such governments, which carry out such initiatives;
- (2) collect information on the nature, extent, and effects of such initiatives, particularly information useful to the Congress, Federal agencies, State and local governments, regional and multistate organizations of such governments, businesses, and the public throughout the United States;
- (3) disseminate information collected under paragraph (2) through reports, directories, handbooks, conferences, and seminars;
- (4) provide technical assistance and advice to such governments with respect to such initiatives, including assistance in determining sources of assistance from Federal agencies which may be available to support such initiatives;
- (5) study ways in which Federal agencies, including Federal laboratories, are able to use their existing policies and programs to assist State and local governments, and regional and multistate organizations of such governments, to enhance the competitiveness of American business;
- (6) make periodic recommendations to the Secretary, and to other Federal agencies upon their request, concerning modifications in Federal policies and programs which would improve Federal assistance to State and local technology and business assistance programs;
- (7) develop methodologies to evaluate State and local programs, and, when requested, advise State and local governments, and regional and multistate organizations of such governments, as to which programs are most effective in enhancing the competitiveness of American business through the stimulation of productivity, technology, and innovation; and
- (8) make use of, and disseminate, the nationwide study of State industrial extension programs conducted by the Secretary.

#### (c) Contracts

In carrying out subsection (b), the Secretary may enter into contracts for the purpose of collecting information on the nature, extent, and effects of initiatives.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §6, as added Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(a)(2), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438.)

#### §3704b. National Technical Information Service

#### (a) Powers

- (1) The Secretary of Commerce, acting through the Director of the National Technical Information Service (hereafter in this section referred to as the "Director") is authorized to do the following:
  - (A) Enter into such contracts, cooperative agreements, joint ventures, and other transactions, in accordance with all relevant provisions of Federal law applicable to such contracts and agreements, and under reasonable terms and conditions, as may be necessary in the conduct of the business of the National Technical Information Service (hereafter in this section referred to as the "Service").
  - (B) In addition to the authority regarding fees contained in section 2 of the Act entitled "An Act to provide for the dissemination of technological, scientific, and engineering information to American business and industry, and for other purposes" enacted September 9, 1950 (15 U.S.C. 1152), retain and, subject to appropriations Acts, utilize its net revenues to the extent necessary to implement the plan submitted under subsection (f)(3)(D).
  - (C) Enter into contracts for the performance of part or all of the functions performed by the Promotion Division of the Service prior to October 24, 1988. The details of any such contract, and a statement of its effect on the operations and personnel of the Service, shall be provided to the appropriate committees of the Congress 30 days in advance of the execution of such contract
  - (D) Employ such personnel as may be necessary to conduct the business of the Service.
  - (E) For the period of October 1, 1991 through September 30, 1992, only, retain and use all earned and unearned monies heretofore or hereafter received, including receipts, revenues, and advanced payments and deposits, to fund all obligations and expenses, including inventories and capital equipment. An increase or decrease in the personnel of the Service shall not affect or be affected by any ceilings on the number or grade of personnel.
- (2) The functions and activities of the Service specified in subsection (e)(1) through (6) are permanent Federal functions to be carried out by the Secretary through the Service and its employees, and shall not be transferred from the Service, by contract or otherwise, to the private sector on a permanent or temporary basis without express approval of the Congress. Functions or activities—
  - (A) for the procurement of supplies, materials, and equipment by the Service;
  - (B) referred to in paragraph (1)(C); or
  - (C) to be performed through joint ventures or cooperative agreements which do not result in a reduction in the Federal workforce of the affected programs of the service, shall not be considered functions or activities for purposes of this paragraph.
- (3) For the purposes of this subsection, the term "net revenues" means the excess of revenues and receipts from any source, other than royalties and other income described in section §3710c(a)(4) of this title, over operating expenses.

#### (4) Omitted.

#### (b) Director of the Service

The management of the Service shall be vested in a Director who shall report to the Director of the National Institute of Standards and Technology and the Secretary of Commerce.

#### (c) Advisory Board

- (1) There is established the Advisory Board of the National Technical Information Service, which shall be composed of a chairman and four other members appointed by the Secretary.
- (2) In appointing members of the Advisory Board the Secretary shall solicit recommendations from the major users and beneficiaries of the Service's activities and shall select individuals experienced in providing or utilizing technical information.
- (3) The Advisory Board shall review the general policies and operations of the Service, including policies in connection with fees and charges for its services, and shall advise the Secretary and the Director with respect thereto.
- (4) The Advisory Board shall meet at the call of the Secretary, but not less often than once each six months.

#### (d) Audits

The Secretary of Commerce shall provide for annual independent audits of the Service's financial statements beginning with fiscal year 1988, to be conducted in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

#### (e) Functions

The Secretary of Commerce, acting through the Service, shall—

- (1) establish and maintain a permanent repository of non-classified scientific, technical, and engineering information;
- (2) cooperate and coordinate its operations with other Government scientific, technical, and engineering information programs;
- (3) make selected bibliographic information products available in a timely manner to depository libraries as part of the Depository Library Program of the Government Publishing Office;
- (4) in conjunction with the private sector as appropriate, collect, translate into English, and disseminate unclassified foreign scientific, technical, and engineering information implement new methods or media for the dissemination of scientific, technical, and engineering information, including producing and disseminating information products in electronic format; and
- (5) carry out the functions and activities of the Secretary under the Act entitled "An Act to provide for the dissemination of technological, scientific, and engineering information to American business and industry, and for other purposes" enacted September 9, 1950 [15
  - U.S.C. §1151 et seq.], and the functions and activities of the Secretary performed through the National Technical Information Service as of October 24, 1988, under this chapter.

#### (f) Notification of Congress

- (1) The Secretary of Commerce and the Director shall keep the appropriate committees of Congress fully and currently informed about all activities related to the carrying out of the functions of the Service, including changes in fee policies.
- (2) Within 90 days after October 24, 1988, the Secretary of Commerce shall submit to the Congress a report on the current fee structure of the Service, including an explanation of the basis for the fees, taking into consideration all applicable costs,

and the adequacy of the fees, along with reasons for the declining sales at the Service of scientific, technical, and engineering publications. Such report shall explain any actions planned or taken to increase such sales at reasonable fees.

- (3) The Secretary shall submit an annual report to the Congress which shall—
  - (A) summarize the operations of the Service during the preceding year, including financial details and staff levels broken down by major activities;
  - (B) detail the operating plan of the Service, including specific expense and staff needs, for the upcoming year;
  - (C) set forth details of modernization progress made in the preceding year;
  - (D) describe the long-term modernization plans of the Service; and
  - (E) include the results of the most recent annual audit carried out under subsection (d).
- (4) The Secretary shall also give the Congress detailed advance notice of not less than 30 calendar days of—
  - (A) any proposed reduction-in-force;
  - (B) any joint venture or cooperative agreement which involves a financial incentive to the joint venturer or contractor; and
  - (C) any change in the operating plan submitted under paragraph (3)(B) which would result in a variation from such plan with respect to expense levels of more than 10 percent.

(Pub. L. 100–519, title II, §212, Oct. 24, 1988, 102 Stat. 2594; Pub. L. 102–140, title II, Oct. 28, 1991, 105 Stat. 804; Pub. L. 102–245, title V, §506(c), Feb. 14, 1992, 106 Stat. 27; Pub. L. 110–161, div. B, title I, §109, Dec. 26, 2007, 121 Stat. 1893; Pub. L. 113–235, div. H, title I, §1301(b), Dec. 16, 2014, 128 Stat. 2537

#### §3704b-2. Transfer of Federal Scientific and Technical Information

#### (a) Transfer

The head of each Federal executive department or agency shall transfer in a timely manner to the National Technical Information Service unclassified scientific, technical, and engineering information which results from federally funded research and development activities for dissemination to the private sector, academia, State and local governments, and Federal agencies. Only information which would otherwise be available for public dissemination shall be transferred under this subsection. Such information shall include technical reports and information, computer software, application assessments generated pursuant to section 3710(c) of this title, and information regarding training technology and other federally owned or originated technologies. The Secretary shall issue regulations within one year after February 14, 1992, outlining procedures for the ongoing transfer of such information to the National Technical Information Service.

#### (b) Annual Report to Congress

As part of the annual report required under section §3704b(f)(3) of this title, the Secretary shall report to Congress on the status of efforts under this section to ensure access to Federal scientific and technical information by the public. Such report shall include—

- (1) an evaluation of the comprehensiveness of transfers of information by each Federal executive department or agency under subsection (a);
- (2) a description of the use of Federal scientific and technical information;
- plans for improving public access to Federal scientific and technical information;
   and
- (4) recommendations for legislation necessary to improve public access to Federal scientific and technical information.

#### §3705. Cooperative Research Centers

#### (a) Establishment

The Secretary shall provide assistance for the establishment of Cooperative Research Centers. Such Centers shall be affiliated with any university, or other nonprofit institution, or group thereof, that applies for and is awarded a grant or enters into a cooperative agreement under this section. The objective of the Centers is to enhance technological innovation through—

- (1) the participation of individuals from industry and universities in cooperative technological innovation activities;
- (2) the development of the generic research base, important for technological advance and innovative activity, in which individual firms have little incentive to invest, but which may have significant economic or strategic importance, such as manufacturing technology;
- (3) the education and training of individuals in the technological innovation process;
- (4) the improvement of mechanisms for the dissemination of scientific, engineering, and technical information among universities and industry;
- (5) the utilization of the capability and expertise, where appropriate, that exists in Federal laboratories; and
- (6) the development of continuing financial support from other mission agencies, from State and local government, and from industry and universities through, among other means, fees, licenses, and royalties.

#### (b) Activities

The activities of the Centers shall include, but need not be limited to—

- (1) research supportive of technological and industrial innovation including cooperative industry-university research;
- (2) assistance to individuals and small businesses in the generation, evaluation, and development of technological ideas supportive of industrial innovation and new business ventures:
- (3) technical assistance and advisory services to industry, particularly small businesses; and
- (4) curriculum development, training, and instruction in invention, entrepreneurship, and industrial innovation.

Each Center need not undertake all of the activities under this subsection.

#### (c) Requirements

Prior to establishing a Center, the Secretary shall find that—

- (1) consideration has been given to the potential contribution of the activities proposed under the Center to productivity, employment, and economic competitiveness of the United States;
- (2) a high likelihood exists of continuing participation, advice, financial support, and other contributions from the private sector;
- (3) the host university or other nonprofit institution has a plan for the management and evaluation of the activities proposed within the Center, including:
  - (A) the agreement between the parties as to the allocation of patent rights on a nonexclusive, partially exclusive, or exclusive license basis to and inventions conceived or made under the auspices of the Center; and
  - (B) the consideration of means to place the Center, to the maximum extent feasible, on a self-sustaining basis;
- (4) suitable consideration has been given to the university's or other nonprofit

institution's capabilities and geographical location; and

(5) consideration has been given to any effects upon competition of the activities proposed under the Center.

#### (d) Planning grants

The Secretary is authorized to make available nonrenewable planning grants to universities or nonprofit institutions for the purpose of developing a plan required under subsection (c)(3).

#### (e) Research and development utilization

In the promotion of technology from research and development efforts by Centers under this section, chapter 18 of title 35 shall apply to the extent not inconsistent with this section.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §7, formerly §6, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2313; Pub. L. 99–502, §9(b)(6)–(10), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1796; renumbered §7, Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(a)(1),Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438.)

#### §3706. Grants and Cooperative Agreements

#### (a) In general

The Secretary may make grants and enter into cooperative agreements according to the provisions of this section in order to assist any activity consistent with this chapter, including activities performed by individuals.

#### (b) Eligibility and procedure

Any person or institution may apply to the Secretary for a grant or cooperative agreement available under this section. Application shall be made in such form and

manner, and with such content and other submissions, as the Assistant Secretary shall prescribe. The Secretary shall act upon each such application within 90 days after the date on which all required information is received.

#### (c) Terms and conditions

- (1) Any grant made, or cooperative agreement entered into, under this section shall be subject to the limitations and provisions set forth in paragraph (2) of this subsection, and to such other terms, conditions, and requirements as the Secretary deems necessary or appropriate.
- (2) Any person who receives or utilizes any proceeds of any grant made or cooperative agreement entered into under this section shall keep such records as the Secretary shall by regulation prescribe as being necessary and appropriate to facilitate effective audit and evaluation, including records which fully disclose the amount and disposition by such recipient of such proceeds, the total cost of the program or project in connection with which such proceeds were used, and the amount, if any, of such costs which was provided through other sources.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §8, formerly §7, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2315; renumbered §8 and amended Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §§5115(b)(1), 5122(a)(1), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1433, 1438; Pub.L. 114–329, title II, §203, Jan. 6, 2017, 130 Stat. 2998.)

#### §3707. National Science Foundation Cooperative Research Centers

#### (a) Establishment and provisions

The National Science Foundation shall provide assistance for the establishment of Cooperative Research Centers. Such Centers shall be affiliated with a university, or other nonprofit institution, or a group thereof. The objective of the Centers is to enhance technological innovation as provided in section §3705(a) of this title through the conduct of activities as provided in section §3705(b) of this title.

#### (b) Planning grants

The National Science Foundation is authorized to make available nonrenewable planning grants to universities or nonprofit institutions for the purpose of developing the plan, as described under section §3705(c)(3) of this title.

#### (c) Terms and conditions

Grants, contracts, and cooperative agreements entered into by the National Science Foundation in execution of the powers and duties of the National Science Foundation under this chapter shall be governed by the National Science Foundation Act of 1950 [42 U.S.C. §1861 et seq.] and other pertinent Acts.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §9, formerly §8, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2316; Pub. L. 99–502, §9(b)(11), (12), (e)(2)(B), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1796, 1797; renumbered §9, Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(a)(1), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438; Pub. L. 106–404, §7(4), Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1745.)

#### §3708. Administrative Arrangements

#### (a) Coordination

The Secretary and the National Science Foundation shall, on a continuing basis, obtain the advice and cooperation of departments and agencies whose missions contribute to or are affected by the programs established under this chapter, including the development of an agenda for research and policy experimentation. These departments and agencies shall include but not be limited to the Departments of Defense, Energy, Education, Health and Human Services, Housing and Urban Development, the Environmental Protection Agency, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Small Business Administration, Council of Economic Advisers, Council on Environmental Quality, and Office of Science and Technology Policy.

#### (b) Cooperation

It is the sense of the Congress that departments and agencies, including the Federal laboratories, whose missions are affected by, or could contribute to, the programs established under this chapter, should, within the limits of budgetary authorizations and appropriations, support or participate in activities or projects authorized by this chapter.

#### (c) Administrative authorization

- (1) Departments and agencies described in subsection (b) are authorized to participate in, contribute to, and serve as resources for the Centers and for any other activities authorized under this chapter.
- (2) The Secretary and the National Science Foundation are authorized to receive moneys and to receive other forms of assistance from other departments or agencies to support activities of the Centers and any other activities authorized under this chapter.

#### (d) Cooperative efforts

The Secretary and the National Science Foundation shall, on a continuing basis, provide each

other the opportunity to comment on any proposed program of activity under section §3705, §3707, §3710, §3710d, §3711a, or 3§712 of this title before funds are committed to such program in order to mount complementary efforts and avoid duplication.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §10, formerly §9, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2316; Pub. L. 99–502, §9(e)(2) (C), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1797; Pub. L. 100–107, §3(b), Aug. 20, 1987, 101 Stat. 727; renumbered §10 and amended Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(a)(1), (c), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438, 1439; Pub. L. 102–240, title VI, §6019, Dec. 18, 1991, 105 Stat. 2183.)

# §3710. Utilization of Federal Technology

#### (a) Policy

- (1) It is the continuing responsibility of the Federal Government to ensure the full use of the results of the Nation's Federal investment in research and development. To this end the Federal Government shall strive where appropriate to transfer federally owned or originated technology to State and local governments and to the private sector.
- (2) Technology transfer, consistent with mission responsibilities, is a responsibility of each laboratory science and engineering professional.
- (3) Each laboratory director shall ensure that efforts to transfer technology are considered positively in laboratory job descriptions, employee promotion policies, and evaluation of the job performance of scientists and engineers in the laboratory.

#### (b) Establishment of Research and Technology Applications Offices

Each Federal laboratory shall establish an Office of Research and technology Applications. Laboratories having existing organizational structures which perform the functions of this section may elect to combine the Office of Research and Technology Applications within the existing organization. The staffing and funding levels for these offices shall be determined between each Federal laboratory and the Federal agency operating or directing the laboratory, except that

- (1) each laboratory having 200 or more full-time equivalent scientific, engineering, and related technical positions shall provide one or more full-time equivalent positions as staff for its Office of Research and Technology Applications, and
- (2) each Federal agency which operates or directs one or more Federal laboratories shall make available sufficient funding, either as a separate line item or from the agency's research and development budget, to support the technology transfer function at the agency and at its laboratories, including support of the Offices of Research and Technology Applications. Furthermore, individuals filling positions in an Office of Research and Technology Applications shall be included in the overall laboratory/agency management development program so as to ensure that highly competent technical managers are full participants in the technology transfer process.

#### (c) Functions of Research and Technology Applications Offices

It shall be the function of each Office of Research and Technology Applications—

- (1) to prepare application assessments for selected research and development projects in which that laboratory is engaged and which in the opinion of the laboratory may have potential commercial applications;
- (2) to provide and disseminate information on federally owned or originated products, processes, and services having potential application to State and local governments and to private industry;

- (3) to cooperate with and assist the National Technical Information Service, the Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer, and other organizations which link the research and development resources of that laboratory and the Federal Government as a whole to potential users in State and local government and private industry;
- (4) to provide technical assistance to State and local government officials; and
- (5) to participate, where feasible, in regional, State, and local programs designed to facilitate or stimulate the transfer of technology for the benefit of the region, State, or local jurisdiction in which the Federal laboratory is located. Agencies which have established organizational structures outside their Federal laboratories which have as their principal purpose the transfer of federally owned or originated technology to State and local government and to the private sector may elect to perform the functions of this subsection in such organizational structures. No Office of Research and Technology Applications or other organizational structures performing the functions of this subsection shall substantially compete with similar services available in the private sector.

#### (d) Dissemination of technical information

The National Technical Information Service shall—

- (1) serve as a central clearinghouse for the collection, dissemination and transfer of information on federally owned or originated technologies having potential application to State and local governments and to private industry;
- (2) utilize the expertise and services of the National Science Foundation and the Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer; particularly in dealing with State and local governments;
- (3) receive requests for technical assistance from State and local governments, respond to such requests with published information available to the Service, and refer such requests to the Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer to the extent that such requests require a response involving more than the published information available to the Service;
- (4) provide funding, at the discretion of the Secretary, for Federal laboratories to provide the assistance specified in subsection (c)(3);
- (5) use appropriate technology transfer mechanisms such as personnel exchanges and computer-based systems; and
- (6) maintain a permanent archival repository and clearinghouse for the collection and dissemination of non-classified scientific, technical, and engineering information.

#### (e) Establishment of Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer

- (1) There is hereby established the Federal Laboratory Consortium for Technology Transfer (hereinafter referred to as the "Consortium") which, in cooperation with Federal laboratories and the private sector, shall—
  - (A) develop and (with the consent of the Federal laboratory concerned) administer techniques, training courses, and materials concerning technology transfer to increase the awareness of Federal laboratory employees regarding the commercial potential of laboratory technology and innovations;
  - (B) furnish advice and assistance requested by Federal agencies and laboratories for use in their technology transfer programs (including the planning of seminars for small business and other industry);
  - (C) provide a clearinghouse for requests, received at the laboratory level, for technical assistance from States and units of local governments,

businesses, industrial development organizations, not-for-profit organizations including universities, Federal agencies and laboratories, and other persons, and—

- (i) to the extent that such requests can be responded to with published information available to the National Technical Information Service, refer such requests to that Service, and
- (ii) otherwise refer these requests to the appropriate Federal laboratories and agencies;
- (D) facilitate communication and coordination between Offices of Research and Technology Applications of Federal laboratories;
- (E) utilize (with the consent of the agency involved) the expertise and services of the National Science Foundation, the Department of Commerce, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration, and other Federal agencies, as necessary;
- (F) with the consent of any Federal laboratory, facilitate the use by such laboratory of appropriate technology transfer mechanisms such as personnel exchanges and computer-based systems;
- (G) with the consent of any Federal laboratory, assist such laboratory to establish programs using technical volunteers to provide technical assistance to communities related to such laboratory;
- (H) facilitate communication and cooperation between Offices of Research and Technology Applications of Federal laboratories and regional, State, and local technology transfer organizations;
- (I) when requested, assist colleges or universities, businesses, nonprofit organizations, State or local governments, or regional organizations to establish programs to stimulate research and to encourage technology transfer in such areas as technology program development, curriculum design, longterm research planning, personnel- needs projections, and productivity assessments;
- (J) seek advice in each Federal laboratory consortium region from representatives of State and local governments, large and small business, universities, and other appropriate persons on the effectiveness of the program (and any such advice shall be provided at no expense to the Government); and
  - work with the Director of the National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research to compile a compendium of current and projected Federal Laboratory technologies and projects that have or will have an intended or recognized impact on the available range of assistive technology for individuals with disabilities (as defined in section §3002 of title 29), including technologies and projects that incorporate the principles of universal design (as defined in section §3002 of title 29), as appropriate.
- (2) The membership of the Consortium shall consist of the Federal laboratories described in clause (1) of subsection (b) and such other laboratories as may choose to join the Consortium. The representatives to the Consortium shall include a senior staff member of each Federal laboratory which is a member of the Consortium and a senior representative appointed from each Federal agency with one or more member laboratories.
- (3) The representatives to the Consortium shall elect a Chairman of the Consortium.

- (4) The Director of the National Institute of Standards and Technology shall provide the Consortium, on a reimbursable basis, with administrative services, such as office space, personnel, and support services of the Institute, as requested by the
- (5) Consortium and approved by such Director.
- (6) Each Federal laboratory or agency shall transfer technology directly to users or representatives of users and shall not transfer technology directly to the Consortium. Each Federal laboratory shall conduct and transfer technology only in accordance with the practices and policies of the Federal agency which owns, leases, or otherwise uses such Federal laboratory.
- (7) Not later than one year after October 20, 1986, and every year thereafter, the Chairman of the Consortium shall submit a report to the President, to the appropriate authorization and appropriation committees of both Houses of the Congress, and to each agency with respect to which a transfer of funding is made (for the fiscal year or years involved) under paragraph (7), concerning the activities of the Consortium and the expenditures made by it under this subsection during the year for which the report is made. Such report shall include an annual independent audit of the financial statements of the Consortium, conducted in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

(8)

- (A) Subject to subparagraph (B), an amount equal to 0.008 percent of the budget of each Federal agency from any Federal source, including related overhead, that is to be utilized by or on behalf of the laboratories of such agency for a fiscal year referred to in subparagraph (B)(ii) shall be transferred by such agency to the National Institute of Standards and Technology at the beginning of the fiscal year involved. Amounts so transferred shall be provided by the Institute to the Consortium for the purpose of carrying out activities of the Consortium under this subsection.
- (B) A transfer shall be made by any Federal agency under subparagraph (A), for any fiscal year, only if the amount so transferred by that agency (as determined under such subparagraph) would exceed \$10,000.
- (C) The heads of Federal agencies and their designees, and the directors of Federal laboratories, may provide such additional support for operations of the Consortium as they deem appropriate.

## (f) Agency reports on utilization

- (1) In general each Federal agency which operates or directs one or more Federal laboratories or which conducts activities under sections §207 and §209 of title 35 shall report annually to the Office of Management and Budget, as part of the agency's annual budget submission, on the activities performed by that agency and its Federal laboratories under the provisions of this section and of sections §207 and §209 of title 35.
- (2) Contents

The report shall include—

- (A) an explanation of the agency's technology transfer program for the preceding fiscal year and the agency's plans for conducting its technology transfer function, including its plans for securing intellectual property rights in laboratory innovations with commercial promise and plans for managing its intellectual property to advance the agency's mission and benefit the competitiveness of United States industry; and
- (B) information on technology transfer activities for the preceding fiscal year, including—
  - (i) the number of patent applications filed;

- (ii) the number of patents received;
- (iii) the number of fully-executed licenses which received royalty income in the preceding fiscal year, categorized by whether they are exclusive,
- (iv) partially- exclusive, or non-exclusive, and the time elapsed from the date on which the license was requested by the licensee in writing to the date the license was executed:
- (v) the total earned royalty income including such statistical information as the total earned royalty income, of the top 1 percent, 5 percent, and 20 percent of the licenses, the range of royalty income, and the median, except where disclosure of such information would reveal the amount of royalty income associated with an individual license or licensee;
- (vi) what disposition was made of the income described in clause (iv);
- (vii) the number of licenses terminated for cause; and
- (viii) any other parameters or discussion that the agency deems relevant or unique to its practice of technology transfer.
- (3) Copy to Secretary; Attorney General; Congress
  The agency shall transmit a copy of the report to the Secretary of Commerce
  and the Attorney General for inclusion in the annual report to Congress and the
  President required by subsection (g)(2).
- (4) Public availability Each Federal agency reporting under this subsection is also strongly encouraged to make the information contained in such report available to the public through Internet sites or other electronic means.

#### (g) Functions of Secretary

- (1) The Secretary, in consultation with other Federal agencies, may—
  - (A) make available to interested agencies the expertise of the Department of Commerce regarding the commercial potential of inventions and methods and options for commercialization which are available to the Federal laboratories, including research and development limited partnerships;
  - (B) develop and disseminate to appropriate agency and laboratory personnel model provisions for use on a voluntary basis in cooperative research and development arrangements; and
  - (C) furnish advice and assistance, upon request, to Federal agencies concerning their cooperative research and development programs and projects.
- (2) Reports.—
  - (A) Annual report required.—The Secretary, in consultation with the Attorney General and the Commissioner of Patents and Trademarks, shall submit each fiscal year, beginning 1 year after November 1, 2000, a summary report to the President, the United States Trade Representative, and the Congress on the use by Federal agencies and the Secretary of the technology transfer authorities specified in this chapter and in sections §207 and §209 of title 35.
  - (B) Content.—The report shall—
    - (i) draw upon the reports prepared by the agencies under subsection (f);
    - discuss technology transfer best practices and effective approaches in the licensing and transfer of technology in the context of the agencies' missions; and
    - (iii) discuss the progress made toward development of additional useful measures of the outcomes of technology transfer programs of Federal agencies.

- (C) Public availability.—The Secretary shall make the report available to the public through Internet sites or other electronic means.
- (3) Not later than one year after October 20, 1986, the Secretary shall submit to the
- (4) President and the Congress a report regarding—
  - (A) any copyright provisions or other types of barriers which tend to restrict or limit the transfer of federally funded computer software to the private sector and to State and local governments, and agencies of such State and local governments; and
  - (B) the feasibility and cost of compiling and maintaining a current and comprehensive inventory of all federally funded training software.

#### (h) Duplication of reporting

The reporting obligations imposed by this section—

- (1) are not intended to impose requirements that duplicate requirements imposed by the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993 (31 U.S.C. §1101 note);
- (2) are to be implemented in coordination with the implementation of that Act; and are satisfied if an agency provided the information concerning technology transfer activities described in this section in its annual submission under the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993 (31 U.S.C. §1101 note).

#### (i) Research equipment

The Director of a laboratory, or the head of any Federal agency or department, may loan, lease, or give research equipment that is excess to the needs of the laboratory, agency, or department to an educational institution or nonprofit organization for the conduct of technical and scientific education and research activities. Title of ownership shall transfer with a gift under this section.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §11, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2318; renumbered §10 and amended Pub. L.99–502, §§3–5, 9(e)(1), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1787, 1789, 1791, 1797; renumbered §11 and amended Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §§5115(b)(2), 5122(a)(1), 5162(b), 5163(c)(1), (3), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1433, 1438, 1450, 1451; Pub. L. 100–519, title II, §§201(d)(3), 212(a), Oct. 24, 1988, 102 Stat. 2594, 2595; Pub. L. 101–189, div. C, title XXXI, §3133(e), Nov.29, 1989, 103 Stat. 1679; Pub. L. 102–245, title III, §§301, 303, Feb. 14, 1992, 106 Stat. 19,20; Pub. L. 104–66, title III, §3001(f), Dec. 21, 1995, 109 Stat. 734; Pub. L. 104–113, §§3, 9, Mar. 7, 1996, 110 Stat. 775, 779; Pub. L. 105–394, title II, §212(d), Nov. 13, 1998, 112 Stat. 3655; Pub. L. 106–404, §§7(5), (6), 10(a), Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1745–1747; Pub. L.110–69, title III, §3002(c)(4), Aug. 9, 2007, 121 Stat. 586.)

#### §3710a. Cooperative Research and Development Agreements

#### (a) General authority

Each Federal agency may permit the director of any of its Government-operated Federal laboratories, and, to the extent provided in an agency-approved joint work statement or, if permitted by the agency, in an agency-approved annual strategic plan, the director of any of its Government-owned, contractor-operated laboratories-

- (1) to enter into cooperative research and development agreements on behalf of such agency (subject to subsection (c) of this section) with other Federal agencies; units of State or local government; industrial organizations (including corporations, partnerships, and limited partnerships, and industrial development organizations); public and private foundations; nonprofit organizations (including universities); or other persons (including licensees of inventions owned by the Federal agency); and
- (2) to negotiate licensing agreements under section 207 of title 35, or under other authorities (in the case of a Government-owned, contractor-operated laboratory, subject to subsection (c) of this section)

for inventions made or other intellectual property developed at the laboratory and other inventions or other intellectual property that may be voluntarily assigned to the Government.

#### (b) Enumerated authority

- (1) Under an agreement entered into pursuant to subsection (a)(1), the laboratory may grant, or agree to grant in advance, to a collaborating party patent licenses or assignments, or options thereto, in any invention made in whole or in part by a laboratory employee under the agreement, or, subject to section 209 of title 35, may grant a license to an invention which is federally owned, for which a patent application was filed before the signing of the agreement, and directly within the scope of the work under the agreement, for reasonable compensation when appropriate. The laboratory shall ensure, through such agreement, that the collaborating party has the option to choose an exclusive license for a pre-negotiated field of use for any such invention under the agreement or, if there is more than one collaborating party, that the collaborating parties are offered the option to hold licensing rights that collectively encompass the rights that would be held under such an exclusive license by one party. In consideration for the Government's contribution under the agreement, grants under this paragraph shall be subject to the following explicit conditions:
  - (Å) A nonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license from the collaborating party to the laboratory to practice the invention or have the invention practiced throughout the world by or on behalf of the Government. In the exercise of such license, the Government shall not publicly disclose trade secrets or commercial or financial information that is privileged or confidential within the meaning of section 552(b)(4) of title 5 or which would be considered as such if it had been obtained from a non-Federal party.
  - (B) If a laboratory assigns title or grants an exclusive license to such an invention, the Government shall retain the right-
    - (i) to require the collaborating party to grant to a responsible applicant a nonexclusive, partially exclusive, or exclusive license to use the invention in the applicant's licensed field of use, on terms that are reasonable under the circumstances: or
      - (ii) if the collaborating party fails to grant such a license, to grant the license itself.
  - (C) The Government may exercise its right retained under subparagraph (B) only in exceptional circumstances and only if the Government determines that-
    - (i) the action is necessary to meet health or safety needs that are not reasonably satisfied by the collaborating party;
    - (ii) the action is necessary to meet requirements for public use specified by Federal regulations, and such requirements are not reasonably satisfied by the collaborating party; or
    - (iii) the collaborating party has failed to comply with an agreement containing provisions described in subsection (c)(4)(B).

This determination is subject to administrative appeal and judicial review under section  $203(2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  of title 35.

- (2) Under agreements entered into pursuant to subsection (a)(1), the laboratory shall ensure that a collaborating party may retain title to any invention made solely by its employee in exchange for normally granting the Government a nonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to practice the invention or have the invention practiced throughout the world by or on behalf of the Government for research or other Government purposes.
  - (3) Under an agreement entered into pursuant to subsection (a)(1), a laboratory may-
  - (A) accept, retain, and use funds, personnel, services, and property from a collaborating party and provide personnel, services, and property to a collaborating party;

- (B) use funds received from a collaborating party in accordance with subparagraph (A) to hire personnel to carry out the agreement who will not be subject to full-time-equivalent restrictions of the agency;
- (C) to the extent consistent with any applicable agency requirements or standards of conduct, permit an employee or former employee of the laboratory to participate in an effort to commercialize

an invention made by the employee or former employee while in the employment or service of the Government; and

- (D) waive, subject to reservation by the Government of a nonexclusive, irrevocable, paid-up license to practice the invention or have the invention practiced throughout the world by or on behalf of the Government, in advance, in whole or in part, any right of ownership which the Federal Government may have to any subject invention made under the agreement by a collaborating party or employee of a collaborating party.
- (4) A collaborating party in an exclusive license in any invention made under an agreement entered into pursuant to subsection (a)(1) shall have the right of enforcement under chapter 29 of title 35.
- (5) A Government-owned, contractor-operated laboratory that enters into a cooperative research and development agreement pursuant to subsection (a)(1) may use or obligate royalties or other income accruing to the laboratory under such agreement with respect to any invention only-
  - (A) for payments to inventors;
  - (B) for purposes described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii), and (iv) of section 3710c(a)(1)(B) of this title; and
  - (C) for scientific research and development consistent with the research and development missions and objectives of the laboratory.
- (6)(A) In the case of a laboratory that is part of the National Nuclear Security Administration, a designated official of that Administration may waive any license retained by the Government under paragraph (1)(A), (2), or (3)(D), in whole or in part and according to negotiated terms and conditions, if the designated official finds that the retention of the license by the Government would substantially inhibit the commercialization of an invention that would otherwise serve an important national security mission.
- (B) The authority to grant a waiver under subparagraph (A) shall expire on the date that is five years after October 30, 2000. The expiration under the preceding sentence of authority to grant a waiver under subparagraph (A) shall not affect any waiver granted under that subparagraph before the expiration of such authority.
- (C) Not later than February 15 of each year, the Administrator for Nuclear Security shall submit to Congress a report on any waivers granted under this paragraph during the preceding year.

#### (c) Contract considerations

- (1) A Federal agency may issue regulations on suitable procedures for implementing the provisions of this section; however, implementation of this section shall not be delayed until issuance of such regulations.
- (2) The agency in permitting a Federal laboratory to enter into agreements under this section shall be guided by the purposes of this chapter.
- (3)(A) Any agency using the authority given it under subsection (a) shall review standards of conduct for its employees for resolving potential conflicts of interest to make sure they adequately establish guidelines for situations likely to arise through the use of this authority, including but not limited to cases where present or former employees or their partners negotiate licenses or assignments of titles to inventions or negotiate cooperative research and development agreements with Federal agencies (including the agency with which the employee involved is or was formerly employed).
- (B) If, in implementing subparagraph (A), an agency is unable to resolve potential conflicts of interest within its current statutory framework, it shall propose necessary statutory changes to be forwarded to its authorizing committees in Congress.
- (4) The laboratory director in deciding what cooperative research and development agreements to enter into shall-

- (A) give special consideration to small business firms, and consortia involving small business firms; and
- (B) give preference to business units located in the United States which agree that products embodying inventions made under the cooperative research and development agreement or produced through the use of such inventions will be manufactured substantially in the United States and, in the case of any industrial organization or other person subject to the control of a foreign company or government, as appropriate, take into consideration whether or not such foreign government permits United States agencies, organizations, or other persons to enter into cooperative research and development agreements and licensing agreements.
- (5)(A) If the head of the agency or his designee desires an opportunity to disapprove or require the modification of any such agreement presented by the director of a Government-operated laboratory, the agreement shall provide a 30-day period within which such action must be taken beginning on the date the agreement is presented to him or her by the head of the laboratory concerned.
- (B) In any case in which the head of an agency or his designee disapproves or requires the modification of an agreement presented by the director of a Government-operated laboratory under this section, the head of the agency or such designee shall transmit a written explanation of such disapproval or modification to the head of the laboratory concerned.
- (C)(i) Any non-Federal entity that operates a laboratory pursuant to a contract with a Federal agency shall submit to the agency any cooperative research and development agreement that the entity proposes to enter into and the joint work statement if required with respect to that agreement.
- (ii) A Federal agency that receives a proposed agreement and joint work statement under clause (i) shall review and approve, request specific modifications to, or disapprove the proposed agreement and joint work statement within 30 days after such submission. No agreement may be entered into by a Government-owned, contractor-operated laboratory under this section before both approval of the agreement and approval of a joint work statement under this clause.
- (iii) In any case in which an agency which has contracted with an entity referred to in clause (i) disapproves or requests the modification of a cooperative research and development agreement or joint work statement submitted under that clause, the agency shall transmit a written explanation of such disapproval or modification to the head of the laboratory concerned.
- (iv) Any agency that has contracted with a non-Federal entity to operate a laboratory may develop and provide to such laboratory one or more model cooperative research and development agreements for purposes of standardizing practices and procedures, resolving common legal issues, and enabling review of cooperative research and development agreements to be carried out in a routine and prompt manner.
- (v) A Federal agency may waive the requirements of clause (i) or (ii) under such circumstances as the agency considers appropriate.
  - (6) Each agency shall maintain a record of all agreements entered into under this section.
- (7) (A) No trade secrets or commercial or financial information that is privileged or confidential, under the meaning of section 552(b)(4) of title 5, which is obtained in the conduct of research or as a result of activities under this chapter from a non-Federal party participating in a cooperative research and development agreement shall be disclosed.
- (B)(i) Subject to clause (ii), the director, or in the case of a contractor-operated laboratory, the agency, for a period of up to 5 years after development of information that results from research and development activities conducted under this chapter and that would be a trade secret or commercial or financial information that is privileged or confidential if the information had been obtained from a non-Federal party participating in a cooperative research and development agreement, may provide appropriate protections against the dissemination of such information, including exemption from subchapter II of chapter 5 of title 5.
- (II) <sup>2</sup> The agency may authorize the director to provide appropriate protections against dissemination described in clause (i) for a total period of not more than 30 years if the agency determines that the

nature of the information protected against dissemination, including nuclear technology, could reasonably require an extended period of that protection to reach commercialization.

#### (d) Definitions

As used in this section-

(1) the term "cooperative research and development agreement" means any agreement between one or more Federal laboratories and one or more non-Federal parties under which the Government, through its laboratories, provides personnel, services, facilities, equipment, intellectual property, or other resources with or without reimbursement (but not funds to non-Federal parties) and the non-

Federal parties provide funds, personnel, services, facilities, equipment, intellectual property, or other resources toward the conduct of specified research or development efforts which are consistent with the missions of the laboratory; except that such term does not include a procurement contract or cooperative agreement as those terms are used in sections 6303, 6304, and 6305 of title 31;

- (2) the term "laboratory" means-
- (A) a facility or group of facilities owned, leased, or otherwise used by a Federal agency, a substantial purpose of which is the performance of research, development, or engineering by employees of the Federal Government;
- (B) a group of Government-owned, contractor-operated facilities (including a weapon production facility of the Department of Energy) under a common contract, when a substantial purpose of the contract is the performance of research and development, or the production, maintenance, testing, or dismantlement of a nuclear weapon or its components, for the Federal Government; and
- (C) a Government-owned, contractor-operated facility (including a weapon production facility of the Department of Energy) that is not under a common contract described in subparagraph (B), and the primary purpose of which is the performance of research and development, or the production, maintenance, testing, or dismantlement of a nuclear weapon or its components, for the Federal Government, but such term does not include any facility covered by Executive Order No. 12344, dated February 1, 1982, pertaining to the naval nuclear propulsion program;
- (3) the term "joint work statement" means a proposal prepared for a Federal agency by the director of a Government-owned, contractor-operated laboratory describing the purpose and scope of a proposed cooperative research and development agreement, and assigning rights and responsibilities among the agency, the laboratory, and any other party or parties to the proposed agreement; and
- (4) the term "weapon production facility of the Department of Energy" means a facility under the control or jurisdiction of the Secretary of Energy that is operated for national security purposes and is engaged in the production, maintenance, testing, or dismantlement of a nuclear weapon or its components.

### (e) Determination of laboratory missions

For purposes of this section, an agency shall make separate determinations of the mission or missions of each of its laboratories.

#### (f) Relationship to other laws

Nothing in this section is intended to limit or diminish existing authorities of any agency.

## (g) Principles

In implementing this section, each agency which has contracted with a non-Federal entity to operate a laboratory shall be guided by the following principles:

(1) The implementation shall advance program missions at the laboratory, including any national security mission.

(2) Classified information and unclassified sensitive information protected by law, regulation, or Executive order shall be appropriately safeguarded.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §12, as added and renumbered §11, Pub. L. 99–502, §§2, 9(e)(1), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1785, 1797; renumbered §12, Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(a)(1), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438; amended Pub. L. 100–519, title III, §301, Oct. 24, 1988, 102 Stat. 2597; Pub. L. 101–189, div. C, title XXXI, §3133(a), (b), Nov. 29, 1989, 103 Stat. 1675, 1677; Pub. L. 102–25, title VII, §705(g), Apr. 6, 1991, 105 Stat. 121; Pub. L. 102–245, title III, §302(a), Feb. 14, 1992, 106 Stat. 20; Pub. L. 102–484, div. C, title XXXI, §3135(a), Oct. 23, 1992, 106 Stat. 2640; Pub. L. 103–160, div. C, title XXXI, §3160, Nov. 30, 1993, 107 Stat. 1957; Pub. L. 104–113, §4, Mar. 7, 1996, 110 Stat. 775; Pub. L. 106–398, §1 [div. C, title XXXI, §3196], Oct. 30, 2000, 114 Stat. 1654, 1654A-481; Pub. L. 106–404, §3, Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1742; Pub. L. 117–58, div. D, title III, §40322(b)(1), Nov. 15, 2021, 135 Stat. 1018.)

(B) Retroactive effect.-Clause (ii) [sic] of section 12(c)(7)(B) of the Stevenson-Wydler Technology Innovation Act of 1980 (15 U.S.C. 3710a(c)(7)(B)), as added by subsection (a) of this section, shall apply with respect to any

cooperative research and development agreement that is in effect as of the day before the date of enactment of this Act [Nov. 15, 2021]."

# §3710b. Rewards for Scientific, Engineering, and Technical Personnel of Federal Agencies

The head of each Federal agency that is making expenditures at a rate of more than \$50,000,000 per fiscal year for research and development in its Government-operated laboratories shall use the appropriate statutory authority to develop and implement a cash awards program to reward its scientific, engineering, and technical personnel for—

- (1) inventions, innovations, computer software, or other outstanding scientific or technological contributions of value to the United States due to commercial application or due to contributions to missions of the Federal agency or the Federal government, or
- (2) exemplary activities that promote the domestic transfer of science and technology development within the Federal Government and result in utilization of such science and technology by American industry or business, universities, State or local governments, or other non-Federal parties.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §13, as added and renumbered §12, Pub. L. 99–502, §§6, 9(e)(1), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1792, 1797; renumbered §13, Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(a)(1), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438; amended Pub. L. 100–519, title III, §302, Oct. 24, 1988, 102 Stat. 2597.)

#### **AMENDMENTS**

1988—Par. (1). Pub. L. 100–519 inserted "computer software," after "inventions, innovations,".

# §3710c. Distribution of Royalties Received by Federal Agencies

(a) In general

(1) Except as provided in paragraphs (2) and (4), any royalties or other payments received by a Federal agency from the licensing and assignment of inventions under agreements entered into by Federal laboratories under section 3710a of this title, and from the licensing of inventions of Federal laboratories under section 207 of title 35 or under any other provision of law, shall be retained by the laboratory which produced the invention and shall be disposed of as follows:

(A)

- (i) The head of the agency or laboratory, or such individual's designee, shall pay each year the first \$2,000, and thereafter at least 15 percent, of the royalties or other payments, other than payments of patent costs as delineated by a license or assignment agreement, to the inventor or coinventors, if the inventor's or coinventor's rights are assigned to the United States.
- (ii) An agency or laboratory may provide appropriate incentives, from royalties, or other payments, to laboratory employees who are not an inventor of such inventions but who substantially increased the technical value of such inventions.
- (iii) The agency or laboratory shall retain the royalties and other payments received from an invention until the agency or laboratory makes payments to employees of a laboratory under clause (i) or (ii).
- (B) The balance of the royalties or other payments shall be transferred by the agency to its laboratories, with the majority share of the royalties or other payments from any invention going to the laboratory where the invention occurred. The royalties or other payments so transferred to any laboratory may be used or obligated by that laboratory during the fiscal year in which they are received or during the 2 succeeding fiscal years—
  - (i) to reward scientific, engineering, and technical employees of the laboratory, including developers of sensitive or classified technology, regardless of whether the technology has commercial applications;
  - (ii) to further scientific exchange among the laboratories of the agency;
  - (iii) for education and training of employees consistent with the research and development missions and objectives of the agency or laboratory, and for other activities that increase the potential for transfer of the technology of the laboratories of the agency;
  - (iv) for payment of expenses incidental to the administration and licensing of intellectual property by the agency or laboratory with respect to inventions made at that laboratory, including the fees or other costs for the services of other agencies, persons, or organizations for intellectual property management and licensing services; or
  - (v) for scientific research and development consistent with the research and development missions and objectives of the laboratory.
- (C) All royalties or other payments retained by the agency or laboratory after payments have been made pursuant to subparagraphs (A) and (B) that is unobligated and unexpended at the end of the second fiscal year succeeding the fiscal year in which the royalties and other payments were received shall be paid into the Treasury.
- (2) If, after payments to inventors under paragraph (1), the royalties or other payments received by an agency in any fiscal year exceed 5 percent of the budget of the agency for that year, 75 percent of such excess shall be paid to the Treasury of

- the United States and the remaining 25 percent may be used or obligated under paragraph (1)(B). Any funds not so used or obligated shall be paid into the Treasury of the United States.
- (3) Any payment made to an employee under this section shall be in addition to the regular pay of the employee and to any other awards made to the employee, and shall not affect the entitlement of the employee to any regular pay, annuity, or award to which he is otherwise entitled or for which he is otherwise eligible or
  - limit the amount thereof. Any payment made to an inventor as such shall continue after the inventor leaves the laboratory or agency. Payments made under this section shall not exceed \$150,000 per year to any one person, unless the President approves a larger award (with the excess over \$150,000 being treated as a Presidential award under section §4504 of title 5).
- (4) A Federal agency receiving royalties or other payments as a result of invention management services performed for another Federal agency or laboratory under section §207 of title 35, may retain such royalties or payments to the extent required to offset payments to inventors under clause (i) of paragraph (1)(A), costs and expenses incurred under clause (iv) of paragraph (1)(B), and the cost of foreign patenting and maintenance for any invention of the other agency. All royalties and other payments remaining after offsetting the payments to inventors, costs, and expenses described in the preceding sentence shall be transferred to the agency for which the services were performed, for distribution in accordance with paragraph (1)(B).

#### (b) Certain assignments

If the invention involved was one assigned to the Federal agency—

- (1) by a contractor, grantee, or participant, or an employee of a contractor, grantee, or participant, in an agreement or other arrangement with the agency, or
- (2) by an employee of the agency who was not working in the laboratory at the time the invention was made, the agency unit that was involved in such assignment shall be considered to be a laboratory for purposes of this section.

#### (c) Reports

The Comptroller General shall transmit a report to the appropriate committees of the Senate and House of Representatives on the effectiveness of Federal technology transfer programs, including findings, conclusions, and recommendations for improvements in such programs. The report shall be integrated with, and submitted at the same time as, the report required by section §202(b)(3) of title 35.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §14, as added, renumbered §13, and amended Pub. L. 99–502, §§7, 9(e) (1),(3),Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1792, 1797; renumbered §14 and amended Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §§5122(a)(1), 5162(a), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438, 1450; Pub. L. 100–519, title III, §303(a), Oct. 24, 1988, 102 Stat. 2597; Pub. L. 101–189, div. C, title XXXI, §3133(c), Nov. 29, 1989, 103 Stat. 1677; Pub. L. 104–113, §5, Mar. 7, 1996, 110 Stat. 777; Pub. L. 106–404, §§7(7), 10(b), Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1746, 1749.)

#### §3710d. Employee Activities

#### (a) In general

If a Federal agency which has ownership of or the right of ownership to an invention made by a Federal employee does not intend to file for a patent application or otherwise to promote commercialization of such invention, the agency shall allow the inventor, if the inventor is a Government employee or former employee who made the invention

during the course of employment with the Government, to obtain or retain title to the invention (subject to reservation by the Government of a nonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to practice the invention or have the invention practiced throughout the world by or on behalf of the Government). In addition, the agency may condition the inventor's right to title on the timely filing of a patent application in cases when the Government determines that it has or may have a need to practice the invention.

#### (b) "Special Government employees" defined

For purposes of this section, Federal employees include "special Government employees" as defined in section §202 of title 18.

#### (c) Relationship to other laws

Nothing in this section is intended to limit or diminish existing authorities of any agency.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §15, as added and renumbered §14, Pub. L. 99–502, §§8, 9(e)(1), Oct. 20, 1986,100 Stat. 1794, 1797; renumbered §15, Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(a)(1), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438; amended Pub. L. 104–113, §6, Mar. 7, 1996, 110 Stat. 779.)

### §3711. National Technology and Innovation Medal

#### (a) Establishment

There is hereby established a National Technology and Innovation Medal, which shall be of such design and materials and bear such inscriptions as the President, on the basis of recommendations submitted by the Office of Science and Technology Policy, may prescribe.

#### (b) Award

The President shall periodically award the medal, on the basis of recommendations received from the Secretary or on the basis of such other information and evidence as he deems appropriate, to individuals or companies, which in his judgment are deserving of special recognition by reason of their outstanding contributions to the promotion of technology or technological manpower for the improvement of the economic, environmental, or social well-being of the United States.

#### (c) Presentation

The presentation of the award shall be made by the President with such ceremonies as he may deem proper.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §16, formerly §12, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2319; renumbered §16, Pub. L. 99–502, §2, Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1785; renumbered §15, Pub. L. 99–502, §9(e)(1), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1797; renumbered §16, Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(a)(1), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438; Pub. L. 110–69, title I, §1003, Aug. 9, 2007, 121 Stat. 576.)

#### §3712. Personnel Exchanges

The Secretary, the Secretary of Energy, and the Director of the National Science Foundation, jointly, shall establish a program to foster the exchange of scientific and technical personnel among academia, industry, and Federal laboratories. Such pro- gram shall include both (1) federally supported exchanges and (2) efforts to stimulate exchanges without Federal funding.

(Pub. L. 96-480, §20, formerly §13, Oct. 21, 1980, 94 Stat. 2320; renumbered §17, Pub. L.

99–502, §2, Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1785; renumbered §16, Pub. L. 99–502, §9(e)(1), Oct. 20, 1986, 100 Stat. 1797; renumbered §17, Pub. L. 100–107, §3(a), Aug. 20, 1987, 101 Stat. 725; renumbered §18, Pub. L. 100–418, title V, §5122(a)(1), Aug. 23, 1988, 102 Stat. 1438; renumbered §20, Pub. L. 102–240, title VI, §6019, Dec. 18, 1991, 105 Stat. 2183; Pub. L. 109–58, title X, §1009(c), Aug. 8, 2005, 119 Stat. 936.)

#### §3715. Use of Partnership Intermediaries

#### (a) Authority

Subject to the approval of the Secretary or head of the affected department or agency, the Director of a Federal laboratory, or in the case of a federally funded research and development center that is not a laboratory (as defined in section §3710a(d)(2) of this title), the Federal employee who is the contract officer, may—

- (1) enter into a contract or memorandum of understanding with a partnership intermediary that provides for the partnership intermediary to perform services for the Federal laboratory that increase the likelihood of success in the conduct of cooperative or joint activities of such Federal laboratory with small business firms, institutions of higher education as defined in section §1141(a) of title 20, or educational institutions within the meaning of section §2194 of title 10; and
- (2) pay the Federal costs of such contract or memorandum of understanding out of funds available for the support of the technology transfer function pursuant to section §3710(b) of this title.

#### (b) Omitted

#### (c) "Partnership intermediary" defined

For purposes of this section, the term "partnership intermediary" means an agency of a State or local government, or a nonprofit entity owned in whole or in part by, chartered by, funded in whole or in part by, or operated in whole or in part by or on behalf of a State or local government, that assists, counsels, advises, evaluates, or otherwise cooperates with small business firms, institutions of higher education as defined in section 1141(a) of title 20, or educational institutions within the meaning of section 2194 of title 10, that need or can make demonstrably productive use of technology-related assistance from a Federal laboratory, including State programs receiving funds under cooperative agreements entered into under section §5121(b) of the Omnibus Trade and Competitiveness Act of 1988 (15 U.S.C. §278I note).

(Pub. L. 96–480, §23, formerly §21, as added Pub. L. 101–510, div. A, title VIII, §827(a), Nov. 5, 1990, 104 Stat. 1606; amended Pub. L. 102–190, div. A, title VIII, §836, Dec. 5, 1991, 105 Stat. 1448; renumbered §23, Pub. L. 102–240, title VI, §6019, Dec. 18, 1991, 105 Stat. 2183; Pub. L. 106–404, §9, Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1747.)

#### §3719. Prize Competitions

#### (a) Definitions

In this section:

- (1) Agency
  - The term "agency" means a Federal agency.
- (2) Director

The term "Director" means the Director of the Office of Science and Technology Policy.

(3) Federal agency

The term "Federal agency" has the meaning given under section 3703 of this title, except that term shall not include any agency of the legislative branch of the Federal Government.

(4) Head of an agency

The term "head of an agency" means the head of a Federal agency.

#### (b) In general

Each head of an agency, or the heads of multiple agencies in cooperation, may carry out a program to award prizes competitively to stimulate innovation that has the potential to advance the mission of the respective agency.

## (c) Prize competitions

For purposes of this section, a prize competition may be 1 or more of the following types of activities:

- (1) A point solution prize that rewards and spurs the development of solutions for a particular, well-defined problem.
- (2) An exposition prize competition that helps identify and promote a broad range of ideas and practices that may not otherwise attract attention, facilitating further development of the idea or practice by third parties.
- (3) Participation prize competitions that create value during and after the competition by encouraging contestants to change their behavior or develop new skills that may have beneficial effects during and after the competition.
- (4) Such other types of prize competitions as each head of an agency considers appropriate to stimulate innovation that has the potential to advance the mission of the respective agency.

#### (d) Topics

In selecting topics for prize competitions, the head of an agency shall consult widely both within and outside the Federal Government and may empanel advisory committees.

#### (e) Advertising

The head of an agency shall widely advertise each prize competition to encourage broad participation.

#### (f) Requirements and registration

For each prize competition, the head of an agency shall publish a notice on a publicly accessible Government website, such as www.challenge.gov, announcing—

- (1) the subject of the prize competition;
- (2) the rules for being eligible to participate in the prize competition;
- (3) the process for participants to register for the prize competition;
- (4) the amount of the cash prize purse or non-cash prize award; and
- (5) the basis on which a winner will be selected.

## (g) Eligibility

To be eligible to win a cash prize purse under this section, an individual or entity—

- (1) shall have registered to participate in the prize competition under any rules promulgated by the head of an agency under subsection (f);
- (2) shall have complied with all the requirements under this section;
- (3) in the case of a private entity, shall be incorporated in and maintain a primary place of business in the United States, and in the case of an individual, whether participating singly or in a group, shall be a citizen or permanent resident of the United States; and
- (4) may not be a Federal entity or Federal employee acting within the scope of their employment.

#### (h) Consultation with Federal employees

An individual or entity shall not be deemed ineligible under subsection (g) because the individual or entity used Federal facilities or consulted with Federal employees during a prize competition if the facilities and employees are made available to all individuals and entities participating in the prize competition on an equitable basis.

#### (i) Liability

(1) In general

#### (A) Definition

In this paragraph, the term "related entity" means a contractor or subcontractor at any tier, and a supplier, user, customer, cooperating party, grantee, investigator, or detailee.

#### (B) Liability

Registered participants shall be required to agree to assume any and all risks and waive claims against the Federal Government and its related entities, except in the case of willful misconduct, for any injury, death, damage, or loss of property, revenue, or profits, whether direct, indirect, or consequential, arising from their participation in a prize competition, whether the injury, death, damage, or loss arises through negligence or otherwise.

#### (2) Insurance

Participants shall be required to obtain liability insurance or demonstrate financial responsibility, in amounts determined by the head of an agency, for claims by—

- (A) a third party for death, bodily injury, or property damage, or loss resulting from an activity carried out in connection with participation in a prize competition, with the Federal Government named as an additional insured under the registered participant's insurance policy and registered participants agreeing to indemnify the Federal Government against third party claims for damages arising from or related to prize competition activities; and
- (B) the Federal Government for damage or loss to Government property resulting from such an activity.

## (3) Waivers

#### (A) In general

An agency may waive the requirement under paragraph (2).

#### (B) List

The Director shall include a list of all of the waivers granted under this paragraph during the preceding fiscal year, including a detailed explanation of the reason for granting the waiver.

#### (4) Exception

The head of an agency may not require a participant to waive claims against the administering entity arising out of the unauthorized use or disclosure by the agency of the intellectual property, trade secrets, or confidential business information of the participant.

#### (i) Intellectual property

(1) Prohibition on the government acquiring intellectual property rights

The Federal Government may not gain an interest in intellectual property developed by a participant in a prize competition without the written consent of the participant.

#### (2) Licenses

As appropriate and to further the goals of a prize competition, the Federal Government may negotiate a license for the use of intellectual property developed by a registered participant in a prize competition.

#### (k) Judges

#### (1) In general

For each prize competition, the head of an agency, either directly or through an agreement under subsection (I), shall appoint one or more qualified judges to select the winner or winners of the prize competition on the basis described under subsection (f). Judges for each prize competition may include individuals from outside the agency, including from the private sector.

#### (2) Restrictions

A judge may not-

- (A) have personal or financial interests in, or be an employee, officer, director, or agent of any entity that is a registered participant in a prize competition; or
- (B) have a familial or financial relationship with an individual who is a registered participant.

#### (3) Guidelines

The heads of agencies who carry out prize competitions under this section shall develop guidelines to ensure that the judges appointed for such prize competitions are fairly balanced and operate in a transparent manner.

#### (4) Exemption from FACA

The Federal Advisory Committee Act (5 U.S.C. App.) shall not apply to any committee, board, commission, panel, task force, or similar entity, created solely for the purpose of judging prize competitions under this section.

#### (I) Administering the competition

The head of an agency may enter into a grant, contract, cooperative agreement, or other agreement with a private sector for-profit or nonprofit entity or State or local government agency to administer the prize competition, subject to the provisions of this section.

#### (m) Funding

#### (1) In general

Support for a prize competition under this section, including financial support for the design and administration of a prize competition or funds for a cash prize purse, may consist of Federal appropriated funds and funds provided by private sector for-profit and nonprofit entities. The head of an agency may request and accept funds from other Federal agencies, State, United States territory, local, or tribal government agencies, private sector for-profit entities, and nonprofit entities, to be available to the extent provided by appropriations Acts, to support such prize competitions. The head of an agency may not give any special consideration to any agency or entity in return for a donation.

# (2) Availability of funds

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, funds appropriated for cash prize purses or non-cash prize awards under this section shall remain available until expended. No provision in this section permits obligation or payment of funds in violation of section §1341 of title 31.

#### (3) Amount of prize

#### (A) Announcement

No prize competition may be announced under subsection (f) until all the funds needed to pay out the announced amount of the cash prize purse have been appropriated or committed in writing by a private or State, United States territory, local, or tribal government source.

(B) Increase in amount

The head of an agency may increase the amount of a cash prize purse or noncash prize award after an initial announcement is made under subsection (f) only if—

- notice of the increase is provided in the same manner as the initial notice of the prize competition; and
- (ii) the funds needed to pay out the announced amount of the increase have been appropriated or committed in writing by a private or State, United States territory, local, or tribal government source.

#### (4) Limitation on amount

#### (A) Notice to Congress

No prize competition under this section may offer a cash prize purse or a noncash prize award in an amount greater than \$50,000,000 unless 30 days have elapsed after written notice has been transmitted to the Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation of the Senate and the Committee on Science, Space, and Technology of the House of Representatives.

(B) Approval of head of agency
No prize competition under this section may result in the award of more than
\$1,000,000 in cash prize purses or non-cash prize awards without the approval
of the head of an agency.

#### (n) General Services Administration assistance

Not later than 180 days after January 6, 2017, the General Services Administration shall provide government wide services to share best practices and assist agencies in developing guidelines for issuing prize competitions. The General Services Administration shall develop a contract vehicle for both for-profit and nonprofit entities and State, United States territory, local, and tribal government entities, to provide agencies access to relevant products and services, including technical assistance in structuring and conducting prize competitions to take maximum benefit of the marketplace as they identify and pursue prize competitions to further the policy objectives of the Federal Government.

#### (o) Compliance with existing law

#### (1) In general

The Federal Government shall not, by virtue of offering a prize competition or providing a cash prize purse or non-cash prize award under this section, be responsible for compliance by registered participants in a prize competition with Federal law, including licensing, export control, and nonproliferation laws, and related regulations.

(2) Other prize authority

Nothing in this section affects the prize authority authorized by any other provision of law.

#### (p) Biennial report

# (1) In general

Not later than March 1 of every other year, the Director shall submit to the Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation of the Senate and the Committee on Science, Space, and Technology of the House of Representatives a report on the activities carried out during the preceding 2 fiscal years under the authority in subsection (b).

#### (2) Information included

A report under this subsection shall include, for each prize competition under subsection (b), the following:

(A) Proposed goals

A description of the proposed goals of each prize competition.

#### (B) Preferable method

An analysis of why the utilization of the authority in subsection (b) was the preferable method of achieving the goals described in subparagraph (A) as opposed to other authorities available to the agency, such as contracts, grants, and cooperative agreements.

(C) Amount of cash prize purses or non-cash prize awards

The total amount of cash prize purses or non-cash prize awards awarded for each prize competition, including a description of amount of private funds

contributed to the program, the sources of such funds, and the manner in which the amounts of cash prize purses or non-cash prize awards awarded and claimed were allocated among the accounts of the agency for recording as obligations and expenditures.

(D) Solicitations and evaluation of submissions

The methods used for the solicitation and evaluation of submissions under each prize competition, together with an assessment of the effectiveness of such methods and lessons learned for future prize competitions.

(E) Resources

A description of the resources, including personnel and funding, used in the execution of each prize competition together with a detailed description of the activities for which such resources were used and an accounting of how funding for execution was allocated among the accounts of the agency for recording as obligations and expenditures.

(F) Results

A description of how each prize competition advanced the mission of the agency concerned.

(G) Plan

A description of crosscutting topical areas and agency-specific mission needs that may be the strongest opportunities for prize competitions during the upcoming 2 fiscal years.

(Pub. L. 96–480, §24, as added Pub. L. 111–358, title I, §105(a), Jan. 4, 2011, 124 Stat. 3989; amended Pub. L. 114–329, title IV, §401(b), Jan. 6, 2017, 130 Stat. 3016.)

#### §638. Research and Development (SBIR/STTR)

# (a) Declaration of Policy

Research and development are major factors in the growth and progress of industry and the national economy. The expense of carrying on research and development programs is beyond the means of many small-business concerns, and such concerns are handicapped in obtaining the benefits of research and development programs conducted at Government expense. These small-business concerns are thereby placed at a competitive disadvantage. This weakens the competitive free enterprise system and prevents the orderly development of the national economy. It is the policy of the Congress that assistance be given to small-business concerns to enable them to undertake and to obtain the benefits of research and development in order to maintain and strengthen the competitive free enterprise system and the national economy.

# U.S.C. TITLE 35 — PATENTS

# Patentability of Inventions and Grant of Patents (AIA)

# CHAPTER 10 — PATENTABILITY OF INVENTIONS (§100-§105)

#### §100. Definitions

When used in this title unless the context otherwise indicates—

- (a) The term "invention" means invention or discovery.
- (b) The term "process" means process, art, or method, and includes a new use of a known process, machine, manufacture, composition of matter, or material.
- (c) The terms "United States" and "this country" mean the United States of America, its territories and possessions.
- (d) The word "patentee" includes not only the patentee to whom the patent was issued but also the successors in title to the patentee.
- (e) The term "third-party requester" means a person requesting ex parte reexamination under section 302 who is not the patent owner.
- (f) The term "inventor" means the individual or, if a joint invention, the individuals collectively who invented or discovered the subject matter of the invention.
- (g) The terms "joint inventor" and "coinventor" mean any 1 of the individuals who invented or discovered the subject matter of a joint invention.
- (h) The term "joint research agreement" means a written contract, grant, or cooperative agreement entered into by 2 or more persons or entities for the performance of experimental, developmental, or research work in the field of the claimed invention.

(i)

- (1) The term "effective filing date" for a claimed invention in a patent or application for patent means—
  - (A) if subparagraph (B) does not apply, the actual filing date of the patent or the application for the patent containing a claim to the invention; or
  - (B) the filing date of the earliest application for which the patent or application is entitled, as to such invention, to a right of priority under section 119, §365(a), §365(b), §386(a), or §386(b) or to the benefit of an earlier filing date under section §120, §121, §365(c), or §386(c).
- (2) The effective filing date for a claimed invention in an application for reissue or reissued patent shall be determined by deeming the claim to the invention to have been contained in the patent for which reissue was sought.
- (j) The term "claimed invention" means the subject matter defined by a claim in a patent or an application for a patent.

#### §101. Inventions Patentable

Whoever invents or discovers any new and useful process, machine, manufacture, or composition of matter, or any new and useful improvement thereof, may obtain a patent therefor, subject to the conditions and requirements of this title.

### §102. Conditions for Patentability; Novelty

[Editor Note: Applicable to any patent application subject to the first inventor to file provisions of the AIA

(see 35 U.S.C. §100 (note) ). See 35 U.S.C. §102 (pre-AIA) for the law otherwise applicable.]

- (a) Novelty; prior art.—A person shall be entitled to a patent unless—
  - (1) the claimed invention was patented, described in a printed publication, or in public use, on sale, or otherwise available to the public before the effective filing date of the claimed invention; or
  - (2) the claimed invention was described in a patent issued under section §151, or in an application for patent published or deemed published under section §122(b), in which the patent or application, as the case may be, names another inventor and was effectively filed before the effective filing date of the claimed invention.
- (b) Exceptions.—
  - (1) Disclosures made 1 year or less before the effective filing date of the claimed invention.— A disclosure made 1 year or less before the effective filing date of a claimed invention shall not be prior art to the claimed invention under subsection (a)(1) if—
    - (A) the disclosure was made by the inventor or joint inventor or by another who obtained the subject matter disclosed directly or indirectly from the inventor or a joint inventor; or
    - (B) the subject matter disclosed had, before such disclosure, been publicly disclosed by the inventor or a joint inventor or another who obtained the subject matter disclosed directly or indirectly from the inventor or a joint inventor.
  - (2) Disclosures appearing in applications and patents.—A disclosure shall not be prior art to a claimed invention under subsection (a)(2) if—
    - (A) the subject matter disclosed was obtained directly or indirectly from the inventor or a joint inventor;
    - (B) the subject matter disclosed had, before such subject matter was effectively filed under subsection (a)(2), been publicly disclosed by the inventor or a joint inventor or another who obtained the subject matter disclosed directly or indirectly from the inventor or a joint inventor; or
    - (C) the subject matter disclosed and the claimed invention, not later than the effective filing date of the claimed invention, were owned by the same person or subject to an obligation of assignment to the same person.
- (c) Common ownership under joint research agreements.—Subject matter disclosed and a claimed invention shall be deemed to have been owned by the same person or subject to an obligation of assignment to the same person in applying the provisions of subsection (b)(2)(C) if—
  - (1) the subject matter disclosed was developed and the claimed invention was made by, or on behalf of, 1 or more parties to a joint research agreement that was in effect on or before the effective filing date of the claimed invention;
  - (2) the claimed invention was made as a result of activities undertaken within the scope of the joint research agreement; and
  - (3) the application for patent for the claimed invention discloses or is amended to disclose the names of the parties to the joint research agreement.
- (d) Patents and published applications effective as prior art.—For purposes of determining whether a patent or application for patent is prior art to a claimed invention under subsection (a)(2), such patent or application shall be considered to

have been effectively filed, with respect to any subject matter described in the patent or application—

- (1) if paragraph (2) does not apply, as of the actual filing date of the patent or the application for patent; or
- (2) if the patent or application for patent is entitled to claim a right of priority under section §119, §365(a), §365(b), §386(a), or §386(b), or to claim the benefit of an earlier filing date under section §120, §121, §365(c), or §386(c) based upon 1 or more prior filed applications for patent, as of the filing date of the earliest such application that describes the subject matter.

# §103. Conditions for Patentability; Non-Obvious Subject Matter

A patent for a claimed invention may not be obtained, notwithstanding that the claimed invention is not identically disclosed as set forth in section 102, if the differences between the claimed invention and the prior art are such that the claimed invention as a whole would have been obvious before the effective filing date of the claimed invention to a person having ordinary skill in the art to which the claimed invention pertains. Patentability shall not be negated by the manner in which the invention was made.

### §105. Inventions in Outer Space

- (a) Any invention made, used, or sold in outer space on a space object or component thereof under the jurisdiction or control of the United States shall be considered to be made, used or sold within the United States for the purposes of this title, except with respect to any space object or component thereof that is specifically identified and otherwise provided for by an international agreement to which the United States is a party, or with respect to any space object or component thereof that is carried on the registry of a foreign state in accordance with the Convention on Registration of Objects Launched into Outer Space.
- (b) Any invention made, used, or sold in outer space on a space object or component thereof that is carried on the registry of a foreign state in accordance with the Convention on Registration of Objects Launched into Outer Space, shall be considered to be made, used, or sold within the United States for the purposes of this title if specifically so agreed in an international agreement between the United States and the state of registry.

# CHAPTER 18 — PATENT RIGHTS IN INVENTIONS MADE WITH FEDERAL ASSISTANCE

#### §200. Policy and Objective

It is the policy and objective of the Congress to use the patent system to promote the utilization of inventions arising from federally supported research or development; to encourage maximum participation of small business firms in federally support- ed research and development efforts; to promote collaboration between commercial concerns and nonprofit organizations, including universities; to ensure that inventions made by nonprofit

organizations and small business firms are used in a manner to promote free competition and enterprise without unduly encumbering future research and discovery; to promote the commercialization and public availability of inventions made in the United States by United States industry and labor; to ensure that the Government obtains sufficient rights in federally supported inventions to meet the needs of the Government and protect the public against nonuse or unreasonable use of inventions; and to minimize the costs of administering policies in this area.

(Added Pub. L. 96–517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3018; amended Pub. L. 106–404, §5, Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1745.)

#### §201. Definitions

As used in this chapter—

- (a) The term "Federal agency" means any executive agency as defined in section 105 of title 5, and the military departments as defined by section §102 of title 5.
- (b) The term "funding agreement" means any contract, grant, or cooperative agreement entered into between any Federal agency, other than the Tennessee Valley Authority, and any contractor for the performance of experimental, developmental, or research work funded in whole or in part by the Federal Government. Such term includes any assignment, substitution of parties, or subcontract of any type entered into for the performance of experimental, developmental, or research work under a funding agreement as herein defined.
- (c) The term "contractor" means any person, small business firm, or nonprofit organization that is a party to a funding agreement.
- (d) The term "invention" means any invention or discovery which is or may be patentable or otherwise protectable under this title or any novel variety of plant which is or may be protectable under the Plant Variety Protection Act (7 U.S.C. §2321 et seq.).
- (e) The term "subject invention" means any invention of the contractor conceived or first actually reduced to practice in the performance of work under a funding agreement: Provided, That in the case of a variety of plant, the date of determination (as defined in section 41(d) 1 of the Plant Variety Protection Act (7 U.S.C. §2401(d))) must also occur during the period of contract performance.
- (f) The term "practical application" means to manufacture in the case of a composition or product, to practice in the case of a process or method, or to operate in the case of a machine or system; and, in each case, under such conditions as to establish that the invention is being utilized and that its benefits are to the extent permitted by law or Government regulations available to the public on reasonable terms.
- (g) The term "made" when used in relation to any invention means the conception or first actual reduction to practice of such invention.
- (h) The term "small business firm" means a small business concern as defined at section 2 of Public Law 85-536 (15 U.S.C. §632) and implementing regulations of the Administrator of the Small Business Administration.
- (i) The term "nonprofit organization" means universities and other institutions of higher education or an organization of the type described in section §501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (26 U.S.C. §501(c)) and exempt from taxation under section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. §501(a)) or any nonprofit scientific or educational organization qualified under a State nonprofit organization statute.

(Added Pub. L. 96–517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3019; amended Pub. L. 98–620, title V, §501(1), (2), Nov. 8, 1984, 98 Stat. 3364; Pub. L. 99–514, §2, Oct. 22, 1986, 100 Stat. 2095; Pub. L. 107–273, div. C, title III, §13206(a)(12), Nov. 2, 2002, 116 Stat. 1904.)

#### §202. Disposition of Rights

(a) Each nonprofit organization or small business firm may, within a reasonable time after disclosure as required by paragraph (c)(1) of this section, elect to retain title to any subject invention: Provided, however, That a funding agreement may provide otherwise (i) when the contractor is not located in the United States or does not have a place of business located in the United States or is subject to the control of a foreign government, (ii) in exceptional circumstances when it is determined by the agency that restriction or elimination of the right to retain title to any subject invention will better promote the policy and objectives of this chapter (iii) when it is determined by a Government authority which is authorized by statute or Executive order to conduct foreign intelligence or counter- intelligence activities that the restriction or elimination of the right to retain title to any subject invention is necessary to protect the security of such activities or, (iv) when the funding agreement includes the operation of a Government-Owned, Contractor-Operated facility of the Department of Energy primarily dedicated to that Department's naval nuclear propulsion or weapons related programs and all funding agreement limitations under this subparagraph on the contractor's right to elect title to a subject invention are limited to inventions occurring under the above two programs of the Department of Energy. The rights of the nonprofit organization or small business firm shall be subject to the provisions of paragraph (c) of this section and the other provisions of this chapter.

(b)

- (1) The rights of the Government under subsection (a) shall not be exercised by a Federal agency unless it first determines that at least one of the conditions identified in clauses
  - (i) through (iv) of subsection (a) exists. Except in the case of subsection (a)(iii), the agency shall file with the Secretary of Commerce, within thirty days after the award of the applicable funding agreement, a copy of such determination. In the case of a determination under subsection (a)(ii), the statement shall include an analysis justifying the determination. In the case of determinations applicable to funding agreements with small business firms, copies shall also be sent to the Chief Counsel for Advocacy of the Small Business Administration. If the Secretary of Commerce believes that any individual determination or pattern of determinations is contrary to the policies and objectives of this chapter or otherwise not in conformance with this chapter, the Secretary shall so advise the head of the agency concerned and the Administrator of the Office of Federal Procurement Policy and recommend corrective actions.
- (2) Whenever the Administrator of the Office of Federal Procurement Policy has determined that one or more Federal agencies are utilizing the authority of clause (i) or (ii) of subsection (a) of this section in a manner that is contrary to the policies and objectives of this chapter, the Administrator is authorized to issue regulations describing classes of situations in which agencies may not exercise the authorities of those clauses.
- (3) If the contractor believes that a determination is contrary to the policies and objectives of this chapter or constitutes an abuse of discretion by the agency, the determination shall be subject to section §203(b).

- (c) Each funding agreement with a small business firm or nonprofit organization shall contain appropriate provisions to effectuate the following:
  - (1) That the contractor disclose each subject invention to the Federal agency within a reasonable time after it becomes known to contractor personnel responsible for the administration of patent matters, and that the Federal Government may receive title to any subject invention not disclosed to it within such time.
  - (2) That the contractor make a written election within two years after disclosure to the Federal agency (or such additional time as may be approved by the Federal agency) whether the contractor will retain title to a subject invention: Provided, That in any case where the 1-year period referred to in section 102(b) would end before the end of that 2- year period, the period for election may be shortened by the Federal agency to a date that is not more than sixty days before the end of that 1-year period: And provided further, That the Federal Government may receive title to any subject invention in which the contractor does not elect to retain rights or fails to elect rights within such times.
  - (3) That a contractor electing rights in a subject invention agrees to file a patent application prior to the expiration of the 1-year period referred to in section 102(b), and shall thereafter file corresponding patent applications in other countries in which it wishes to retain title within reasonable times, and that the Federal Government may receive title to any subject inventions in the United States or other countries in which the contractor has not filed patent applications on the subject invention within such times.
  - (4) With respect to any invention in which the contractor elects rights, the Federal agency shall have a nonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to practice or have practiced for or on behalf of the United States any subject invention throughout the world: Provided, That the funding agreement may provide for such additional rights, including the right to assign or have assigned foreign patent rights in the subject invention, as are determined by the agency as necessary for meeting the obligations of the United States under any treaty, international agreement, arrangement of cooperation, memorandum of understanding, or similar arrangement, including military agreement relating to weapons development and production.
  - (5) The right of the Federal agency to require periodic reporting on the utilization or efforts at obtaining utilization that are being made by the contractor or his licensees or assignees: Provided, That any such information as well as any information on utilization or efforts at obtaining utilization obtained as part of a proceeding under section 203 of this chapter shall be treated by the Federal agency as commercial and financial information obtained from a person and privileged and confidential and not subject to disclosure under section §552 of title 5.
  - (6) An obligation on the part of the contractor, in the event a United States patent application is filed by or on its behalf or by any assignee of the contractor, to include within the specification of such application and any patent issuing thereon, a statement specifying that the invention was made with Government support and that the Government has certain rights in the invention.
    - (7) In the case of a nonprofit organization, (A) a prohibition upon the assignment of rights to a subject invention in the United States without the approval of the Federal agency, except where such assignment is made to an organization which has as one of its primary functions the management of inventions (provided that such assignee shall be subject to the same provisions as the contractor); (B) a requirement that the contractor share royalties with the inventor; (C) except with respect to a

funding agreement for the operation of a Government- owned-contractoroperated facility, a requirement that the balance of any royalties or income earned by the contractor with respect to subject inventions, after payment of expenses (including payments to inventors) incidental to the administration of subject inventions, be utilized for the support of scientific research or education; (D) a requirement that, except where it is determined to be infeasible following a reasonable inquiry, a preference in the licensing of subject inventions shall be given to small business firms; and (E) with respect to a funding agreement for the operation of a Government- owned- contractor-operated facility, requirements (i) that after payment of patenting costs, licensing costs, payments to inventors, and other expenses incidental to the administration of subject inventions, 100 percent of the balance of any royalties or income earned and retained by the contractor during any fiscal year up to an amount equal to 5 percent of the annual budget of the facility, shall be used by the contractor for scientific research, development, and education consistent with the research and development mission and objectives of the facility, including activities that increase the licensing potential of other inventions of the facility; provided that if said balance exceeds 5 percent of the annual budget of the facility, that 15 percent of such excess shall be paid to the Treasury of the United States and the remaining 85 percent shall be used for the same purposes described above in this clause; and (ii) that, to the extent it provides the most effective technology transfer, the licensing of subject inventions shall be administered by contractor employees on location at the facility.

- (8) The requirements of sections §203 and §204 of this chapter.
- (d) If a contractor does not elect to retain title to a subject invention in cases subject to this section, the Federal agency may consider and after consultation with the contractor grant requests for retention of rights by the inventor subject to the provisions of this Act and regulations promulgated hereunder.
- (e) In any case when a Federal employee is a coinventor of any invention made with a nonprofit organization, a small business firm, or a non-Federal inventor, the Federal agency employing such coinventor may, for the purpose of consolidating rights in the invention and if it finds that it would expedite the development of the invention—
  - (1) license or assign whatever rights it may acquire in the subject invention to the nonprofit organization, small business firm, or non-Federal inventor in accordance with the provisions of this chapter; or
  - (2) acquire any rights in the subject invention from the nonprofit organization, small business firm, or non-Federal inventor, but only to the extent the party from whom the rights are acquired voluntarily enters into the transaction and no other transaction under this chapter is conditioned on such acquisition.

(f)

- (1) No funding agreement with a small business firm or nonprofit organization shall contain a provision allowing a Federal agency to require the licensing to third parties of inventions owned by the contractor that are not subject inventions unless such provision has been approved by the head of the agency and a written justification has been signed by the head of the agency. Any such provision shall clearly state whether the licensing may be required in connection with the practice of a subject invention, a specifically identified work object, or both. The head of the agency may not delegate the authority to approve provisions or sign justifications required by this paragraph.
- (2) A Federal agency shall not require the licensing of third parties under any such provision unless the head of the agency determines that the use of the invention

by others is necessary for the practice of a subject invention or for the use of a work object of the funding agreement and that such action is necessary to achieve the practical application of the subject invention or work object. Any such

determination shall be on the record after an opportunity for an agency hearing. Any action commenced for judicial review of such determination shall be brought within sixty days after notification of such determination.

(Added Pub. L. 96–517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3020; amended Pub. L. 98–620, title V, §501(3)–(8), Nov. 8, 1984, 98 Stat. 3364–3366; Pub. L. 102–204, §10, Dec. 10, 1991, 105 Stat. 1641; Pub. L. 106–113, div. B, §1000(a)(9) [title IV, §4732(a)(12)], Nov. 29, 1999, 113 Stat. 1536, 1501A–583; Pub. L. 106–404, §6(1), Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1745; Pub. L. 107–273, div. C, title III, §13206(a)(13), Nov. 2, 2002, 116 Stat. 1905; Pub. L. 111–8, div. G, title I, §1301(h), Mar. 11, 2009, 123 Stat. 829; Pub. L. 112–29, §§3(g)(7), 13(a), 20(i)(2), Sept. 16, 2011, 125 Stat. 288, 327, 334.)

# §203. March-in Rights

- (a) With respect to any subject invention in which a small business firm or nonprofit organization has acquired title under this chapter, the Federal agency under whose funding agreement the subject invention was made shall have the right, in accordance with such procedures as are provided in regulations promulgated hereunder to require the contractor, an assignee or exclusive licensee of a subject invention to grant a nonexclusive, partially exclusive, or exclusive license in any field of use to a responsible applicant or applicants, upon terms that are reasonable under the circumstances, and if the contractor, assignee, or exclusive licensee refuses such request, to grant such a license itself, if the Federal agency determines that such—
  - (1) action is necessary because the contractor or assignee has not taken, or is not expected to take within a reasonable time, effective steps to achieve practical application of the subject invention in such field of use;
  - (2) action is necessary to alleviate health or safety needs which are not reasonably satisfied by the contractor, assignee, or their licensees;
  - (3) action is necessary to meet requirements for public use specified by Federal regulations and such requirements are not reasonably satisfied by the contractor, assignee, or licensees; or
  - (4) action is necessary because the agreement required by section §204 has not been obtained or waived or because a licensee of the exclusive right to use or sell any subject invention in the United States is in breach of its agreement obtained pursuant to section §204.
- (b) A determination pursuant to this section or section §202(b)(4) 1 shall not be subject to chapter 71 of title 41. An administrative appeals procedure shall be established by regulations promulgated in accordance with section 206. Additionally, any contractor, inventor, assignee, or exclusive licensee adversely affected by a determination under this section may, at any time within sixty days after the determination is issued, file a petition in the United States Court of Federal Claims, which shall have jurisdiction to determine the appeal on the record and to affirm, reverse, remand or modify, as appropriate, the determination of the Federal agency. In cases described in paragraphs (1) and (3) of subsection (a), the agency's determination shall be held in abeyance pending the exhaustion of appeals or petitions filed under the preceding sentence.

(Added Pub. L. 96-517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3022; amended Pub. L. 98-620, title

V, §501(9), Nov. 8, 1984, 98 Stat. 3367; Pub. L. 102–572, title IX, §902(b)(1), Oct. 29, 1992, 106 Stat. 4516; Pub. L. 107–273, div. C, title III, §13206(a)(14), Nov. 2, 2002, 116 Stat. 1905; Pub. L. 111–350, §5(i)(2), Jan. 4, 2011, 124 Stat. 3850.)

#### §204. Preference for United States Industry

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, no small business firm or nonprofit organization which receives title to any subject invention and no assignee of any such small business firm or nonprofit organization shall grant to any person the exclusive right to use or sell any subject invention in the United States unless such person agrees that any products embodying the subject invention or produced through the use of the subject invention will be manufactured substantially in the United States. However, in individual cases, the requirement for such an agreement may be waived by the Federal agency under whose funding agreement the invention was made upon a showing by the small business firm, nonprofit organization, or assignee that reasonable but unsuccessful efforts have been made to grant licenses on similar terms to potential licensees that would be likely to manufacture substantially in the United States or that under the circumstances domestic manufacture is not commercially feasible.

(Added Pub. L. 96-517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3023.)

#### §205. Confidentiality

Federal agencies are authorized to withhold from disclosure to the public information disclosing any invention in which the Federal Government owns or may own a right, title, or interest (including a nonexclusive license) for a reasonable time in order for a patent application to be filed. Furthermore, Federal agencies shall not be required to release copies of any document which is part of an application for patent filed with the United States Patent and Trademark Office or with any foreign patent office.

(Added Pub. L. 96-517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3023.)

#### §206. Uniform Clauses and Regulations

The Secretary of Commerce may issue regulations which may be made applicable to Federal agencies implementing the provisions of sections §202 through §204 of this chapter and shall establish standard funding agreement provisions required under this chapter. The regulations and the standard funding agreement shall be subject to public comment before their issuance.

(Added Pub. L. 96–517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3023; amended Pub. L. 98–620, title V, §501(10), Nov. 8, 1984, 98 Stat. 3367.)

# §207. Domestic and Foreign Protection of Federally Owned Inventions

(a) Each Federal agency is authorized to-

- (1) apply for, obtain, and maintain patents or other forms of protection in the United States and in foreign countries on inventions in which the Federal Government owns a right, title, or interest;
- (2) grant nonexclusive, exclusive, or partially exclusive licenses under federally owned inventions, royalty-free or for royalties or other consideration, and on such terms and conditions, including the grant to the licensee of the right of enforcement pursuant to the provisions of chapter 29 as determined appropriate in the public interest;
- (3) undertake all other suitable and necessary steps to protect and administer rights to federally owned inventions on behalf of the Federal Government either directly or through contract, including acquiring rights for and administering royalties to the Federal Government in any invention, but only to the extent the party from whom the rights are acquired voluntarily enters into the transaction, to facilitate the licensing of a federally owned invention; and
- (4) transfer custody and administration, in whole or in part, to another Federal agency, of the right, title, or interest in any federally owned invention.
- (b) For the purpose of assuring the effective management of Government-owned inventions, the Secretary of Commerce is authorized to—
  - (1) assist Federal agency efforts to promote the licensing and utilization of Government- owned inventions;
  - (2) assist Federal agencies in seeking protection and maintaining inventions in foreign countries, including the payment of fees and costs connected therewith; and
  - (3) consult with and advise Federal agencies as to areas of science and technology research and development with potential for commercial utilization.

(Added Pub. L. 96–517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3023; amended Pub. L. 98–620, title V, §501(11), Nov. 8, 1984, 98 Stat. 3367; Pub. L. 106–404, §6(2), Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1745; Pub. L. 112–29, §20(j), Sept. 16, 2011, 125 Stat. 335.)

#### §208. Regulations Governing Federal Licensing

The Secretary of Commerce is authorized to promulgate regulations specifying the terms and conditions upon which any federally owned invention, other than inventions owned by the Tennessee Valley Authority, may be licensed on a nonexclusive, partially exclusive, or exclusive basis.

(Added Pub. L. 96–517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3024; amended Pub. L. 98–620, title V, §501(12), Nov. 8, 1984, 98 Stat. 3367.)

#### §209. Licensing Federally Owned Inventions

- (a) Authority.—A Federal agency may grant an exclusive or partially exclusive license on a federally owned invention under section §207(a)(2) only if—
  - (1) granting the license is a reasonable and necessary incentive to—
    - (A) call forth the investment capital and expenditures needed to bring the invention to practical application; or
    - (B) otherwise promote the invention's utilization by the public;
  - (2) the Federal agency finds that the public will be served by the granting of the license, as indicated by the applicant's intentions, plans, and ability to bring the invention to practical application or otherwise promote the invention's utilization

- by the public, and that the proposed scope of exclusivity is not greater than reasonably necessary to provide the incentive for bringing the invention to practical application, as proposed by the applicant, or otherwise to promote the invention's utilization by the public;
- (3) the applicant makes a commitment to achieve practical application of the invention within a reasonable time, which time may be extended by the agency upon the applicant's request and the applicant's demonstration that the refusal of such extension would be unreasonable;
- (4) granting the license will not tend to substantially lessen competition or create or maintain a violation of the Federal antitrust laws; and
- (5) in the case of an invention covered by a foreign patent application or patent, the interests of the Federal Government or United States industry in foreign commerce will be enhanced.
- (b) Manufacture in United States.—A Federal agency shall normally grant a license under section §207(a)(2) to use or sell any federally owned invention in the United States only to a licensee who agrees that any products embodying the invention or produced through the use of the invention will be manufactured substantially in the United States.
- (c) Small Business.—First preference for the granting of any exclusive or partially exclusive licenses under section §207(a)(2) shall be given to small business firms having equal or greater likelihood as other applicants to bring the invention to practical application within a reasonable time.
- (d) Terms and Conditions.—Any licenses granted under section §207(a)(2) shall contain such terms and conditions as the granting agency considers appropriate, and shall include provisions—
  - (1) retaining a nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license for any Federal agency to practice the invention or have the invention practiced throughout the world by or on behalf of the Government of the United States;
  - (2) requiring periodic reporting on utilization of the invention, and utilization efforts, by the licensee, but only to the extent necessary to enable the Federal agency to determine whether the terms of the license are being complied with, except that any such report shall be treated by the Federal agency as commercial and financial information obtained from a person and privileged and confidential and not subject to disclosure under section §552 of title 5; and
  - (3) empowering the Federal agency to terminate the license in whole or in part if the agency determines that—
    - (A) the licensee is not executing its commitment to achieve practical application of the invention, including commitments contained in any plan submitted in support of its request for a license, and the licensee cannot otherwise demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Federal agency that it has taken, or can be expected to take within a reasonable time, effective steps to achieve practical application of the invention;
    - (B) the licensee is in breach of an agreement described in subsection (b);
    - (C) termination is necessary to meet requirements for public use specified by Federal regulations issued after the date of the license, and such requirements are not reasonably satisfied by the licensee; or
    - (D) the licensee has been found by a court of competent jurisdiction to have violated the Federal antitrust laws in connection with its performance under the license agreement.

(e) Public Notice.—No exclusive or partially exclusive license may be granted under section §207(a)(2) unless public notice of the intention to grant an exclusive or partially exclusive license on a federally owned invention has been provided in an appropriate manner at least 15 days before the license is granted, and the Federal agency has considered all comments received before the end of the comment period in response to that public notice. This subsection shall not apply to the licensing of inventions made under a cooperative research and development agreement entered into under section 12 of the Stevenson-Wydler Technology Innovation Act of 1980

(15 U.S.C. §3710a).

(f) Plan.—No Federal agency shall grant any license under a patent or patent application on a federally owned invention unless the person requesting the license has supplied the agency with a plan for development or marketing of the invention, except that any such plan shall be treated by the Federal agency as commercial and financial information obtained from a person and privileged and confidential and not subject to disclosure under section §552 of title 5.

(Added Pub. L. 96–517, §6(a), Dec. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 3024; amended Pub. L. 106–404, §4(a), Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1743; Pub. L. 107–273, div. C, title III, §13206(a)(15), Nov. 2, 2002, 116 Stat. 1905; Pub. L. 112–29, §20(i)(3), Sept. 16, 2011, 125 Stat. 335.)

#### §210. Precedence of Chapter

This chapter shall take precedence over any other Act which would require a disposition of rights in subject inventions of small business firms or nonprofit organizations contractors in a manner that is inconsistent with this chapter, including but not necessarily limited to the following:

(1) section 10(a) of the Act of June 29, 1935, as added by title I of the Act of August 14, 1946 (7 U.S.C. §427i(a); 60 Stat. 1085)

#### §212. Disposition of Rights in Educational Awards

No scholarship, fellowship, training grant, or other funding agreement made by a Federal agency primarily to an awardee for educational purposes will contain any provision giving the Federal agency any rights to inventions made by the awardee.

(Added Pub. L. 98-620, title V, §501(14), Nov. 8, 1984, 98 Stat. 3368.)

# U.S.C. TITLE 17 — COPYRIGHTS

#### §105. Subject Matter of Copyright: United States Government Works

- (a) In General.—Copyright protection under this title is not available for any work of the United States Government, but the United States Government is not precluded from receiving and holding copyrights transferred to it by assignment, bequest, or otherwise.
- (b) Copyright Protection of Certain of Works.—Subject to subsection (c), the covered author of a covered work owns the copyright to that covered work.
- (c) Use by Federal Government.—The Secretary of Defense may direct the covered author of a covered work to provide the Federal Government with an irrevocable, royalty-free, world- wide, nonexclusive license to reproduce, distribute, perform, or display such covered work for purposes of the United States Government.

# U.S.C. TITLE 18 — CRIMES AND CRIMINAL PROCEDURE

# §208. Acts Affecting a Personal Financial Interest

Except as permitted by subsection (b) hereof, whoever, being an officer or employee of the executive branch of the United States Government, or of any independent agency of the United States, a Federal Reserve bank director, officer, or employee, or an officer or employee of the District of Columbia, including a special Government employee, participates personally and substantially as a Government officer or employee, through decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation, or otherwise, in a judicial or other proceeding, application, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, or other particular matter in which, to his knowledge, he, his spouse, minor child, general partner, organization in which he is serving as officer, director, trustee, general partner or employee, or any person or organization with whom he is negotiating or has any arrangement concerning prospective employment, has a financial interest—Shall be subject to the penalties set forth in section §216 of this title.

# §209. Salary of Government Officials and Employees Payable Only by United States

Whoever receives any salary, or any contribution to or supplementation of salary, as compensation for his services as an officer or employee of the executive branch of the United States Government, of any independent agency of the United States, or of the District of Columbia, from any source other than the Government of the United States, except as may be contributed out of the treasury of any State, county, or municipality; or Whoever, whether an individual, partnership, association, corporation, or other organization pays, makes any

contribution to, or in any way supplements, the salary of any such officer or employee under circumstances which would make its receipt a violation of this subsection—Shall be subject to the penalties set forth in section §216 of this title.

### §1905. Disclosure of Confidential Information Generally

Whoever, being an officer or employee of the United States or of any department or agency thereof, any person acting on behalf of the Federal Housing Finance Agency, or agent of the Department of Justice as defined in the Antitrust Civil Process Act (15 U.S.C. §1311-1314), or being an employee of a private sector organization who is or was assigned to an agency under chapter 37 of title 5, publishes, divulges, discloses, or makes known in any manner or to any extent not authorized by law any information coming to him in the course of his employment or official duties or by reason of any examination or investigation made by, or return, report or record made to or filed with, such department or agency or officer or employee thereof, which information concerns or relates to the trade secrets, processes, operations, style of work, or apparatus, or to the identity, confidential statistical data, amount or source of any income, profits, losses, or expenditures of any person, firm, partnership, corporation, or association; or permits any income return or copy thereof or any book containing any abstract or particulars thereof to be seen or examined by any person except as provided by law; shall be fined under this title, or imprisoned not more than one year, or both; and shall be removed from office or employment.

**Note:** The Whistleblower Protection Enhancement Act of 2012 (Pub. Law 112-199) provides that it is a prohibited personnel practice to "implement or enforce any nondisclosure policy, form, or agreement, if such policy, form, or agreement does not contain the following statement:

These provisions are consistent with and do not supersede, conflict with, or otherwise alter the employee obligations, rights, or liabilities created by existing statute or Executive order relating to (1) classified information, (2) communications to Congress, (3) the reporting to an Inspector General of a violation of any law, rule, or regulation, or mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety, or (4) any other whistleblower protection. The definitions, requirements, obligations, rights, sanctions, and liabilities created by controlling Executive orders and statutory provisions are incorporated into this agreement and are controlling." See also 5 U.S.C. §2302

(June 25, 1948, ch. 645, 62 Stat. 791; Pub. L. 96–349, §7(b), Sept. 12, 1980, 94 Stat. 1158; Pub. L. 102–550, title XIII, §1353, Oct. 28, 1992, 106 Stat. 3970; Pub. L. 104–294, title VI, §601(a)(8), Oct. 11, 1996, 110 Stat. 3498; Pub. L. 107–347, title II, §209(d)(2), Dec. 17, 2002, 116 Stat. 2930; Pub. L. 110–289, div. A, title I, §1161(d), July 30, 2008, 122 Stat. 2780.)

# **SECTION 2**

# Federal Regulations Relating to Technology Transfer



# U.S.C. TITLE 37— PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, AND COPYRIGHTS

# 15 CFR PART 17 — PERSONNEL EXCHANGES BETWEEN FEDERAL LABORATORIES AND NON-FEDERAL ENTITIES

### §17.1. Scope

The Stevenson-Wydler Technology Innovation Act of 1980, Public Law 96-480, as amended (codified at title 15 of the United States Code (U.S.C.), section §3701 et seq.) (the Stevenson-Wydler Act), sets forth a national policy to renew, expand, and strengthen cooperation among academia, Federal laboratories, labor, and industry, in forms including personnel exchanges (15 U.S.C. §3701(3)). One proven method to ensure that Federal innovations are passed to industry and the public is to encourage frequent interactions among Federal laboratories, academic institutions, and industry, including both large and small businesses. In accordance with applicable ethics regulations and Agency policies, exchanges of personnel between Federal laboratories and outside collaborators should be encouraged (15 U.S.C. §3702(5)). Models that include Federal funding, as well as those that are executed without Federal funding, are encouraged.

### §17.2. Definitions

- (a) The term funding agreement shall have the meaning according to it under 35 U.S.C. §201(b).
- (b) The term contractor shall have the meaning according to it under 35 U.S.C. §201(c).
- (c) The term Federal laboratory shall have the meaning according to it under 15 U.S.C. §3703(4).

# §17.3. Exchange of Federal Laboratory Personnel with Recipients of Federal Funding

In accordance with 15 U.S.C. §3710a(b)(3)(A) and §3710a(d)(1), a Federal laboratory may provide personnel, services, property, and other resources to a collaborating party, with or without reimbursement (but not funds to non-Federal parties) for the conduct of specified research or development efforts under a CRADA which are consistent with the missions of the Federal laboratory. The existence of a funding agreement between a Federal laboratory and a contractor shall not preclude the Federal laboratory from using its authority under 15 U.S.C. §3710a to enter into a CRADA with the contractor as a collaborating party for the conduct of specified research or development efforts, where the director of the Federal laboratory determines that the technical subject matter of the funding agreement is sufficiently distinct from that of the CRADA. In no event shall a contractor which is a collaborating party transfer funds to a Federal laboratory under a CRADA using funds awarded to the contractor by that laboratory.

# §17.4. Personnel Exchanges from a Federal Laboratory

- (a) For personnel exchanges in which a Federal laboratory maintains funding for Federal personnel provided to a collaborating party—
  - (1) in accordance with 15 U.S.C. §3710a(b)(3)(A), a Federal laboratory may exchange personnel with a collaborating party for the purposes of specified scientific or technical research towards a mutual goal consistent with the mission of the Agency, where no invention currently exists, or
  - (2) in accordance with 15 U.S.C. §3710a(b)(3)(C), a Federal laboratory may exchange personnel with a non-Federal collaborating party for the purposes of developing or commercializing an invention in which the Federal government has an ownership interest, including an invention made by an employee or former employee while in the employment or service of the Federal government, and such personnel exchanged may include such employee who is an inventor.
    - i. Funding may be provided under a CRADA by the non-Federal collaborating party to the Federal laboratory for the participation of the Federal employee in developing or commercializing an invention, including costs for salary and other expenses, such as benefits and travel.
    - ii. Royalties from inventions received through a license agreement negotiated with the Federal laboratory and paid by the Federal laboratory to an inventor who is a Federal employee are considered Federal compensation.
    - (3) Where an employee leaves Federal service in order to receive salary or other compensation from a non-Federal organization, a Federal laboratory may use reinstatement authority in accordance with 5 CFR §315.401, or other applicable authorities, to rehire the former Federal employee at the conclusion of the exchange.

# §17.5. Personnel Exchanges to a Federal Laboratory

For exchanges in which a Federal laboratory provides funds for the nonfederal personnel—

- (a) Outside personnel with expertise in scientific commercialization may be brought in to a Federal laboratory through the Presidential Innovation Fellows program or related programs (see 5 CFR §213.3102(r)) for Entrepreneur-In-Residence programs or similar, related programs run by the General Services Administration (GSA) or other Federal Agencies.
- (b) A laboratory may engage with the GSA or other relevant Agency to transfer funding for exchanged personnel and may work with such agency to select and place Entrepreneurs-In- Residence at the laboratory for the purposes of evaluating the laboratory's technologies, and providing technical consulting to facilitate readying a technology for commercialization by an outside entity.

# 37 CFR PART 401 — Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts, and Cooperative Agreements

AUTHORITY: 35 U.S.C. 206: DOO 30-2A.

Source: 52 FR 8554, Mar. 18, 1987, unless otherwise noted.

# §401.1. Scope

- (a) Traditionally there have been no conditions imposed by the government on research performers while using private facilities which would preclude them from accepting research funding from other sources to expand, to aid in completing or to conduct separate investigations closely related to research activities sponsored by the government. Notwithstanding the right of research organizations to accept supplemental funding from other sources for the purpose of expediting or more comprehensively accomplishing the research objectives of the government sponsored project, it is clear that the ownership provisions of these regulations would remain applicable in any invention "conceived or first actually reduced to practice in performance" of the project. Separate accounting for the two funds used to support the project in this case is not a determining factor.
  - (1) To the extent that a non-government sponsor established a project which, although closely related, falls outside the planned and committed activities of a government- funded project and does not diminish or distract from the performance of such activities, inventions made in performance of the nongovernment sponsored project would not be subject to the conditions of these regulations. An example of such related but separate projects would be a government sponsored project having research objectives to expand scientific understanding in a field and a closely related industry sponsored project having as its objectives the application of such new knowledge to develop usable new technology. The time relationship in conducting the two projects and the use of new fundamental knowledge from one in the performance of the other are not important determinants since most inventions rest on a knowledge base built up by numerous independent research efforts extending over many years. Should such an invention be claimed by the performing organization to be the product of non-government sponsored research and be challenged by the sponsoring agency as being reportable to the government as a "subject invention", the challenge is appealable as described in §401.11(d).
  - (2) An invention which is made outside of the research activities of a government-funded project is not viewed as a "subject invention" since it cannot be shown to have been "conceived or first actually reduced to practice" in performance of the project. An obvious example of this is a situation where an instrument purchased with government funds is later used, without interference with or cost to the government-funded project, in making an invention all expenses of which involve only non-government funds.
- (b) This part implements 35 U.S.C. §202 through §204 and is applicable to all Federal agencies. It applies to all funding agreements with business firms regardless of size (consistent with section 1, paragraph (b)(4) of Executive Order 12591, as amended by

Executive Order 12618) and to nonprofit organizations, except for a funding agreement made primarily for educational purposes. Certain sections also provide guidance for the administration of funding agreements which predate the effective date of this part. In accordance with 35 U.S.C. §212, no scholarship, fellowship, training grant, or other funding agreement made by a Federal agency primarily to an awardee for educational purposes will contain any provision giving the Federal agency any rights to inventions made by the awardee.

- (c) The march-in and appeals procedures in §401.6 and §401.11 shall apply to any march-in or appeal proceeding under a funding agreement subject to Chapter 18 of Title 35, U.S.C., initiated after the effective date of this part even if the funding agreement was executed prior to that date.
- (d) At the request of the contractor, a funding agreement for the operation of a government- owned facility which is in effect on the effective date of this part shall be promptly amended to include the provisions required by §401.3(a) unless the agency determines that one of the exceptions at 35 U.S.C. §202(a)(i) through (iv) §401.3(a)(8) through (iv) of this part) is applicable and will be applied. If the exception at §401.3(a)(iv) is determined to be applicable, the funding agreement will be promptly amended to include the provisions required by §401.3(c).
- (e) This regulation supersedes OMB Circular A-124 and shall take precedence over any regulations dealing with ownership of inventions made by small businesses and nonprofit organizations which are inconsistent with it. This regulation will be followed by all agencies pending amendment of agency regulations to conform to this part and amended Chapter 18 of Title 35. Only deviations requested by a contractor and not inconsistent with Chapter 18 of Title 35, United States Code, may be made without approval of the Secretary. Modifications or tailoring of clauses as authorized by §401.5 or §401.3, when alternate provisions are used under §401.3(a)(1) through (6), are not considered deviations requiring the Secretary's approval. Three copies of proposed and final agency regulations supplementing this part shall be submitted to the Secretary at the office set out in §401.17 for approval for consistency with this part before they are submitted to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) for review under Executive Order 12866 or, if no submission is required to be made to OMB, before their submission to the Federal Register for publication.
- (f) In the event an agency has outstanding prime funding agreements that do not contain patent flow-down provisions consistent with this part or earlier Office of Federal Procurement Policy regulations (OMB Circular A-124 or OMB Bulletin 81-22), the agency shall take appropriate action to ensure that small business firms or nonprofit organizations that are subcontractors under any such agreements and that received their subcontracts after July 1, 1981, receive rights in their subject inventions that are consistent with Chapter 18 and this part.
- (g) This part is not intended to apply to arrangements under which nonprofit organizations, small business firms, or others are allowed to use government- owned research facilities and normal technical assistance provided to users of those facilities, whether on a reimbursable or non- reimbursable basis. This part is also not intended to apply to arrangements under which sponsors reimburse the government or facility contractor for the contractor employee's time in performing work for the sponsor. Such arrangements are not considered "funding agreements" as defined at 35 U.S.C. §201(b) and §401.2(a) of this part.

(52 FR 8554, Mar. 18, 1987, as amended at 83 FR 15958, Apr. 13, 2018)

#### §401.2. Definitions

# As used in this part—

- (a) The term funding agreement means any contract, grant, or cooperative agreement entered into between any Federal agency, other than the Tennessee Valley Authority, and any contractor for the performance of experimental, developmental, or research work funded in whole or in part by the Federal government. This term also includes any assignment, substitution of parties, or subcontract of any type entered into for the performance of experimental, developmental, or research work under a funding agreement as defined in the first sentence of this paragraph.
- (b) The term contractor means any person, small business firm or nonprofit organization, or, as set forth in section 1, paragraph (b)(4) of Executive Order 12591, as amended, any business firm regardless of size, which is a party to a funding agreement.
- (c) The term invention means any invention or discovery which is or may be patentable or otherwise protectable under Title 35 of the United States Code, or any novel variety of plant which is or may be protectable under the Plant Variety Protection Act (7 U.S.C. §2321 et seq.).
- (d) The term subject invention means any invention of a contractor conceived or first actually reduced to practice in the performance of work under a funding agreement; provided that in the case of a variety of plant, the date of determination (as defined in section 41(d) of the Plant Variety Protection Act, 7 U.S.C. §2401(d)) must also occur during the period of contract performance.
- (e) The term practical application means to manufacture in the case of a composition of product, to practice in the case of a process or method, or to operate in the case of a machine or system; and, in each case, under such conditions as to establish that the invention is being utilized and that its benefits are, to the extent permitted by law or government regulations, available to the public on reasonable terms.
- **(f)** The term made when used in relation to any invention means the conception or first actual reduction to practice of such invention.
- (g) The term small business firm means a small business concern as defined at section 2 of Pub. L. 85-536 (15 U.S.C. §632) and implementing regulations of the Administrator of the Small Business Administration. For the purpose of this part, the size standards for small business concerns involved in government procurement and subcontracting at 13 CFR 121.5 will be used.
- (h) The term nonprofit organization means universities and other institutions of higher education or an organization of the type described in section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (26 U.S.C. 501(c) and exempt from taxation under section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. 501(a)) or any nonprofit scientific or educational organization qualified under a state nonprofit organization statute.
- (i) The term Chapter 18 means Chapter 18 of Title 35 of the United States Code.
- (j) The term Secretary means the Director of the National Institute of Standards and Technology.
- (k) The term electronically filed means any submission of information transmitted by an electronic or optical-electronic system.
- (I) The term electronic or optical-electronic system means a software-based system approved by the agency for the transmission of information.
- (m) The term patent application or "application for patent" includes a provisional or nonprovisional U.S. national application for patent as defined in 37 CFR 1.9 (a)(2) and (a)(3), respectively, or an application for patent in a foreign country or in an international patent office.

- (n) The term initial patent application means, as to a given subject invention, the first provisional or non-provisional U.S. national application for patent as defined in 37 CFR 1.9(a)(2) and (3), respectively, the first international application filed under the Patent Cooperation Treaty as defined in 37 CFR 1.9(b) which designates the United States, or the first application for a Plant Variety Protection certificate, as applicable.
- (o) The term statutory period means the one-year period before the effective filing date of a claimed invention during which exceptions to prior art exist per 35 U.S.C. 102(b) as

(52 FR 8554, Mar. 18, 1987, as amended at 60 FR 41812, Aug. 14, 1995; 78 FR 4766, Jan. 23, 2013; 83 FR 15958, Apr. 13, 2018)

# §401.3. Use of the Standard Clauses at §401.14

- (a) Each funding agreement awarded to a contractor (except those subject to 35 U.S.C. §212) shall contain the clause found in §401.14 with such modifications and tailoring as authorized or required elsewhere in this part. However, a funding agreement may contain alternative provisions—
  - (1) When the contractor is not located in the United States or does not have a place of business located in the United States or is subject to the control of a foreign government; or
  - (2) In exceptional circumstances when it is determined by the agency that restriction or elimination of the right to retain title to any subject invention will better promote the policy and objectives of Chapter 18 of Title 35 of the United States Code; or
  - (3) When it is determined by a government authority which is authorized by statute or executive order to conduct foreign intelligence or counterintelligence activities that the restriction or elimination of the right to retain title to any subject invention is necessary to protect the security to such activities; or
  - (4) When the funding agreement includes the operation of the government-owned, contractor-operated facility of the Department of Energy primarily dedicated to that Department's naval nuclear propulsion or weapons related programs and all funding agreement limitations under this subparagraph on the contractor's right to elect title to a subject invention are limited to inventions occurring under the above two programs; or
  - (5) If any part of the contract may require the contractor to perform work on behalf of the Government at a Government laboratory under a Cooperative Research and Development Agreement (CRADA) pursuant to the statutory authority of 15 U.S.C. §3710a; or
  - (6) If the contract provides for services and the contractor is not a nonprofit organization and does not promote the commercialization and public availability of subject inventions pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §200.
- (b) When an agency exercises the exceptions at paragraph (a)(2), (3), (5), or (6) of this section, it shall use the standard clause at §401.14 with only such modifications as are necessary to address the exceptional circumstances or concerns which led to the use of the exception. For example, if the justification relates to a particular field of use or market, the clause might be modified along lines similar to those described in paragraph (c) of this section. In any event, the clause should provide the contractor with an opportunity to receive greater rights in accordance with the procedures at §401.15. When an agency justifies and exercises the exception at paragraph (a)(2) of this section and uses an alternative provision in the funding agreement on the basis

- of national security, the provision shall provide the contractor with the right to elect ownership to any invention made under such funding agreement as provided by the Standard Patent Rights Clause found at ;§401.14 if the invention is not classified by the agency within six months of the date it is reported to the agency, or within the same time period the Department of Energy does not, as authorized by regulation, law or Executive or implementing regulations thereto, prohibit unauthorized dissemination of the invention. Contracts in support of DOE's naval nuclear propulsion program are exempted from this paragraph (b).
- (c) When the Department of Energy (DOE) determines to use alternative provisions under paragraph (a)(4) of this section, the standard clause at §401.14 shall be used with the following modifications, or substitute thereto with such modification and tailoring as authorized or required elsewhere in this part:
  - (1) The title of the clause shall be changed to read as follows: Patent Rights to Nonprofit DOE Facility Operators.
  - (2) Add an "(A)" after "(1)" in paragraph (c)(1) of the clause in §401.14 and add paragraphs (B) and (C) to paragraph (c)(1) of the clause in §401.14 as follows:
    - (B) If the subject invention occurred under activities funded by the naval nuclear propulsion or weapons related programs of DOE, then the provisions of this paragraph (c)(1)(B) will apply in lieu of paragraphs (c)(2) and (3) of this clause. In such cases the contractor agrees to assign the government the entire right, title, and interest thereto throughout the world in and to the subject invention except to the extent that rights are retained by the contractor through a greater rights determination or under paragraph (e) of this clause. The contractor, or an employee-inventor, with authorization of the contractor, may submit a request for greater rights at the time the invention is disclosed or within a reasonable time thereafter. DOE will process such a request in accordance with procedures at 37 CFR 401.15. Each determination of greater rights will be subject to paragraphs (h) through (k) of this clause and such additional conditions, if any, deemed to be appropriate by the Department of Energy.
    - (C) At the time an invention is disclosed in accordance with paragraph (c)(1)(A) of this clause, or within 90 days thereafter, the contractor will submit a written statement as to whether or not the invention occurred under a naval nuclear propulsion or weapons-related program of the Department of Energy. If this statement is not filed within this time, paragraph (c)(1)(B) of this clause will apply in lieu of paragraphs (c)(2) and (3) of this clause. The contractor statement will be deemed conclusive unless, within 60 days thereafter, the Contracting Officer disagrees in writing, in which case the determination of the Contracting Officer will be deemed conclusive unless the contractor files a claim under the Contract Disputes Act within 60 days after the Contracting Officer's determination. Pending resolution of the matter, the invention will be subject to paragraph (c)(1)(B)of this clause.
  - (3) Paragraph (k)(3) of the clause in §401.14 will be modified as prescribed at §401.5(g).
- (d) When a funding agreement involves a series of separate task orders, an agency may apply the exceptions at paragraph (a)(2) or (3) of this section to individual task orders, and it may structure the contract so that modified patent rights provisions will apply to the task order even though either the standard clause at §401.14 or the modified clause as described in paragraph (c) of this section is applicable to the remainder of the work. Agencies are authorized to negotiate such modified provisions with respect to task orders added to a funding agreement after its initial award.

- (e) Before utilizing any of the exceptions in §401.3(a) of this section, the agency shall prepare a written determination, including a statement of facts supporting the determination, that the conditions identified in the exception exist. A separate statement of facts shall be prepared for each exceptional circumstances determination, except that in appropriate cases a single determination may apply to both a funding agreement and any subcontracts issued under it or to any funding agreement to which such an exception is applicable. In cases when §401.3(a)(2) is used, the determination shall also include an analysis justifying the determination. This analysis should address with specificity how the alternate provisions will better achieve the objectives set forth in 35 U.S.C. §200. A copy of each determination, statement of facts, and, if applicable, analysis shall be promptly provided to the contractor or prospective contractor along with a notification to the contractor or prospective contractor along with a notification of the exception under 35 U.S.C. §202(b)(4) and §401.4 of this part.
- (f) Except for determinations under §401.3(a)(3), the agency shall also provide copies of each determination, statement of fact, and analysis to the Secretary. These shall be sent within 30 days after the award of the funding agreement to which they pertain. Copies shall also be sent to the Chief Counsel for Advocacy of the Small Business Administration if the funding agreement is with a small business firm. If the Secretary of Commerce believes that any individual determination or pattern of determinations is contrary to the policies and objectives of this chapter or otherwise not in conformance with this chapter, the Secretary shall so advise the head of the agency concerned and the Administrator of the Office of Federal Procurement Policy and recommend corrective actions.
- (g) To assist the Comptroller General of the United States to accomplish his or her responsibilities under 35 U.S.C. §202, each Federal agency that enters into any funding agreements with nonprofit organizations or small business firms shall accumulate and, at the request of the Comptroller General, provide the Comptroller General or his or her duly authorized representative the total number of prime agreements entered into with small business firms or nonprofit organizations that contain the patent rights clause in this part or under OMB Circular A-124 for each fiscal year beginning with October 1, 1982.
- (h) A prospective contractor may be required by an agency to certify that it is either a small business firm or a nonprofit organization. If the agency has reason to question the status of the prospective contractor, it may require the prospective contractor to furnish evidence to establish its status.
- (i) When an agency exercises the exception at paragraph (a)(5) of this section, replace paragraph (b) of the basic clause in §401.14 with the following paragraphs (b)(1) and (2):
  - (b) Allocation of principal rights. (1) The Contractor may retain the entire right, title, and interest throughout the world to each subject invention subject to the provisions of this clause, including paragraph (b)(2) of this clause, and 35 U.S.C. §203. With respect to any subject invention in which the Contractor retains title, the Federal Government shall have a nonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to practice or have practiced for or on behalf of the United States the subject invention throughout the world.
  - (2) If the Contractor performs services at a Government owned and operated laboratory or at a Government owned and contractor operated laboratory directed by the Government to fulfill the Government's obligations under a Cooperative Research and Development Agreement (CRADA) authorized by 15 U.S.C. §3710a, the Government may require the Contractor to negotiate an agreement with the CRADA

collaborating party or parties regarding the allocation of rights to any subject invention the Contractor makes, solely or jointly, under the CRADA. The agreement shall be negotiated prior to the Contractor undertaking the CRADA work or, with the permission of the Government, upon the identification of a subject invention. In the absence of such an agreement, the Contractor agrees to grant the collaborating party or parties an option for a license in its inventions of the same scope and terms set forth in the CRADA for inventions made by the Government.

(52 FR 8554, Mar. 18, 1987, as amended at 69 FR 17301, Apr. 2, 2004; 83 FR 15959, Apr. 13, 2018)

# §401.4. Contractor Appeals of Exceptions

(a) In accordance with 35 U.S.C. §202(b)(4) a contractor has the right to an administrative review of a determination to use one of the exceptions at §401.3(a) through (6) if the contractor believes that a determination is either contrary to the policies and objectives of this chapter or constitutes an abuse of discretion by the agency. Paragraph (b) of this section specifies the procedures to be followed by contractors and agencies in such cases. The assertion of such a claim by the contractor shall not be used as a basis for withholding or delaying the award of a funding agreement or for suspending performance under an award. Pending final resolution of the claim the contract may be issued with the patent rights provision proposed by the agency; however, should the final decision be in favor of the contractor, the funding agreement will be amended accordingly and the amendment made retroactive to the effective date of the funding agreement.

(b)

- (1) A contractor may appeal a determination by providing written notice to the agency within 30 working days from the time it receives a copy of the agency's determination, or within such longer time as an agency may specify in its regulations. The contractor's notice should specifically identify the basis for the appeal.
- (2) The appeal shall be decided by the head of the agency or by his/her designee who is at a level above the person who made the determination. If the notice raises a genuine dispute over the material facts, the head of the agency or the designee shall undertake, or refer the matter for, fact-finding.
- (3) Fact-finding shall be conducted in accordance with procedures established by the agency. Such procedures shall be as informal as practicable and be consistent with principles of fundamental fairness. The procedures should afford the contractor the opportunity to appear with counsel, submit documentary evidence, present witnesses and confront such persons as the agency may rely upon. A transcribed record shall be made and shall be available at cost to the contractor upon request. The requirement for a transcribed record may be waived by mutual agreement of the contractor and the agency.
- (4) The official conducting the fact-finding shall prepare or adopt written findings of fact and transmit them to the head of the agency or designee promptly after the conclusion of the fact-finding proceeding along with a recommended decision. A copy of the findings of fact and recommended decision shall be sent to the contractor by registered or certified mail.
- (5) Fact-finding should be completed within 45 working days from the date the

- agency receives the contractor's written notice.
- (6) When fact-finding has been conducted, the head of the agency or designee shall base his or her decision on the facts found, together with any argument submitted by the contractor, agency officials or any other information in the administrative record. In cases referred for fact-finding, the agency head or the designee may reject only those facts that have been found to be clearly erroneous, but must explicitly state the rejection and indicate the basis for the contrary finding. The agency head or the designee may hear oral arguments after fact-finding provided that the contractor or contractor's attorney or representative is present and given an opportunity to make arguments and rebuttal. The decision of the agency head or the designee shall be in writing and, if it is unfavorable to the contractor shall include an explanation of the basis of the decision. The decision of the agency or designee shall be made within 30 working days after fact-finding or, if there was no fact-finding, within 45 working days from the date the agency received the contractor's written notice. A contractor adversely affected by a determination under this section may, at any time within sixty days after the determination is issued, file a petition in the United States Claims Court, which shall have jurisdiction to determine the appeal

on the record and to affirm, reverse, remand, or modify as appropriate, the determination of the Federal agency.

(52 FR 8554, Mar. 18, 1987, as amended at 83 FR 15960, Apr. 13, 2018)

# §401.5. Modification and Tailoring of Clauses

- (a) Agencies should complete the blank in paragraph (g)(2) of the clauses at §401.14 in accordance with their own or applicable government-wide regulations such as the Federal Acquisition Regulation. In funding agreements, agencies wishing to apply the same clause to all subcontractors as is applied to the contractor may delete paragraph (g)(2) of the clause in
  - $\S401.14$  and delete the words "to be performed by a small business firm or domestic nonprofit organization" from paragraph (g)(1). Also, if the funding agreement is a grant or cooperative agreement, paragraph (g)(3) of the clause may be deleted. When either paragraph (g)(2) of the clause in  $\S401.14$  or paragraphs (g)(2) and (3) of the clause in  $\S401.14$  are deleted, the remaining paragraph or paragraphs should be renumbered appropriately.
- (b) Agencies should complete paragraph (I), "Communications", at the end of the clauses at §401.14 by designating a central point of contact for communications on matters relating to the clause. Additional instructions on communications may also be included in paragraph (I) of the clause in §401.14.
- (c) Agencies may replace the italicized words and phrases in the clause at §401.14 with those appropriate to the particular funding agreement. For example, "contractor" could be replaced by "grantee." Depending on its use, "agency" or "Federal agency" can be replaced either by the identification of the agency or by the specification of the particular office or official within the agency.

(d)

(1) When the agency head or duly authorized designee determines at the time of contracting that it would be in the national interest to acquire the right to sublicense foreign governments, their nationals, or international organizations in accordance with any existing treaty or international agreement, a sentence

- may be added at the end of paragraph (b) of the clause at §401.14 as follows: This license will include the right of the government to sublicense foreign governments, their nationals, and international organizations, in accordance with the following treaties or international agreements:
- (2) The blank in the added text in paragraph (d)(1) of this section should be completed with the names of applicable existing treaties or international agreements, including agreements of cooperation, and military agreements relating to weapons development and production. The added language is not intended to encompass treaties or other agreements that are in effect on the date of the award but which are not listed. Alternatively, agencies may use substantially similar language relating the government's rights to specific treaties or other agreements identified elsewhere in the funding agreement. The language may also be modified to make clear that the rights granted to the foreign government, and its nationals or an international organization may be for additional rights beyond a license or sublicense if so required by the applicable treaty or other international agreement. For example, in some cases exclusive licenses or even the assignment of title to the foreign country involved might be required. Agencies may also modify the added language to provide for the direct licensing by the contractor of the foreign government or international organization.
- (e) If the funding agreement involves performance over an extended period of time, such as the typical funding agreement for the operation of a government-owned facility, the following language may also be added:
  - The agency reserves the right to unilaterally amend this funding agreement to identify specific treaties or international agreements entered into or to be entered into by the government after the effective date of this funding agreement and effectuate those license or other rights which are necessary for the government to meet its obligations to foreign governments, and international organizations under such treaties or international agreements with respect to subject inventions made after the date of the amendment.
- (f) Agencies may add additional paragraphs to paragraph (f) of the clauses at §401.14 to require the contractor to do one or more of the following:
  - (1) Provide a report prior to the close-out of a funding agreement listing all subject inventions or stating that there were none.
  - (2) Provide, upon request, the filing date, patent application number and title; a copy of the patent application; and patent number and issue date for any subject invention in any country in which the contractor has applied for a patent.
  - (3) Provide periodic (but no more frequently than annual) listings of all subject inventions which were disclosed to the agency during the period covered by the report.
- (g) If the contract is with a nonprofit organization and is for the operation of a government- owned, contractor-operated facility, the following will be substituted for the text of paragraph (k)(3) of the clause at §401.14:
  - After payment of patenting costs, licensing costs, payments to inventors, and other expenses incidental to the administration of subject inventions, the balance of any royalties or income earned and retained by the contractor during any fiscal year on subject inventions under this or any successor contract containing the same requirement, up to any amount equal to five percent of the budget of the facility for that fiscal year, shall be used by the contractor for scientific research, development, and education consistent with the research and development mission and objectives of the facility, including activities that increase the licensing potential of other inventions

of the facility. If the balance exceeds five percent, 15 percent of the excess above five percent shall be paid by the contractor to the Treasury of the United States and the remaining 85 percent shall be used by the contractor only for the same purposes as described in the preceding sentence. To the extent it provides the most effective technology transfer, the licensing of subject inventions shall be administered by contractor employees on location at the facility.

(h) If the contract is for the operation of a government-owned facility, agencies may add paragraph (f)(5) to the clause at §401.14 with the following text: The contractor shall establish and maintain active and effective procedures to ensure that subject inventions are promptly identified and timely disclosed and shall submit a description of the procedures to the contracting officer so that the contracting officer may evaluate and determine their effectiveness.

(83 FR 15960, Apr. 13, 2018)

#### §401.6. Exercise of March-in Rights

- (a) The following procedures shall govern the exercise of the march-in rights of the agencies set forth in 35 U.S.C. §203 and paragraph (j) of the clause at §401.14.
- (b) Whenever an agency receives information that it believes might warrant the exercise of march-in rights, before initiating any march-in proceeding, it shall notify the contractor in writing of the information and request informal written or oral comments from the contractor as well as information relevant to the matter. In the absence of any comments from the contractor within 30 days, the agency may, at its discretion, proceed with the procedures below. If a comment is received within 30 days, or later if the agency has not initiated the procedures below, then the agency shall, within 60 days after it receives the comment, either initiate the procedures below or notify the contractor, in writing, that it will not pursue march-in rights on the basis of the available information.
- (c) A march-in proceeding shall be initiated by the issuance of a written notice by the agency to the contractor and its assignee or exclusive licensee, as applicable and if known to the agency, stating that the agency is considering the exercise of march-in rights. The notice shall state the reasons for the proposed march-in in terms sufficient to put the contractor on notice of the facts upon which the action would be based and shall specify the field or fields of use in which the agency is considering requiring licensing. The notice shall advise the contractor (assignee or exclusive licensee) of its rights, as set forth in this section and in any supplemental agency regulations. The determination to exercise march-in rights shall be made by the head of the agency or his or her designee.
- (d) Within 30 days after the receipt of the written notice of march-in, the contractor (assignee or exclusive licensee) may submit in person, in writing, or through a representative, information or argument in opposition to the proposed march-in, including any additional specific information which raises a genuine dispute over the material facts upon which the march-in is based. If the information presented raises a genuine dispute over the material facts, the head of the agency or designee shall undertake or refer the matter to another official for fact-finding.
- (e) Fact-finding shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures established by the agency. Such procedures shall be as informal as practicable and be consistent with principles of fundamental fairness. The procedures should afford the contractor the

opportunity to appear with counsel, submit documentary evidence, present witnesses and confront such persons as the agency may present. A transcribed record shall be made and shall be available at cost to the contractor upon request. The requirement for a transcribed record may be waived by mutual agreement of the contractor and the agency. Any portion of the march-in proceeding, including a fact-finding hearing that involves testimony or evidence relating to the utilization or efforts at obtaining utilization that are being made by the contractor, its assignee, or licensees shall be closed to the public, including potential licensees. In accordance with 35

U.S.C. §202(c)(5), agencies shall not disclose any such information obtained during a march-in proceeding to persons outside the government except when such release is authorized by the contractor (assignee or licensee).

- (f) The official conducting the fact-finding shall prepare or adopt written findings of fact and transmit them to the head of the agency or designee promptly after the conclusion of the fact-finding proceeding along with a recommended determination. A copy of the findings of fact shall be sent to the contractor (assignee or exclusive licensee) by registered or certified mail. The contractor (assignee or exclusive licensee) and agency representatives will be given 30 days to submit written arguments to the head of the agency or designee; and, upon request by the contractor oral arguments will be held before the agency head or designee that will make the final determination.
- (g) In cases in which fact-finding has been conducted, the head of the agency or designee shall base his or her determination on the facts found, together with any other information and written or oral arguments submitted by the contractor (assignee or exclusive licensee) and agency representatives, and any other information in the administrative record. The consistency of the exercise of march- in rights with the policy and objectives of 35 U.S.C. §200 shall also be considered. In cases referred for fact-finding, the head of the agency or designee may reject only those facts that have been found to be clearly erroneous but must explicitly state the rejection and indicate the basis for the contrary finding. Written notice of the determination whether march-in rights will be exercised shall be made by the head of the agency or designee and sent to the contractor (assignee of exclusive licensee) by certified or registered mail within 90 days after the completion of fact-finding or 90 days after oral arguments, whichever is later, or the proceedings will be deemed to have been terminated and thereafter no march-in based on the facts and reasons upon which the proceeding was initiated may be exercised.
- (h) An agency may, at any time, terminate a march-in proceeding if it is satisfied that it does not wish to exercise march-in rights.
- (i) The procedures of this part shall also apply to the exercise of march-in rights against inventors receiving title to subject inventions under 35 U.S.C. §202(d) and, for that purpose, the term "contractor" as used in this section shall be deemed to include the inventor.
- (j) An agency determination unfavorable to the contractor (assignee or exclusive licensee) shall be held in abeyance pending the exhaustion of appeals or petitions filed under 35 U.S.C. §203(2).
- (k) For purposes of this section the term exclusive licensee includes a partially exclusive licensee.
- (I) Agencies are authorized to issue supplemental procedures not inconsistent with this part for the conduct of march-in proceedings.

#### §401.7. Small Business Preference

(a) Paragraph (k)(4) of the clauses at §401.14 Implements the small business

- preference requirement of 35 U.S.C. §202(c)(7)(D). Contractors are expected to use efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to attract small business licensees. They are also expected to give small business firms that meet the standard outlined in the clause a preference over other applicants for licenses. What constitutes reasonable efforts to attract small business licensees will vary with the circumstances and the nature, duration, and expense of efforts needed to bring the invention to the market. Paragraph (k)(4) is not intended, for example, to prevent nonprofit organizations from providing larger firms with a right of first refusal or other options in inventions that relate to research being supported under long-term or other arrangements with larger companies. Under such circumstances it would not be reasonable to seek and to give a preference to small business licensees.
- (b) Small business firms that believe a nonprofit organization is not meeting its obligations under the clause may report their concerns to the funding agency identified at §401.14(I), and following receipt of the funding agency's initial response to their concerns or, if no initial funding agency response is received within 90 days from the date their concerns were reported to the funding agency, may thereafter report their concerns, together with any response from the funding agency, to the Secretary. To the extent deemed appropriate, the Secretary, in consultation with the funding agency, will undertake informal investigation of the concern, and, if appropriate, enter into discussions or negotiations with the nonprofit organization to the end of improving its efforts in meeting its obligations under the clause. However, in no event will the Secretary intervene in ongoing negotiations or contractor decisions concerning the licensing of a specific subject invention. All investigations, discussions, and negotiations of the Secretary described in this paragraph (b) will be in coordination with other interested agencies, including the funding agency and the Small Business Administration. In the case of a contract for the operation of a government-owned, contractor operated research or production facility, the Secretary will coordinate with the agency responsible for the facility prior to any discussions or negotiations with the contractor.

(52 FR 8554, Mar. 18, 1987, as amended at 83 FR 15960, Apr. 13, 2018

# §401.8. Reporting on Utilization of Subject Inventions

- (a) Paragraph (h) of the clauses at §401.14 and its counterpart in the clause at Attachment A to OMB Circular A-124 provides that agencies have the right to receive periodic reports from the contractor on utilization of inventions. Agencies exercising this right should accept such information, to the extent feasible, in the format that the contractor normally prepares it for its own internal purposes. The prescription of forms should be avoided. However, any forms or standard questionnaires that are adopted by an agency for this purpose must comply with the requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act. Copies shall be sent to the Secretary.
- (b) In accordance with 35 U.S.C. §202(c)(5) and the terms of the clauses at §401.14, agencies shall not disclose such information to persons outside the government. Contractors will continue to provide confidential markings to help prevent inadvertent release outside the agency.

# §401.9. Retention of Rights by Contractor Employee Inventor

Agencies which allow an employee/inventor of the contractor to retain rights to a subject invention made under a funding agreement with a small business firm or nonprofit organization contractor, as authorized by 35 U.S.C. 202(d), will impose upon the inventor at least those conditions that would apply to a small business firm contractor under paragraphs (d)(1) and (3); (f)(4); (h); (i); and (j) of the clause at §401.14.

(52 FR 8554, Mar. 18, 1987, as amended at 83 FR 15960, Apr. 13, 2018)

# §401.10. Government Assignment to Contractor of Rights in Invention of Government Employee

- (a) In any case when a Federal employee is a co-inventor of any invention made under a funding agreement with a contractor:
  - (1) If the Federal agency employing such co-inventor transfers or reassigns to the contractor the right it has acquired in the subject invention from its employee as authorized by 35
    - U.S.C. §202(e), the assignment will be made subject to the patent rights clause of the contractor's funding agreement.
  - (2) The Federal agency employing such co-inventor, in consultation with the contractor, may submit an initial patent application, provided that the contractor retains the right to elect to retain title pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §202(a).
  - (3) When a Federal employee is a co-inventor of a subject invention developed with contractor-employed co-inventors under a funding agreement from another agency:
    - (i) The funding agency will notify the agency employing a Federal co- inventor of any report of invention and whether the contractor elects to retain title.
    - (ii) If the contractor does not elect to retain title to the subject invention, the funding agency must promptly provide notice to the agency employing a Federal co-inventor, and to the extent practicable, at least 60 days before any statutory bar date.
    - (iii) Upon notification by the funding agency of a subject invention in which the contractor has not elected to retain title, the agency employing a Federal co-inventor must determine if there is a government interest in patenting the invention and will notify the funding agency of its determination.
    - (iv) If the agency employing a Federal co-inventor determines there is a government interest in patenting the subject invention in which the contractor has not elected to retain title, the funding agency must provide administrative assistance (but is not required to provide financial assistance) to the agency employing a Federal co- inventor in acquiring rights from the contractor in order to file an initial patent application.
    - (v) The agency employing a Federal co-inventor has priority for patenting over funding agencies that do not have a Federal co-inventor when the contractor has not elected to retain title.
    - (vi) When the contractor has not elected to retain title, the funding agency and the agency employing a Federal co-inventor shall consult in order to ensure that the intent of the programmatic objectives conducted under the funding agreement

is represented in any patenting decisions. The agency employing a Federal coinventor may transfer patent management responsibilities to the funding agency.

- (4) Federal agencies employing such co-inventors may enter into an agreement with a contractor when an agency determines it is a suitable and necessary step to protect and administer rights on behalf of the Federal Government, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 202(e).
- (5) Federal agencies employing such co-inventors will retain all ownership rights to which they are otherwise entitled if the contractor elects to retain title to the subject invention
- (b) Agencies may add additional conditions as long as they are consistent with 35 U.S.C. §201-206.
- (c) Nothing in this section shall supersede any existing inter-institutional agreements between a contractor and a Federal agency for the management of jointly-owned subject inventions.

(83 FR 15961, Apr. 13, 2018)

#### §401.11. Appeals

- (a) As used in this section, the term standard clause means the clause at §401.14 of this part and the clauses previously prescribed by either OMB Circular A-124 or OMB Bulletin 81-22.
- (b) The agency official initially authorized to take any of the following actions shall provide the contractor with a written statement of the basis for his or her action at the time the action is taken, including any relevant facts that were relied upon in taking the action.
  - (1) A refusal to grant an extension under paragraph (c)(4) of the standard clauses.
  - (2) A request for a conveyance of title under paragraph (d) of the standard clauses.
  - (3) A refusal to grant a waiver under paragraph (i) of the standard clauses.
  - (4) A refusal to approve an assignment under paragraph (k)(1) of the standard clauses.
  - (5) A refusal to grant an extension of the exclusive license period under paragraph (k)(2) of the clauses prescribed by either OMB Circular A-124 or OMB Bulletin 81-
- (c) Each agency shall establish and publish procedures under which any of the agency actions listed in paragraph (b) of this section may be appealed to the head of the agency or designee. Review at this level shall consider both the factual and legal basis for the actions and its consistency with the policy and objectives of 35 U.S.C. §200-206.
- (d) Appeals procedures established under paragraph (c) of this section shall include administrative due process procedures and standards for fact-finding at least comparable to those set forth in §401.6 (e) through (g) whenever there is a dispute as to the factual basis for an agency request for a conveyance of title under paragraph (d) of the standard clause, including any dispute as to whether or not an invention is a subject invention.
- (e) To the extent that any of the actions described in paragraph (b) of this section are subject to appeal under the Contract Dispute Act, the procedures under the Act will satisfy the requirements of paragraphs (c) and (d) of this section.

# §401.12. Licensing of Background Patent Rights to Third Parties

- (a) A funding agreement with a small business firm or a domestic nonprofit organization will not contain a provision allowing a Federal agency to require the licensing to third parties of inventions owned by the contractor that are not subject inventions unless such provision has been approved by the agency head and a written justification has been signed by the agency head. Any such provision will clearly state whether the licensing may be required in connection with the practice of a subject invention, a specifically identified work object, or both. The agency head may not delegate the authority to approve such provisions or to sign the justification required for such provisions.
- (b) A Federal agency will not require the licensing of third parties under any such provision unless the agency head determines that the use of the invention by others is necessary for the practice of a subject invention or for the use of a work object of the funding agreement and that such action is necessary to achieve practical application of the subject invention or work object. Any such determination will be on the record after an opportunity for an agency hearing. The contractor shall be given prompt notification of the determination by certified or registered mail. Any action commenced for judicial review of such determination shall be brought within sixty days after notification of such determination.

# §401.13. Administration of Patent Rights Clauses

- (a) In the event a subject invention is made under funding agreements of more than one agency, at the request of the contractor or on their own initiative the agencies shall designate one agency as responsible for administration of the rights of the government in the invention.
- (b) Agencies shall promptly grant, unless there is a significant reason not to, a request by a nonprofit organization under paragraph (k)(2) of the clauses prescribed by either OMB Circular A-124 or OMB Bulletin 81-22 inasmuch as 35 U.S.C. §202(c)(7) has since been amended to eliminate the limitation on the duration of exclusive licenses. Similarly, unless there is a significant reason not to, agencies shall promptly approve an assignment by a nonprofit organization to an organization which has as one of its primary functions the management of inventions when a request for approval has been necessitated under paragraph (k)(1) of the clauses prescribed by either OMB Circular A-124 or OMB Bulletin 81-22 because the patent management organization is engaged in or holds a substantial interest in other organizations engaged in the manufacture or sale of products or the use of processes that might utilize the invention or be in competition with embodiments of the invention. As amended, 35 U.S.C. §202(c)(7) no longer contains this limitation. The policy of this subsection should also be followed in connection with similar approvals that may be required under Institutional Patent Agreements, other patent rights clauses, or waivers that predate Chapter 18 of Title 35, United States Code.
- (c) The President's Patent Policy Memorandum of February 18, 1983, states that agencies should protect the confidentiality of invention disclosure, patent applications, and utilization reports required in performance or in consequence of awards to the extent permitted by 35 U.S.C. 205 or other applicable laws. The following requirements should be followed for funding agreements covered by and predating this part 401.

- (1) To the extent authorized by 35 U.S.C. §205, agencies shall not disclose to third parties pursuant to requests under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) any information disclosing a subject invention for a reasonable time in order for a patent application to be filed. With respect to subject inventions of contractors that are small business firms or nonprofit organizations, a reasonable time shall be the time during which an initial patent application may be filed under paragraph (c) of the standard clause found at §401.14 or such other clause may be used in the funding agreement. However, an agency may disclose such subject inventions under the FOIA, at its discretion, after a contractor has elected not to retain title or after the time in which the contractor is required to make an election if the contractor has not made an election within that time. Similarly, an agency may honor a FOIA request at its discretion if it finds that the same information has previously been published by the inventor, contractor, or otherwise. If the agency plans to file itself when the contractor has not elected title, it may, of course, continue to avail itself of the authority of 35 U.S.C. §205.
- (2) In accordance with 35 U.S.C. §205, agencies shall not disclose or release, pursuant to requests under the Freedom of Information Act or otherwise, copies of any document which the agency obtained under the clause in §401.14 which is part of an application for patent with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or any foreign patent office filed by the contractor (or its assignees, licensees, or employees) on a subject invention to which the contractor has elected to retain title. This prohibition does not extend to disclosure to other government agencies or contractors of government agencies under an obligation to maintain such information in confidence. This prohibition does not apply to documents published by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or any foreign patent office.
- (3) A number of agencies have policies to encourage public dissemination of the results of work supported by the agency through publication in government or other publications of technical reports of contractors or others. In recognition of the fact that such publication, if it included descriptions of a subject invention could create bars to obtaining patent protection, it is the policy of the executive branch that agencies will not include in such publication programs copies of disclosures of inventions submitted by small business firms or nonprofit organizations, pursuant to paragraph (c) of the standard clause found at §401.14, except under the same circumstances under which agencies are authorized to release such information pursuant to FOIA requests under paragraph (c)(1) of this section agencies may publish such disclosures.
- (4) Nothing in this paragraph is intended to preclude agencies from including in the publication activities described in the first sentence of paragraph (c)(3), the publication of materials describing a subject invention to the extent such materials were provided as part of a technical report or other submission of the contractor which were submitted independently of the requirements of the patent rights provisions of the contract. However, if a small business firm or nonprofit organization notifies the agency that a particular report or other submission contains a disclosure of a subject invention to which it has elected title or may elect title, the agency shall use reasonable efforts to restrict its publication of the material for six months from date of its receipt of the report or submission or, if earlier, until the contractor has filed an initial patent application. Agencies, of course, retain the discretion to delay publication for additional periods of time.
- (5) Nothing in this paragraph is intended to limit the authority of agencies provided in 35 U.S.C. §205 in circumstances not specifically described in this paragraph.

# §401.14. Standard Patent Rights Clauses

The following is the standard patent rights clause to be used as specified in §401.3(a): Standard Patent Rights

#### (a) Definitions

- (1) Invention means any invention or discovery which is or may be patentable or otherwise protectable under Title 35 of the United States Code, or any novel variety of plant which is or may be protected under the Plant Variety Protection Act (7 U.S.C. §2321 et seq.).
- (2) Subject invention means any invention of the contractor conceived or first actually reduced to practice *in* the performance of work under this contract, provided that in the case of a variety of plant, the date of determination (as defined in section 41(d) of the Plant Variety Protection Act, 7 U.S.C. §2401(d)) must also occur during the period of contract performance.
- (3) Practical Application means to manufacture in the case of a composition or product, to practice in the case of a process or method, or to operate in the case of a machine or system; and, in each case, under such conditions as to establish that the invention is being utilized and that its benefits are, to the extent permitted by law or government regulations, available to the public on reasonable terms.
- (4) *Made* when used in relation to any invention means the conception or first actual reduction to practice of such invention.
- (5) Small Business Firm means a small business concern as defined at section 2 of Pub. L. 85-536 (15 U.S.C. 632) and implementing regulations of the Administrator of the Small Business Administration. For the purpose of this clause, the size standards for small business concerns involved in government procurement and subcontracting at 13 CFR 121.3-8 and 13 CFR 121.3-12, respectively, will be used.
- (6) Nonprofit Organization means a university or other institution of higher education or an organization of the type described in section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (26 U.S.C. §501(c) and exempt from taxation under section §501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (25 U.S.C. §501(a)) or any nonprofit scientific or educational organization qualified under a state nonprofit organization statute.
- (7) The term *statutory period* means the one-year period before the effective filing date of a claimed invention during which exceptions to prior art exist per 35 U.S.C. §102(b) as amended by the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, Public Law 112-29.
- (8) The term contractor means any person, small business firm or nonprofit organization, or, as set forth in section 1, paragraph (b)(4) of Executive Order 12591, as amended, any business firm regardless of size, which is a party to a funding agreement.

#### (b) Allocation of Principal Rights

The *Contractor* may retain the entire right, title, and interest throughout the world to each subject invention subject to the provisions of this clause and 35 U.S.C. §203. With respect to any subject invention in which the *Contractor* retains title, the Federal government shall have a nonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paidup license to practice or have practiced for or on behalf of the United States the subject invention throughout the world.

- (c) Invention Disclosure, Election of Title and Filing of Patent Application by Contractor
  - (1) The contractor will disclose each subject invention to the Federal Agency within two months after the inventor discloses it in writing to contractor personnel responsible for patent matters. The disclosure to the agency shall be in the form of a written report and shall identify the contract under which the invention was made and the inventor(s). It shall be sufficiently complete in technical detail to convey a clear understanding to the extent known at the time of the disclosure, of the nature, purpose, operation, and the physical, chemical, biological or electrical characteristics of the invention. The disclosure shall also identify any publication, on sale or public use of the invention and whether a manuscript describing the invention has been submitted for publication and, if so, whether it has been accepted for publication at the time of disclosure. In addition, after disclosure to the agency, the Contractor will promptly notify the agency of the acceptance of any manuscript describing the invention for publication or of any on sale or public use planned by the contractor.
  - (2) The contractor will elect in writing whether or not to retain title to any such invention by notifying the Federal agency within two years of disclosure to the Federal agency. However, in any case where a patent, a printed publication, public use, sale, or other availability to the public has initiated the one-year statutory period wherein valid patent protection can still be obtained in the United States, the period for election of title may be shortened by the agency to a date that is no more than 60 days prior to the end of the statutory period.
  - (3) The contractor will file its initial patent application on a subject invention to which it elects to retain title within one year after election of title or, if earlier, prior to the end of any statutory period wherein valid patent protection can be obtained in the United States after a publication, on sale, or public use. If the contractor files a provisional application as its initial patent application, it shall file a non-provisional application within 10 months of the filing of the provisional application. The contractor will file patent applications in additional countries or international patent offices within either ten months of the first filed patent application or six months from the date permission is granted by the Commissioner of Patents to file foreign patent applications where such filing has been prohibited by a Secrecy Order.
  - (4) For any subject invention with Federal agency and contractor co-inventors, where the Federal agency employing such co-inventor determines that it would be in the interest of the government, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §207(a)(3), to file an initial patent application on the subject invention, the Federal agency employing such co-inventor, at its discretion and in consultation with the contractor, may file such application at its own expense, provided that the contractor retains the ability to elect title pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §202(a).
  - (5) Requests for extension of the time for disclosure, election, and filing under paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) of this clause may, at the discretion of the Federal agency, be granted. When a contractor has requested an extension for filing a non-provisional application after filing a provisional application, a one-year extension will be granted unless the Federal agency notifies the contractor within 60 days of receiving the request.
- (d) Conditions When the Government May Obtain Title
  The contractor will convey to the Federal agency, upon written request, title to any subject invention—

- (1) If the contractor fails to disclose or elect title to the subject invention within the times specified in paragraph (c) of this clause or elects not to retain title.
- (2) In those countries in which the contractor fails to file patent applications within the times specified in paragraph (c) of this clause; provided, however, that if the contractor has filed a patent application in a country after the times specified in paragraph (c) of this clause, but prior to its receipt of the written request of the Federal agency, the contractor shall continue to retain title in that country.
- (3) In any country in which the contractor decides not to continue the prosecution of any non-provisional patent application for, to pay a maintenance, annuity or renewal fee on, or to defend in a reexamination or opposition proceeding on, a patent on a subject invention.
- (e) Minimum Rights to Contractor and Protection of the Contractor Right to File
  - (1) The contractor will retain a nonexclusive royalty-free license throughout the world in each subject invention to which the Government obtains title, except if the contractor fails to disclose the invention within the times specified in (c), above. The contractor's license extends to its domestic subsidiary and affiliates, if any, within the corporate structure of which the contractor is a party and includes the right to grant sublicenses of the same scope to the extent the contractor was legally obligated to do so at the time the contract was awarded. The license is transferable only with the approval of the Federal agency except when transferred to the successor of that party of the contractor's business to which the invention pertains.
  - (2) The contractor's domestic license may be revoked or modified by the funding Federal agency to the extent necessary to achieve expeditious practical application of the subject invention pursuant to an application for an exclusive license submitted in accordance with applicable provisions at 37 CFR part 404 and agency licensing regulations (if any). This license will not be revoked in that field of use or the geographical areas in which the contractor has achieved practical application and continues to make the benefits of the invention reasonably accessible to the public. The license in any foreign country may be revoked or modified at the discretion of the funding Federal agency to the extent the contractor, its licensees, or the domestic subsidiaries or affiliates have failed to achieve practical application in that foreign country.
  - (3) Before revocation or modification of the license, the funding Federal agency will furnish the contractor a written notice of its intention to revoke or modify the license, and the contractor will be allowed thirty days (or such other time as may be authorized by the funding Federal agency for good cause shown by the contractor) after the notice to show cause why the license should not be revoked or modified. The contractor has the right to appeal, in accordance with applicable regulations in 37 CFR part 404 and agency regulations (if any) concerning the licensing of Government-owned inventions, any decision concerning the revocation or modification of the license.
- (f) Contractor Action to Protect the Government's Interest
  - (1) The contractor agrees to execute or to have executed and promptly deliver to the Federal agency all instruments necessary to (i) establish or confirm the rights the Government has throughout the world in those subject inventions to which the contractor elects to retain title, and (ii) convey title to the Federal agency when requested under paragraph
    - (d) above and to enable the government to obtain patent protection throughout the world in that subject invention.

- (2) The contractor agrees to require, by written agreement, its employees, other than clerical and nontechnical employees, to disclose promptly in writing to personnel identified as responsible for the administration of patent matters and in a format suggested by the contractor each subject invention made under contract in order that the contractor can comply with the disclosure provisions of paragraph (c) of this clause, to assign to the contractor the entire right, title and interest in and to each subject invention made under contract, and to execute all papers necessary to file patent applications on subject inventions and to establish the governments rights in the subject inventions. This disclosure format should require, as a minimum, the information required by paragraph (c)(1) of this clause. The contractor shall instruct such employees through employee agreements or other suitable educational programs on the importance of reporting inventions in sufficient time to permit the filing of patent applications prior to U.S. or foreign statutory bars.
- (3) For each subject invention, the contractor will, no less than 60 days prior to the expiration of the statutory deadline, notify the Federal agency of any decision: Not to continue the prosecution of a non-provisional patent application; not to pay a maintenance, annuity or renewal fee; not to defend in a reexamination or opposition proceeding on a patent, in any country; to request, be a party to, or take action in a trial proceeding before the Patent Trial and Appeals Board of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, including but not limited to post-grant review, review of a business method patent, *inter partes* review, and derivation proceeding; or to request, be a party to, or take action in a non-trial submission of art or information at the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, including but not limited to a pre-issuance submission, a post-issuance submission, and supplemental examination.
- (4) The contractor agrees to include, within the specification of any United States patent applications and any patent issuing thereon covering a subject invention, the following statement, "This invention was made with government support under (identify the contract) awarded by (identify the Federal agency). The government has certain rights in the invention."

# (g) Subcontracts

- (1) The contractor will include this clause, suitably modified to identify the parties, in all subcontracts, regardless of tier, for experimental, developmental or research work to be performed by a subcontractor. The subcontractor will retain all rights provided for the contractor in this clause, and the contractor will not, as part of the consideration for awarding the subcontract, obtain rights in the subcontractors subject inventions.
- (2) The contractor will include in all other subcontracts, regardless of tier, for experimental developmental or research work the patent rights clause required by (cite section of agency implementing regulations or FAR).
- (3) In the case of subcontracts, at any tier, when the prime award with the Federal agency was a contract (but not a grant or cooperative agreement), the agency, subcontractor, and the contractor agree that the mutual obligations of the parties created by this clause constitute a contract between the subcontractor and the Federal agency with respect to the matters covered by the clause; provided, however, that nothing in this paragraph is intended to confer any jurisdiction under the Contract Disputes Act in connection with proceedings under paragraph (i) of this clause.
- (h) Reporting on Utilization of Subject Inventions

The *Contractor* agrees to submit on request periodic reports no more frequently than annually on the utilization of a subject invention or on efforts at obtaining such utilization that are being made by the *contractor* or its licensees or assignees. Such reports shall include information regarding the status of development, date of first commercial sale or use, gross royalties received by the *contractor*, and such other data and information as the *agency* may reasonably specify. The *contractor* also agrees to provide additional reports as may be requested by the *agency* in connection with any march-in proceeding undertaken by the *agency* in accordance with paragraph (j) of this clause. As required by 35 U.S.C. §202(c)(5), the *agency* agrees it will not disclose such information to persons outside the government without permission of the *contractor*.

- (i) Preference for United States Industry
  - Notwithstanding any other provision of this clause, the *contractor* agrees that neither it nor any assignee will grant to any person the exclusive right to use or sell any subject inventions in the United States unless such person agrees that any products embodying the subject invention or produced through the use of the subject invention will be manufactured substantially in the United States. However, in individual cases, the requirement for such an agreement may be waived by the *Federal agency* upon a showing by the *contractor* or its assignee that reasonable but unsuccessful efforts have been made to grant licenses on similar terms to potential licensees that would be likely to manufacture substantially in the United States or that under the circumstances domestic manufacture is not commercially feasible.
- (i) March-in Rights
  - The *contractor* agrees that with respect to any subject invention in which it has acquired title, the *Federal agency* has the right in accordance with the procedures in 37 CFR §401.6 and any supplemental regulations of the *agency* to require the *contractor*, an assignee or exclusive licensee of a subject invention to grant a nonexclusive, partially exclusive, or exclusive license in any field of use to a responsible applicant or applicants, upon terms that are reasonable under the circumstances, and if the *contractor*, assignee, or exclusive licensee refuses such a request the *Federal agency* has the right to grant such a license itself if the *Federal agency* determines that:
  - (1) Such action is necessary because the contractor or assignee has not taken, or is not expected to take within a reasonable time, effective steps to achieve practical application of the subject invention in such field of use.
  - (2) Such action is necessary to alleviate health or safety needs which are not reasonably satisfied by the contractor, assignee or their licensees;
  - (3) Such action is necessary to meet requirements for public use specified by Federal regulations and such requirements are not reasonably satisfied by the contractor, assignee or licensees; or
  - (4) Such action is necessary because the agreement required by paragraph (i) of this clause has not been obtained or waived or because a licensee of the exclusive right to use or sell any subject invention in the United States is in breach of such agreement.
- (k) Special Provisions for Contracts with Nonprofit Organizations If the *contractor* is a nonprofit organization, it agrees that:
  - (1) Rights to a subject invention in the United States may not be assigned without the approval of the Federal agency, except where such assignment is made to an organization which has as one of its primary functions the management of inventions, provided that such assignee will be subject to the same provisions as the contractor;

- (2) The contractor will share royalties collected on a subject invention with the inventor, including Federal employee co-inventors (when the agency deems it appropriate) when the subject invention is assigned in accordance with 35 U.S.C. §202(e) and 37 CFR 401.10;
- (3) The balance of any royalties or income earned by the contractor with respect to subject inventions, after payment of expenses (including payments to inventors) incidental to the administration of subject inventions, will be utilized for the support of scientific research or education; and
- (4) It will make efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to attract licensees of subject inventions that are small business firms and that it will give a preference to a small business firm when licensing a subject invention if the contractor determines that the small business firm has a plan or proposal for marketing the invention which, if executed, is equally as likely to bring the invention to practical application as any plans or proposals from applicants that are not small business firms; provided, that the contractor is also satisfied that the small business firm has the capability and resources to carry out its plan or proposal. The decision whether to give a preference in any specific case will be at the discretion of the contractor. However, the contractor agrees that the Federal agency may review the contractor's licensing program and decisions regarding small business applicants, and the contractor will negotiate changes to its licensing policies, procedures, or practices with the Federal agency when the Federal agency's review discloses that the contractor could take reasonable steps to implement more effectively the requirements of this paragraph (k)(4). In accordance with 37 CFR 401.7, the Federal agency or the contractor may request that the Secretary review the contractor's licensing program and decisions regarding small business applicants.
- (I) Communication

[Complete according to instructions at §401.5(b)]

(52 FR 8554, Mar. 18, 1987, as amended at 69 FR 17301, Apr. 2, 2004; 83 FR 15961, Apr. 13, 2018)

#### §401.15. Deferred Determinations

- (a) This section applies to requests for greater rights in subject inventions made by contractors when deferred determination provisions were included in the funding agreement because one of the exceptions at §401.3(a) was applied, except that the Department of Energy is authorized to process deferred determinations either in accordance with its waiver regulations or this section. A contractor requesting greater rights should include with its request information on its plans and intentions to bring the invention to practical application. Within 90 days after receiving a request and supporting information, or sooner if a statutory bar to patenting is imminent, the agency should seek to make a determination. In any event, if a bar to patenting is imminent, unless the agency plans to file on its own, it shall authorize the contractor to file a patent application pending a determination by the agency. Such a filing shall normally be at the contractor's own risk and expense. However, if the agency subsequently refuses to allow the contractor to retain title and elects to proceed with the patent application under government ownership, it shall reimburse the contractor for the cost of preparing and filing the patent application.
- (b) If the circumstances of concerns which originally led the agency to invoke an exception under

- §401.3(a) are not applicable to the actual subject invention or are no longer valid because of subsequent events, the agency should allow the contractor to retain title to the invention on the same conditions as would have applied if the standard clause at §401.14 had been used originally, unless it has been licensed.
- (c) If paragraph (b) is not applicable the agency shall make its determination based on an assessment whether its own plans regarding the invention will better promote the policies and objectives of 35 U.S.C. §200 than will contractor ownership of the invention. Moreover, if the agency is concerned only about specific uses or applications of the invention, it shall consider leaving title in the contractor with additional conditions imposed upon the contractor's use of the invention for such applications or with expanded government license rights in such applications.
- (d) A determination not to allow the contractor to retain title to a subject invention or to restrict or condition its title with conditions differing from those in the clause at §401.14, unless made by the head of the agency, shall be appealable by the contractor to an agency official at a level above the person who made the determination. This appeal shall be subject to the procedures applicable to appeals under §401.11.

(52 FR 8554, Mar. 18, 1987, as amended at 83 FR 15963, Apr. 13, 2018)

# §401.16. Electronic Filing

Unless otherwise requested or directed by the agency,

- (a) The written report required in (c)(1) of the standard clause in §401.14 shall be electronically filed;
- (b) The written election required in (c)(2) of the standard clause in §401.14 shall be electronically filed; and
- (c) The close-out report in paragraph (f)(1) and the information identified in paragraphs (f)(2) and (3) of §401.5 shall be electronically filed.
- (d) Other written notices required in the clause in §401.14 may be electronically delivered to the agency or the contractor through an electronic database used for reporting subject inventions, patents, and utilization reports to the funding agency.

(60 FR 41812, Aug. 14, 1995, as amended at 83 FR 15963, Apr. 13, 2018)

#### §401.17. Submissions and Inquiries

All submissions or inquiries should be directed to the Chief Counsel for NIST, National Institute of Standards and Technology, 100 Bureau Drive, Mail Stop 1052, Gaithersburg, Maryland 20899-1052; telephone: (301) 975-2803; email: <a href="mailto:nistcounsel@nist.gov">nistcounsel@nist.gov</a>. Information about and procedures for electronic filing under this part are available at the Interagency Edison website and service center, <a href="http://www.iedison.gov">http://www.iedison.gov</a>, telephone (301) 435-1986.

(83 FR 15963, Apr. 13, 2018)



# 37 CFR PART 404 — LICENSING OF GOVERNMENT-OWNED INVENTIONS

AUTHORITY: 35 U.S.C. 207-209, DOO 30-2A.

Source: 50 FR 9802, Mar. 12, 1985, unless otherwise noted.

#### §404.1 Scope of Part

This part prescribes the terms, conditions, and procedures upon which a federally owned invention, other than an invention in the custody of the Tennessee Valley Authority, may be licensed. This part does not affect licenses which:

- (a) Were in effect prior to April 7, 2006;
- (b) May exist at the time of the Government's acquisition of title to the invention, including those resulting from the allocation of rights to inventions made under Government research and development contracts;
- (c) Are the result of an authorized exchange of rights in the settlement of patent disputes, including interferences; or
- (d) Are otherwise authorized by law or treaty, including 35 U.S.C. §202(e), 35 U.S.C. §207(a)(3) and 15 U.S.C. §3710a, which also may authorize the assignment of inventions. Although licenses on inventions made under a cooperative research and development agreement (CRADA) are not subject to this regulation, agencies are encouraged to apply the same policies and use similar terms when appropriate. Similarly, this should be done for licenses granted under inventions where the agency has acquired rights pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §207(a)(3).

(71 FR 11512, Mar. 8, 2006)

### §404.2 Policy and Objective

It is the policy and objective of this subpart to use the patent system to promote the utilization of inventions arising from federally supported research or development.

#### §404.3 Definitions

- (a) Government owned invention means an invention, whether or not covered by a patent or patent application, or discovery which is or may be patentable or otherwise protectable under Title 35, the Plant Variety Protection Act (7 U.S.C. §2321 et seq.) or foreign patent law, owned in whole or in part by the United States Government.
- (b) Federal agency means an executive department, military department, Government corporation, or independent establishment, except the Tennessee Valley Authority, which has custody of a federally owned invention.
- (c) Small business firm means a small business concern as defined in section 2 of Pub. L. 85-536 (15 U.S.C. §632) and implementing regulations of the Administrator of the Small Business Administration.
- (d) Practical application means to manufacture in the case of a composition or product, to practice in the case of a process or method, or to operate in the case of a machine or system; and, in each case, under such conditions as to establish that the invention is being utilized and that its benefits are to the extent permitted by law or Government

- regulations available to the public on reasonable terms.
- (e) United States means the United States of America, its territories and possessions, the District of Columbia, and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico.

(50 FR 9802, Mar. 12, 1985, as amended at 71 FR 11512, Mar. 8, 2006)

#### §404.4 Authority to Grant Licenses

Federally owned inventions shall be made available for licensing as deemed appropriate in the public interest and each agency shall notify the public of these available inventions. The agencies having custody of these inventions may grant nonexclusive, co-exclusive, partially exclusive, or exclusive licenses thereto under this part. Licenses may be royalty-free or for royalties or other consideration. They may be for all or less than all fields of use or in specified geographic areas and may include a release for past infringement. Any license shall not confer on any person immunity from the antitrust laws or from a charge of patent misuse, and the exercise of such rights pursuant to this part shall not be immunized from the operation of

(71 FR 11512, Mar. 8, 2006)

#### §404.5 Restrictions and Conditions on All Licenses Granted Under this Part

(a)

- (1) A license may be granted only if the applicant has supplied the Federal agency with a satisfactory plan for development or marketing of the invention, or both, and with information about the applicant's capability to fulfill the plan. The plan for a non- exclusive research license may be limited to describing the research phase of development.
- (2) A license granting rights to use or sell under a Government owned invention in the United States shall normally be granted only to a licensee who agrees that any products embodying the invention or produced through the use of the invention will be manufactured substantially in the United States. However, this condition may be waived or modified if reasonable but unsuccessful efforts have been made to grant licenses to potential licensees that would be likely to manufacture substantially in the United States or if domestic manufacture is not commercially feasible.
- **(b)** Licenses shall contain such terms and conditions as the Federal agency determines are appropriate for the protection of the interests of the Federal Government and the public and are not in conflict with law or this part. The following terms and conditions apply to any license:
  - (1) The duration of the license shall be for a period specified in the license agreement, unless sooner terminated in accordance with this part.
  - (2) Any patent license may grant the licensee the right of enforcement of the licensed patent without joining the Federal agency as a party as determined appropriate in the public interest.
  - (3) The license may extend to subsidiaries of the licensee or other parties if provided for in the license but shall be non-assignable without approval of the Federal agency, except to the successor of that part of the licensee's business to which the invention pertains.
  - (4) The license may provide the licensee the right to grant sublicenses under the license, subject to the approval of the Federal agency. Each sublicense shall make

- reference to the license, including the rights retained by the Government, and a copy of such sublicense with any modifications thereto, shall be promptly furnished to the Federal agency.
- (5) The license shall require the licensee to carry out the plan for development or marketing of the invention, or both, to bring the invention to practical application within a reasonable time as specified in the license and continue to make the benefits of the invention reasonably accessible to the public.
- (6) The license shall require the licensee to report periodically on the utilization or efforts at obtaining utilization that are being made by the licensee, with particular reference to the plan submitted but only to the extent necessary to enable the agency to determine compliance with the terms of the license.
- (7) Where an agreement is obtained pursuant to §404.5(a)(2) that any products embodying the invention or produced through the use of the invention will be manufactured substantially in the United States, the license shall recite such an agreement.
- (8) The license shall provide for the right of the Federal agency to terminate the license, in whole or in part, if the agency determines that:
  - (i) The licensee is not executing its commitment to achieve practical application of the invention, including commitments contained in any plan submitted in support of its request for a license and the licensee cannot otherwise demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Federal agency that it has taken, or can be expected to take within a reasonable time, effective steps to achieve practical application of the invention;
  - (ii) Termination is necessary to meet requirements for public use specified by Federal regulations issued after the date of the license and such requirements are not reasonably satisfied by the licensee;
  - (iii) The licensee has willfully made a false statement of or willfully omitted a material fact in the license application or in any report required by the license agreement;
  - (iv) The licensee commits a substantial breach of a covenant or provision contained in the license agreement, including the requirement in §404.5(a)(2); or
  - (v) The licensee has been found by a court of competent jurisdiction to have violated the Federal antitrust laws in connection with its performance under the license agreement.
- (9) The license may be modified or terminated, consistent with this part, upon mutual agreement of the Federal agency and the licensee.
- (10) The license may be modified or terminated, consistent with this part, upon mutual agreement of the Federal agency and the licensee.
- (11) Nothing relating to the grant of a license, nor the grant itself, shall be construed to confer upon any person any immunity from or defenses under the antitrust laws or from a charge of patent misuse, and the acquisition and use of rights pursuant to this part shall not be immunized from the operation of state or Federal law by reason of the source of the grant.

(50 FR 9802, Mar. 12, 1985, as amended at 71 FR 11512, Mar. 8, 2006)

#### §404.6 Nonexclusive Licenses

Nonexclusive licenses may be granted under Government owned inventions without a public notice of a prospective license.

#### §404.7 Exclusive, Co-exclusive and Partially Exclusive Licenses

(a)

- (1) Exclusive, co-exclusive or partially exclusive domestic licenses may be granted on Government owned inventions, only if;
  - (i) Notice of a prospective license, identifying the invention and the prospective licensee, has been published in the Federal Register or other appropriate manner, providing opportunity for filing written objections within at least a 15-day period;
  - (ii) After expiration of the period in §404.7(a)(1)(i) and consideration of any written objections received during the period, the Federal agency has determined that;
    - (A) The public will be served by the granting of the license, in view of the applicant's intentions, plans and ability to bring the invention to the point of practical application or otherwise promote the invention's utilization by the public.
    - (B) Exclusive, co-exclusive or partially exclusive licensing is a reasonable and necessary incentive to call forth the investment capital and expenditures needed to bring the invention to practical application or otherwise promote the invention's utilization by the public; and
    - (C) The proposed scope of exclusivity is not greater than reasonably necessary to provide the incentive for bringing the invention to practical application, as proposed by the applicant, or otherwise to promote the invention's utilization by the public;
  - (iii) The Federal agency has not determined that the grant of such a license will tend substantially to lessen competition or create or maintain a violation of the Federal antitrust laws; and
  - (iv) The Federal agency has given first preference to any small business firms submitting plans that are determined by the agency to be within the capability of the firms and as having equal or greater likelihood as those from other applicants to bring the invention to practical application within a reasonable time.
- (2) In addition to the provisions of §404.5, the following terms and conditions apply to domestic exclusive, co-exclusive and partially exclusive licenses:
  - (i) The license shall be subject to the irrevocable, royalty-free right of the Government of the United States to practice or have practiced the invention on behalf of the United States and on behalf of any foreign government or international organization pursuant to any existing or future treaty or agreement with the United States.
  - (ii) The license shall reserve to the Federal agency the right to require the licensee to grant sublicenses to responsible applicants, on reasonable terms, when necessary to fulfill health or safety needs.
  - (iii) The license shall be subject to any licenses in force at the time of the grant of the exclusive, co-exclusive or partially exclusive license.

**(b)** 

- (1) Exclusive, co-exclusive or partially exclusive foreign licenses may be granted on a Government-owned invention provided that:
  - (i) Notice of a prospective license, identifying the invention and the

- prospective licensee, has been published in the Federal Register or other appropriate manner, providing opportunity for filing written objections within at least a 15-day period and following consideration of such objections received during the period;
- (ii) The agency has considered whether the interests of the Federal Government or United States industry in foreign commerce will be enhanced; and
- (iii) The Federal agency has not determined that the grant of such a license will tend substantially to lessen competition or create or maintain a violation of the Federal antitrust laws.
- (2) In addition to the provisions of §404.5, the following terms and conditions apply to foreign exclusive, co-exclusive and partially exclusive licenses:
  - (i) The license shall be subject to the irrevocable, royalty-free right of the Government of the United States to practice and have practiced the invention on behalf of the United States and on behalf of any foreign government or international organization pursuant to any existing or future treaty or agreement with the United States.
  - (ii) The license shall be subject to any licenses in force at the time of the grant of the exclusive, co-exclusive or partially exclusive license.
  - (iii) The license may grant the licensee the right to take any suitable and necessary actions to protect the licensed property, on behalf of the Federal Government.
- (c) Federal agencies shall maintain a record of determinations to grant exclusive, co-exclusive or partially exclusive licenses.

(71 FR 11513, Mar. 8, 2006, as amended at 83 FR 15963, Apr. 13, 2018)

#### §404.8 Application for a License

- (a) An application for a license should be addressed to the Federal agency having custody of the invention and shall normally include:
  - (1) Identification of the invention for which the license is desired including the patent application serial number or patent number, title, and date, if known;
  - (2) Identification of the type of license for which the application is submitted;
  - (3) Name and address of the person, company, or organization applying for the license and the citizenship or place of incorporation of the applicant;
  - (4) Name, address, and telephone number of the representative of the applicant to whom correspondence should be sent;
  - (5) Nature and type of applicant's business, identifying products or services which the applicant has successfully commercialized, and approximate number of applicant's employees;
  - (6) Source of information concerning the availability of a license on the invention:
  - (7) A statement indicating whether the applicant is a small business firm as defined in §404.3(c);
  - (8) A detailed description of applicant's plan for development or marketing of the invention, or both, which should include:
    - (i) A statement of the time, nature and amount of anticipated investment of capital and other resources which applicant believes will be required to bring the invention to practical application;
    - (ii) A statement as to applicant's capability and intention to fulfill the plan, including information regarding manufacturing, marketing, financial, and

- technical resources:
- (iii) A statement of the fields of use for which applicant intends to practice the invention; and
- (iv) A statement of the geographic areas in which applicant intends to manufacture any products embodying the invention and geographic areas where applicant intends to use or sell the invention, or both;
- (9) Identification of licenses previously granted to applicant under federally owned inventions;
- (10) A statement containing applicant's best knowledge of the extent to which the invention is being practiced by private industry or Government, or both, or is otherwise available commercially; and
- (11) Any other information which applicant believes will support a determination to grant the license to applicant.
- (b) An executed CRADA which provides for the use for research and development purposes by the CRADA collaborator under that CRADA of a Federally-owned invention in the Federal laboratory's custody (pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §209 and 15 U.S.C. §3710a(b)(1)), and which addresses the information in paragraph (a) of this section, may be treated by the Federal laboratory as an application for a license.

(83 FR 15963, Apr. 13, 2018)

#### §404.9 [Reserved]

#### §404.10. Modification and Termination of Licenses

Before modifying or terminating a license, other than by mutual agreement, the Federal agency shall furnish the licensee and any sublicensee of record a written notice of intention to modify or terminate the license, and the licensee shall be allowed 30 days after such notice to remedy any breach of the license or show cause why the license shall not be modified or terminated.

(71 FR 11514, Mar. 8, 2006)

#### §404.11 Appeals

- (a) In accordance with procedures prescribed by the Federal agency, the following parties may appeal to the agency head or designee any decision or determination concerning the grant, denial, modification, or termination of a license:
  - (1) A person whose application for a license has been denied;
  - (2) A licensee whose license has been modified or terminated, in whole or in part; or
  - (3) A person who timely filed a written objection in response to the notice required by §404.7(a)(1)(i) or §404.7(b)(1)(i) and who can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Federal agency that such person may be damaged by the agency action.
- (b) An appeal by a licensee under paragraph (a)(2) of this section may include a hearing, upon the request of the licensee, to address a dispute over any relevant fact. The parties may agree to Alternate Dispute Resolution in lieu of an appeal.

(71 FR 11514, Mar. 8, 2006)

#### §404.12 Protection and Administration of Inventions

A Federal agency may take any suitable and necessary steps to protect and administer rights to Government owned inventions, either directly or through contract.

(71 FR 11514, Mar. 8, 2006)

# §404.13. Transfer of Custody

A Federal agency having custody of a federally owned invention may transfer custody and administration, in whole or in part, to another Federal agency, of the right, title, or interest in such invention.

# §404.14 Confidentiality of Information

Title 35, United States Code, section §209, requires that any plan submitted pursuant to §404.8(h) and any report required by §404.5(b)(6) shall be treated as commercial or financial information obtained from a person and privileged and confidential and not subject to disclosure under section 552 of Title 5 of the United States Code.

(71 FR 11514, Mar. 8, 2006)



# 37 CFR PART 501 — UNIFORM PATENT POLICY FOR RIGHTS IN INVENTIONS MADE BY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES

AUTHORITY: SEC. 4, E.O. 10096, 3 CFR, 1949-1953 COMP., P. 292, AS AMENDED BY E.O. 10930, 3 CFR, 1959-1963 COMP., P. 456 AND BY E.O. 10695, 3 CFR, 1954-1958 COMP., P. 355, DOO 30-2A.

Source: 53 FR 39735, Oct. 11, 1988, unless otherwise noted.

Editorial Note: At 78 FR 4766, Jan. 23, 2013, parts 500-599 were transferred from Title 37, Chapter V, to Title 37, Chapter IV. Chapter V was removed and reserved.

#### §501.1. Purpose

The purpose of this part is to provide for the administration of a uniform patent policy for the Government with respect to the rights in inventions made by Government employees and to prescribe rules and regulations for implementing and effectuating such policy.

(61 FR 40999, Aug. 7, 1996)

# §501.2. Scope

This part applies to any invention made by a Government employee and to any action taken with respect thereto.

### §501.3. Definitions

- (a) The term Secretary, as used in this part, means the Director of the National Institute of Standards and Technology.
- (b) The term Government agency, as used in this part, means any Executive department or independent establishment of the Executive branch of the Government (including any independent regulatory commission or board, any corporation wholly owned by the United States, and the Smithsonian Institution), but does not include the Department of Energy for inventions made under the provisions of 42 U.S.C. 2182, the Tennessee Valley Authority, or the Postal Service.
- (c) The term Government employee, as used in this part, means any officer or employee, civilian or military, of any Government agency, including any special Government employee as defined in 18 U.S.C. §202 or an individual working for a Federal agency pursuant to the Intergovernmental Personnel Act (IPA), 5
- (d) U.S.C. §1304 and §3371-§3376, or a part-time consultant or part-time employee as defined in 29
  - U.S.C. 2101(a)(8) except as may otherwise be provided by agency regulation approved by the Secretary.
- (e) The term invention, as used in this part, means any art or process, machine, manufacture, design, or composition of matter, or any new and useful improvement thereof, or any variety of plant, which is or may be patentable under the patent laws of

the United States.

(f) The term made as used in this part in relation to any invention, means the conception or first actual reduction to practice of such invention as stated in In re King, 3 USPQ2d (BNA) 1747 (Comm'r Pat. 1987).

(61 FR 40999, Aug. 7, 1996, as amended at 78 FR 4766, Jan. 23, 2013)

### §501.4. Determination of Inventions and Rights

Each Government agency has the approval of the Secretary to determine whether the results of research, development, or other activity in the agency constitute an invention within the purview of Executive Order 10096, as amended by Executive Order 10930 and Executive Order 10695, and to determine the rights in and to the invention in accordance with the provisions of §501.6. and §501.7.

(61 FR 40999, Aug. 7, 1996)

#### §501.5. Agency Liaison Officer

Each Government agency shall designate a liaison officer to represent the agency before the Secretary; Provided, however, that the Departments of the Army, the Navy, and the Air Force may each designate a liaison officer.

# §501.6. Criteria for the Determination of Rights in and to Inventions

- (a) The following rules shall be applied in determining the respective rights of the Government and of the inventor in and to any invention that is subject to the provisions of this part:
  - (1) The Government shall obtain, except as herein otherwise provided, the entire right, title and interest in and to any invention made by any Government employee:
    - (i) During working hours, or
    - (ii) With a contribution by the Government of facilities, equipment, materials, funds or information, or of time or services of other Government employees on official duty, or
    - (iii) Which bears a direct relation to or is made in consequence of the official duties of the inventor.
  - (2) In any case where the contribution of the Government, as measured by any one or more of the criteria set forth in paragraph (a)(1) of this section, to the invention is insufficient equitably to justify a requirement of assignment to the Government of the entire right, title and interest in and to such invention, or in any case where the Government has insufficient interest in an invention to obtain the entire right, title and interest therein (although the Government could obtain same under paragraph (a)(1) of this section), the Government agency concerned shall leave title to such invention in the employee, subject however, to the reservation to the Government of a nonexclusive, irrevocable, royalty- free license in the invention with power to grant licenses for all governmental purposes. The terms of such reservation will appear, where practicable, in any patent, domestic or foreign, which may issue on such invention. Reference is made to section 15 of the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986 (15 U.S.C. §3710d) which requires a Government agency to allow the inventor to retain title to any covered invention when the agency does not intend to file a patent application or otherwise promote commercialization.
  - (3) In applying the provisions of paragraphs (a)(1) and (2) of this section to the facts and circumstances relating to the making of a particular invention, it shall be presumed that an invention made by an employee who is employed or assigned:
    - (i) To invent or improve or perfect any art or process, machine, design, manufacture, or composition of matter;
    - (ii) To conduct or perform research, development work, or both,
    - (iii) To supervise, direct, coordinate, or review Government financed or conducted research, development work, or both, or

- (iv) To act in a liaison capacity among governmental or non-governmental agencies or individuals engaged in such research or development work, falls within the provisions of paragraph (a)(1) of this section, and it shall be presumed that any invention made by any other employee falls within the provisions of paragraph (a)(2) of this section. Either presumption may be rebutted by a showing of the facts and circumstances in the case and shall not preclude a determination that these facts and circumstances justify leaving the entire right, title and interest in and to the invention in the Government employee, subject to law.
- (4) In any case wherein the Government neither:
  - (i) Obtains the entire right, title and interest in and to an invention pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (a)(1) of this section nor
  - (ii) Reserves a nonexclusive, irrevocable, royalty-free license in the invention, with power to grant licenses for all governmental purposes, pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (a)(2) of this section, the Government shall leave the entire right, title and interest in and to the invention in the Government employee, subject to law.

(53 FR 39735, Oct. 11, 1988, as amended at 61 FR 40999, Aug. 7, 1996)

### §501.7. Agency Determination

- (a) If the agency determines that the Government is entitled to obtain title pursuant to §501.6(a)(1) and the employee does not appeal, no further review is required. In the event that a Government agency determines, pursuant to paragraph (a)(2) or (a)(4) of §501.6, that title to an invention will be left with the employee, the agency shall notify the employee of this determination. In cases pursuant to §501.6(a)(2) where the Government's insufficient interest in the invention is evidenced by its decision not to file a patent application, the agency may impose on the employee any one or all of the following conditions or any other conditions that may be necessary in a particular case:
  - (1) That a patent application be filed in the United States and/or abroad, if the Government has determined that it has or may need to practice the invention;
  - (2) That the invention not be assigned to any foreign-owned or controlled corporation without the written permission of the agency; and
  - (3) That any assignment or license of rights to use or sell the invention in the United States shall contain a requirement that any products embodying the invention or produced through the use of the invention be substantially manufactured in the United States. The agency shall notify the employee of any conditions imposed.
- (b) In the case of a determination under either paragraph (a) or (b) of this section, the agency shall promptly provide the employee with:
  - (1) A signed and dated statement of its determination and reasons therefor; and
  - (2) A copy of 37 CFR part 501.

(53 FR 39735, Oct. 11, 1988, as amended at 61 FR 40999, Aug. 7, 1996)

### §501.8. Appeals by Employees

(a) Any Government employee who is aggrieved by a Government agency determination pursuant to §501.6(a)(1) or (a)(2), may obtain a review of any agency determination by filing, within 30 days (or such longer period as the Secretary may, for good cause shown in writing, fix in any case) after receiving notice of such determination, two

- copies of an appeal with the Secretary. The Secretary then shall forward one copy of the appeal to the liaison officer of the Government agency.
- (b) On receipt of a copy of an appeal filed pursuant to paragraph (a) of this section, the agency liaison officer shall, subject to considerations of national security, or public health, safety or welfare, promptly furnish both the Secretary and the inventor with a copy of a report containing the following information about the invention involved in the appeal:
  - (1) A copy of the agency's statement specified in §501.7(c);
  - (2) A description of the invention in sufficient detail to identify the invention and show its relationship to the employee's duties and work assignments;
  - (3) The name of the employee and employment status, including a detailed statement of official duties and responsibilities at the time the invention was made; and
  - (4) A detailed statement of the points of dispute or controversy, together with copies of any statements or written arguments filed with the agency, and of any other relevant evidence that the agency considered in making its determination of Government interest.
- (c) Within 25 days (or such longer period as the Secretary may, for good cause shown, fix in any case) after the transmission of a copy of the agency report to the employee, the employee may file a reply with the Secretary and file one copy with the agency liaison officer.
- (d) After the time for the inventor's reply to the Government agency's report has expired and if the inventor has so requested in his or her appeal, a date will be set for hearing of oral arguments before the Secretary, by the employee (or by an attorney whom he or she designates by written power of attorney filed before, or at the hearing) and a representative of the Government agency involved. Unless it shall be otherwise ordered before the hearing begins, oral arguments will be limited to thirty minutes for each side. The employee need not retain an attorney or request an oral hearing to secure full consideration of the facts and his or her arguments. The employee may expedite such consideration by notifying the Secretary when he or she does not intend to file a reply to the agency report.
- (e) After a hearing on the appeal, if a hearing was requested, or after expiration of the period for the inventor's reply to the agency report if no hearing is set, the Secretary shall issue a decision on the matter within 120 days, which decision shall be final after a thirty day period for requesting reconsideration expires or on the date that a decision on a petition for reconsideration is finally disposed of. Any request for reconsideration or modification of the decision must be filed within 30 days from the date of the original decision (or within such an extension thereof as may be set by the Secretary before the original period expires). The decision of the Secretary shall be made after consideration of the statements of fact in the employee's appeal, the agency's report, and the employee's reply, but the Secretary at his or her discretion and with due respect to the rights and convenience of the inventor and the Government agency, may call for further statements on specific questions of fact or may request additional evidence in the form of affidavits or depositions on specific facts in dispute.

(53 FR 39735, Oct. 11, 1988, as amended at 61 FR 41000, Aug. 7, 1996)

## §501.9. Patent Protection

(a) A Government agency, upon determining that an invention coming within the scope of §501.6(a)(1) or (a)(2) has been made, shall promptly determine whether patent protection will be sought in the United States by or on behalf of the agency for such

- invention. A controversy over the respective rights of the Government and of the employee shall not unnecessarily delay the filing of a patent application by the agency to avoid the loss of patent rights. In cases coming within the scope of §501.6(a)(2), the filing of a patent application shall be contingent upon the consent of the employee.
- (b) Where there is an appealed dispute as to whether §§501.6 (a)(1) or (a)(2) applies in determining the respective rights of the Government and of an employee in and to any invention, the agency may determine whether patent protection will be sought in the United States pending the Secretary's decision on the dispute. If the agency decides that an application for patent should be filed, the agency will take such rights as are specified in §501.6(a)(2), but this shall be without prejudice to acquiring the rights specified in paragraph (a)(1) of that section should the Secretary so decide.
- (c) Where an agency has determined to leave title to an invention with an employee under §501.6(a)(2), the agency will, upon the filing of an application for patent, take the rights specified in that paragraph without prejudice to the subsequent acquisition by the Government of the rights specified in paragraph (a)(1) of that section should the Secretary so decide.
- (d) Where an agency has filed a patent application in the United States, the agency will, within 8 months from the filing date of the U.S. application, determine if any foreign patent applications should also be filed. If the agency chooses not to file an application in any foreign country, the employee may request rights in that country subject to the conditions stated in §501.7(b) that may be imposed by the agency. Alternatively, the agency may permit the employee to retain foreign rights by including in any assignment to the Government of an unclassified U.S. patent application on the invention an option for the Government to acquire title in any foreign country within 8 months from the filing date of the U.S. application.

(61 FR 41000, Aug. 7, 1996)

# §501.10. Dissemination of this Part and of Implementing Regulations

Each Government agency shall disseminate to its employees the provisions of this part, and any appropriate implementing agency regulations and delegations. Copies of any such regulations shall be sent to the Secretary. If the Secretary identifies an in- consistency between this part and the agency regulations or delegations, the agency, upon being informed by the Secretary of the inconsistency, shall take prompt action to correct it.

### §501.11. Submissions and Inquiries

All submissions or inquiries should be directed to the Chief Counsel for NIST, National Institute of Standards and Technology, 100 Bureau Drive, Mail Stop 1052, Gaithersburg, MD 20899-1052; telephone: (301) 975-2803; email: <a href="mailto:nistcounsel@nist.gov">nistcounsel@nist.gov</a>.

(78 FR 4766, Jan. 23, 2013)

# **SECTION 3**

# Special Legislative Provisions Applicable to Specific Agencies



# U.S.C. TITLE 10 — ARMED FORCES

# CHAPTER 111 — SUPPORT OF SCIENCE, MATHEMATICS, AND ENGINEERING EDUCATION

# §2192. Improvement of education in technical fields: general authority regarding education in science, mathematics, and engineering

- (a) The Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the Secretary of Education, shall, on a continuing basis—
- (1) identify actions which the Department of Defense may take to improve education in the scientific, mathematics, and engineering skills necessary to meet the long-term national defense needs of the United States for personnel proficient in such skills; and
  - (2) establish and conduct programs to carry out such actions.

(b)

- (1) In furtherance of the authority of the Secretary of Defense under any provision of this chapter or any other provision of law to support educational programs in science, mathematics, engineering, and technology, the Secretary of Defense may, unless otherwise specified in such provision—
  - (A) enter into contracts and cooperative agreements with eligible entities;
  - (B) make grants of financial assistance to eligible entities;
- (C) provide cash awards and other items to eligible entities; Page 1092 TITLE 10—ARMED FORCES §2192a
  - (D) accept voluntary services from eligible entities; and
- (E) support national competition judging, other educational event activities, and associated award ceremonies in connection with these educational programs. (2) The Secretary of Defense may carry out the authority in paragraph (1) through the Secretaries of the military departments. (3) In this subsection:
- (A) The term "eligible entity" includes a department or agency of the Federal Government, a State, a political subdivision of a State, an individual, and a not-for-profit or other organization in the private sector.
- (B) The term "State" means any State of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Guam, the United States Virgin Islands, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, American Samoa, and any other territory or possession of the United States. (c) The Secretary shall designate an individual within the Office of the Secretary of Defense to advise and assist the Secretary regarding matters relating to science, mathematics, and engineering education and training. (Added Pub. L. 101–510, div. A, title II, §247(a)(1), Nov. 5, 1990, 104 Stat. 1521; amended

Pub. L. 106–65, div. A, title V, §580(d)(1), Oct. 5, 1999, 113 Stat. 633; Pub. L. 108–136, div. A, title II, §233, Nov. 24, 2003, 117 Stat. 1423; Pub. L. 111–383, div. A, title II, §211(a), Jan. 7, 2011, 124 Stat. 4162.) AMENDMENTS 2011—Subsec. (b)(2), (3). Pub. L. 111–383 added par. (2) and redesignated former par. (2) as (3). 2003—Subsecs. (b), (c). Pub. L. 108–136 added subsec. (b) and redesignated former subsec. (b) as (c). 1999—Pub. L. 106–65 amended section catchline generally. Prior to amendment, catchline read as follows: "Science, mathematics, and engineering education". SCIENCE, MATHEMATICS, AND RESEARCH FOR TRANSFORMATION(SMART) DEFENSE SCHOLARSHIP PILOT PROGRAM Pub. L. 108–375, div. A, title XI, §1105, Oct. 28, 2004, 118 Stat. 2074, as amended by Pub. L. 109–163, div. A, title X, §1056(d), title XI, §1104(a)–(c), Jan. 6, 2006, 119 Stat. 3440, 3448, 3449; Pub. L. 111–383, div. A, title X, §1075(h)(5), Jan. 7, 2011, 124 Stat. 4377, which related to a pilot program to provide financial assistance for education in science, mathematics, engineering, and technology skills and disciplines that were determined to be critical to the national security functions of

the Department of Defense, was repealed and restated in section 2192a of this title by Pub. L. 109–163, div. A, title XI, §1104(d)(1)(B), (e)(1), Jan. 6, 2006, 119 Stat. 3450.

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE SUPPORT FORSCIENCE, MATHEMATICS, AND ENGINEERINGEDUCATION Pub. L. 102–190, div. A, title VIII, §829, Dec. 5, 1991, 105 Stat. 1444, directed Secretary of Defense to develop and submit to Congress a master plan for activities by Department of Defense during each of fiscal years 1993 through 1997 to support education in science, mathematics, and engineering at all levels of education in the United States, with each such plan to be developed in consultation with Secretary of Education, prior to repeal by Pub. L. 104–106, div. A, title X, §1063(c), Feb. 10, 1996, 110 Stat. 444.

# §2193. Improvement of Education in Technical Fields: Grants for Higher Education in Science and Mathematics

(a)

- (1) The Secretary of Defense may, in accordance with the provisions of this subsection, carry out a program for awarding grants to students who have been accepted for enrollment in, or who are enrolled in, an institution of higher education as undergraduate or graduate students in scientific and engineering disciplines critical to the national security functions of the Department of Defense.
- (2) Grant proceeds shall be disbursed on behalf of students awarded grants under this subsection to the institutions of higher education at which the students are enrolled. No grant proceeds shall be disbursed on behalf of a student until the student is enrolled at an institution of higher education.
- (3) The amount of a grant awarded a student under this subsection may not exceed the student's cost of attendance.
- (4) The amount of a grant awarded a student under this subsection shall not be reduced on the basis of the student's receipt of other forms of Federal student financial assistance but shall be taken into account in determining the eligibility of the student for those other forms of Federal student financial assistance.
- (5) The Secretary shall give priority to awarding grants under this subsection in a manner likely to stimulate the interest of women and members of minority groups in pursuing scientific and engineering careers. The Secretary may consider the financial need of applicants in making awards in accordance with such priority.
- (b) In this section:
  - (1) The term "institution of higher education" has the meaning given such term in section 101 of the Higher Education Act of 1965.
  - (2) The term "cost of attendance" has the meaning given such term in section 472 of the Higher Education Act of 1965 (20 U.S.C. §1087II).

(Added Pub. L. 101-510, div. A, title II, §247(a)(1), Nov. 5, 1990, 104 Stat. 1521; amended Pub. L. 105-244, title I, §102(a)(2)(A), Oct. 7, 1998, 112 Stat. 1617; Pub. L. 106-65, div. A, title V, §580(c)(2), (3), (d)(2), Oct. 5, 1999, 113 Stat. 633.)

# §2194. Education Partnerships

- (a) The Secretary of Defense shall authorize the director of each defense laboratory to enter into one or more education partnership agreements with educational institutions in the United States for the purpose of encouraging and enhancing study in scientific disciplines at all levels of education. The educational institutions referred to in the preceding sentence are local educational agency, colleges, universities, and any other nonprofit institutions that are dedicated to improving science, mathematics, business, law, technology transfer or transition and engineering education.
- (b) Under a partnership agreement entered into with an educational institution under this

section, the director of a defense laboratory may provide, and is encouraged to provide, assistance to the educational institution by—

- (1) loaning defense laboratory equipment to the institution for any purpose and duration in support of such agreement that the director considers appropriate;
- (2) notwithstanding the provisions of subtitle I of title 40 and division C (except sections §3302, §3501(b), §3509, §3906, §4710, and §4711) of subtitle I of title 41 or any provision of law or regulation relating to transfers of surplus property, transferring to the institution any computer equipment, or other scientific equipment, that is—
  - (A) commonly used by educational institutions;
  - (B) surplus to the needs of the defense laboratory; and
  - (C) determined by the director to be appropriate for support of such agreement;
- (3) making laboratory personnel available to teach science courses or to assist in the development of science courses and materials for the institution;
- (4) providing in the defense laboratory sabbatical opportunities for faculty and internship opportunities for students;
- (5) involving faculty and students of the institution in defense laboratory projects, including research and technology transfer or transition projects;
- (6) cooperating with the institution in developing a program under which students may be given academic credit for work on defense laboratory projects, including research and technology transfer or transition projects; and
- (7) providing academic and career advice and assistance to students of the institution.
- (c) The Secretary of Defense shall ensure that the director of each defense laboratory shall give a priority under this section to entering into an education partnership agreement with one or more historically Black colleges and universities and other minority institutions referred to in paragraphs (3), (4), and (5) of section 312(b) 1 of the Higher Education Act of 1965 (20 U.S.C. §1058(b)).
- (d) The Secretary of Defense shall ensure that, in entering into education partnership agreements under this section, the director of a defense laboratory gives a priority to providing assistance to educational institutions serving women, members of minority groups, and other groups of individuals who traditionally are involved in the engineering and science professions in disproportionately low numbers.
- (e) The Secretary of Defense may permit the director of a defense laboratory to enter into a cooperative agreement with an appropriate entity to act as an intermediary and assist the director in carrying out activities under this section.
- (f) In this section:
  - (1) The term "defense laboratory" means any laboratory, product center, test center, depot, training and educational organization, or operational command under the jurisdiction of the Department of Defense.
  - (2) The term "local educational agency" has the meaning given such term in section 8101 of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965.
  - (3) The term "United States" includes the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, and any other territory or possession of the United States.

(Added Pub. L. 101–510, div. A, title II, §247(a)(1), Nov. 5, 1990, 104 Stat. 1522; amended Pub. L. 103–382, title III, §391(b)(4), Oct. 20, 1994, 108 Stat. 4021; Pub. L. 104–106, div. A, title XV, §1503(a)(19), Feb. 10, 1996, 110 Stat. 512; Pub. L. 106–398, §1 [[div. A], title II, §253], Oct. 30, 2000, 114 Stat. 1654, 1654A–49; Pub. L. 107–110, title X, §1076(e), Jan. 8, 2002, 115 Stat. 2091; Pub. L. 108–178, §4(b)(1), Dec. 15, 2003, 117 Stat. 2640; Pub. L.

111–350, §5(b)(3), Jan. 4, 2011, 124 Stat. 3842; Pub. L. 111–383, div. A, title II, §211(b), Jan.

7, 2011, 124 Stat. 4163; Pub. L. 112–239, div. A, title II, §251, Jan. 2, 2013, 126 Stat. 1688; Pub. L. 114–92, div. A, title II, §213, Nov. 25, 2015, 129 Stat. 767; Pub. L. 114–95, title IX, §9215(uuu)(4), Dec. 10, 2015, 129 Stat. 2190.)

# §2195. Department of Defense Cooperative Education Programs

- (a) The Secretary of Defense shall ensure that the director of each defense laboratory establishes, in association with one or more public or private colleges or universities in the United States or one or more consortia of colleges or universities in the United States, cooperative work- education programs for undergraduate and graduate students.
- (b) Under a cooperative work-education program established under subsection (a), a director referred to in that subsection may, without regard to any applicable non-statutory limitation on the number of authorized personnel or on the aggregate amount of any personnel cost—
  - (1) make an offer for participation in the cooperative work-education program directly to a student and appoint such student to an entry-level position of employment in the laboratory of such director;
  - (2) pay such person a rate of basic pay, not to exceed the maximum rate of pay provided for grade GS-9 under the General Schedule under section 5332 of title 5, that is competitive with compensation levels provided for entry-level positions in similar industry- sponsored cooperative work-education programs;
  - (3) pay all travel expenses between the college or university in which the student is enrolled and the laboratory concerned for not more than six round trips per year; and
  - (4) pay all or part of such fees, charges, and costs related to the participation of such student in the cooperative work-education program as tuition, matriculation fees, charges for library and laboratory services, materials, and supplies, and the purchase or rental price of books.
- (c) A director of a defense laboratory may—
  - (1) require a student, as a condition for receiving payments referred to in subsection (b)(4), to enter into a written agreement to continue employment in such defense laboratory for a period of service specified in the agreement; or
  - (2) make such payments without requiring such an agreement.

(d)

- (1) The Director of the National Security Agency may provide a qualifying employee of a defense laboratory of that Agency with living quarters at no charge, or at a rate or charge prescribed by the Director by regulation, without regard to section 5911(c) of title 5.
- (2) In this subsection, the term "qualifying employee" means a student who is employed at the National Security Agency under—
  - (A) a Student Educational Employment Program of the Agency conducted under this section or any other provision of law; or
  - (B) a similar cooperative or summer education program of the Agency that meets the criteria for Federal cooperative or summer education programs prescribed by the Office of Personnel Management.

IX, 926, Nov. 24, 2003, 117 Stat. 1579.)

# §2260. Licensing of Intellectual Property: Retention of Fees

- (a) Authority.—Under regulations prescribed by the Secretary of Defense or the Secretary of Homeland Security, the Secretary concerned may license trademarks, service marks, certification marks, and collective marks owned or controlled by the Secretary concerned and may retain and expend fees received from such licensing in accordance with this section.
- (b) Designated Marks.—The Secretary concerned shall designate the trademarks, service marks, certification marks, and collective marks regarding which the Secretary will exercise the authority to retain licensing fees under this section.
- (c) Licenses for Qualifying Companies.—
  - (1) The Secretary concerned may license trademarks, service marks, certification marks, and collective marks owned or controlled by the Secretary relating to military designations and likenesses of military weapons systems to any qualifying company upon receipt of a request from the company.
  - (2) For purposes of paragraph (1), a qualifying company is any United States company that—
    (A) is a toy or hobby manufacturer; and
    - (B) is determined by the Secretary concerned to be qualified in accordance with such criteria as determined appropriate by the Secretary of Defense.
  - (3) The fee for a license under this subsection shall not exceed by more than a nominal amount the amount needed to recover all costs of the Department of Defense in processing the request for the license and supplying the license.
  - (4) A license to a qualifying company under this subsection shall provide that the license may not be transferred, sold, or relicensed by the qualifying company.
  - (5) A license under this subsection shall not be an exclusive license.
- (d) Use of Fees.—The Secretary concerned shall use fees retained under this section for the following purposes:
  - (1) For payment of the following costs incurred by the Secretary:
    - (A) Costs of securing trademark registrations.
    - (B) Costs of operating the licensing program under this section.
  - (2) For morale, welfare, and recreation activities under the jurisdiction of the Secretary, to the extent (if any) that the total amount of the licensing fees available under this section for a fiscal year exceed the total amount needed for such fiscal year under paragraph (1).
- (e) Availability.—Fees received in a fiscal year and retained under this section shall be available for obligation in such fiscal year and the following two fiscal years.
- (f) Definitions.—In this section:
  - (1) The terms "trademark", "service mark", "certification mark", and "collective mark" have the meanings given such terms in section 45 of the Act of July 5, 1946 (commonly referred to as the Trademark Act of 1946; 15 U.S.C. 1127).
  - (2) The term "Secretary concerned" has the meaning provided in section 101(a)(9) of this title and also includes—
    - (A) the Secretary of Defense, with respect to matters concerning the Defense Agencies and Department of Defense Field Activities; and
    - (B) the Secretary of Homeland Security, with respect to matters concerning the Coast Guard when it is not operating as a service in the Department of the

Navy.

(Added Pub. L. 108–375, div. A, title X, §1004(a), Oct. 28, 2004, 118 Stat. 2035; amended Pub. L. 110–181, div. A, title VIII, §882(a), Jan. 28, 2008, 122 Stat. 263; Pub. L. 110–417, [div. A], title VIII, §881, Oct. 14, 2008, 122 Stat. 4559.)

# §2563. Articles and Services of Industrial Facilities: Sale to Persons Outside the Department of Defense

- (a) Authority To Sell Outside the DOD.—
  - (1) The Secretary of Defense may sell in accordance with this section to a person outside the Department of Defense articles and services referred to in paragraph (1) that are not available from any United States commercial source.

(2)

- (A) Except as provided in subparagraph (B), articles and services referred to in paragraph (1) are articles and services that are manufactured or performed by any working-capital funded industrial facility of the armed forces.
- (B) The authority in this section does not apply to sales of articles and services by a working-capital funded Army industrial facility (including a Department of the Army arsenal) that manufactures large caliber cannons, gun mounts, recoil mechanisms, ammunition, munitions, or components thereof, which are governed by regulations required by section 4543 of this title.
- (b) Designation of Participating Industrial Facilities.—The Secretary may designate facilities referred to in subsection (a) as the facilities from which articles and services manufactured or performed by such facilities may be sold under this section.
- (c) Conditions for Sales.—
  - (1) A sale of articles or services may be made under this section only if—
    - (A) the Secretary of Defense determines that the articles or services are not available from a commercial source in the United States;
    - (B) the purchaser agrees to hold harmless and indemnify the United States, except as provided in paragraph (3), from any claim for damages or injury to any person or property arising out of the articles or services;
    - (C) the articles or services can be substantially manufactured or performed by the industrial facility concerned with only incidental subcontracting;
    - (D) it is in the public interest to manufacture the articles or perform the services;
    - (E) the Secretary determines that the sale of the articles or services will not interfere with the military mission of the industrial facility concerned; and
    - (F) the sale of the goods and services is made on the basis that it will not interfere with performance of work by the industrial facility concerned for the Department of Defense.
  - (2) The Secretary of Defense may waive the condition in paragraph (1)(A) and subsection (a)(1) that an article or service must be not available from a United States commercial source in the case of a particular sale if the Secretary determines that the waiver is necessary for reasons of national security and notifies Congress regarding the reasons for the waiver.
    - (3) Paragraph (1)(B) does not apply in any case of willful misconduct or gross negligence or in the case of a claim by a purchaser of articles or services under this section that damages or injury arose from the failure of the Government to comply with quality, schedule, or cost performance requirements in the contract to provide the articles or services.

#### (d) Methods of Sale.—

- (1) The Secretary shall permit a purchaser of articles or services under this section to use advance incremental funding to pay for the articles or services.
- (2) In the sale of articles and services under this section, the Secretary shall—
  - (A) charge the purchaser, at a minimum, the variable costs, capital improvement costs, and equipment depreciation costs that are associated with the articles or services sold:
  - (B) enter into a firm, fixed-price contract or, if agreed by the purchaser, a cost reimbursement contract for the sale; and
  - (C) develop and maintain (from sources other than appropriated funds) working capital to be available for paying design costs, planning costs, procurement costs, and other costs associated with the articles or services sold.
- (e) Deposit of Proceeds.—Proceeds from sales of articles and services under this section shall be credited to the funds, including working capital funds and operation and maintenance funds, incurring the costs of manufacture or performance.
- (f) Relationship to Arms Export Control Act.—Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect the application of the export controls provided for in section 38 of the Arms Export Control Act (22 U.S.C. §2778) to items which incorporate or are produced through the use of an article sold under this section.
- (g) Definitions.—In this section:
  - (1) The term "advance incremental funding", with respect to a sale of articles or services, means a series of partial payments for the articles or services that includes—
    - (A) one or more partial payments before the commencement of work or the incurring of costs in connection with the manufacture of the articles or the performance of the services, as the case may be; and
    - (B) subsequent progress payments that result in full payment being completed as the required work is being completed.
  - (2) The term "not available", with respect to an article or service proposed to be sold under this section, means that the article or service is unavailable from a commercial source in the required quantity and quality or within the time required.
  - (3) The term "variable costs", with respect to sales of articles or services, means the costs that are expected to fluctuate directly with the volume of sales and—
    - (A) in the case of articles, the volume of production necessary to satisfy the sales orders; or
    - (B) in the case of services, the extent of the services sold.

(Added Pub. L. 103-337, div. A, title III, §339(a)(1), Oct. 5, 1994, 108 Stat. 2718, §2553; amended Pub. L. 106-65, div. A, title III, §331(a)(2)(b), Oct. 5, 1999, 113 Stat. 566, 567; renumbered §2563, Pub. L. 106-398, §1 div. A title x §1033(b)(1), Oct. 30, 2000, 114 Stat. 1654, 1654A-260; Pub. L. 107-107, div. A, title III, §343(a), Dec. 28, 2001 §5 Stat. 1061.)

#### §3243. Encouragement of New Competitors: Qualification Requirement

# Formerly §2319

(a) Qualification Requirement Defined.—In this section, the term "qualification requirement" means a requirement for testing or other quality assurance demonstration that must be completed by an offeror before award of a contract.

- (b) Actions Before Establishing Qualification Requirement.—Except as provided in subsection (c), the head of the agency shall, before establishing a qualification requirement—
  - (1) prepare a written justification stating the necessity for establishing the
    - qualification requirement and specify why the qualification requirement must be demonstrated before contract award;
  - (2) specify in writing and make available to a potential offeror upon request all requirements which a prospective offeror, or its product, must satisfy in order to become qualified, such requirements to be limited to those least restrictive to meet the purposes necessitating the establishment of the qualification requirement;
  - (3) specify an estimate of the costs of testing and evaluation likely to be incurred by a potential offeror in order to become qualified;
  - (4) ensure that a potential offeror is provided, upon request and on a reimbursable basis, a prompt opportunity to demonstrate its ability to meet the standards specified for qualification using qualified personnel and facilities of the agency concerned or of another agency obtained through interagency agreement, or under contract, or other methods approved by the agency (including use of approved testing and evaluation services not provided under contract to the agency);
  - (5) if testing and evaluation services are provided under contract to the agency for the purposes of paragraph (4), provide to the extent possible that such services be provided by a contractor who is not expected to benefit from an absence of additional qualified sources and who shall be required in such contract to adhere to any restriction on technical data asserted by the potential offeror seeking qualification; and
  - (6) ensure that a potential offeror seeking qualification is promptly informed as to whether qualification is attained and, in the event qualification is not attained, is promptly furnished specific information why qualification was not attained.
- (c) Applicability, Waiver Authority, and Referral of Offers.—
  - (1) Applicability.—Subsection (b) does not apply with respect to a qualification requirement established by statute or administrative action before October 19, 1984, unless such requirement is a qualified products list.
  - (2) Waiver Authority.—
    - (A) Submission of determination of unreasonableness.—Except as provided in subparagraph (C), if it is unreasonable to specify the standards for qualification which a prospective offeror or its product must satisfy, a determination to that effect shall be submitted to the advocate for competition of the procuring activity responsible for the purchase of the item subject to the qualification requirement.
    - (B) Authority to grant waiver.—After considering any comments of the advocate for competition reviewing such determination, the head of the purchasing office may waive the requirements of clauses (2) through (6) of subsection (b) for up to two years with respect to the item subject to the qualification requirement.
    - (C) Inapplicability to qualified products list.—The waiver authority provided in this paragraph does not apply with respect to a qualified products list.
  - (3) Submission and consideration of offer not to be denied in certain cases.—A potential offeror may not be denied the opportunity to submit and have considered an offer for a contract solely because the potential offeror (A) is not on a qualified bidders list, qualified manufacturers list, or qualified products list, or (B) has not been identified as meeting a qualification requirement established after

October 19, 1984, if the potential offeror can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the contracting officer (or, in the case of a contract for the procurement of an aviation critical safety item or ship critical safety item, the head of the design control activity

for such item) that the potential offeror or its product meets the standards established for qualification or can meet such standards before the date specified for award of the contract.

- (4) Referral to small business administration.—Nothing contained in this subsection requires the referral of an offer to the Small Business Administration pursuant to section 8(b)(7) of the Small Business Act (15 U.S.C. §637(b)(7)) if the basis for the referral is a challenge by the offeror to either the validity of the qualification requirement or the offeror's compliance with such requirement.
- (5) Delay of procurement not required.—The head of an agency need not delay a proposed procurement in order to comply with subsection (b) or in order to provide a potential offeror with an opportunity to demonstrate its ability to meet the standards specified for qualification.
- (6) Requirements before enforcement of certain lists.—The requirements of subsection (b) also apply before enforcement of any qualified products list, qualified manufacturers list, or qualified bidders list.
- (d) Fewer Than 2 Actual Manufacturers.—
  - (1) Solicitation and testing of additional sources or products.—If the number of qualified sources or qualified products available to compete actively for an anticipated future requirement is fewer than two actual manufacturers or the products of two actual manufacturers, respectively, the head of the agency concerned shall—
    - (A) periodically publish notice in the Commerce Business Daily soliciting additional sources or products to seek qualification, unless the contracting officer determines that such publication would compromise national security;
    - (B) subject to paragraph (2), bear the cost of conducting the specified testing and evaluation (excluding the costs associated with producing the item or establishing the production, quality control, or other system to be tested and evaluated) for a small business concern or a product manufactured by a small business concern which has met the standards specified for qualification and which could reasonably be expected to compete for a contract for that requirement.
  - (2) Certification when agency may bear cost.—Costs may be borne under paragraph (1)(B) only if the head of the agency determines that such additional qualified sources or products are likely to result in cost savings from increased competition for future requirements sufficient to amortize the costs incurred by the agency within a reasonable period of time considering the duration and dollar value of anticipated future requirements.
  - (3) Certification required.—The head of an agency shall require a prospective contractor requesting the United States to bear testing and evaluation costs under paragraph (1)(B) to certify as to its status as a small business concern under section 3 of the Small Business Act (15 U.S.C. §632).
- (e) Examination and Revalidation of Qualification Requirement.—Within seven years after the establishment of a qualification requirement under subsection (b) or within seven years following an agency's enforcement of a qualified products list, qualified manufacturers list, or qualified bidders list, any such qualification requirement shall be examined and revalidated in accordance with the requirements of subsection (b). The

- preceding sentence does not apply in the case of a qualification requirement for which a waiver is in effect under subsection (c)(2).
- (f) Restriction on Enforcement.—Except in an emergency as determined by the head
  - of the agency, whenever the head of the agency determines not to enforce a qualification requirement for a solicitation, the agency may not thereafter enforce that qualification requirement unless the agency complies with the requirements of subsection (b).
- (g) Definitions.—In this section:
  - (1) The term "aviation critical safety item" means a part, an assembly, installation equipment, launch equipment, recovery equipment, or support equipment for an aircraft or aviation weapon system if the part, assembly, or equipment contains a characteristic any failure, malfunction, or absence of which could cause a catastrophic or critical failure resulting in the loss of or serious damage to the aircraft or weapon system, an unacceptable risk of personal injury or loss of life, or an uncommanded engine shutdown that jeopardizes safety.
  - (2) The term "ship critical safety item" means any ship part, assembly, or support equipment containing a characteristic the failure, malfunction, or absence of which could cause a catastrophic or critical failure resulting in loss of or serious damage to the ship or unacceptable risk of personal injury or loss of life.
  - (3) The term "design control activity", with respect to an aviation critical safety item or ship critical safety item, means the systems command of a military department that is specifically responsible for ensuring the airworthiness of an aviation system or equipment, or the seaworthiness of a ship or ship equipment, in which such item is to be used.

(Added Pub. L. 98–525, title XII, §1216(a), Oct. 19, 1984, 98 Stat. 2593; amended Pub. L. 100–26, §7(d)(5), (i)(4), (k)(3), Apr. 21, 1987, 101 Stat. 281, 282, 284; Pub. L. 108–136, div. A, title VIII, §802(d), Nov. 24, 2003, 117 Stat. 1541; Pub. L. 109–364, div. A, title I, §130(d), Oct. 17, 2006, 120 Stat. 2110.)

# §4001. Research and Development Projects

# Formerly §2358

- (a) Authority.—The Secretary of Defense or the Secretary of a military department may engage in basic research, applied research, advanced research, and development projects that—
  - (1) are necessary to the responsibilities of such Secretary's department in the field of research and development; and
  - (2) either—
    - (A) relate to weapon systems and other military needs; or
    - (B) are of potential interest to the Department of Defense.
- (b) Authorized Means.—The Secretary of Defense or the Secretary of a military department may perform research and development projects—
  - (1) by contract, cooperative agreement, or grant, in accordance with chapter 63 of title 31;
  - (2) through one or more military departments;
  - (3) by using employees and consultants of the Department of Defense;
  - (4) by mutual agreement with the head of any other department or agency of the Federal Government:
  - (5) by transactions (other than contracts, cooperative agreements, and grants) entered into pursuant to section §4021 or §4022 of this title; or

- (6) by purchases through procurement for experimental purposes pursuant to section 4023 of this title.
- (c) Requirement of Potential Department of Defense Interest.—Funds appropriated to the Department of Defense or to a military department may not be used to finance any
  - research project or study unless the project or study is, in the opinion of the Secretary of Defense or the Secretary of that military department, respectively, of potential interest to the Department of Defense or to such military department, respectively.
- (d) Additional Provisions Applicable to Cooperative Agreements.—Additional authorities, conditions, and requirements relating to certain cooperative agreements authorized by this section are provided in sections 4021 and 4026 of this title.

(Added Pub. L. 101–189, div. A, title II, §251(a)(1), Nov. 29, 1989, 103 Stat. 1403; amend- ed Pub. L. 101–510, div. A, title XIV, §1484(k)(9), Nov. 5, 1990, 104 Stat. 1719; Pub. L. 102–190, div. A, title VIII, §826, Dec. 5, 1991, 105 Stat. 1442; Pub. L. 102–484, div. A, title II, §217, Oct. 23, 1992, 106 Stat. 2352; Pub. L. 103–35, title II, §201(c)(4), May 31, 1993, 107 Stat. 98; Pub. L. 103–160, div. A, title VIII, §827(b), title XI, §1182(a)(6), Nov. 30, 1993, 107 Stat. 1712, 1771; Pub. L. 103–355, title I, §1301(b), Oct. 13, 1994, 108 Stat. 3285; Pub. L. 104–106, div. A, title XV, §1502(a)(1), Feb. 10, 1996, 110 Stat. 502; Pub. L. 104–201, div. A, title II, §267(a)–(c)(1)(A), title X, §1073(e)(1)(B), Sept. 23, 1996, 110 Stat. 2467, 2468, 2658; Pub. L. 105–85, div. A, title VIII, §832, Nov. 18, 1997, 111 Stat. 1842; Pub. L. 105–261, div. A, title VIII, §817, Oct. 17, 1998, 112 Stat. 2089; Pub. L. 106–65, div. A, title X, §1067(1), Oct. 5, 1999, 113 Stat. 774; Pub. L. 108–136, div. A, title X, §1031(a)(19), Nov. 24, 2003, 117 Stat. 1597; Pub. L. 113–291, div. A, title X, §1071(f)(20), Dec. 19, 2014, 128 Stat. 3511; Pub. L. 115–91, div. A, title VIII, §863, Dec. 12, 2017, 131 Stat. 1494.)

# §4021. Research Projects: Transactions Other than Contracts and Grants Formerly §2371

- (a) Additional Forms of Transactions Authorized.—The Secretary of Defense and the Secretary of each military department may enter into transactions (other than contracts, cooperative agreements, and grants) under the authority of this subsection in carrying out basic, applied, and advanced research projects. The authority under this subsection is in addition to the authority provided in section 4001 of this title to use contracts, cooperative agreements, and grants in carrying out such projects.
- (b) Exercise of Authority by Secretary of Defense.—In any exercise of the authority in subsection (a), the Secretary of Defense shall act through the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency or any other element of the Department of Defense that the Secretary may designate.
- (c) Advance Payments.—The authority provided under subsection (a) may be exercised without regard to section 3324 of title 31.
- (d) Recovery of Funds.—
  - (1) A cooperative agreement for performance of basic, applied, or advanced research authorized by section 4001 of this title and a transaction authorized by subsection (a) may include a clause that requires a person or other entity to make payments to the Department of Defense or any other department or agency of the Federal Government as a condition for receiving support under the agreement or other transaction.
  - (2) The amount of any payment received by the Federal Government pursuant to a requirement imposed under paragraph (1) may be credited, to the extent authorized by the Secretary of Defense, to the appropriate account established under subsection (f). Amounts so credited shall be merged with other funds in

the account and shall be available for the same purposes and the same period for which other funds in such account are available.

- (e) Conditions.—The Secretary of Defense shall ensure that—
  - (1) to the maximum extent practicable, no cooperative agreement containing a clause

under subsection (d) and no transaction entered into under subsection (a) provides for research that duplicates research being conducted under existing programs carried out by the Department of Defense; and

- (2) to the extent that the Secretary determines practicable, the funds provided by the Government under a cooperative agreement containing a clause under subsection (d) or a transaction authorized by subsection (a) do not exceed the total amount provided by other parties to the cooperative agreement or other transaction.
- (f) Support Accounts.—There is hereby established on the books of the Treasury separate accounts for each of the military departments and the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency for support of research projects and development projects provided for in cooperative agreements containing a clause under subsection (d) and research projects provided for in transactions entered into under subsection (a). Funds in those accounts shall be available for the payment of such support.
- (g) Education and Training.—The Secretary of Defense shall—
  - (1) ensure that management, technical, and contracting personnel of the Department of Defense involved in the award or administration of transactions under this section or other innovative forms of contracting are afforded opportunities for adequate education and training; and
  - (2) establish minimum levels and requirements for continuous and experiential learning for such personnel, including levels and requirements for acquisition certification programs.
- (h) Guidance.—The Secretary of Defense shall issue guidance to carry out this section.
- (i) Protection of Certain Information From Disclosure.—
  - (1) Disclosure of information described in paragraph (2) is not required, and may not be compelled, under section 552 of title 5 for five years after the date on which the information is received by the Department of Defense.

(2)

- (A) Paragraph (1) applies to information described in subparagraph (B) that is in the records of the Department of Defense if the information was submitted to the Department in a competitive or noncompetitive process having the potential for resulting in an award, to the party submitting the information, of a cooperative agreement for performance of basic, applied, or advanced research authorized by section 4001 of this title or another transaction authorized by subsection (a).
- (B) The information referred to in subparagraph (A) is the following:
  - (i) A proposal, proposal abstract, and supporting documents.
  - (ii) A business plan submitted on a confidential basis.
  - (iii) Technical information submitted on a confidential basis.

(Added Pub. L. 101–189, div. A, title II, §251(a)(1), Nov. 29, 1989, 103 Stat. 1403; amend- ed Pub. L. 101–510, div. A, title XIV, §1484(k)(9), Nov. 5, 1990, 104 Stat. 1719; Pub. L.

102–190, div. A, title VIII, §826, Dec. 5, 1991, 105 Stat. 1442; Pub. L. 102–484, div. A, title II, §217, Oct. 23, 1992, 106 Stat. 2352; Pub. L. 103–35, title II, §201(c)(4), May 31, 1993, 107 Stat. 98; Pub. L. 103–160, div. A, title VIII, §827(b), title XI, §1182(a)(6), Nov. 30, 1993,

107 Stat. 1712, 1771; Pub. L. 103-355, title I, §1301(b), Oct. 13, 1994, 108 Stat. 3285; Pub.

L. 104–106, div. A, title XV, §1502(a)(1), Feb. 10, 1996, 110 Stat. 502; Pub. L. 104–201, div. A, title II, §267(a)–(c)(1)(A), title X, §1073(e)(1)(B), Sept. 23, 1996, 110 Stat. 2467, 2468, 2658; Pub. L. 105–85, div. A, title VIII, §832, Nov. 18, 1997, 111 Stat. 1842; Pub. L.

105–261, div. A, title VIII, §817, Oct. 17, 1998, 112 Stat. 2089; Pub. L. 106–65, div. A, title X, §1067(1), Oct. 5,

1999, 113 Stat. 774; Pub. L. 108–136, div. A, title X, §1031(a)(19), Nov. 24, 2003, 117 Stat. 1597; Pub. L. 113–291, div. A, title X, §1071(f)(20), Dec. 19, 2014, 128

Stat. 3511; Pub. L. 115–91, div. A, title VIII, §863, Dec. 12, 2017, 131 Stat. 1494.)

# §4025. Prizes for Advanced Technology Achievements

Formerly §2374a

- (a) Authority.—The Secretary of Defense, acting through the Under Secretary of Defense for Research and Engineering, the Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition and Sustainment, and the service acquisition executive for each military department, may carry out programs to award cash prizes and other types of prizes, including procurement contracts and other agreements, that the Secretary determines are appropriate to recognize outstanding achievements in basic, advanced, and applied research, technology development, and prototype development that have the potential for application to the performance of the military missions of the Department of Defense.
- (b) Competition Requirements.—Each program under subsection (a) shall use a competitive process for the selection of recipients of cash prizes and for the selection of recipients of procurement contracts and other agreements. The process shall include the widely-advertised solicitation of submissions of research results, technology developments, and prototypes.
- (c) Limitations.—
  - (1) No prize competition may result in the award of a prize with a fair market value of more than \$10,000,000 without the approval of the Under Secretary of Defense for Research and Engineering.
  - (2) No prize competition may result in the award of more than \$1,000,000 in cash prizes without the approval of the Under Secretary of Defense for Research and Engineering.
  - (3) No prize competition may result in the award of a solely nonmonetary prize with a fair market value of more than \$10,000 without the approval of the Under Secretary of Defense for Research and Engineering.
- (d) Relationship to Other Authority.—A program under subsection (a) may be carried out in conjunction with or in addition to the exercise of any other authority of an official referred to in that subsection to acquire, support, or stimulate basic, advanced and applied research, technology development, or prototype projects.
- (e) Acceptance of Funds.—In addition to such sums as may be appropriated or otherwise made available to the Secretary to award prizes under this section, the Secretary may accept funds or nonmonetary items from other departments and agencies of the Federal Government, from State and local governments, and from the private sector, to award prizes under this section. The Secretary may not give any special consideration to any private sector entity in return for a donation.
- (f) Use of Prize Authority.—Use of prize authority under this section shall be considered the use of competitive procedures for the purposes of section 2304 1 of this title.
- (g) Congressional Notice.—
  - (1) In general.—Not later than 15 days after a procurement contract or other agreement that exceeds a fair market value of \$10,000,000 is awarded under the authority

- under a program under subsection (a), the Secretary of Defense shall submit to the congressional defense committees written notice of such award.
- (2) Contents.—Each notice submitted under paragraph (1) shall include—
  - (A) the value of the relevant procurement contract or other agreement, as applicable, including all options;
  - (B) a brief description of the research result, technology development, or prototype for which such procurement contract or other agreement, as applicable, was awarded; and
  - (C) an explanation of the benefit to the performance of the military mission of the Department of Defense resulting from the award.

(Added Pub. L. 106–65, div. A, title II, §244(a), Oct. 5, 1999, 113 Stat. 552; amended Pub. L. 107–314, div. A, title II, §248(a), Dec. 2, 2002, 116 Stat. 2502; Pub. L. 108–136, div. A, title X, §1031(a)(20), Nov. 24, 2003, 117 Stat. 1598; Pub. L. 109–163, div. A, title II, §257, Jan. 6, 2006, 119 Stat. 3184; Pub. L. 109–364, div. A, title II, §212, Oct. 17, 2006, 120 Stat. 2119; Pub. L. 111–84, div. A, title II, §253, Oct. 28, 2009, 123 Stat. 2243; Pub. L. 111–383, div. A, title IX, §901(j)(4), Jan. 7, 2011, 124 Stat. 4324; Pub. L. 113–66, div. A, title II, §263, Dec. 26, 2013, 127 Stat. 726; Pub. L. 113–291, div. A, title II, §211, Dec. 19, 2014, 128 Stat. 3324; Pub. L. 114–92, div. A, title X, §1079(a), Nov. 25, 2015, 129 Stat. 999; Pub. L. 114–328, div. A, title X, §1081(c)(6), Dec. 23, 2016, 130 Stat. 2420; Pub. L. 115–91, div. A, title II, §213, Dec. 12, 2017, 131 Stat. 1324.)

### §4175. Use of Test and Evaluation Installations by Commercial Entities

- (a) Contract Authority.—The Secretary of Defense may enter into contracts with commercial entities that desire to conduct commercial test and evaluation activities at a Major Range and Test Facility Installation.
- (b) Termination or Limitation of Contract Under Certain Circumstances.—A contract entered into under subsection (a) shall contain a provision that the Secretary of Defense may terminate, prohibit, or suspend immediately any commercial test or evaluation activity to be conducted at the Major Range and Test Facility Installation under the contract if the Secretary of Defense certifies in writing that the test or evaluation activity is or would be detrimental—
  - (1) to the public health and safety;
  - (2) to property (either public or private); or
  - (3) to any national security interest or foreign policy interest of the United States.
- (c) Contract Price.—A contract entered into under subsection (a) shall include a provision that requires a commercial entity using a Major Range and Test Facility Installation under the contract to reimburse the Department of Defense for all direct costs to the United States that are associated with the test and evaluation activities conducted by the commercial entity under the contract. In addition, the contract may include a provision that requires the commercial entity to reimburse the Department of Defense for such indirect costs related to the use of the installation as the Secretary of Defense considers to be appropriate. The Secretary may delegate to the commander of the Major Range and Test Facility Installation the authority to determine the appropriateness of the amount of indirect costs included in such a contract provision.
- (d) Retention of Funds Collected From Commercial Users.—Amounts collected under subsection (c) from a commercial entity conducting test and evaluation activities at a Major Range and Test Facility Installation shall be credited to the appropriation accounts under which the costs associated with the test and evaluation activities of the commercial entity were incurred.

- (e) Regulations and Limitations.—The Secretary of Defense shall prescribe regulations to carry out this section.
- (f) Definitions.—In this section:
  - (1) The term "Major Range and Test Facility Installation" means a test and evaluation installation under the jurisdiction of the Department of Defense and
    - designated as a Major Range and Test Facility Installation by the Secretary.
  - (2) The term "direct costs" includes the cost of—
    - (A) labor, material, facilities, utilities, equipment, supplies, and any other resources damaged or consumed during test or evaluation activities or maintained for a particular commercial entity; and
    - (B) construction specifically performed for a commercial entity to conduct test and evaluation activities.

(Added Pub. L. 103-160, div. A, title VIII, §846(a), Nov. 30, 1993, 107 Stat. 1722, §2681; amended Pub. L. 105-85, div. Atitle VIII §842, Nov. 18, 1997, 111 Stat. 1844; Pub. L. 105-261, div. A, title VIII, §820, Oct. 17, 1998, 112 Stat. 2090; renumbered §4175 and amended Pub. L. 116-283, div. A, title XVIII, §1844(b)(1), 1845(b), Jan. 1, 2021, 134 Stat. 4245, 4247; Pub. L. 117-81, div. A, title XVII, §1701(u)(5)(B), (6)(B), Dec. 27, 2021, 135 Stat. 2154.)

# §4543. Army Industrial Facilities: Sales of Manufactured Articles or Services Outside Department of Defense

- (a) Authority To Sell Outside the DOD.—Regulations under section 2208(h) of this title shall authorize a working-capital funded Army industrial facility (including a Department of the Army arsenal) that manufactures large caliber cannons, gun mounts, recoil mechanisms, ammunition, munitions, or components thereof to sell manufactured articles or services to a person outside the Department of Defense if—
  - (1) in the case of an article, the article is sold to a United States manufacturer, assembler, developer, or other concern—
    - (A) for use in developing new products:
    - (B) for incorporation into items to be sold to, or to be used in a contract with, an agency of the United States;
    - (C) for incorporation into items to be sold to, or to be used in a contract with, or to be used for purposes of soliciting a contract with, a friendly foreign government; or
    - (D) for use in commercial products;
  - (2) in the case of an article, the purchaser is determined by the Department of Defense to be qualified to carry out the proposed work involving the article to be purchased;
  - (3) the sale is to be made on a basis that does not interfere with performance of work by the facility for the Department of Defense or for a contractor of the Department of Defense:
  - (4) in the case of services, the services are related to an article authorized to be sold under this section and are to be performed in the United States for the purchaser;
  - (5) the Secretary of the Army determines that the articles or services are not available from a commercial source located in the United States;
  - (6) the purchaser of an article or service agrees to hold harmless and indemnify the United States, except in a case of willful misconduct or gross negligence, from any claim for damages or injury to any person or property arising out of the article or service;

- (7) the article to be sold can be manufactured, or the service to be sold can be substantially performed, by the industrial facility with only incidental subcontracting;
- (8) it is in the public interest to manufacture such article or perform such service; and
- (9) the sale will not interfere with performance of the military mission of the industrial facility.
- (b) Additional Requirements.—The regulations shall also—
  - require that the authority to sell articles or services under the regulations be exercised at the level of the commander of the major subordinate command of the Army with responsibility over the facility concerned;
  - (2) authorize a purchaser of articles or services to use advance incremental funding to pay for the articles or services; and
  - (3) in the case of a sale of commercial articles or commercial services in accordance with subsection (a) by a facility that manufactures large caliber cannons, gun mounts, or recoil mechanisms, or components thereof, authorize such facility—
    - (A) to charge the buyer, at a minimum, the variable costs that are associated with the commercial articles or commercial services sold;
    - (B) to enter into a firm, fixed-price contract or, if agreed by the buyer, a cost reimbursement contract for the sale; and
    - (C) to develop and maintain (from sources other than appropriated funds) working capital to be available for paying design costs, planning costs, procurement costs, and other costs associated with the commercial articles or commercial services sold.
- (c) Relationship to Arms Export Control Act.—Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect the application of the export controls provided for in section 38 of the Arms Export Control Act (22 U.S.C. §2778) to items which incorporate or are produced through the use of an article sold under this section.
- (d) Definitions.—In this section:
  - (1) The term "commercial article" means an article that is usable for a nondefense purpose.
  - (2) The term "commercial service" means a service that is usable for a nondefense purpose.
  - (3) The term "advance incremental funding", with respect to a sale of articles or services, means a series of partial payments for the articles or services that includes—
    - (A) one or more partial payments before the commencement of work or the incurring of costs in connection with the production of the articles or the performance of the services, as the case may be; and
    - (B) subsequent progress payments that result in full payment being completed as the required work is being completed.
  - (4) The term "variable costs", with respect to sales of articles or services, means the costs that are expected to fluctuate directly with the volume of sales and—
    - (A) in the case of articles, the volume of production necessary to satisfy the sales orders; or
    - (B) in the case of services, the extent of the services sold.

(Added Pub. L. 103-160, div. A, title I, §158(a)(1), Nov. 30, 1993, 107 Stat. 1581; amended Pub. L. 103-337, div. A, title I, §141, Oct. 5, 1994, 108 Stat. 2688.)

#### §4831. Defense Dual-Use Critical Technology Program

# Formerly §2511

- (a) Establishment of Program.—The Secretary of Defense shall conduct a program to further the national security objectives set forth in section §4811(a) of this title by encouraging and providing for research, development, and application of dual-use critical technologies. The Secretary may make grants, enter into contracts, or enter into cooperative agreements and other transactions pursuant to section 4002 1 of this title in furtherance of the program. The Secretary shall identify projects to be conducted as part of the program.
- (b) Assistance Authorized.—The Secretary of Defense may provide technical and other assistance to facilitate the achievement of the purposes of projects conducted under the program. In providing such assistance, the Secretary shall make available, as appropriate for the work to be performed, equipment and facilities of Department of Defense laboratories (including the scientists and engineers at those laboratories) for purposes of projects selected by the Secretary.
- (c) Financial Commitment of Non-Federal Government Participants.—
  - (1) The total amount of funds provided by the Federal Government for a project conducted under the program may not exceed 50 percent of the total cost of the project. However, the Secretary of Defense may agree to a project in which the total amount of funds provided by the Federal Government exceeds 50 percent if the Secretary determines the project is particularly meritorious, but the project would not otherwise have sufficient non-Federal funding or in-kind contributions.
  - (2) The Secretary may prescribe regulations to provide for consideration of in-kind contributions by non-Federal Government participants in a project conducted under the program for the purpose of calculating the share of the project costs that has been or is being undertaken by such participants. In such regulations, the Secretary may authorize a participant that is a small business concern to use funds received under the Small Business Innovation Research Program or the Small Business Technology Transfer Program to help pay the costs of project activities. Any such funds so used may be considered in calculating the amount of the financial commitment undertaken by the non- Federal Government participants unless the Secretary determines that the small business concern has not made a significant equity percentage contribution in the project from non-Federal sources.
  - (3) The Secretary shall consider a project proposal submitted by a small business concern without regard to the ability of the small business concern to immediately meet its share of the anticipated project costs. Upon the selection of a project proposal submitted by a small business concern, the small business concern shall have a period of not less than 120 days in which to arrange to meet its financial commitment requirements under the project from sources other than a person of a foreign country. If the Secretary determines upon the expiration of that period that the small business concern will be unable to meet its share of the anticipated project costs, the Secretary shall revoke the selection of the project proposal submitted by the small business concern.
- $\textbf{(d)} \ \ \text{Selection Process.} \\ -\text{Competitive procedures shall be used in the conduct of the program.}$
- (e) Selection Criteria.—The criteria for the selection of projects under the program shall include the following:
  - (1) The extent to which the proposed project advances and enhances the national security objectives set forth in section 4811(a) of this title.
  - (2) The technical excellence of the proposed project.
  - (3) The qualifications of the personnel proposed to participate in the research activities of the proposed project.

- (4) An assessment of timely private sector investment in activities to achieve the goals and objectives of the proposed project other than through the project.
- (5) The potential effectiveness of the project in the further development and application of each technology proposed to be developed by the project for the national technology and industrial base.
- (6) The extent of the financial commitment of eligible firms to the proposed project.
- (7) The extent to which the project does not unnecessarily duplicate projects

undertaken by other agencies.

(f) Regulations.—The Secretary of Defense shall prescribe regulations for the purposes of this section.

(Added Pub. L. 102–484, div. D, title XLII, §4221(a), Oct. 23, 1992, 106 Stat. 2677; amended Pub. L. 103–160, div. A, title XIII, §§1315(a), 1317(c), Nov. 30, 1993, 107 Stat. 1787, 1789; Pub. L. 103–337, div. A, title XI, §1115(a), Oct. 5, 1994, 108 Stat. 2868; Pub. L. 104–106, div. A, title X, §1081(c), Feb. 10, 1996, 110 Stat. 452.)

# §4832. Encouragement of Technology Transfer

Formerly §2514

- (a) Encouragement of Transfer Required.—The Secretary of Defense shall encourage, to the extent consistent with national security objectives, the transfer of technology between laboratories and research centers of the Department of Defense and other Federal agencies, State and local governments, colleges and universities, and private persons in cases that are likely to result in accomplishing the objectives set forth in section §4811(a) of this title.
- (b) Examination and Implementation of Methods To Encourage Transfer.—The Secretary shall examine and implement methods, in addition to the encouragement referred to in subsection
  - (a) and the program described in subsection (c), that are consistent with national security objectives and will enable Department of Defense personnel to promote technology transfer.
- (c) Program To Encourage Diversification of Defense Laboratories.—
  - (1) The Secretary of Defense shall establish and implement a program to be known as the Federal Defense Laboratory Diversification Program (hereinafter in this subsection referred to as the "Program"). The purpose of the Program shall be to encourage greater cooperation in research and production activities carried out by defense laboratories and by private industry of the United States in order to enhance and improve the products of such research and production activities.
  - (2) Under the Program, the defense laboratories, in coordination with the Office of Technology Transfer in the Office of the Secretary of Defense, shall carry out cooperative activities with private industry in order to promote (by the use or exchange of patents, licenses, cooperative research and development agreements and other cooperative agreements, and the use of symposia, meetings, and other similar mechanisms) the transfer of defense or dual-use technologies from the defense laboratories to private industry, and the development and application of such technologies by the defense laboratories and private industry, for the purpose of the commercial utilization of such technologies by private industry.

- (3) The Secretary of Defense shall develop and annually update a plan for each defense laboratory that participates in the Program under which plan the laboratory shall carry out cooperative activities with private industry to promote the transfers described in subsection (b).
- (4) In this subsection, the term "defense laboratory" means any laboratory owned or operated by the Department of Defense that carries out research in fiscal year 1993 in an amount in excess of \$50,000,000.

(Added Pub. L. 102-484, div. D, title XLII, §4224(a), Oct. 23, 1992, 106 Stat. 2682;

amended Pub. L. 104–201, div. A, title VIII, §829(f), Sept. 23, 1996, 110 Stat. 2614.)

# §4892. Availability of Samples, Drawings, Information, Equipment, Materials, and Certain Services

Formerly §2539b

- (a) Authority.—The Secretary of Defense and the Secretaries of the military departments, under regulations prescribed by the Secretary of Defense and when determined by the Secretary of Defense or the Secretary concerned to be in the interest of national defense, may each—
  - (1) sell, rent, lend, or give samples, drawings, and manufacturing or other information (subject to the rights of third parties) to any person or entity;
  - (2) sell, rent, or lend government equipment or materials to any person or entity—
    - (A) for use in independent research and development programs, subject to the condition that the equipment or material be used exclusively for such research and development; or
    - (B) for use in demonstrations to a friendly foreign government;
  - (3) make available to any person or entity, at an appropriate fee, the services of any government laboratory, center, range, or other testing facility for the testing of materials, equipment, models, computer software, and other items; and
  - (4) make available to any person or entity, through leases, contracts, or other appropriate arrangements, facilities, services, and equipment of any government laboratory, research center, or range, if the facilities, services, and equipment provided will not be in direct competition with the domestic private sector.
- (b) Confidentiality of Test Results.—The results of tests performed with services made available under subsection (a)(3) are confidential and may not be disclosed outside the Federal Government without the consent of the persons for whom the tests are performed.
- (c) Fees.—Fees made available under subsections (a)(3) and (a)(4) shall be established in the regulations prescribed pursuant to subsection (a). Such fees may not exceed the amount necessary to recoup the direct and indirect costs involved, such as direct costs of utilities, contractor support, and salaries of personnel that are incurred by the United States to provide for the testing.
- (d) Use of Fees.—Fees received under subsections (a)(3) and (a)(4) may be credited to the appropriations or other funds of the activity making such services available.

(Added Pub. L. 103–160, div. A, title VIII, §822(b)(1), Nov. 30, 1993, 107 Stat. 1705, §2541; renumbered §2539b, Pub. L. 103–337, div. A, title X, §1070(a)(13)(A), Oct. 5, 1994, 108 Stat. 2856; amended Pub. L. 103–355, title III, §3022, Oct. 13, 1994, 108 Stat. 3333; Pub.

L. 104–106, div. A, title VIII, §804, div. D, title XLIII, §4321(a)(8), Feb. 10, 1996, 110 Stat. 390, 671; Pub. L. 106–65, div. A, title X, §1066(a)(23), Oct. 5, 1999, 113 Stat. 771; Pub. L. 110–181, div. A, title II, §232, Jan. 28, 2008, 122 Stat. 46.)

# U.S.C. TITLE 16 — CONSERVATION

# CHAPTER 36 — FOREST AND RANGELAND RENEWABLE RESOURCES PLANNING

§1650. Hardwood Technology Transfer and Applied Research

### (a) Authority of Secretary

The Secretary of Agriculture (hereinafter the "Secretary") is hereby and hereafter authorized to conduct technology transfer and development, training, dissemination of information and applied research in the management, processing, and utilization of the hardwood forest resource. This authority is in addition to any other authorities which may be available to the Secretary including, but not limited to, the Cooperative Forestry Assistance Act of 1978, as amended (16 U.S.C. §2101 et seq.), and the Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Act of 1978, as amended (16 U.S.C. §1600-1614).

(b) Grants, contracts, and cooperative agreements; gifts and donations
In carrying out this authority, the Secretary may enter into grants, contracts, and cooperative agreements with public and private agencies, organizations, corporations, institutions and individuals. The Secretary may accept gifts and donations pursuant to section 2269 of title 7 including gifts and donations from a donor that conducts business with any agency of the Department of Agriculture or is regulated

by the Secretary of Agriculture.

# (c) Use of assets of Wood Education and Resource Center; establishment of Institute of Hardwood Technology Transfer and Applied Research

The Secretary is hereby and hereafter authorized to operate and utilize the assets of the Wood Education and Resource Center (previously named the Robert C. Byrd Hardwood Technology Center in West Virginia) as part of a newly formed "Institute of Hardwood Technology Transfer and Applied Research" (hereinafter the "Institute"). The Institute, in addition to the Wood Education and Resource Center, will consist of a Director, technology transfer specialists from State and Private Forestry, the Forestry Sciences Laboratory in Princeton, West Virginia, and any other organizational unit of the Department of Agriculture as the Secretary deems appropriate. The overall management of the Institute will be the responsibility of the Forest Service, State and Private Forestry.

# (d) Generation of revenue; deposit into Hardwood Technology Transfer and Applied Research Fund

The Secretary is hereby and hereafter authorized to generate revenue using the authorities provided herein. Any revenue received as part of the operation of the Institute shall be deposited into a special fund in the Treasury of the United States, known as the "Hardwood Technology Transfer and Applied Research Fund", which shall be available to the Secretary until expended, without further appropriation, in furtherance of the purposes of this section, including upkeep, management, and operation of the Institute and the payment of salaries and expenses.

# (e) Authorization of appropriations

There are hereby and hereafter authorized to be appropriated such sums as necessary to carry out the provisions of this section.

(Pub. L. 106–113, div. B, §1000(a)(3) [title III, §332], Nov. 29, 1999, 113 Stat. 1535, 1501A–197.)

# U.S.C. TITLE 23 — HIGHWAYS

# CHAPTER 5 — RESEARCH, TECHNOLOGY, AND EDUCATION

### §502. Surface Transportation Research, Development, and Technology

- (a) Basic Principles Governing Research and Technology Investments.—
  - (1) Applicability.—The research, development, and technology provisions of this section shall apply throughout this chapter.
  - (2) Coverage.—Surface transportation research and technology development shall include all activities within the innovation lifecycle leading to technology development and transfer, as well as the introduction of new and innovative ideas, practices, and approaches, through such mechanisms as field applications, education and training, communications, impact analysis, and technical support.
  - (3) Federal responsibility.—Funding and conducting surface transportation research and technology transfer activities shall be considered a basic responsibility of the Federal Government when the work—
    - (A) is of national significance;
    - (B) delivers a clear public benefit and occurs where private sector investment is less than optimal;
    - (C) supports a Federal stewardship role in assuring that State and local governments use national resources efficiently;
    - (D) meets and addresses current or emerging needs;
    - (E) addresses current gaps in research;
    - (F) presents the best means to align resources with multiyear plans and priorities;
    - (G) ensures the coordination of highway research and technology transfer activities, including through activities performed by university transportation centers:
    - (H) educates transportation professionals; or
    - (I) presents the best means to support Federal policy goals compared to other policy alternatives.
  - (4) Role.—Consistent with these Federal responsibilities, the Secretary shall-
    - (A) conduct research;
    - (B) partner with State highway agencies and other stakeholders as appropriate to facilitate research and technology transfer activities;
    - (C) communicate the results of ongoing and completed research;
    - (D) lead efforts to coordinate national emphasis areas of highway research, technology, and innovation deployment;
    - (E) leverage partnerships with industry, academia, international entities, and State departments of transportation;
    - (F) lead efforts to reduce unnecessary duplication of effort; and
    - (G) lead efforts to accelerate innovation delivery.
  - (5) Program content.—A surface transportation research program shall include-
    - (A) fundamental, long-term highway research;
    - (B) research aimed at significant highway research gaps and emerging issues with national implications; and

- $({\bf C})$  research related to all highway objectives seeking to improve the performance of the transportation system.
- (6) Stakeholder input.—Federal surface transportation research and development activities shall address the needs of stakeholders. Stakeholders include States, metropolitan planning organizations, local governments, tribal governments, the private sector, researchers, research sponsors, and other affected parties, including public interest groups.
- (7) Competition and peer review.—Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, the Secretary shall award, to the maximum extent practicable, all grants, contracts, and cooperative agreements for research and development under this chapter based on open competition and peer review of proposals.
- (8) Performance review and evaluation.—
  - (A) In general.—To the maximum extent practicable, all surface transportation research and development projects shall include a component of performance measurement and evaluation.
  - (B) Performance measures.—Performance measures shall be established during the proposal stage of a research and development project and shall, to the maximum extent possible, be outcome-based.
  - (C) Program plan.—To the maximum extent practicable, each program pursued under this chapter shall be part of a data-driven, outcome-oriented program plan.
  - (D) Availability of evaluations.—All evaluations under this paragraph shall be made readily available to the public.
- (9) Technological innovation.—The programs and activities carried out under this section shall be consistent with the transportation research and development strategic plan under section §6503 of title 49.
- (b) General Authority.—
  - Research, development, and technology transfer activities.—The Secretary may carry out research, development, and technology transfer activities with respect to—
    - (A) motor carrier transportation;
    - (B) all phases of transportation planning and development (including construction, operation, transportation system management and operations, modernization, development, design, maintenance, safety, financing, and traffic conditions); and
    - (C) the effect of State laws on the activities described in subparagraphs (A) and (B).
  - (2) Tests and development.—The Secretary may test, develop, or assist in testing and developing any material, invention, patented article, or process.
  - (3) Cooperation, grants, and contracts.—The Secretary may carry out research, development, and technology transfer activities related to transportation—
    - (A) independently;
    - (B) in cooperation with other Federal departments, agencies, and instrumentalities and Federal laboratories; or
    - (C) by making grants to, or entering into contracts and cooperative agreements with one or more of the following: the National Academy of Sciences, the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, any Federal laboratory, Federal agency, State agency, authority, association, institution, for-profit or nonprofit corporation, organization, foreign country, or any other person.

- (4) Technological innovation.—The programs and activities carried out under this section shall be consistent with the transportation research and development strategic plan under section §6503 of title 49.
- (5) Funds.—
  - (A) Special account.—In addition to other funds made available to carry out this chapter, the Secretary shall use such funds as may be deposited by any cooperating organization or person in a special account of the Treasury established for this purpose.
  - (B) Use of funds.—The Secretary shall use funds made available to carry out this chapter to develop, administer, communicate, and promote the use of products of research, development, and technology transfer programs under this chapter.
- (6) Pooled funding.—
  - (A) Cooperation.—To promote effective utilization of available resources, the Secretary may cooperate with a State and an appropriate agency in funding research, development, and technology transfer activities of mutual interest on a pooled funds basis.
  - (B) Secretary as agent.—The Secretary may enter into contracts, cooperative agreements, and grants as the agent for all participating parties in carrying out such research, development, or technology transfer activities.
  - (C) Transfer of amounts among states or to federal highway administration.— The Secretary may, at the request of a State, transfer amounts apportioned or allocated to that State under this chapter to another State or the Federal Highway Administration to fund research, development, and technology transfer activities of mutual interest on a pooled funds basis.
  - (D) Transfer of obligation authority.—Obligation authority for amounts transferred under this subsection shall be disbursed in the same manner and for the same amount as provided for the project being transferred.
- (7) Prize competitions.—
  - (A) In general.—The Secretary may use up to 1 percent of the funds made available under section §51001 of the Transportation Research and Innovative Technology Act of 2012 to carry out a program to competitively award cash prizes to stimulate innovation in basic and applied research and technology development that has the potential for application to the national transportation system.
  - (B) Topics.—In selecting topics for prize competitions under this paragraph, the Secretary shall—
    - consult with a wide variety of governmental and nongovernmental representatives; and
    - (ii) give consideration to prize goals that demonstrate innovative approaches and strategies to improve the safety, efficiency, and sustainability of the national transportation system.
  - (C) Advertising.—The Secretary shall encourage participation in the prize competitions through advertising efforts.
  - (D) Requirements and registration.—For each prize competition, the Secretary shall publish a notice on a public website that describes-
    - (i) the subject of the competition;
    - (ii) the eligibility rules for participation in the competition;
    - (iii) the amount of the prize; and
    - (iv) the basis on which a winner will be selected.

- (E) Eligibility.—An individual or entity may not receive a prize under this paragraph unless the individual or entity-
  - (i) has registered to participate in the competition pursuant to any rules promulgated by the Secretary under this section;
  - (ii) has complied with all requirements under this paragraph;

(iii)

- (I) in the case of a private entity, is incorporated in, and maintains a primary place of business in, the United States; or
- (II) in the case of an individual, whether participating singly or in a group, is a citizen or permanent resident of the United States;
- (iv) is not a Federal entity or Federal employee acting within the scope of his or her employment; and
- (v) has not received a grant to perform research on the same issue for which the prize is awarded.

#### (F) Liability.—

- (i) Assumption of risk.—
  - (I) In general.—A registered participant shall agree to assume any and all risks and waive claims against the Federal Government and its related entities, except in the case of willful misconduct, for any injury, death, damage, or loss of property, revenue, or profits, whether direct, indirect, or consequential, arising from participation in a competition, whether such injury, death, damage, or loss arises through negligence or otherwise.
  - (II) Related entity.—In this subparagraph, the term "related entity" means a contractor, subcontractor (at any tier), supplier, user, customer, cooperating party, grantee, investigator, or detailee.
- (ii) Financial responsibility.—A participant shall obtain liability insurance or demonstrate financial responsibility, in amounts determined by the Secretary, for claims by—
  - (I) a third party for death, bodily injury, or property damage, or loss resulting from an activity carried out in connection with participation in a competition, with the Federal Government named as an additional insured under the registered participant's insurance policy and registered participants agreeing to indemnify the Federal Government against third party claims for damages arising from or related to competition activities; and
  - (II) the Federal Government for damage or loss to Government property resulting from such an activity.

#### (G) Judges.—

- (i) Selection.—Subject to clause (iii), for each prize competition, the Secretary, either directly or through an agreement under subparagraph (H), may appoint
  - 1 or more qualified judges to select the winner or winners of the prize competition on the basis of the criteria described in subparagraph (D).
- (ii) Selection.—Judges for each competition shall include individuals from outside the Federal Government, including the private sector.
- (iii) Limitations.—A judge selected under this subparagraph may not-
  - (I) have personal or financial interests in, or be an employee, officer, director, or agent of, any entity that is a registered participant in a prize competition under this paragraph; or

- (II) have a familial or financial relationship with an individual who is a registered participant.
- (H) Administering the competition.—The Secretary may enter into an agreement with a private, nonprofit entity to administer the prize competition, subject to the provisions of this paragraph.
- (I) Funding.—
  - (i) In general.—
    - (I) Private sector funding.—A cash prize under this paragraph may consist of funds appropriated by the Federal Government and funds provided by the private sector.
    - (II) Government funding.—The Secretary may accept funds from other Federal agencies, State and local governments, and metropolitan planning organizations for a cash prize under this paragraph.
    - (III) No special consideration.—The Secretary may not give any special consideration to any private sector entity in return for a donation under this subparagraph.
  - (ii) Availability of funds.—Notwithstanding any other provision of law, amounts appropriated for prize awards under this paragraph—
    - (I) shall remain available until expended; and
    - (II) may not be transferred, reprogrammed, or expended for other purposes until after the expiration of the 10-year period beginning on the last day of the fiscal year for which the funds were originally appropriated.
  - (iii) Savings provision.—Nothing in this subparagraph may be construed to permit the obligation or payment of funds in violation of the Anti-Deficiency Act (31 U.S.C. §1341).
  - (iv) Prize announcement.—A prize may not be announced under this paragraph until all the funds needed to pay out the announced amount of the prize have been appropriated by a governmental source or committed to in writing by a private source.
  - (v) Prize increases.—The Secretary may increase the amount of a prize after the initial announcement of the prize under this paragraph if—
    - (I) notice of the increase is provided in the same manner as the initial notice of the prize; and
    - (II) the funds needed to pay out the announced amount of the increase have been appropriated by a governmental source or committed to in writing by a private source.
  - (vi) Congressional notification.—A prize competition under this paragraph may offer a prize in an amount greater than \$1,000,000 only after 30 days have elapsed after written notice has been transmitted to the Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation of the Senate and the Committees on Transportation and Infrastructure and Science, Space, and Technology of the House of Representatives.
  - (vii) Award limit.—A prize competition under this section may not result in the award of more than \$25,000 in cash prizes without the approval of the Secretary.
- (J) Compliance with existing law.—The Federal Government shall not, by virtue of offering or providing a prize under this paragraph, be responsible for compliance by registered participants in a prize competition with Federal law,

including licensing, export control, and non-proliferation laws, and related regulations.

- (K) Notice and annual report.—
  - (i) In general.—Not later than 30 days prior to carrying out an activity under subparagraph (A), the Secretary shall notify the Committees on Transportation and Infrastructure and Science, Space, and Technology of the House of Representatives and the Committees on Environment and Public Works and Commerce, Science, and Transportation of the Senate of the intent to use such authority.
  - (ii) Reports.—
    - (I) In general.—The Secretary shall submit to the committees described in clause (i) on an annual basis a report on the activities carried out under subparagraph (A) in the preceding fiscal year if the Secretary exercised the authority under subparagraph (A) in that fiscal year.
    - (II) Information included.—A report under this subparagraph shall include, for each prize competition under subparagraph (A)—
      - (aa) description of the proposed goals of the prize competition;
      - (bb) an analysis of why the use of the authority under subparagraph (A) was the preferable method of achieving the goals described in item (aa) as opposed to other authorities available to the Secretary, such as contracts, grants, and cooperative agreements;
      - (cc) the total amount of cash prizes awarded for each prize competition, including a description of the amount of private funds contributed to the program, the source of such funds, and the manner in which the amounts of cash prizes awarded and claimed were allocated among the accounts of the Department for recording as obligations and expenditures;
      - (dd) the methods used for the solicitation and evaluation of submissions under each prize competition, together with an assessment of the effectiveness of such methods and lessons learned for future prize competitions;
      - (ee) a description of the resources, including personnel and funding, used in the execution of each prize competition together with a detailed description of the activities for which such resources were used and an accounting of how funding for execution was allocated among the accounts of the agency for recording as obligations and expenditures; and
      - (ff) a description of how each prize competition advanced the mission of the Department.
- (c) Collaborative Research and Development.—
  - (1) In general.—To encourage innovative solutions to surface transportation problems and stimulate the deployment of new technology, the Secretary may carry out, on a cost-shared basis, collaborative research and development with—
    - (A) non-Federal entities, including State and local governments, foreign governments, colleges and universities, corporations, institutions, partnerships, sole proprietorships, and trade associations that are incorporated or established under the laws of any State; and
    - (B) Federal laboratories.

- (2) Cooperation, grants, contracts, and agreements.—Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the Secretary may directly initiate contracts, cooperative research and development agreements (as defined in section 12 of the Stevenson-Wydler Technology Innovation Act of 1980 (15 U.S.C. §3710a)) to fund, and accept funds from, the Transportation Research Board of the National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences, State departments of transportation, cities, counties, and their agents to conduct joint transportation research and technology efforts.
- (3) Federal share.—
  - (A) In general.—The Federal share of the cost of activities carried out under a cooperative research and development agreement entered into under this chapter shall not exceed 80 percent, except that if there is substantial public interest or benefit, the Secretary may approve a greater Federal share.
  - (B) Non-federal share.—All costs directly incurred by the non-Federal partners, including personnel, travel, and hardware development costs, shall be credited toward the non-Federal share of the cost of the activities described in subparagraph (A).
- (4) Use of technology.—The research, development, or use of a technology under a cooperative research and development agreement entered into under this chapter, including the terms under which the technology may be licensed and the resulting royalties may be distributed, shall be subject to the Stevenson-Wydler Technology Innovation Act of 1980 (15 U.S.C. 3701 et seq.).
- (5) Waiver of advertising requirements.—Section 6101(b) to (d) of title 41 shall not apply to a contract or agreement entered into under this chapter.

(Added Pub. L. 105–178, title V, §5102, June 9, 1998, 112 Stat. 422; amended Pub. L. 109–59, title V, §\$5201(b)–(g), (i)(1), (j)(1), (k), (l), 5202(a)(1), Aug. 10, 2005, 119 Stat. 1781–1785; Pub. L. 110–244, title I, §111(g)(1), June 6, 2008, 122 Stat. 1605; Pub. L. 111–350, §5(e)(2), Jan. 4, 2011, 124 Stat. 3847; Pub. L. 112–141, div. E, title II, §52002(a), July 6, 2012, 126 Stat. 866; Pub. L. 114–94, div. A, title VI, §6019(d)(1)(C), Dec. 4, 2015, 129 Stat. 1581.)

# U.S.C. TITLE 42 — THE PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELFARE

# CHAPTER 6A — PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE §241. Research and Investigations Generally [an excerpt]

# (a) Authority of Secretary [of Health and Human Services]

The Secretary shall conduct in the Service, and encourage, cooperate with, and render assistance to other appropriate public authorities, scientific institutions, and scientists in the conduct of, and promote the coordination of, research, investigations, experiments, demonstrations, and studies relating to the causes, diagnosis, treatment, control, and prevention of physical and mental diseases and impairments of man, including water purification, sewage treatment, and pollution of lakes and streams.

# §282. Director of National Institutes of Health [an excerpt]

# (a) Appointment

The National Institutes of Health shall be headed by the Director of NIH who shall be appointed by the President by and with the advice and consent of the Senate. The Director of NIH shall perform functions as provided under subsection and as the Secretary may otherwise prescribe.

# (c) Availability of substances and organisms for research

The Director of NIH may make available to individuals and entities, for biomedical and behavioral research, substances and living organisms. Such substances and organisms shall be made available under such terms and conditions (including payment for them) as the Secretary determines appropriate.

### (e) Dissemination of research information

The Director of NIH shall—

- (1) advise the agencies of the National Institutes of Health on medical applications of research;
- (2) coordinate, review, and facilitate the systematic identification and evaluation of, clinically relevant information from research conducted by or through the national research institutes:
- (3) promote the effective transfer of the information described in paragraph (2) to the health care community and to entities that require such information;
- (4) monitor the effectiveness of the activities described in paragraph (3); and
- (5) ensure that, after January 1, 1994, all new or revised health education and promotion materials developed or funded by the National Institutes of Health and intended for the general public are in a form that does not exceed a level of functional literacy, as defined in the National Literacy Act of 1991 (Public Law 102-73).

# §283q. Eureka Prize Competitions

### (a) In general

Pursuant to the authorities and processes established under section 3719 of title 15, the Director of the National Institutes of Health shall support prize competitions for one or both of the following goals:

- (1) Identifying and funding areas of biomedical science that could realize significant advancements through a prize competition.
- (2) Improving health outcomes, particularly with respect to human diseases and conditions—
  - (A) for which public and private investment in research is disproportionately small relative to Federal Government expenditures on prevention and treatment activities with respect to such diseases and conditions, such that Federal expenditures on health programs would be reduced;
  - (B) that are serious and represent a significant disease burden in the United States; or
  - (C) for which there is potential for significant return on investment to the United States.

# (b) Tracking; reporting

The Director of the National Institutes of Health shall—

- (1) collect information on—
  - (A) the effect of innovations funded through the prize competitions under this section in advancing biomedical science or improving health outcomes pursuant to subsection (a); and
  - (B) the effect of the innovations on Federal expenditures; and
- (2) include the information collected under paragraph (1) in the triennial report under section 283 of this title (as amended by section §2032).

(Pub. L. 114-255, div. A, title II, §2002, Dec. 13, 2016, 130 Stat. 1047.)

# §284. Directors of National Research Institutes [an excerpt]

## (a) Appointment

(1) In general

The Director of the National Cancer Institute shall be appointed by the President, and the Directors of the other national research institutes and national centers shall be appointed by the Secretary, acting through the Director of National Institutes of Health. Each Director of a national research institute or national center shall report directly to the Director of National Institutes of Health.

#### (b) Duties and authority; grants, contracts, and cooperative agreements

- (1) In carrying out the purposes of section §241 of this title with respect to human diseases or disorders or other aspects of human health for which the national research institutes were established, the Secretary, acting through the Director of each national research institute—
  - (A) shall encourage and support research, investigations, experiments, demonstrations, and studies in the health sciences related to—
    - (i) the maintenance of health,
    - (ii) the detection, diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of human diseases and disorders,
    - (iii) the rehabilitation of individuals with human diseases, disorders, and disabilities, and
    - (iv) the expansion of knowledge of the processes underlying human diseases, disorders, and disabilities, the processes underlying the normal and pathological functioning of the body and its organ systems, and the processes underlying the interactions between the human organism and the environment;
  - (B) may, subject to the peer review prescribed under section 289a(b) of this title and any advisory council review under section §284a(a)(3)(A)(i) of this title, conduct the research, investigations, experiments, demonstrations, and studies referred to in subparagraph (A);

- (C) shall, as appropriate, conduct and support research that has the potential to transform the scientific field, has inherently higher risk, and that seeks to address major current challenges;
- (D) may conduct and support research training (i) for which fellowship support is not provided under section 288 of this title, and (ii) which is not residency training of physicians or other health professionals;
- (E) may develop, implement, and support demonstrations and programs for the application of the results of the activities of the institute to clinical practice and disease prevention activities;
- (F) may develop, conduct, and support public and professional education and information programs;
- (G) may secure, develop and maintain, distribute, and support the development and maintenance of resources needed for research:
- (H) may make available the facilities of the institute to appropriate entities and individuals engaged in research activities and cooperate with and assist Federal and State agencies charged with protecting the public health;
- (I) may accept unconditional gifts made to the institute for its activities, and, in the case of gifts of a value in excess of \$50,000, establish suitable memorials to the donor:
- (J) may secure for the institute consultation services and advice of persons from the United States or abroad;
- (K) may use, with their consent, the services, equipment, personnel, information, and facilities of other Federal, State, or local public agencies, with or without reimbursement therefor;
- (L) may accept voluntary and uncompensated services; and
- (M) may perform such other functions as the Secretary determines are needed to carry out effectively the purposes of the institute.

(July 1, 1944, ch. 373, title IV, §405, as added Pub. L. 99–158, §2, Nov. 20, 1985, 99 Stat. 826; amended Pub. L. 100–607, title I, §116, Nov. 4, 1988, 102 Stat. 3053; Pub. L. 100–690, title II, §2613(c), Nov. 18, 1988, 102 Stat. 4239; Pub. L. 103–43, title III, §301(a)(1), (b), June 10, 1993, 107 Stat. 150; Pub. L. 109–482, title I, §102(f)(1)(B), Jan. 15, 2007, 120 Stat. 3685; Pub. L. 114–255, div. A, title II, §\$2033(a), (b), 2036(c), Dec. 13, 2016, 130 Stat. 1057, 1058, 1063.)

# CHAPTER 23 — DEVELOPMENT AND CONTROL OF ATOMIC ENERGY

§2053. Research for Others; Charges

Where the [Nuclear Regulatory] Commission finds private facilities or laboratories are inadequate for the purpose, it is authorized to conduct for other persons, through its own facilities, such of those activities and studies of the types specified in section 2051 of this title as it deems appropriate to the development of energy. To the extent the Commission determines that private facilities or laboratories are inadequate for the purpose, and that the Commission's facilities, or scientific or technical resources have the potential of lending significant assistance to other persons in the fields of protection of public health and safety, the Commission may also assist other persons in these fields by conducting for such persons, through the Commission's own facilities, research and development or training activities and

studies. The Commission is authorized to determine and make such charges as in its discretion may be desirable for the conduct of the activities and studies referred to in this section.

(Aug. 1, 1946, ch. 724, title I, §33, as added Aug. 30, 1954, ch. 1073, §1, 68 Stat. 928; amended Pub. L. 90–190, §7, Dec. 14, 1967, 81 Stat. 577; Pub. L. 92–84, title II, §201(b), Aug. 11, 1971, 85 Stat. 307; renumbered title I, Pub. L. 102–486, title IX, §902(a)(8), Oct. 24, 1992, 106 Stat. 2944.)

#### CHAPTER 84 — DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

#### §7261. Acquisition of Copyrights, Patents, etc.

The Secretary is authorized to acquire any of the following described rights if the property acquired thereby is for use by or for, or useful to, the Department:

- (1) copyrights, patents, and applications for patents, designs, processes, and manufacturing data;
- (2) licenses under copyrights, patents, and applications for patents; and
- (3) releases, before suit is brought, for past infringement of patents or copyrights.

(Pub. L. 95-91, title VI, §651, Aug. 4, 1977, 91 Stat. 601.)

#### CHAPTER 149 — NATIONAL ENERGY POLICY AND PROGRAMS

#### §16358. Strategic Research Portfolio Analysis and Coordination Plan

(a) In general

The Secretary shall periodically review all of the science and technology activities of the Department in a strategic framework that takes into account—

- (1) the frontiers of science to which the Department can contribute;
- (2) the national needs relevant to the statutory missions of the Department; and
- (3) global energy dynamics.
- (b) Coordination analysis and plan
  - (1) In general

As part of the review under subsection (a), the Secretary shall develop a plan to improve coordination and collaboration in research, development, demonstration, and commercial application activities across organizational boundaries of the Department.

(2) Plan contents

The plan developed under paragraph (1) shall describe—

- (A) crosscutting scientific and technical issues and research questions that span more than one program or major office of the Department;
- (B) ways in which the applied technology programs of the Department are coordinating activities and addressing the questions referred to in subparagraph (A);
- (C) ways in which the technical interchange within the Department, particularly between the Office of Science and the applied technology programs, could be enhanced, including ways in which the research agendas of the Office of Science and the applied programs could better interact and assist each other;

- (D) ways in which the Secretary would ensure that the overall research agenda of the Department includes, in addition to fundamental, curiosity-driven research, fundamental research related to topics of concern to the applied programs, and applications in Departmental technology programs of research results generated by fundamental, curiosity-driven research;
- (E) critical assessments of any ongoing programs that have experienced subpar performance or cost overruns of 10 percent or more over 1 or more years;
- (F) any activities that may be more effectively left to the States, industry, nongovernmental organizations, institutions of higher education, or other stakeholders; and
- (G) detailed evaluations and proposals for innovation hubs, institutes, and research centers of the Department, including—
  - (i) an affirmation that the hubs, institutes, and research centers will—
    - (I) advance the mission of the Department; and
    - (II) prioritize research, development, and demonstration; and
  - (ii) an affirmation that any hubs, institutes, or research centers that are established or renewed within the Office of Science are consistent with the mission of the Office of Science described in subsection (c) of section §7139 of this title.
- (c) Submission to Congress

Every 4 years, the Secretary shall submit to Congress—

- (1) the results of the review under subsection (a); and
- (2) the coordination plan under subsection (b).

(Pub. L. 109–58, title IX, §994, Aug. 8, 2005, 119 Stat. 914.)

#### §16391. Improved Technology Transfer of Energy Technologies

- (a) Office of Technology Transitions
  - (1) Establishment

There is established within the Department an Office of Technology Transitions (referred to in this section as the "Office").

(2) Mission

The mission of the Office shall be-

- (A) to expand the commercial impact of the research investments of the Department; and
- (B) to focus on commercializing technologies that support the missions of the Department, including reducing greenhouse gas emissions and other pollutants.
- (3) Goals
  - (A) In general

In carrying out the mission and activities of the Office, the Chief Commercialization Officer appointed under paragraph (4) shall, with respect to commercialization activities, meet all of the goals described in subparagraph (B).

(B) Goals described

The goals referred to in subparagraph (A) are the following:

- (i) Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and other pollutants.
- (ii) Ensuring economic competitiveness.
- (iii) Enhancement of domestic energy security and national security.

#### (iv) Enhancement of domestic jobs.

- (v) Improvement of energy efficiency.
- (vi) Any other goals to support the transfer of technology developed by Department- funded programs to the private sector, as consistent with missions of the Department.

#### (4) Chief Commercialization Officer

- (A) In general The Office shall be headed by an officer, who shall be known as the "Chief Commercialization Officer", and who shall report directly to, and be appointed by, the Secretary.
- (B) Principal advisor

The Chief Commercialization Officer shall be the principal advisor to the Secretary on all matters relating to technology transfer and commercialization.

(C) Qualifications

The Chief Commercialization Officer shall be an individual who, by reason of professional background and experience, is specially qualified to advise the Secretary on matters pertaining to technology transfer at the Department.

(D) Duties

The Chief Commercialization Officer shall oversee—

- (i) the activities of the Technology Transfer Working Group established under subsection (b);
- (ii) the expenditure of funds allocated for technology transfer within the Department;
- (iii) the activities of each technology partnership ombudsman appointed under section 7261c of this title; and
- (iv) efforts to engage private sector entities, including venture capital companies.
- (5) Coordination

In carrying out the mission and activities of the Office, the Chief Commercialization Officer shall coordinate with the senior leadership of the Department, other relevant program offices of the Department, National Laboratories, the Technology Transfer Working Group established under subsection (b), the Technology Transfer Policy Board, and other stakeholders (including private industry).

#### (b) Technology Transfer Working Group

The Secretary shall establish a Technology Transfer Working Group, which shall consist of representatives of the National Laboratories and single-purpose research facilities, to—

- (1) coordinate technology transfer activities occurring at National Laboratories and single- purpose research facilities;
- (2) exchange information about technology transfer practices, including alternative approaches to resolution of disputes involving intellectual property rights and other technology transfer matters; and
- (3) develop and disseminate to the public and prospective technology partners information about opportunities and procedures for technology transfer with the Department, including opportunities and procedures related to alternative approaches to resolution of disputes involving intellectual property rights and other technology transfer matters.

#### (c) Technology Commercialization Fund

The Secretary shall establish an Energy Technology Commercialization Fund, using 0.9 percent of the amount made available to the Department for applied energy

research, development, demonstration, and commercial application for each fiscal year based on future planned activities and the amount of the appropriations for the fiscal year, to be used to provide matching funds with private partners to promote promising energy technologies for commercial purposes.

#### (d) Technology transfer responsibility

Nothing in this section affects the technology transfer responsibilities of Federal employees under the Stevenson-Wydler Technology Innovation Act of 1980 (15 U.S.C. 3701 et seg.).

#### (e) Technology Commercialization Fund

#### (1) Establishment

The Secretary, acting through the Chief Commercialization Officer established in subsection (a), shall establish a Technology Commercialization Fund (hereafter referred to as the "Fund"), using nine-tenths of one percent of the amount of appropriations made available to the Department for applied energy research, development, demonstration, and commercial application for each fiscal year, to be used to provide, in accordance with the cost-sharing requirements under section 16352 of this title, funds to private partners.

including national laboratories, to promote promising energy technologies for commercial purposes.

#### (2) Applications

#### (A) Considerations

The Secretary shall develop criteria for evaluating applications for funding under this section, which may include—

- (i) the potential that a proposed technology will result in a commercially successful product within a reasonable timeframe; and
- (ii) the relative maturity of a proposed technology for commercial application.

#### (B) Selections

In awarding funds under this section, the Secretary may give special consideration to applications that involve at least one applicant that has participated in an entrepreneurial or commercialization training program, such as Energy Innovation Corps.

#### (f) Annual report

The Secretary shall include in the annual report required under section §16391a(a) of this title—

- (1) description of the projects carried out with awards from the Fund for that fiscal year;
- (2) each project's cost-share for that fiscal year; and
- (3) each project's partners for that fiscal year.

#### (g) Technology commercialization fund report

#### (1) In general

Not later than 1 year after December 27, 2020, the Secretary shall submit to the Committee on Science, Space, and Technology and Committee on Appropriations of the House of Representatives and the Committee on Energy and Natural Resources and Committee on Appropriations of the Senate a report on the current and recommended implementation of the Fund.

#### (2) Contents

The report under subparagraph (A) shall include—

- (A) a summary, with supporting data, of how much Department program offices contribute to and use the Fund each year, including a list of current funding restrictions;
- (B) recommendations on how to improve implementation and administration of the Fund; and

(C) an analysis on how to spend funds optimally on technology areas that have the greatest need and opportunity for commercial application, rather than spending funds at the programmatic level or under current funding restrictions.

#### (h) Planning and reporting

#### (1) In general

Not later than 180 days after August 8, 2005, the Secretary shall submit to Congress a technology transfer execution plan.

#### (2) Updates

Each year after the submission of the plan under paragraph (1), the Secretary shall submit to Congress an updated execution plan and reports that describe progress toward meeting goals set forth in the execution plan and the funds expended under subsection (c).

#### (i) Additional technology transfer programs

The Secretary may develop additional programs to—

- (1) support regional energy innovation systems;
- (2) support clean energy incubators;
- (3) provide small business vouchers;
- (4) provide financial and technical assistance for entrepreneurial fellowships at national laboratories;
- (5) encourage students, energy researchers, and national laboratory employees to develop entrepreneurial skillsets and engage in entrepreneurial opportunities;
- (6) support private companies and individuals in partnering with National Laboratories; and
- (7) further support the mission and goals of the Office.

( Pub. L. 109–58, title X, §1001, Aug. 8, 2005, 119 Stat. 926; Pub. L. 113–291, div. C, title XXXI, §3144, Dec. 19, 2014, 128 Stat. 3902.)

#### §16396. Prizes for Achievement in Grand Challenges of Science and Technology

#### (a) Authority

The Secretary may carry out a program to award cash prizes in recognition of breakthrough achievements in research, development, demonstration, and commercial application that have the potential for application to the performance of the mission of the Department.

#### (b) Competition requirements

The program under subsection (a) may include prizes for the achievement of goals articulated by the Secretary in a specific area through a widely advertised solicitation of submission of results for research, development, demonstration, or commercial application projects.

#### (c) Prizes for processes and technologies to reduce dependence on imported oil

The Secretary, in cooperation with the Freedom Prize Foundation, shall support a program of awarding prizes, to be known as Freedom Prizes, to encourage and recognize the development and deployment of processes and technologies that serve to reduce the dependence of the United States on imported oil.

#### (d) Relationship to other authority

The program under subsection (a) may be carried out in conjunction with or in addition to the exercise of any other authority of the Secretary to acquire, support, or stimulate research, development, demonstration, or commercial application projects.

#### (e) Coordination

In carrying out subsection (a), and for any prize competitions under section 105 of the America Creating Opportunities to Meaningfully Promote Excellence in Technology, Education, and Science Reauthorization Act of 2010, the Secretary shall—

- (1) issue Department-wide guidance on the design, development, and implementation of prize competitions;
- (2) collect and disseminate best practices on the design and administration of prize competitions;
- (3) streamline contracting mechanisms for the implementation of prize competitions; and
- (4) provide training and prize competition design support, as necessary, to Department staff to develop prize competitions and challenges.

#### (f) Authorization of appropriations

There are authorized to be appropriated—

- (1) \$10,000,000 to carry out the program under subsection (a); and
- (2) \$5,000,000 to carry out the program under subsection (c).

#### (g) H-prize

- (1) Prize authority
  - (A) In general

As part of the program under this section, the Secretary shall carry out a program to competitively award cash prizes in conformity with this subsection to advance the research, development, demonstration, and commercial application of hydrogen energy technologies.

- (B) Advertising and solicitation of competitors
  - (i) Advertising

The Secretary shall widely advertise prize competitions under this subsection to encourage broad participation, including by individuals, universities (including historically Black colleges and universities and other minority serving institutions), and large and small businesses (including businesses owned or controlled by socially and economically disadvantaged persons).

(ii) Announcement through Federal Register notice

The Secretary shall announce each prize competition under this subsection by publishing a notice in the Federal Register. This notice shall include essential elements of the competition such as the subject of the competition, the duration of the competition, the eligibility requirements for participation in the competition, the process for participants to register for the competition, the amount of the prize, and the criteria for awarding the prize.

#### (C) Administering the competitions

The Secretary shall enter into an agreement with a private, nonprofit entity to administer the prize competitions under this subsection, subject to the provisions of this subsection (in this subsection referred to as the "administering entity"). The duties of the administering entity under the agreement shall include—

(i) advertising prize competitions under this subsection and their results;

- (ii) raising funds from private entities and individuals to pay for administrative costs and to contribute to cash prizes, including funds provided in exchange for the right to name a prize awarded under this subsection;
- (iii) developing, in consultation with and subject to the final approval of the Secretary, the criteria for selecting winners in prize competitions under this subsection, based on goals provided by the Secretary;
- (iv) determining, in consultation with the Secretary, the appropriate amount and funding sources for each prize to be awarded under this subsection, subject to the final approval of the Secretary with respect to Federal funding;
- (v) providing advice and consultation to the Secretary on the selection of judges in accordance with paragraph (2)(D), using criteria developed in consultation with and subject to the final approval of the Secretary; and
- (vi) protecting against the administering entity's unauthorized use or disclosure of a registered participant's trade secrets and confidential business information. Any information properly identified as trade secrets or confidential business information that is submitted by a participant as part of a competitive program under this subsection may be withheld from public disclosure.

#### (D) Funding sources

Prizes under this subsection shall consist of Federal appropriated funds and any funds provided by the administering entity (including funds raised pursuant to subparagraph (C)(ii)) for such cash prize programs. The Secretary may accept funds from other Federal agencies for such cash prizes and, notwithstanding section 3302(b) of title 31, may use such funds for the cash prize program under this subsection. Other than publication of the names of prize sponsors, the Secretary may not give any special consideration to any private sector entity or individual in return for a donation to the Secretary or administering entity.

#### (E) Announcement of prizes

The Secretary may not issue a notice required by subparagraph (B)(ii) until all the funds needed to pay out the announced amount of the prize have been appropriated or committed in writing by the administering entity. The Secretary may increase the amount of a prize after an initial announcement is made under subparagraph (B)(ii) if—

- (i) notice of the increase is provided in the same manner as the initial notice of the prize; and
- (ii) the funds needed to pay out the announced amount of the increase have been appropriated or committed in writing by the administering entity.

#### (F) Sunset

The authority to announce prize competitions under this subsection shall terminate on September 30, 2018.

#### (2) Prize categories

#### (A) Categories

The Secretary shall establish prizes under this subsection for—

- (i) advancements in technologies, components, or systems related to—
  - (I) hydrogen production;
  - (II) hydrogen storage;
  - (III) hydrogen distribution; and
  - (IV) hydrogen utilization;

- (ii) prototypes of hydrogen-powered vehicles or other hydrogen-based products that best meet or exceed objective performance criteria, such as completion
- (iii) of a race over a certain distance or terrain or generation of energy at certain levels of efficiency; and
- (iv) transformational changes in technologies for the distribution or production of hydrogen that meet or exceed far-reaching objective criteria, which shall include minimal carbon emissions and which may include cost criteria designed to facilitate the eventual market success of a winning technology.

#### (B) Awards

#### (i) Advancements

To the extent permitted under paragraph (1)(E), the prizes authorized under subparagraph (A)(i) shall be awarded biennially to the most significant advance made in each of the four subcategories described in subclauses (I) through (IV) of subparagraph (A)(i) since the submission deadline of the previous prize competition in the same category under subparagraph (A)(i) or December 19, 2007, whichever is later, unless no such advance is significant enough to merit an award. No one such prize may exceed \$1,000,000. If less than \$4,000,000 is available for a prize competition under subparagraph (A)(i), the Secretary may omit one or more subcategories, reduce the amount of the prizes, or not hold a prize competition.

#### (ii) Prototypes

To the extent permitted under paragraph (1)(E), prizes authorized under subparagraph (A)(ii) shall be awarded biennially in alternate years from the prizes authorized under subparagraph (A)(i). The Secretary is authorized to award up to one prize in this category in each 2-year period. No such prize may exceed \$4,000,000. If no registered participants meet the objective performance criteria established pursuant to subparagraph (C) for a competition under this clause, the Secretary shall not award a prize.

#### (iii) Transformational technologies

To the extent permitted under paragraph (1)(E), the Secretary shall announce one prize competition authorized under subparagraph (A)(iii) as soon after December 19, 2007, as is practicable. A prize offered under this clause shall be not less than \$10,000,000, paid to the winner in a lump sum, and an additional amount paid to the winner as a match for each dollar of private funding raised by the winner for the hydrogen technology beginning on the date the winner was named. The match shall be provided for 3 years after the date the prize winner is named or until the full amount of the prize has been paid out, whichever occurs first. A prize winner may elect to have the match amount paid to another entity that is continuing the development of the winning technology. The Secretary shall announce the rules for receiving the match in the notice required by paragraph (1)(B)(ii). The Secretary shall award a prize under this clause only when a registered participant has met the objective criteria established for the prize pursuant to subparagraph (C) and announced pursuant to paragraph (1)(B)(ii). Not more than \$10,000,000 in Federal funds may be used for the prize award under this clause. The administering entity shall seek to raise \$40,000,000 toward the matching award under this clause.

#### (C) Criteria

In establishing the criteria required by this subsection, the Secretary—

- (i) shall consult with the Department's Hydrogen Technical and Fuel Cell Advisory Committee;
- (ii) shall consult with other Federal agencies, including the National Science Foundation; and
- (iii) may consult with other experts such as private organizations, including professional societies, industry associations, and the National Academy of Sciences and the National Academy of Engineering.

#### (D) Judges

For each prize competition under this subsection, the Secretary in consultation with the administering entity shall assemble a panel of qualified judges to select the winner or winners on the basis of the criteria established under subparagraph (C). Judges for each prize competition shall include individuals from outside the Department, including from the private sector. A judge, spouse, minor children, and members of the judge's household may not—

- (i) have personal or financial interests in, or be an employee, officer, director, or agent of, any entity that is a registered participant in the prize competition for which he or she will serve as a judge; or
- (ii) have a familial or financial relationship with an individual who is a registered participant in the prize competition for which he or she will serve as a judge.

#### (3) Eligibility

To be eligible to win a prize under this subsection, an individual or entity—

- (A) shall have complied with all the requirements in accordance with the Federal Register notice required under paragraph (1)(B)(ii);
- (B) in the case of a private entity, shall be incorporated in and maintain a primary place of business in the United States, and in the case of an individual, whether participating singly or in a group, shall be a citizen of, or an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence in, the United States; and
- (C) shall not be a Federal entity, a Federal employee acting within the scope of his employment, or an employee of a national laboratory acting within the scope of his employment.

#### (4) Intellectual property

The Federal Government shall not, by virtue of offering or awarding a prize under this subsection, be entitled to any intellectual property rights derived as a consequence of, or direct relation to, the participation by a registered participant in a competition authorized by this subsection. This paragraph shall not be construed to prevent the Federal Government from negotiating a license for the use of intellectual property developed for a prize competition under this subsection.

#### (5) Liability

#### (A) Waiver of liability

The Secretary may require registered participants to waive claims against the Federal Government and the administering entity (except claims for willful misconduct) for any injury, death, damage, or loss of property, revenue, or profits arising from the registered participants' participation in a competition under this subsection. The Secretary shall give notice of any waiver required under this subparagraph in the notice required by paragraph (1)(B)(ii). The Secretary may not require a registered participant to waive claims against

the administering entity arising out of the unauthorized use or disclosure by the administering entity of the registered participant's trade secrets or confidential business information.

#### (B) Liability insurance

#### (i) Requirements

Registered participants in a prize competition under this subsection shall be required to obtain liability insurance or demonstrate financial responsibility, in amounts determined by the Secretary, for claims by—

- (I) a third party for death, bodily injury, or property damage or loss resulting from an activity carried out in connection with participation in a competition under this subsection; and
- (II) the Federal Government for damage or loss to Government property resulting from such an activity.

#### (ii) Federal Government insured

The Federal Government shall be named as an additional insured under a registered participant's insurance policy required under clause (i)(I), and registered participants shall be required to agree to indemnify the Federal Government against third party claims for damages arising from or related to competition activities under this subsection.

#### (6) Report to Congress

Not later than 60 days after the awarding of the first prize under this subsection, and annually thereafter, the Secretary shall transmit to the Congress a report that—

- (A) identifies each award recipient;
- (B) describes the technologies developed by each award recipient; and
- (C) specifies actions being taken toward commercial application of all technologies with respect to which a prize has been awarded under this subsection.
- (7) Authorization of appropriations
  - (A) In general
    - (i) Awards

There are authorized to be appropriated to the Secretary for the period encompassing fiscal years 2008 through 2017 for carrying out this subsection—

- (I) \$20,000,000 for awards described in paragraph (2)(A)(i);
- (II) \$20,000,000 for awards described in paragraph (2)(A)(ii); and
- (III) \$10,000,000 for the award described in paragraph (2)(A)(iii).
- (ii) Administration

In addition to the amounts authorized in clause (i), there are authorized to be appropriated to the Secretary for each of fiscal years 2008 and 2009 \$2,000,000 for the administrative costs of carrying out this subsection.

#### (B) Carryover of funds

Funds appropriated for prize awards under this subsection shall remain available until expended, and may be transferred, reprogrammed, or expended for other purposes only after the expiration of 10 fiscal years after the fiscal year for which the funds were originally appropriated. No provision in this subsection permits obligation or payment of funds in violation of section 1341 of title 31 (commonly referred to as the Anti- Deficiency Act).

#### (8) Nonsubstitution

The programs created under this subsection shall not be considered a substitute for Federal research and development programs.

(Pub. L. 109–58, title X, §1008, Aug. 8, 2005, 119 Stat. 933; Pub. L. 110–140, title VI, §654, Dec. 19, 2007, 121 Stat. 1695.)

#### §16538. Advanced Research Projects Agency-Energy

#### (a) Definitions

In this section:

(1) ARPA-E

The term "ARPA-E" means the Advanced Research Projects Agency—Energy established by subsection (b).

(2) Director

The term "Director" means the Director of ARPA-E appointed under subsection (d).

(3) Fund

The term "Fund" means the Energy Transformation Acceleration Fund established under subsection (o)(1).

#### (b) Establishment

There is established the Advanced Research Projects Agency—Energy within the Department to overcome the long-term and high-risk technological barriers in the development of transformative science and technology solutions to address the energy and environmental missions of the Department.

#### (c) Goals

(1) In general

The goals of ARPA-E shall be-

- (A) to enhance the economic and energy security of the United States through the development of energy technologies that—
  - (i) reduce imports of energy from foreign sources;
  - (ii) reduce energy-related emissions, including greenhouse gases;
  - (iii) improve the energy efficiency of all economic sectors;
  - (iv) provide transformative solutions to improve the management, clean-up, and disposal of radioactive waste and spent nuclear fuel; and
  - (v) improve the resilience, reliability, and security of infrastructure to produce, deliver, and store energy; and
- (B) to ensure that the United States maintains a technological lead in developing and deploying advanced energy technologies.

#### (2) Means

ARPA-E shall achieve the goals established under paragraph (1) through advanced technology projects by—

- (A) identifying and promoting revolutionary advances in fundamental and applied sciences;
- (B) translating scientific discoveries and cutting-edge inventions into technological innovations; and
- (C) accelerating transformational technological advances in areas that industry by itself is not likely to undertake because of technical and financial uncertainty.

#### (d) Director

(1) Appointment

There shall be in the Department of Energy a Director of ARPA-E, who shall be appointed by the President, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate.

(2) Qualifications

The Director shall be an individual who, by reason of professional background and experience, is especially qualified to advise the Secretary on, and manage

research programs addressing, matters pertaining to long-term and high-risk technological barriers to the development of energy technologies.

(3) Relationship to Secretary

The Director shall report to the Secretary.

(4) Relationship to other programs

No other programs within the Department shall report to the Director.

#### (e) Responsibilities

The responsibilities of the Director shall include—

- (1) approving all new programs within ARPA-E;
- developing funding criteria and assessing the success of programs through the establishment of technical milestones;
- (3) administering the Fund through awards to institutions of higher education, companies, research foundations, trade and industry research collaborations, or consortia of such entities, which may include federally-funded research and development centers, to achieve the goals described in subsection (c) through targeted acceleration of—
  - (A) novel early-stage research with possible technology applications;
  - (B) development of techniques, processes, and technologies, and related testing and evaluation;
  - (C) research and development of advanced manufacturing process and technologies for the domestic manufacturing of novel energy technologies; and
  - (D) coordination with nongovernmental entities for demonstration of technologies and research applications to facilitate technology transfer;
- (4) terminating programs carried out under this section that are not achieving the goals of the programs; and
- (5) pursuant to subsection (c)(2)(C)—
  - (A) ensuring that applications for funding disclose the extent of current and prior efforts, including monetary investments as appropriate, in pursuit of the technology area for which funding is being requested:
  - (B) adopting measures to ensure that, in making awards, program managers adhere to the purposes of subsection (c)(2)(C); and
  - (C) providing as part of the annual report required by subsection (h)(1) a summary of the instances of and reasons for ARPA-E funding projects in technology areas already being undertaken by industry.

#### (f) Awards

In carrying out this section, the Director may provide awards in the form of grants, contracts, cooperative agreements, cash prizes, and other transactions.

#### (g) Personnel

(1) In general

The Director shall establish and maintain within ARPA-E a staff with sufficient qualifications and expertise to enable ARPA-E to carry out the responsibilities of ARPA-E under this section in conjunction with other operations of the Department.

- (2) Program directors
  - (A) In general

The Director shall designate employees to serve as program directors for the programs established pursuant to the responsibilities established for ARPA-E under subsection (e).

(B) Responsibilities

A program director of a program shall be responsible for—

- establishing research and development goals for the program, including through the convening of workshops and conferring with outside experts, and publicizing the goals of the program to the public and private sectors;
- (ii) soliciting applications for specific areas of particular promise, especially areas that the private sector or the Federal Government are not likely to undertake alone:
- (iii) building research collaborations for carrying out the program;
- (iv) selecting on the basis of merit each of the projects to be supported under the program after considering—
  - (I) the novelty and scientific and technical merit of the proposed projects;
  - (II) the demonstrated capabilities of the applicants to successfully carry out the proposed project;
  - (III) the consideration by the applicant of future commercial applications of the project, including the feasibility of partnering with 1 or more commercial entities: and
  - (IV) such other criteria as are established by the Director;
- (v) identifying innovative cost-sharing arrangements for ARPA-E projects, including through use of the authority provided under section 16352(b)(3) of this title;
- (vi) monitoring the progress of projects supported under the program;
- (vii) identifying mechanisms for commercial application of successful energy technology development projects, including through establishment of partnerships between awardees and commercial entities; and
- (viii) recommending program restructure or termination of research partnerships or whole projects.
- (C) Term

The term of a program manager shall be not more than 3 years and may be renewed.

- (3) Hiring and management
  - (A) In general

The Director shall have the authority to—

- (i) make appointments of scientific, engineering, and professional personnel without regard to the civil service laws;
- (ii) fix the basic pay of such personnel at a rate to be determined by the Director at rates not in excess of Level II of the Executive Schedule (EX-II) without regard to the civil service laws; and
- (iii) pay any employee appointed under this subparagraph payments in addition to basic pay, except that the total amount of additional payments paid to an employee under this subparagraph for any 12-month period shall not exceed the least of the following amounts:
  - (I) \$25,000.
  - (II) The amount equal to 25 percent of the annual rate of basic pay of the employee.
  - (III) The amount of the limitation that is applicable for a calendar year under section §5307(a)(1) of title 5.
- (B) Number

The Director shall appoint not more than 120 personnel under this section.

(C) Private recruiting firms

The Secretary, or the Director serving as an agent of the Secretary, may contract with private recruiting firms for the hiring of qualified technical staff to carry out this section.

#### (D) Additional staff

The Director may use all authorities in existence on August 9, 2007, that are provided to the Secretary to hire administrative, financial, and clerical staff as necessary to carry out this section.

#### (h) Reports and roadmaps

#### (1) Annual report

As part of the annual budget request submitted for each fiscal year, the Director shall provide to the relevant authorizing and appropriations committees of Congress a report that—

- (A) describes projects supported by ARPA-E during the previous fiscal year;
- (B) describes projects supported by ARPA-E during the previous fiscal year that examine topics and technologies closely related to other activities funded by the Department, and includes an analysis of whether in supporting such projects, the Director is in compliance with subsection (i)(1); and
- (C) describes current, proposed, and planned projects to be carried out pursuant to subsection (e)(3)(D).

#### (2) Strategic vision roadmap

Not later than October 1, 2021, and every four years thereafter, the Director shall provide to the relevant authorizing and appropriations committees of Congress a roadmap describing the strategic vision that ARPA-E will use to guide the choices of ARPA-E for future technology investments over the following 4 fiscal years.

#### (i) Coordination and nonduplication

#### (1) In general

To the maximum extent practicable, the Director shall ensure that—

- (A) the activities of ARPA-E are coordinated with, and do not duplicate the efforts of, programs and laboratories within the Department and other relevant research agencies; and
- (B) ARPA-E does not provide funding for a project unless the prospective grantee demonstrates sufficient attempts to secure private financing or indicates that the project is not independently commercially viable.

#### (2) Technology Transfer Coordinator

To the extent appropriate, the Director may coordinate technology transfer efforts with the Technology Transfer Coordinator appointed under section 16391 of this title.

#### (j) Federal demonstration of technologies

The Director shall seek opportunities to partner with purchasing and procurement programs of Federal agencies to demonstrate energy technologies resulting from activities funded through ARPA-E.

#### (k) Advice

#### (1) Advisory committees

The Director may seek advice on any aspect of ARPA-E from-

- (A) an existing Department of Energy advisory committee; and
- (B) a new advisory committee organized to support the programs of ARPA-E and to provide advice and assistance on—
  - (i) specific program tasks; or
  - (ii) overall direction of ARPA-E.
- (2) Additional sources of advice

In carrying out this section, the Director may seek advice and review from—

- (A) the President's Committee of Advisors on Science and Technology; and
- (B) any professional or scientific organization with expertise in specific processes or technologies under development by ARPA-E.

#### (I) ARPA-E evaluation

(1) In general

Not later than 3 years after December 27, 2020, the Secretary is authorized to enter into a contract with the National Academy of Sciences under which the National Academy shall conduct an evaluation of how well ARPA-E is achieving the goals and mission of ARPA-E.

(2) Inclusions

The evaluation may include—

- (A) a recommendation on whether ARPA-E should be continued or terminated; and
- (B) a description of lessons learned from operation of ARPA-E, and the manner in which those lessons may apply to the operation of other programs of the Department.
- (3) Availability

On completion of the evaluation, the evaluation shall be made available to Congress and the public.

#### (m) Existing authorities

The authorities granted by this section are—

- (1) in addition to existing authorities granted to the Secretary; and
- (2) are not intended to supersede or modify any existing authorities.

#### (n) Protection of information

The following types of information collected by ARPA-E from recipients of financial assistance awards shall be considered commercial and financial information obtained from a person and privileged or confidential and not subject to disclosure under section 552(b)(4) of title 5:

- (1) Plans for commercialization of technologies developed under the award, including business plans, technology-to-market plans, market studies, and cost and performance models.
- (2) Investments provided to an awardee from third parties (such as venture capital firms, hedge funds, and private equity firms), including amounts and the percentage of ownership of the awardee provided in return for the investments.
- (3) Additional financial support that the awardee—
  - (A) plans to or has invested into the technology developed under the award; or
  - (B) is seeking from third parties.
- (4) Revenue from the licensing or sale of new products or services resulting from research conducted under the award.

#### (o) Funding

(1) Fund

There is established in the Treasury of the United States a fund, to be known as the "Energy Transformation Acceleration Fund", which shall be administered by the Director for the purposes of carrying out this section.

(2) Authorization of appropriations

Subject to paragraph (4), there are authorized to be appropriated to the Director for deposit in the Fund, without fiscal year limitation—

- (A) \$435,000,000 for fiscal year 2021;
- (B) \$500,000,000 for fiscal year 2022;
- (C) \$575,000,000 for fiscal year 2023;
- (D) \$662,000,000 for fiscal year 2024; and

- (E) \$761,000,000 for fiscal year 2025.
- (3) Separate budget and appropriation
  - (A) Budget request

The budget request for ARPA-E shall be separate from the rest of the budget of the Department.

(B) Appropriations

Appropriations to the Fund shall be separate and distinct from the rest of the budget for the Department.

(4) Allocation

Of the amounts appropriated for a fiscal year under paragraph (2)—

- (A) not more than 50 percent of the amount shall be used to carry out subsection (e)(3)(D);
- (B) at least 5 percent of the amount shall be used for technology transfer and outreach activities, consistent with the goal described in subsection (c)(2)(C) and within the responsibilities of program directors described in subsection

(g)(2)(B)(vii); and

(C) no funds may be used for construction of new buildings or facilities during the 5-year period beginning on August 9, 2007.

(Pub. L. 110–69, title V, §5012, Aug. 9, 2007, 121 Stat. 621; Pub. L. 111–358, title IX, §904, Jan. 4, 2011, 124 Stat. 4045.)

#### CHAPTER 152 — ENERGY INDEPENDENCE AND SECURITY

#### §17243. Bright Tomorrow Lighting Prizes

(a) Establishment

Not later than 1 year after December 19, 2007, as part of the program carried out under section 16396 of this title, the Secretary shall establish and award Bright Tomorrow Lighting Prizes for solid state lighting in accordance with this section.

- (b) Prize specifications
  - (1) 60-Watt Incandescent Replacement Lamp Prize

The Secretary shall award a 60-Watt Incandescent Replacement Lamp Prize to an entrant that produces a solid-state-light package simultaneously capable of—

- (A) producing a luminous flux greater than 900 lumens;
- (B) consuming less than or equal to 10 watts;
- (C) having an efficiency greater than 90 lumens per watt;
- (D) having a color rendering index greater than 90;
- (E) having a correlated color temperature of not less than 2,750, and not more than 3,000, degrees Kelvin;
- (F) having 70 percent of the lumen value under subparagraph (A) exceeding 25,000 hours under typical conditions expected in residential use;
- (G) having a light distribution pattern similar to a soft 60-watt incandescent A19 bulb;
- (H) having a size and shape that fits within the maximum dimensions of an A19 bulb in accordance with American National Standards Institute standard C78.20– 2003, figure C78.20–211;
- (I) using a single contact medium screw socket; and

- (J) mass production for a competitive sales commercial market satisfied by producing commercially accepted quality control lots of such units equal to or exceeding the criteria described in subparagraphs (A) through (I).
- (2) PAR Type 38 Halogen Replacement Lamp Prize

The Secretary shall award a Parabolic Aluminized Reflector Type 38 Halogen Replacement Lamp Prize (referred to in this section as the "PAR Type 38 Halogen Replacement Lamp Prize") to an entrant that produces a solid-state- light package simultaneously capable of—

- (A) producing a luminous flux greater than or equal to 1,350 lumens;
- (B) consuming less than or equal to 11 watts;
- (C) having an efficiency greater than 123 lumens per watt;
- (D) having a color rendering index greater than or equal to 90;
- (E) having a correlated color coordinate temperature of not less than 2,750, and not more than 3,000, degrees Kelvin;
- (F) having 70 percent of the lumen value under subparagraph (A) exceeding 25,000 hours under typical conditions expected in residential use;
- (G) having a light distribution pattern similar to a PAR 38 halogen lamp;
- (H) having a size and shape that fits within the maximum dimensions of a PAR 38 halogen lamp in accordance with American National Standards Institute standard C78-21- 2003, figure C78.21-238;
- (I) using a single contact medium screw socket; and
- (J) mass production for a competitive sales commercial market satisfied by producing commercially accepted quality control lots of such units equal to or exceeding the criteria described in subparagraphs (A) through (I).
- (3) Twenty-First Century Lamp Prize

The Secretary shall award a Twenty-First Century Lamp Prize to an entrant that produces a solid-state-light-light 1 capable of—

- (A) producing a light output greater than 1,200 lumens;
- (B) having an efficiency greater than 150 lumens per watt;
- (C) having a color rendering index greater than 90;
- (D) having a color coordinate temperature between 2,800 and 3,000 degrees Kelvin; and
- (E) having a lifetime exceeding 25,000 hours.

#### (c) Private funds

(1) In general

Subject to paragraph (2), and notwithstanding section 3302 of title 31, the Secretary may accept, retain, and use funds contributed by any person, government entity, or organization for purposes of carrying out this subsection—

- (A) without further appropriation; and
- (B) without fiscal year limitation.
- (2) Prize competition

A private source of funding may not participate in the competition for prizes awarded under this section.

(d) Technical review

The Secretary shall establish a technical review committee composed of non-Federal officers to review entrant data submitted under this section to determine whether the data meets the prize specifications described in subsection (b).

(e) Third party administration

The Secretary may competitively select a third party to administer awards under this section.

(f) Eligibility for prizes

To be eligible to be awarded a prize under this section—

- (1) in the case of a private entity, the entity shall be incorporated in and maintain a primary place of business in the United States; and
- (2) in the case of an individual (whether participating as a single individual or in a group), the individual shall be a citizen or lawful permanent resident of the United States.

#### (g) Award amounts

Subject to the availability of funds to carry out this section, the amount of—

- (1) the 60-Watt Incandescent Replacement Lamp Prize described in subsection (b)(1) shall be \$10,000,000;
- (2) the PAR Type 38 Halogen Replacement Lamp Prize described in subsection (b)(2) shall be \$5.000.000; and
- (3) the Twenty-First Century Lamp Prize described in subsection (b)(3) shall be
- (4) \$5,000,000.

#### (h) Federal procurement of solid-state-lights

(1) 60-watt incandescent replacement

Subject to paragraph (3), as soon as practicable after the successful award of the 60-Watt Incandescent Replacement Lamp Prize under subsection (b)(1), the Secretary (in consultation with the Administrator of General Services) shall develop governmentwide Federal purchase guidelines with a goal of replacing the use of 60-watt incandescent lamps in Federal Government buildings with a solid-state-light package described in subsection (b)(1) by not later than the date that is 5 years after the date the award is made.

(2) PAR 38 halogen replacement lamp replacement 1
Subject to paragraph (3), as soon as practicable after the successful award of the PAR Type 38 Halogen Replacement Lamp Prize under subsection (b)(2), the Secretary (in consultation with the Administrator of General Services) shall develop governmentwide Federal purchase guidelines with the goal of replacing the use of PAR 38 halogen lamps in Federal Government buildings with a solid-state-light package described in subsection (b)(2) by not later than the date that is 5 years after the date the award is made.

#### (3) Waivers

(A) In general

The Secretary or the Administrator of General Services may waive the application of paragraph (1) or (2) if the Secretary or Administrator determines that the return on investment from the purchase of a solid-state-light package described in paragraph

(1) or (2) of subsection (b), respectively, is cost prohibitive.

(B) Report of waiver

If the Secretary or Administrator waives the application of paragraph (1) or (2), the Secretary or Administrator, respectively, shall submit to Congress an annual report that describes the waiver and provides a detailed justification for the waiver.

#### (i) Report

Not later than 2 years after December 19, 2007, and annually thereafter, the Administrator of General Services shall submit to the Energy Information Agency a report describing the quantity, type, and cost of each lighting product purchased by the Federal Government.

- (i) Bright Tomorrow Lighting Award Fund
  - (1) Establishment

There is established in the United States Treasury a Bright Tomorrow Lighting permanent fund without fiscal year limitation to award prizes under paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) of subsection (b).(2) Sources of funding

The fund established under paragraph (1) shall accept—

- (A) fiscal year appropriations; and
- (B) private contributions authorized under subsection (c).
- (k) Authorization of appropriations

There are authorized to be appropriated such sums as are necessary to carry out this section.

(Pub. L. 110-140, title VI, §655, Dec. 19, 2007, 121 Stat. 1700.)

#### TITLE 47 — TELECOMMUNICATIONS

# CHAPTER 14 — MAKING OPPORTUNITIES FOR BROADBAND INVESTMENT AND LIMITING EXCESSIVE AND NEEDLESS OBSTACLES TO WIRELESS

§1509. Spectrum Challenge Prize

#### (a) Short title

This section may be cited as the "Spectrum Challenge Prize Act".

#### (b) Definition of prize competition

In this section, the term "prize competition" means a prize competition conducted by the Secretary under subsection (c)(1).

#### (c) Spectrum Challenge Prize

#### (1) In general

The Secretary, in consultation with the Assistant Secretary of Commerce for Communications and Information and the Under Secretary of Commerce for Standards and Technology, shall, subject to the availability of funds for prize competitions under this section—

- (A) conduct prize competitions to dramatically accelerate the development and commercialization of technology that improves spectrum efficiency and is capable of cost-effective deployment; and
- (B) define a measurable set of performance goals for participants in the prize competitions to demonstrate their solutions on a level playing field while making a significant advancement over the current state of the art.

#### (2) Authority of Secretary

In carrying out paragraph (1), the Secretary may—

- (A) enter into a grant, contract, cooperative agreement, or other agreement with a private sector for-profit or nonprofit entity to administer the prize competitions;
- (B) invite the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency, the Commission, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration, the National Science Foundation, or any other Federal agency to provide advice and assistance in the design or administration of the prize competitions; and
- (C) award not more than \$5,000,000, in the aggregate, to the winner or winners of the prize competitions.

#### (d) Criteria

Not later than 180 days after the date on which funds for prize competitions are made available pursuant to this section, the Commission shall publish a technical paper on spectrum efficiency providing criteria that may be used for the design of the prize competitions.

#### (e) Authorization of appropriations

There are authorized to be appropriated such sums as may be necessary to carry out this section.

(Pub. L. 115-141, div. P, title VI, §619, Mar. 23, 2018, 132 Stat. 1113.)

# TITLE 51 — NATIONAL AND COMMERCIAL SPACE PROGRAMS

# CHAPTER 201 — NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE PROGRAM

## §20113. Powers of the Administration in Performance of Functions [an excerpt]

- (e) Contracts, Leases, and Agreements.—In the performance of its functions, the Administration is authorized, without regard to subsections (a) and (b) of section 3324 of title 31, to enter into and perform such contracts, leases, cooperative agreements, or other transactions as may be necessary in the conduct of its work and on such terms as it may deem appropriate, with any agency or instrumentality of the United States, or with any State, territory, or possession, or with any political subdivision thereof, or with any person, firm, association, corporation, or educational institution. To the maximum extent practicable and consistent with the accomplishment of the purpose of this chapter, such contracts, leases, agreements, and other transactions shall be allocated by the Administrator in a manner which will enable small-business concerns to participate equitably and proportionately in the conduct of the work of the Administration.
- (f) Cooperation With Federal Agencies and Others.—In the performance of its functions, the Administration is authorized to use, with their consent, the services, equipment, personnel, and facilities of Federal and other agencies with or without reimbursement, and on a similar basis to cooperate with other public and private agencies and instrumentalities in the use of services, equipment, and facilities. Each department and agency of the Federal Government shall cooperate fully with the Administration in making its services, equipment, personnel, and facilities available to the Administration, and any such department or agency is authorized, notwithstanding any other provision of law, to transfer to or to receive from the Administration, without reimbursement, aeronautical and space vehicles, and supplies and equipment other than administrative supplies or equipment.

(Pub. L. 111–314, §3, Dec. 18, 2010, 124 Stat. 3333; Pub. L. 114–90, title I, §112(d), Nov. 25, 2015, 129 Stat. 712; Pub. L. 115–10, title VIII, §835(d), Mar. 21, 2017, 131 Stat. 69.)

#### §20144. Prize Authority

- (a) In General.—The Administration may carry out a program to competitively award cash prizes to stimulate innovation in basic and applied research, technology development, and prototype demonstration that have the potential for application to the performance of the space and aeronautical activities of the Administration. The Administration may carry out a program to award prizes only in conformity with this section.
- (b) Topics.—In selecting topics for prize competitions, the Administrator shall consult widely both within and outside the Federal Government, and may empanel advisory

- committees. The Administrator shall give consideration to prize goals such as the demonstration of the ability to provide energy to the lunar surface from space-based solar power systems, demonstration of innovative near-Earth object survey and deflection strategies, and innovative approaches to improving the safety and efficiency of aviation systems.
- (c) Advertising.—The Administrator shall widely advertise prize competitions to encourage participation.
- (d) Requirements and Registration.—For each prize competition, the Administrator shall publish a notice in the Federal Register announcing the subject of the competition, the rules for being eligible to participate in the competition, the amount of the prize, and the basis on which a winner will be selected.
- (e) Eligibility.—To be eligible to win a prize under this section, an individual or entity—
  - (1) shall have registered to participate in the competition pursuant to any rules promulgated by the Administrator under subsection (d);
  - (2) shall have complied with all the requirements under this section;
  - (3) in the case of a private entity, shall be incorporated in and maintain a primary place of business in the United States, and in the case of an individual, whether participating singly or in a group, shall be a citizen or permanent resident of the United States; and
  - (4) shall not be a Federal entity or Federal employee acting within the scope of their employment.
- (f) Liability.—
  - (1) Assumption of risk.-Registered participants must agree to assume any and all risks and waive claims against the Federal Government and its related entities, except in the case of willful misconduct, for any injury, death, damage, or loss of property, revenue, or profits, whether direct, indirect, or consequential, arising from their participation in a competition, whether such injury, death, damage, or loss arises through negligence or otherwise. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "related entity" means a contractor or subcontractor at any tier, and a supplier, user, customer, cooperating party, grantee, investigator, or detailee.
  - (2) Liability insurance.—Participants must obtain liability insurance or demonstrate financial responsibility, in amounts determined by the Administrator, for claims by—
    - (A) a third party for death, bodily injury, or property damage, or loss resulting from an activity carried out in connection with participation in a competition, with the Federal Government named as an additional insured under the registered participant's insurance policy and registered participants agreeing to indemnify the Federal Government against third party claims for damages arising from or related to competition activities; and
    - (B) the Federal Government for damage or loss to Government property resulting from such an activity.
- (g) Judges.—For each competition, the Administration, either directly or through an agreement under subsection (h), shall assemble a panel of qualified judges to select the winner or winners of the prize competition on the basis described pursuant to subsection (d). Judges for each competition shall include individuals from outside the Administration, including from the private sector. A judge may not—
  - (1) have personal or financial interests in, or be an employee, officer, director, or agent of any entity that is a registered participant in a competition; or
  - (2) have a familial or financial relationship with an individual who is a registered participant.

- (h) Administering the Competition.—The Administrator may enter into an agreement with a private, nonprofit entity to administer the prize competition, subject to the provisions of this section.
- (i) Funding.—
  - (1) Sources.—Prizes under this section may consist of Federal appropriated funds and funds provided by the private sector for such cash prizes. The Administrator may accept funds from other Federal agencies for such cash prizes. The Administrator may not give any special consideration to any private sector entity in return for a donation.
  - (2) Availability.—
    - (A) Definition of provisions known as the anti-deficiency act.—In this paragraph, the term "provisions known as the Anti-Deficiency Act" means sections 1341, 1342, 1349(a), 1350, 1351, 1511, 1512, 1513, 1514, 1515, 1516, 1517, 1518, and 1519 of title 31.
    - (B) In general.—Notwithstanding any other provision of law, funds appropriated for prize awards under this section shall remain available until expended, and may be transferred, reprogrammed, or expended for other purposes only after the expiration of 10 fiscal years after the fiscal year for which the funds were originally appropriated. No provision in this section permits obligation or payment of funds in violation of the provisions known as the Anti-Deficiency Act.
  - (3) Appropriation or commitment of funds required before announcement of prize or increase.—
    - (A) In general.—No prize may be announced under subsection (d) until all the funds needed to pay out the announced amount of the prize have been appropriated or committed in writing by a private source.
    - (B) Increase.—The Administrator may increase the amount of a prize after an initial announcement is made under subsection (d) if—
      - (i) notice of the increase is provided in the same manner as the initial notice of the prize; and
      - (ii) the funds needed to pay out the announced amount of the increase have been appropriated or committed in writing by a private source.
  - (4) Notice to committees for prize greater than \$50,000,000.—No prize competition under this section may offer a prize in an amount greater than \$50,000,000 unless 30 days have elapsed after written notice has been transmitted to the Committee on Science and Technology of the House of Representatives and the Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation of the Senate.
  - (5) Approval of administrator for prize greater than \$1,000,000.—No prize competition under this section may result in the award of more than \$1,000,000 in cash prizes without the approval of the Administrator.
- (j) Use of Administration Name or Insignia.—A registered participant in a competition under this section may use the Administration's name, initials, or insignia only after prior review and written approval by the Administration.
- (k) Compliance With Existing Law.—The Federal Government shall not, by virtue of offering or providing a prize under this section, be responsible for compliance by registered participants in a prize competition with Federal law, including licensing, export control, and non-proliferation laws, and related regulations.

(Pub. L. 111–314, §3, Dec. 18, 2010, 124 Stat. 3350; Pub. L. 111–358, title I, §105(b), Jan. 4, 2011, 124 Stat. 3993.)

## **Section 4**

## **Executive Guidance**

#### **EXECUTIVE ORDER 10096**

Provisions defining the right, title and interest of the Government in and to an invention made by a Government employee under various circumstances and the duties of Government agencies with respect thereto are set forth in Executive Order 10096, 15 FR 389, as amended [35 U.S.C. 266 note]. Further definition of the circumstances under which the Government will acquire the right to a patent in such an invention or a nonexclusive, irrevocable, royalty-free license in the invention, and the procedures for the determination. Of these interests, are set forth in the regulations issued under that Executive order by the Patent Office, 37 CFR part 100. The purpose of this part 7 is to implement for the Treasury Department the forgoing Executive order and regulations of the Patent Office by [a] bringing to the attention of Treasury employees the law and procedure governing their rights to, and interest in, inventions made them, [b] defining responsibility within the Department for making the necessary determinations, and, [c] establishing internal procedures for action in conformity with the Executive order and the Patent Office regulations.

# EXECUTIVE ORDER 12591 – FACILITATING ACCESS TO SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Source: the provisions of Executive Order 12591 of Apr. 10, 1987, appear at 52 FR 13414, 3 CFR, 1987 comp., p. 220, unless otherwise noted.

By the authority vested in me as President by the Constitution and laws of the United States of America, including the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986 [Public Law 99-502], the Trademark Clarification Act of 1984 [Public Law 98-620], and the University and Small Business Patent Procedure Act of 1980 [Public Law 96-517], and in order to ensure that Federal agencies and laboratories assist universities and the private sector in broadening our technology base by moving new knowledge from the research laboratory into the development of new products and processes, it is hereby ordered as follows:

#### Section 1. Transfer of Federally Funded Technology.

- (a) The head of each Executive department and agency, to the extent permitted by law, shall encourage and facilitate collaboration among Federal laboratories, State and local governments, universities, and the private sector, particularly small business, in order to assist in the transfer of technology to the marketplace.
- (b) The head of each Executive department and agency shall, within the overall funding allocations and to the extent permitted by law:
  - (1) delegate authority to its government-owned, government-operated Federal laboratories:
    - (A) to enter into cooperative research and development agreements with other Federal laboratories, State and local governments, universities, and the private sector; and
    - (B) to license, assign, or waive rights to intellectual property developed by the laboratory either under such cooperative research or development agreements and from within individual laboratories.
  - (2) identify and encourage persons to act as conduits between and among Federal laboratories, universities, and the private sector for the transfer of technology developed from federally funded research and development efforts:
  - (3) ensure that State and local governments, universities, and the private sector are provided within information on the technology, expertise, and facilities available in Federal laboratories:
  - (4) promote the commercialization, in accord with my Memorandum to the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies of February 18, 1983, of patentable results of federally funded research by granting to all contractors, regardless of size, the title to patents made in whole or in part with Federal funds, in exchange for royalty0free use by or on behalf of the government;
  - (5) administer all patents and licenses to inventions made with federal assistance, which are owned by the non-profit contractor or grantee, in accordance with Section 202©[7] of Title 35 of the United States Code as amended by Public Law 98-620, without regard to

- (6) limitations on licensing found in that section prior to amendment or in Institutional Patent Agreements now in effect that were entered into before that law was enacted on November 8, 1984 unless, in the case of an invention that has not been marketed, the funding agency determines, based on information in its files, that the contractor or grantee has not taken adequate steps to market the inventions, in accordance with applicable law or an Institutional Patent Agreement;
- (7) implement, as expeditiously as practicable, royalty-sharing programs with inventors who were employees of the agency at the time their inventions were made, and cash award programs; and
- (8) cooperate, under policy guidance provided by the Office of Federal Procurement Policy, with the heads of other affected departments and agencies in the development of a uniform policy permitting Federal contractors to retain rights to software, engineering drawings, and other technical data generated by Federal grants and contracts, in exchange for royalty-free use by or on behalf of the government.

[Sec. 1 amended by Executive Order 12618 of Dec. 22, 1987, 52 FR 48661, 3 CFR, 1987 Comp., p. 262]

#### Section 2. Establishment of the Technology Share Program.

The Secretaries of Agriculture, Commerce, Energy, and Health and Human Services and the Administrator of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration shall select one or more of their Federal laboratories to participate in the Technology Share Program. Consistent with its mission and policies and within its overall funding allocation in any year, each Federa laboratory so selected shall:

- (a) Identify areas of research and technology of potential importance to long-term national economic competitiveness and in which the laboratory possesses special competence and/or unique facilities:
- (b) Establish a mechanism through which the laboratory performs research in areas identified in Section 2[a] as a participate of a consortium composed of United States industries and universities. All consortia so established shall have, at a minimum, three individual companies that conduct the majority of their business in the United States; and
- (c) Limit its participation in any consortium so established to the use of laboratory personnel and facilities. However, each laboratory may also provide financial support generally not to exceed 25 percent of the total budget for the activities of the consortium. Such financial support by any laboratory in all such consortia shall be limited to a maximum of \$5 million per annum.

#### Section 3. Technology Exchange – Scientists and Engineers.

The Executive Director of the President's Commission on executive Exchange shall assist Federal agencies, where appropriate, by developing and implementing an ex-change program whereby scientists and engineers in the private sector may take temporary assignments in Federal laboratories, and scientists and engineers in Federal laboratories may take temporary assignments in the private sector.

#### Section 4. International Science and Technology.

In order to ensure that the United States benefits from and fully exploits scientific research and technology developed abroad,

- (a) The head of each Executive department and agency, when negotiating or entering into cooperative research and development agreements and licensing arrangements with foreign persons or industrial organizations [where these entities are directly or indirectly controlled by a foreign company or government], shall, in consultation with the United States Trade Representative, give appropriate consideration:
  - (1) to whether such foreign companies or governments permit and encourage United States agencies, organizations, or persons to enter into cooperative research and development agreements and licensing arrangements on a comparable basis;
  - (2) to whether those foreign governments have policies to protect the United States intellectual property rights; and

- (3) where cooperative research will involve data, technologies, or products subject to national security export controls under the laws of the United States, to whether those foreign governments have adopted adequate measures to prevent the transfer of strategic technology to destinations prohibited under such national security export controls, either through participation in Coordinating Committee for Multilateral Export Controls [COCOM] or through other international agreements to which the United States and such foreign governments are signatories.
- (b) The Secretary of State shall develop a recruitment policy that encourages scientists and engineers from other Federal agencies, academic institutions, and industry to apply for assignments in embassies of the United States; and
- (c) The Secretaries of State and Commerce and the Director of the National Science Foundation shall develop a central mechanism for the prompt and efficient dissemination of science and technology information developed abroad to users in Federal laboratories, academic institutions, and the private sector on a fee-for-service basis.

#### Section 5. Technology Transfer from the Department of Defense.

Within 6 months of the date of this Order, the Secretary of Defense shall identify a list of funded technologies that would be potentially useful to United States industries and universities. The Secretary shall then accelerate efforts to make these technologies more readily available to United States industries and universities.

#### Section 6. Basic Science and Technology Centers.

The head of each Executive department and agency shall examine the potential for including the establishment of university research centers in engineering, science, or technology in the strategy and planning for any future research and development programs. Such university centers shall be jointly funded by the Federal government, the private sector, and, where appropriate, the States and shall focus on areas of fundamental research and technology that are both scientifically promising and have the potential to contribute to the Nation's long-term economic competitiveness.

#### Section 7. Reporting Requirements.

- (a) Within 1 year from the date of this Order, the Director of the Office of Science and Technology Policy shall convene an interagency task force comprised of the heads of representative agencies and the directors of representative Federal laboratories, or their designees, in order to identify and disseminate creative approaches to technology transfer from Federal laboratories. The task force will report to the President on the progress of and problems with technology transfer from Federal laboratories.
- (b) Specifically, the report shall include:
  - (1) a listing of current technology transfer programs and an assessment of the effectiveness of these programs;
  - (2) identification of new or creative approaches to technology transfer that might serve as model programs for Federal laboratories;
  - (3) criteria to assess the effectiveness and impact on the Nation's economy of planned or future technology transfer efforts; and
  - (4) a compilation and assessment of the Technology Share Program established in Section 2 and, where appropriate, related cooperative research and development venture programs.

#### Section 8. Relation to Existing Law.

Nothing in this Order shall affect the continued applicability of any existing laws or regulations relating to the transfer of United States technology to other nations. The head of any Executive department or agency may exclude from consideration, under this Order, any technology that would be, if transferred, detrimental to the interests of national security.

RONALD REAGAN The White House April 10, 1987

# PRESIDENTIAL MEMORANDUM – ACCELRATING TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER AND COMMERCIALIZATION OF FEDERAL RESEARCH IN SUPPORT OF HIGH-GROWTH BUSINESSES

Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies

Subject: Accelerating Technology Transfer and Commercialization of Federal Research in Support of High-Growth Businesses

#### Section 1. Policy.

Innovation fuels economic growth, the creation of new industries, companies, jobs, products and services, and the global competitiveness of U.S. industries. One driver of successful innovation is technology transfer, in which the private sector adapts Federal research for use in the marketplace. One of the goals of my Administration's "Startup America" initiative, which supports high-growth entrepreneurship, is to foster innovation by increasing the rate of technology transfer and the economic and societal impact from Federal research and development [R&D] investments. This will be accomplished by committing each executive department and agency [agency] that conducts R&D to improve the results from its technology transfer and commercialization activities. The aim is to increase the successful outcomes of these activities significantly over the next 5 years, while simultaneously achieving excellence in our basic and mission-focused research activities. I direct that the following actions be taken to establish goals and measure performance, streamline administrative processes, and facilitate local and regional partnerships in order to accelerate technology transfer and support private sector commercialization.

#### Section 2. Establish Goals and Measure Progress.

Establishing performance goals, metrics, and evaluation methods, as well as implementing and tracking progress relative to those goals, is critical to improving the returns from Federal R&D investments. Therefore, I direct that:

- (a) Agencies with Federal laboratories shall develop plans that establish performance goals to increase the number and pace of effective technology transfer and commercialization activities in partnership with non-federal entities, including private firms, research organizations, and non-profit entities. These plans shall cover the 5-year period from 2013 through 2017 and shall contain goals, metrics, and methods to evaluate progress relative to the performance goals. These goals, metrics, and evaluation methods may vary by agency as appropriate to that agency's mission and types of research activities, and may include the number and quality of, among other things, invention disclosures, licenses issued on existing patents, Cooperative Research and Development Agreements [CRADAs], industry partnerships, new products, and successful self-sustaining spinoff companies created for such products. Within 180 days of the date of this memorandum, these plans shall be submitted to the Office of Management and Budget [OMB] which, in consultation with the Office of Science and Technology Policy [OSTP] and the Department of Commerce, shall review and monitor implementation of the plans.
- (b) The Interagency Workgroup on Technology Transfer, established pursuant to Executive Order 12591 of April 10, 1987, shall recommend to the Department of Commerce opportunities for improving technology transfer from Federal laboratories, including:
  - current technology transfer programs and standards for assessing the effectiveness of these programs;
  - (ii) new or creative approaches to technology transfer that might serve as model programs for Federal laboratories;
  - (iii) criteria to assess the effectiveness and impact on the Nation's economy of planned or future technology transfer efforts; and
  - (iv) an assessment of cooperative research and development venture programs.

- (c) The Secretary of Commerce, in consultation with other agencies, including the National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics, shall improve and expand, where appropriate, its collection of metrics in the Department of Commerce's annual technology transfer summary report, submitted pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 3710[g][2].
- (d) The heads of agencies with Federal laboratories are encouraged to include technology transfer efforts in overall laboratory evaluation.

## Section 3. Streamline the Federal Government's Technology Transfer and Commercialization Process.

Streamlining licensing procedures, improving public availability of federally owned inventions from across the Federal Government, and improving the executive branch's Small Business Innovation Research [SBIR] and Small Business Technology Transfer [SBTT] programs based on best practices will accelerate technology transfer from Federal laboratories and other facilities and spur entrepreneurship. Some agencies have already implemented administrative changes to their SBIR and SBTT programs on a pilot basis and achieved significant results, such as reducing award times by 50percent or more. Over the past year, some agencies have also initiated pilot programs to streamline the SBIR award timeline and licensing process for small businesses. In addition some agencies have developed new short-term exclusive license agreements for startups to facilitate licensing of inventions to small companies. Therefore:

- (a) Agencies with Federal laboratories shall review their licensing procedures and practices for establishing CRADAs with the goal of reducing the time required to license their technologies and establish CRADAs to the maximum practicable extent.
- (b) The Federal Chief Information Officer and the Assistant to the President and Chief Technology Officer shall, in coordination with other agencies:
  - (i) List all publicly available federally owned inventions and, when available, licensing agreements on a public Government database;
  - (ii) Develop strategies to increase the usefulness and accessibility of this data, such as competitions, awards or prizes; and
  - (iii) Report their initial progress to OMB and OSTP within 180 days of the date of this memorandum.
- (c) The heads of agencies participating in the SBIR and SBTT programs shall implement administrative practices that reduce the time from grant application to award by the maximum practicable extent; publish performance timelines to increase transparency and accountability; explore award flexibility to encourage high quality submissions; engage private sector scientists and engineers in reviewing grant proposals; encourage private sector co-investment in SBIR grantees; partner with external organizations such as mentoring programs, university proof of concept centers, and regional innovation clusters; and track scientific and economic outcomes. The OMB, OSTP, and the Small Business Administration shall work with agencies to facilitate, to the extent practicable, a common reporting of these performance measures.

#### Section 4. Facilitate Commercialization through Local and Regional Partnerships.

Agencies must take steps to enhance successful technology-innovation networks by fostering increased Federal laboratory engagement with external partners, including universities, industry consortia, economic development entities, and State and local governments. Accordingly:

- (a) I encourage agencies with Federal laboratories to collaborate, consistent with their missions and authorities, with external partners to share the expertise of Federal laboratories with businesses and to participate in regional technology innovation clusters that are in place across the country.
- (b) I encourage agencies, where appropriate and in accordance with OMB Circular A-11, to use existing authorities, such as Enhanced Use Leasing or Facility Use Agreements, to locate applied research and business support programs, such as incubators and research parks, on or near Federal laboratories and other research-facilities to further technology transfer and commercialization.
- (c) I encourage agencies with Federal laboratories and other research facilities to engage in public-private partnerships in those technical areas of importance to the agency's mission with external partners to strengthen the commercialization activities in their local region.

#### Section 5. General Provisions.

- (a) For purposes of this memorandum, the term "Federal laboratories" shall have the meaning set forth for that term in 15 U.S.C. 3703[4].
- (b) This memorandum shall be implemented consistent with applicable law and subject to the availability of appropriations.
- (c) Nothing in this memorandum shall be construed to impair or otherwise affect the functions of the Director of OMB relating to budgetary, administrative, and legislative proposals.
- (d) Independent agencies are strongly encourage to comply with this memorandum.
- (e) This memorandum is not intended to, and does not, create any right or benefit, substantive or procedural, enforceable at law or in equity by any party against the United States, its departments, agencies, or entities, its officers, employees, or agents, or any other person.

BARACK OBAMA The White House October 28, 2011

### EXECUTIVE ORDER 14104 – FEDERAL RESERCH AND EVELOPMENT IN SUPPORT OF DOMESTIC MANUFACTURING AND UNITED STATES JOBS

JULY 28, 2023

By the authority vested in me as President by the Constitution and the laws of the United States of America, it is hereby ordered as follows:

#### Section 1. Policy.

The United States maintains an unparalleled innovation ecosystem with world-class universities, Federal laboratories, research centers, and technology incubators, supported in part by Federal investment. Our world is healthier, smarter, more connected, and more sustainable because of Federal taxpayers' investment in discovery and innovation that has supported the commercialization of new products and services.

My Administration has prioritized support for our unique innovation ecosystem by reinvesting across sectors in research and development [R&D], demonstrations, education, and the necessary infrastructure to accelerate the transition of discoveries quickly from the lab to the marketplace.

This investment is designed to produce cutting-edge technologies that support the competitiveness, domestic manufacturing capacity, and well-being of the United States economy; United States workers; our communities; and our national security. Ensuring the commercialization o federally funded inventions by United States manufacturers – while maintaining intellectual property rights – will build on the successful legacy of the United States in spurring economic growth and enhancing United States competitiveness through R&D. It will also further our joint R&D work with partners and allies to strengthen the resilience of global critical supply chains and secure America's leadership in delivering a net-zero emissions economy by no later than 2050.

Therefore, it is the policy of my Administration that when new technologies and products are developed with support from the United States Government, they will be manufactured in the United States whenever feasible and consistent with applicable law.

#### Section 2. Coordination and Consultation.

- (a) The Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, the Assistant to the President for Economic Policy, and the Director of the Office of Science and Technology Policy [OSTP] shall coordinate the executive branch actions necessary to implement this order through the interagency process identified in National Security Memorandum 2 of February 4, 2021 [Renewing the National Security Council System].
- (b) In implementing this order, the heads of executive departments and agencies [agencies] shall, as appropriate and consistent with applicable law, consult outside stakeholders such as those in industry; academia, including Historically Black colleges and Universities, Tribal Colleges and Universities, and other Minority Serving Institutions; non-governmental organizations; communities; labor unions; and State, local Tribal, and territorial governments in order to implement the policy identified in section 1 of this order.

#### Section 3. Strengthening Domestic Manufacturing.

(a) The Secretary of Defense, the Secretary of Agriculture, the Secretary of commerce, the Secretary of Health and Human Services, the Secretary of Transportation, the Secretary of Energy, the Secretary of Homeland Security, the Director of the National Science Foundation, and the Administrator of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration should consider domestic manufacturing in Federal R&D funding agreement solicitations, as appropriate and consistent with applicable law. These agency heads shall also consider how their respective agencies' R&D funding agreements support broader domestic manufacturing objectives,

- including the development of production facilities and capabilities broadly supportive of United States manufacturing, as appropriate and consistent with applicable law.
- (b) The Director of OSTP, working through the National Science and Technology Council [NSTC] and in coordination with the Director of the Office of the Management and Budget's Made in America Office [Made in America Director] and the heads of agencies identified in subsection [a] of this section, shall seek to add "domestic manufacturing" to future interagency technology R&D roadmaps, as appropriate. The Director of OSTP shall endeavor to standardize the format of domestic manufacturing considerations in technology R&D roadmaps to ensure that industry, the research community, and agencies create the conditions for new technologies to be produced in the United States once they are commercialized.
- (c) In collaboration with the Administrator of the Small Business Administration [SBA], the heads of agencies participating in the Small Business Innovation Research and Small Business Technology Transfer programs are encouraged to advance a coordinated interagency approach to innovation and research solicitations with the goals of reducing barriers to program participation, streamlining access to funding opportunities, and encouraging production of new technologies in the United States. The heads of these agencies are further encouraged to collaborate with the SBA to support small businesses transitioning technologies from intramural and extramural labs to commercial markets.
- (d) The heads of agencies that have statutory Other Transaction Authority, or that can use other business arrangements authorized by the Congress, are encouraged, when appropriate, to consider using these authorities to purchase or invest in leading-edge technologies to support their production in the United States. If these agencies use these authorities to purchase or invest in the development of new technologies, the terms of these purchases and investments should ensure that the product is substantially manufactured in the United States, as appropriate and consistent with applicable law.
- (e) Further support the commercialization and production in the United States of technologies developed, in part, through federally funded R&D, the heads of agencies identified in subsection [a] of this section are encouraged to establish or enhance the technology transfer and commercialization capabilities of their agencies.

#### Section 4. Modernizing Reporting of Invention Utilization.

- (a) In an effort to streamline reporting requirements for recipients of Federal R&D funding agreements, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order should seek to make reporting on the utilization of "subject inventions [as defined in 35 U.S.C. 201[e]] easier and consistent across the United States Government.
- (b) To incentivize domestic manufacturing through the reporting of invention disclosures and the utilization of those inventions, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall require recipients of Federal R&D funding agreements to track and update the awarding agency on the location in which subject inventions are manufactured.
- (c) The heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order should require recipients of Federal R&D funding agreements to report annually to the awarding agency the names of licensees and manufacturing locations of the applicable subject inventions.
- (d) Within 60 days of the date of this order, the Secretary of Commerce, through the Director of the National Institute of Standards and Technology [NIST] and in consultation with the Office of Management and Budget [OMB], should develop award terms and conditions regarding the reporting requirements in subsections [a] through [c] of this section to be implemented by each awarding agency identified in section 3[a] of this order. Award terms and conditions shall ensure that the reporting of the information specified in subsections [b] and [c] of this section protects business confidential information, consistent with 35 U.S.C. 202[c][5], while providing increased visibility to taxpayers on the use of Federal R&D funding in support of domestic manufacturing and job creation.
- (e) The Secretary of Commerce, through the Director of NIST and in consultation with the Interagency Working Group for Bayh-Dole, shall consider developing an action plan, including resource requirements, to transition all agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order to the iEdison reporting system to track unclassified subject inventions, patents, and related utilization reports by calendar year 2025. The Secretary of Commerce shall submit the action plan to the Director of OMB within 1 year of the date of this order.

- Not later than 120 days after issuance of any final regulations implementing the action plan described in subsection [e] of this section, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall report to the Director of OMB and the Director of OSTP on the steps their respective agencies have taken to transition all unclassified reporting to iEdison by the end of calendar year 2025. These reports may include resource needs and timelines for implementation.
- (f) Within 180 days of the date of this order, the Secretary of Commerce, through the Director of NIST and in consultation with the Interagency Working Group for Bayh-Dole, should develop common invention utilization questions [utilization questions], allowing agencies to add agencyspecific questions.
  - (i) The utilization questions should be used by all agencies by May 1, 2024, for subject inventions that a Federal R&D funding agreement recipient has elected to retain title on or after the date of this order.
  - (ii) The utilization questions should require information on the locations where subject inventions are produced or are used to produce a product.
  - (iii ) The Secretary of Commerce, through the Director of NIST, and the heads of other agencies should aim to minimize the reporting burden on recipients of Federal R&D funding agreements associated with the utilization questions, in accordance with the Paperwork Reduction Act [44 U.S.C. 3501 et seq.] and applicable OMB guidance.
- (g) Within 2 years after the date of this order and annually thereafter, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall submit reports to the Made in America Director on the utilization of inventions that were developed through their previous R&D funding agreements and reported after the date of this order, including where products embodying a subject invention or produced through the use of a subject invention were manufactured.

#### Section 5. Critical and Emerging Technologies Through Domestic Manufacturing.

- (a) Within 90 days of the date of this order, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall consider whether "exceptional circumstances" exist warranting a determination that a restriction of the right to retain title to any subject invention funded by their respective agencies' R&D funding agreements will better promote the policy and objectives of the Bayh-Dole Act, as appropriate and consistent with applicable law, including 35 U.S.C. 202[a]. Such consideration shall include evaluation of whether "exceptional circumstances" exist to warrant the extension of the requirement to manufacture "substantially in the United States" to recipients of Federal R&D funding agreements, to non-exclusive licensees of subject inventions, and for use or sale of subject inventions outside of the United States, as appropriate and consistent with applicable law, including 35 U.S.C. 202[a]. In considering the issuance of such determinations for these purposes, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall:
  - (i) consider measures for technologies important to the United States economy and national security, including critical and emerging technologies such as energy storage, quantum information science, artificial intelligence and machine learning, semiconductors and microelectronics, and advanced manufacturing; and
  - (ii) consider narrowing tailoring terms related to enhanced United States manufacturing while encouraging technology transfer and commercialization, and allowing small businesses and nonprofit organizations to retain ownership of and commercialize their federally funded subject inventions.
- (b) The heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall consider whether other measures are needed to promote domestic manufacturing of subject inventions funded by their respective agencies.

#### Section 6. Implementation of this Order.

- (a) Within 2 years of the date of this order an annually thereafter for 5 years, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall submit a report on their respective agencies' implementation of this order to the Director of OMB and the Director of OSTP.
- (b) Each report shall include, to the extent possible, a review of this order's effectiveness in using the R&D funding agreements of the agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order to support domestic manufacturing, United States industrial competitiveness, and job creation.

(c) Each report shall include, to the extent possible, identification of any challenges to implementation of this order or to the effectiveness of this order in accomplishing the policy goals described in section 1 of this order, as well as recommendations to address such challenges.

#### Section 7. Improving the Waiver Process.

- (a) Under the Bayh-Dole Act, agencies may waive the requirement that certain products embodying the subject invention or produced through the use of the subject invention be "manufactured substantially in the United States" if, as specified in 35 U.S.C. 204, "reasonable but unsuccessful efforts have been made to grant licenses on similar terms to potential licensees that would be likely to manufacture substantially in the United States" or "under the circumstances domestic manufacture is not commercially feasible."
- (b) Every agency should consider developing a process by which the agency may waive the domestic manufacturing requirements for agency-funded technology or technology developed under an agency funding opportunity without a request from a recipient of a Federal R&D funding agreement. As part of its process, an agency should seek concurrence from the Made in America Director to waive the domestic manufacturing requirements, and should set forth specific factors that may support a waiver, including whether the manufacture of the technology outside the United States is in the economic or national security interest of the United States.
- (c) The heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall ensure that the waiver process for their agency is rigorous, timely, transparent, and consistent, with the dure regard for all applicable authorities, including Executive Order 14005 of January 25, 2021 [ensuring the Future is made in All of America by All of America's Workers], and the Bayh-Dole Act's requirement that a waiver be available when reasonable but unsuccessful efforts have been made to license to a company that could substantially manufacture in the United States, or when domestic manufacture is not commercially feasible.
- (d) The Secretary of Commerce, through the Director of NIST and in consultation with the Interagency Working Group for Bayh-Dole, the NSTC Lab-to-Market Subcommittee, and the Made in America Director, shall provide guidance to agencies on the factors and consideration that should be weighed in determining whether domestic manufacturing is not commercially feasible. Guidance shall be designed to help applicants understand the factors an agency will consider when evaluation a waiver application, and should ensure that a determination of the commercial feasibility of manufacturing abroad is not based on substandard or unacceptable working conditions. Within 90 days of the date of this order, the Secretary of Commerce, through the Director of NIST, shall make the guidance available for public comment.
- (e) Within 90 days of the date of this order, the Secretary of Commerce, through the Director of NIST and in consultation with the Interagency Working Group for Bayh-Dole, shall develop common waiver application questions for use by all agencies.
  - (i) The common waiver application questions should include as relevant criteria, as appropriate and consistent with applicable law;
    - (A) how the waiver will be used;
    - (B) why it is important that the subject invention be brought to market;
    - (C) any potential economic and national security impacts of manufacturing the subject invention abroad;
    - (D) the benefits that will accrue to domestic manufacturing and United States jobs as a result of the subject invention being brought to market:
    - (E) whether the applicant is proposing an exclusive or non-exclusive license; and
    - (F) the conditions under which the subject invention would be manufactured abroad, including unionization of workplaces, health and safety standards, labor and wage laws, and environmental impacts.
    - ii. Given the need to maintain agency flexibility, the heads of agencies identified n section 3[a] of this order may add questions to the common waiver application questions, but they should do so sparingly and only as needed to accomplish the policy set forth in this order within their respective agencies' existing authorities.
- (f) The heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall adopt the common waiver application questions, to the extent consistent with applicable law.

- (g) The heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order should acknowledge receipt of waiver applications within 10 business days, to the extent practicable. Once an applicant submits a waiver request application, the reviewing agency should seek to finalize its decision, including negotiations with the applicant as needed, as soon as possible.
- (h) Within 270 days of the date of this order, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall establish agency guidelines for negotiating with waiver applicants to retain as much value or benefit to the United States as possible, as appropriate and consistent with applicable law, while considering technical, business, social, environmental, and economic realities. In assessing a waiver's value to the United States economy, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order should consider, as appropriate and in addition to any other relevant factors, potential benefits to domestic manufacturing competitiveness, to the United States job creation, and to United States economic and national security.
  - (i)The heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order should consider limiting waivers to applicants that commit to manufacture in locations that maintain a market economy and for specific agreed-upon purposes.
  - (ii) The heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order should expect waiver applicants to deliver alternative benefits to the United States as part of an agreement to grant the waiver. Consideration of alternative benefits may include direct or indirect investment in domestic plants and equipment, the creation of high-quality domestic jobs, or further domestic development of the subject invention.
- (h) Beginning in fiscal year 2024 and on an annual basis thereafter, the heads of agencies identified in section 3[a] of this order shall provide to the Secretary of Commerce, through the Interagency Working Group for Bayh-Dole, a summary of each waiver application received, approved, and rejected. The summary shall include the terms of any approved waiver and the processing time need to reach a decision.
  - (iii ) The Secretary of Commerce, through the Interagency Working Group for Bayh-Dole, shall publish a periodic summary of the waiver applications in aggregate that describes common reasons for waiver requests, processing times by agency, and recommended policy responses to common challenges.
  - (iv ) Agencies shall ensure that the information submitted for publication to the Secretary of Commerce, through the Interagency Working Group for Bayh-dole, appropriately protects business confidential and sensitive information provided by waiver applicants as part of their justification for the waiver, consistent with 35 U.S.C. 202[c][5]. However, the names of applicants seeking a waiver and a summary of the benefits the waiver recipients will provide to the United States should be made available to the public, to the extent permitted by law.

#### Section 8. General Provisions.

- (a) Nothing in this order shall be construed to impair or otherwise affect;
  - the authority granted by law to an executive department or agency, or the head thereof; or
  - (ii) the functions of the Director of OMB relating to budgetary, administrative, or legislative proposals.
- (b) This order shall be implemented consistent with applicable law and subject to the availability of appropriations.
- (c) This order is not intended to, and does not, create any right or benefit, substantive or procedural, enforceable at law or in equity by any party against the United States, its departments, agencies, or entities, its officers, employees, or agents, or any other person.

JOSEPH R. BIDEN JR. THE WHITE HOUSE July 28, 2023.

# **Section 5**

## **Policies**

# OFFICE OF GOVERNMENT AND ETHICS ON EMPLOYEE PRIOR INVENTIONS

Office of Government Ethics 00 x 9 Memorandum dated September 7, 2000, from F. Gary Davis, Acting Director, to Designated Agency Ethics Officials Regarding Issuance of Memorandum by the Office of Legal Counsel Concerning Application of 18 U.S.C. §209 to Receipt of Outside Royalty Payments by Employee-Investors

On September 7, 2000, the Office of Legal Counsel (OLC), Department of Justice, issued a Memorandum in response to a question posed by the Office of Government Ethics (OGE) concerning the application of 18 U.S.C. §209 to the receipt of outside royalties by employees who are permitted to retain or obtain title to inventions developed as part of their official duties. A 1993 OLC Memorandum previously had concluded that section 209 did not prohibit employee-inventors from sharing in a percentage of royalties received by the Government from outside sources, where the Government itself retained and licensed the patent rights, pursuant to relevant provisions of the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986 (FTTA); that opinion, however, did not address the applicability of section §209 to royalties received by an employee/inventor directly from an outside source where the Federal Government had waived any interest in commercializing an invention and permitted the employee personally to pursue any patent rights. See 17 Op. O.L.C. 46 (1993) (1993 Memorandum). OLC now has concluded that section §209 ordinarily does not preclude outside royalty payments to employee-inventors who privately commercialize inventions for which the Government has permitted them to obtain patent rights.

Apart from issues specific to the Federal scheme for disposing of intellectual property rights for workplace inventions, the new Memorandum illustrates OLC's approach when there is a question as to the presence of one particular element of section §209. As OLC and OGE have noted on several occasions, section §209 can be viewed as having four elements: (1) employee status; (2) receipt of salary or any contribution to or supplementation of salary; (3) receipt of such salary, contribution or supplementation from a non-Federal source; (4) receipt of such salary, contribution or supplementation as compensation for services as a Federal employee. OLC states that the fourth element requires an "intentional, direct link" between the outside compensation and the employee's Government service. In some situations, however, intent to compensate for 2 Government services may not be obvious. In cases where it is not otherwise clear that a particular payment is actually intended as compensation for an employee's services to the Government, the Memorandum articulates six factors that should be considered: (1) whether there is a substantial relationship or pattern of dealings between the agency and the payor; (2) whether the employee is in a position to influence the Government on behalf of the payor; (3) whether the expressed intent of the payor is to compensate for Government service; (4) whether circumstances indicate that the payment was motivated by a desire other than to compensate the employee for her Government service; (5) whether payments would also be made to non-Government employees; and (6) whether payments would be distributed on a basis unrelated to Government service. OGE advises that agency ethics officials should consider these factors, none of which alone is necessarily dispositive, when there is a question as to the presence of the fourth element of section 209.

The new Memorandum also makes certain references to 18 U.S.C. §208 that bear mentioning. First, the Memorandum states in passing that the 1993 Memorandum found that section §208 did not apply to payments made directly by the Government to an employee-inventor, pursuant to section 7 of the FTTA, because such payments are part of an employee's Federal employment benefits. Similarly, the Memorandum notes that the 1993 Memorandum suggested that the mere retention of patent rights by an employee, prior to any licensing agreement, might not be viewed as a financial interest under section §208, because such patent rights also are an integral part of the employee benefit program established by the FTTA. We want to point out, however, that certain aspects of this section §208 analysis in the 1993 Memorandum have been superseded by subsequent advice from OLC and by the regulatory exemption, in 5 C.F.R. §2640.203(d), for interests derived from Federal employment. See 60 Fed. Reg. 44706 (August 28, 1995) (discussing 1993 Memorandum and other authorities).

Second, the new Memorandum briefly discusses the possibility of waivers, under section 208(b)(1), for employee-inventors whose official duties continue to involve work on the same invention for which they may have outside licensing agreements. From our discussions with OLC, we understand that the Memorandum was not intended either to foreclose or to encourage the issuance of waivers in this type of situation. Rather, the purpose was only to emphasize that any conflict of interest concerns in such situations are adequately addressed by the safeguards of section 208, including the criteria for granting waivers, as articulated in the statute itself and in the implementing regulation, 5

C.F.R. § 2640.301. 3 A copy of the Memorandum is available on the OGE web site at <a href="https://www.oge.gov/web/oge.nsf/home">https://www.oge.gov/web/oge.nsf/home</a>.

# OGE GUIDANCE ON INVENTION COE (IP SECTION ONLY) EMPLOYEE'S INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

#### 18 U.S.C. §208

An employee may have a financial interest arising from a patent, copyright, trademark, or similar intellectual property rights through the employee's property interest in the intellectual property itself and through the employee's right to royalties from the licensing or commercialization of the work. A financial interest in intellectual property may present conflict of interest concerns, particularly if the subject matter of the work product relates to the agency's mission or the employee's responsibilities. Accordingly, an employee may not participate personally and substantially in any particular matter that the employee knows would directly and predictably affect the value of, or income from, the employee's intellectual property.

#### 5 C.F.R. §2635.502 (Impartiality)

Under 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502, an employee will have a "covered relationship" with an entity, such as a publisher, with which the employee has or seeks a business, contractual, or other financial relationship that involves other than a routine consumer transaction. Therefore, until the covered relationship has terminated, (1) when an employee knows that the person with whom they have a covered relationship is or represents a party to a particular matter, and (2) when the employee determines that the circumstances would cause a reasonable person with knowledge of the relevant facts to question their impartiality in the matter, the

employee should not participate in the matter without informing the agency designee and receiving authorization.

#### 18 U.S.C. §203 and 205 (Representation)

If an employee plans to prepare, file, and prosecute a patent application, the employee must be aware of the limitations on representations made on behalf of a university or other legal entity to the Government. Under 18 U.S.C. §205(a)(2), an employee generally may not represent a third party in a covered matter before any agency or court if the United States is a party or has a direct and substantial interest in the covered matter. This prohibition applies to both compensated and

uncompensated activities. Another statute, 18 U.S.C. § 203, prohibits an employee from seeking, agreeing to receive, or receiving compensation for their own or for another's representational services made on behalf of a third party and rendered while that employee is a Federal employee, in a particular matter before the U.S. Government or any court if the United States is a party to or has a direct and substantial interest in a matter.

# 5 C.F.R. §2635.807 (Teaching, Speaking, and Writing) and 18 U.S.C. §209 (Supplementation of Federal Salary)

For an employee who anticipates writing in a personal capacity (e.g., working on a second edition of a textbook), 5 C.F.R. §2635.807 prohibits the receipt of compensation for outside writing if the writing relates to the employee's official duties.

For employees other than special Government employees, the receipt of compensation when the writing is undertaken as part of the employee's official duties is also prohibited by the supplementation of salary bar in 18 U.S.C. §209. For additional assistance interpreting 18 U.S.C. §209, see OGE DAEOgram DO-02-016 (2002).

For further guidance on book deals, see OGE DAEOgram DO-08-006 (2008) and OGE Legal Advisory LA-20-06 (2020)

#### SPOUSE'S OR MINOR CHILD'S INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

#### 18 U.S.C. §208

Similar to the conflicts of interest analysis for the employee's own intellectual property, an employee may not participate personally and substantially in any particular matter that the employee knows would directly and predictably affect the value of or income from their spouse's or minor child's intellectual property.

#### 5 C.F.R. §2635.502 (Impartiality)

When an employee's spouse has or is seeking a contractual arrangement with another entity, such as a publisher, an employee may determine that participating in a particular matter in which that entity is or represents a party would cause a reasonable person with knowledge of the relevant facts to question the employee's impartiality in the matter. The employee should use the process described in 5 C.F.R. §2635.502, to determine whether or not to participate in the particular matter.

#### ETHICS ISSUES RELATED TO THE FEDERAL TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER ACT OF 1986

A government employee-inventor who assigns his rights in an invention to the United States and accepts the government's payment of amounts tied to the resulting royalties, as provided in the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986, 15 U.S.C. §1501-1534, may continue to work on the invention without violating the statute against taking part in matters in which he has a financial interest, 18 U.S.C. §208, or the statute forbidding supplementation of federal salaries, 18 U.S.C. §209. Under 18 U.S.C. §208, a government employee-inventor may not take official action with respect to an agreement for development of his invention entered into by the United States and a company with which the employee has contracted to exploit the invention abroad.

### **SEPTEMBER 13, 1993**

## MEMORANDUM FOR STEPHEN D. POTTS DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF GOVERNMENT ETHICS

You have asked us to advise whether we agree with a September 27, 1988 letter from the Office of Government Ethics (OGE) to the Department of Commerce (1988 OGE letter) and to review a draft OGE letter to the Special Counsel for Ethics at the Department of Health and Human Services (draft OGE letter). Both letters address issues involving the relationship between federal conflict-of- interest laws and the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986 (FTTA), as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1501-1534. We believe that the 1988 OGE letter was correct in concluding that payments to a government employee under FTTA section 7 do not violate 18 U.S.C. §208 or 18 U.S.C. §209(a). We also agree with the conclusion of the draft OGE letter that, on the specific facts stated there, section §208 bars an employee from working in his official capacity on an invention for which the employee holds a foreign patent, and for which the employee has contracted for foreign commercialization with the same company that is under contract with the federal government to develop the invention.

I.

Congress enacted the FTTA in 1986 as part of a continuing effort to encourage technology transfers from federal research laboratories to private industry. The FTTA amended the Stevenson-Wydler Technology Innovation Act of 1980, Pub. L. No. 96-480, 94 Stat. 2311, which created incentives for federal agencies and employees to work with private industry in commercializing new technologies developed in federal laboratories. To this end, section 7 of the FTTA requires a government agency to "pay at least 15 percent of the royalties or other income the agency receives on account of any invention to the inventor . . . if the inventor . . . assigned his or her rights in the invention to the United States." 15 U.S.C. § 3710c(a)(1)(A)(i). Once section 7 payments are made to an employee-inventor, the individual generally will continue to work on the development and improvement of the invention, including its commercialization as part of federal research and development efforts. These efforts may include a cooperative research and development agreement (CRADA). CRADAs are cooperative agreements with universities or other entities in the private sector and are aimed at refining an invention and transferring it to the marketplace. They are specifically authorized under section 2 of the FTTA.

At the same time, federal ethics laws generally prohibit government employees from personally participating in matters where they have a "financial interest." Under 18 U.S.C. §208:

Except as permitted by subsection (b) hereof [concerning waivers and other exclusions], whoever, being an officer or employee of the executive branch of the United States Government

participates personally and substantially as a Government officer or employee, through decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation, or otherwise, in a judicial or other proceeding, application, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, or

other particular matter in which, to his knowledge, he ... has a financial interest -- Shall be subject to the penalties set forth in section 216 of this title.

### 18 U.S.C. §208(a).

If amounts paid to government employees under FTTA section 7 constitute a "financial interest" in the invention, then the employee-inventor probably would be forbidden to continue working on the project while receiving section 7 payments.

In 1988, OGE resolved this apparent conflict by concluding that amounts paid to federal employees under section 7 constitute compensation from the government and that such compensation does not constitute "a financial interest" under section 208. While the 1988 opinion was not reviewed by this Office at that time, it is consistent with views we expressed in an earlier opinion. In 1980, this Office concluded that section 208(a) does not cover a situation "in which the only financial interest in the [particular matter] is that which federal employees have in their government position and salary, as to which no outside financial interest is implicated." See Memorandum for Thomas Martin, Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Civil Division, from Leon Ulman, Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, Re: 18 U.S.C. §208 and Pending Salary Adjustment Litigation 3 (Jan. 24, 1980) (1980 Opinion)

The question whether the term "financial interest" as used in section §208 covers compensation received by a government employee in connection with his government employment has never been conclusively settled. As in any task of statutory construction, we begin with the text, see e.g., United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576 (1981) ("In determining the scope of a statute, we look first to its language."), and are bound by the "fundamental canon" that "unless otherwise defined, words will be interpreted as taking their ordinary, contemporary, common meaning." Perrin v. United States, 444

U.S. 37, 42 (1979). Section 208 does not define the term "financial interest." It could be interpreted to refer to any number of potential monetary or other personal interests of a covered person, including an individual's federal compensation.

It is also true, however, that in "ascertaining the plain meaning of [a] statute, the court must look to the language and design of the statute as a whole." <u>K Mart Corp. v. Cartier, Inc.</u>, 486 U.S. 281, 291 (1988) In this regard, the provisions of section 208(b) may illuminate the meaning of subsection (a). Section 208(b) provides that:

Subsection (a) hereof shall not apply (1) if the officer or employee first advises the Government official responsible for appointment to his position of the nature and circumstances of the judicial or other proceeding, application, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, or other particular matter and makes full disclosure of the financial interest and receives in advance a written determination made by such official that the interest is not so substantial

as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity of the services which the Government may expect from such officer or employee . . . .

18 U.S.C. §208(b).

The creation of a procedure whereby employees may obtain exceptions from the prohibitions of subsection (a) upon disclosure of their financial interest indicates that Congress was not referring to "financial interests" that need no disclosure, such as the compensation a federal employee receives from the government. This rationale led to our original determination that the compensation received by federal employees was not a "financial interest" within the meaning of section §208(a). As noted in the 1980 Opinion, the full disclosure requirements of subsection §208(b) "suggest that the interest of concern is one that, without such disclosure, would not be ordinarily known to the appointing official. Otherwise, there would appear to be no logical or practical reason for requiring 'full disclosure' by the federal employee." 1980 Opinion, supra, at 2.

This interpretation of section §208 is supported by its legislative history. Section 208 was enacted in its present form in 1962. Before its enactment, 18 U.S.C. §434 forbade federal employees from acting for the United States in the transaction of business with any business entity in which they were "directly or indirectly interested in the pecuniary profits or contracts." 18 U.S.C. §434 (1958). In 1962 section §434 was replaced by section 208, which was intended to broaden the scope of its prohibitions -- in particular to cover financial interests held by the spouse, children and partners of covered persons. However, as noted in our 1980 Opinion, it is doubtful that Congress meant to "sweep within § 208's ambit every conceivable financial interest of whatever type." 1980 Opinion, supra, at 3. For example, the Senate Report on the bill that became section §208 explained that:

The disqualification of the subsection embraces any participation on behalf of the Government in a matter in which the employee <u>has an outside financial interest</u>, even though his participation does not involve the transaction of business.

<u>Id.</u> (citing S. Rep. No. 2213, 87th Cong., 2d Sess. 12 (1962)) (emphasis added). Thus, section §208 was enacted to extend the reach of federal conflict-of-interest prohibitions to cover the "outside" financial interests of a covered employee -- those interests outside of the individual's federal employment contract that would not necessarily be evident to the employee's superiors. Examples would include personal investments or the financial interests of an employee's family or business partners. There is little evidence that Congress meant also to encompass the employee's interest in his own federal compensation.

Indeed, if "financial interest" is interpreted to include compensation received from the federal government, the section could lead to absurd results. If an employee's federal salary were characterized as a "financial interest" under section 208(a), any action taken with the intent to increase that salary -- enthusiastically and conscientiously performing his or her duties in the hope of promotion for example -- might be forbidden by that section. Or an employee who must decide claims brought against the United States -- a Social Security hearing officer for example -- might well violate section 208 whenever he or she decides in favor of the federal government. An employee might be said to have a conflicting "financial interest" in protecting the federal treasury, from which his or her own livelihood is drawn, and section 208(a) expressly reaches the financial interests of the government employee's

employer. There appears to be no principled distinction that would exclude such actions or determinations made by an officer or employee from section 208's reach, if federal compensation is considered a "financial interest." Such an interpretation of the statute would

subject federal employees to possible prosecution under section 208 for the vigilant performance of their duties.

In addition, we note that Congress enacted the FTTA against the background of the conflict-of- interest laws, including section 208. It is well settled that statutes must be construed as consistent if possible, and that an earlier statute should not be read broadly when the result would be to circumvent a later enactment. See Watt v. Alaska, 451 U.S. 259, 266-67 (1981); Patterson v. McLean Credit Union, 491 U.S. 164, 181 (1988). In this connection, we note that the Supreme Court has declined to interpret federal conflict-of-interest laws broadly when the effect would be to forbid activity specifically authorized by Congress in a later enactment. See United States v. Chemical Foundation, Inc., 272 U.S. 1, 17-19 (1926) (predecessor statute of section 208 does not cover transactions authorized under later measure passed to deal with wartime conditions) We believe that section 208 can and should be interpreted as consistent with the provisions of the FTTA.

Payments made to employees under FTTA section 7 are federal compensation, indistinguishable for these purposes from salary, benefits, and other payments such as performance awards. The 1988 OGE letter concluded that royalty payments made under section 7 should be viewed as "additional compensation for Federal service," noting that the United States retains ownership rights in the invention under FTTA section 7 and that the inventor receives his or her share in the royalty payments from the United States, not directly from the outside licensee. This conclusion finds additional support in section 7, which provides that employees can receive payments in excess of \$100,000 under this program only with the approval of the President under the provisions regarding Presidential cash awards – 5 U.S.C. §4504. 15 U.S.C. §3710c(a)(3).

Therefore, we conclude that compensation received by an employee under FTTA section 7 does not constitute a "financial interest" under section 208. Such employees may receive payments under section 7 and continue to work on the development and commercialization of their inventions.

II.

In addition, we agree with the 1988 OGE letter's conclusion that FTTA section 7 payments are not prohibited supplementations of salary under 18 U.S.C. § 209(a). Section 209(a) prohibits federal employees from receiving any supplementation of salary in consideration of the performance of their official duties "from any source other than the Government of the United States." Since an employee receives section 7 payments from the federal agency holding the rights to the invention, the payments are not subject to section 209(a)'s prohibition.

III.

The draft OGE letter concerns section 8 of the FTTA. Under that section, when an agency having the right to ownership of an invention does not intend to file for a patent application or otherwise to promote commercialization of such invention, the agency shall allow the inventor, if the inventor is a Government employee or former employee who made the

invention during the course of employment with the Government, to retain title to the invention [subject to reservation of a nonexclusive, nontransferable license for the Government].

#### 15 U.S.C. §3710d.

Under this provision and implementing regulations, an agency may determine to prosecute a patent application in the United States, but not abroad, leaving foreign rights to the employee-inventor. 37

#### C.F.R. §101.8.

The draft OGE letter addresses a case in which the federal government, while choosing to commercialize an invention in this country, has permitted the inventors to retain foreign patent rights. Specifically, three federal employee-inventors share the rights to obtain certain foreign patents. The United States owns the domestic patent. These individuals have obtained some foreign patent rights and have entered a licensing agreement with a private firm, granting it the right to exploit the inventions overseas in exchange for royalties. Draft OGE Letter, <a href="supra">supra</a>, at 2-3. At the same time, the agency employing the three inventors has awarded an exclusive license to develop and exploit the inventions domestically to the same licensee. Moreover, the agency intends to enter a CRADA with the licensee under which that firm would handle the clinical trials necessary to test and evaluate the invention for the marketplace. "Thus, the private firm has an exclusive license for both the Government's domestic patent rights and the employee-inventors' foreign patent rights, plus a research and development agreement with the Government to develop and test the product." <a href="Id">Id</a>. at

4. Two of the three employee-inventors will be directly involved, as part of their official duties, with work related to the invention through the CRADA. It is, in fact, "typical for the inventor and the Government to enter into licensing agreements with the same firm" and "it is often in the Government's best interest to allow inventors who hold foreign rights to continue to develop their work." <u>Id</u>. at 4.

OGE has concluded that the employee-inventors have a section 208 "financial interest" in their inventions "because they own the foreign patent rights from which they receive royalties," and that they cannot, therefore, "officially act on any matter involving the private firm to which they assigned their patent rights. This prohibition would include work by the employee-inventor on the research and development agreement with the private firm." <a href="Id">Id</a>. at 5. In distinguishing these interests from the interest of an employee-inventor in section 7 royalty payments, OGE notes that here the inventors, not the United States, own the patent rights and that they consequently are "placed into a direct relationship with the party paying royalty fees." <a href="Id">Id</a>. Moreover, OGE points out that the licensing agreement itself constitutes a section §208 "financial interest."

We agree with OGE that the employee-inventors are prohibited by section 208(a) from taking official action involving the CRADA between the United States and their licensee. The license agreement between the employee-inventors and the government's contractor appears to constitute a "financial interest" under section §208(a). Accordingly, the employee may not participate "through decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise," in the performance or administration of the CRADA. We do not, however, believe it necessary to determine whether the inventor-employees' interest in foreign patent rights constitutes a "financial interest" that in itself would prohibit them from otherwise continuing the government's research into this invention. While the employee-

inventors' section 8 ownership interest in the foreign patent rights to the invention is distinguished from their royalty rights under section 7, both interests constitute an integral part of the FTTA incentive program created by Congress. Both arguably may be characterized as "compensation" to the employee, and there seems little reason to distinguish between the two interests -- both of which will be known to the individuals' supervisors. It is unnecessary to resolve this broader question, and we decline to do so.

Please let us know if we may be of further assistance. Walter Dellinger

Acting Assistant Attorney General

# RIGHTS TO FEDERALLY FUNDED INVENTIONS AND LICENSING OF GOVERNMENT OWNED INVENTIONS

#### **AGENCY**

National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), United States Department of Commerce.

#### **ACTION**

Final rule.

#### **SUMMARY**

The National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) announces revisions to regulations in order to make several technical corrections; reorganize certain subsections; remove outdated and/or unnecessary sections; institute a reporting requirement on federal agencies; and provide clarifications on definitions, communications, process for exercising march-in rights, filing of provisional patent applications, electronic filing of Bayh-Dole related reporting, the purpose of royalties on licenses from the Federal Government, and the processes for granting exclusive, co- exclusive, and partially exclusive licenses and for appeals. NIST has not adopted in this final rule a provision in the proposed rule regarding exercising march-in rights on the sole basis of product pricing. Instead, NIST intends to engage with stakeholders and agencies with the goal of developing a comprehensive framework for agencies considering the use of march-in provisions.

#### **BACKGROUND**

This final rule is promulgated under the University and Small Business Patent Procedures Act of 1980, Public Law 96-517 (as amended), codified at title 35 of the United States Code (U.S.C.) §200 *et seq.*, and commonly known as the "Bayh-Dole Act" or "Bayh-Dole," and its implementing regulations, found at <u>title 37 Code of Federal Regulations</u> (CFR) parts 401 and 404.

The rule shall apply to all new funding agreements as defined in 37 CFR §401.2(a) that are executed after the effective date of the rule. The rule shall not apply to a funding agreement in effect on or before the effective date of the rule, provided that if such existing funding agreement is thereafter amended, the funding agency may, in its discretion, make the amended funding agreement subject to the rule prospectively.

On January 4, 2021, NIST published a notice of proposed rulemaking (NPRM) in the **Federal Register** (86 FR 35) requesting public comments on proposed revisions to the regulations at 37 CFR parts 401 and 404, as well as general comments relating to federal technology transfer practices. The NPRM described the statutory framework for the proposed rule revisions under the Bayh-Dole Act and its implementing regulations. NIST received 81,253 submissions during the public comment period, which closed on April 5, 2021, including comments, questions, suggestions, and recommendations from, *inter alia*, individual members of the public, public and private universities, professional associations, research institutions, and non-profit foundations. Of the 81,253 submissions received during the public comment period, the largest percentage of the comments related to the proposed addition to 37 CFR 401.6(e) regarding exercising march-in rights on the sole basis of product pricing. A discussion of these comments and NIST's response is included in Comment 8 below. During the public comment period, on February 25, 2021, NIST also held a public webinar in which the proposed changes were reviewed, and public statements were accepted and made a part of

the record. NIST appreciates and has considered the comments received, and this final rule reflects a number of changes to the regulations proposed in the NPRM based on this feedback.

Additionally, severability clauses have been added to both Parts 401 and 404 in this final rule. In the event that any part of the regulations is stayed or determined to be invalid, the remaining provisions should be severable and remain in effect.

## **INDEX**

Cooperative Forestry Assistance Act of 1978  $\cdot$  144 Cooperative Research Act of 1984  $\cdot$  20

	Cooperative Research Centers
A	definitions · 25
	establishments · 35
and only Carren moditions and universities	purpose · 25
academia · See non profit institutions and universities	COPYRIGHTS
Advanced Research · 134, 167	DOE · 157
AMERICA COMPETES · 18	OGE Guidance · 197
America Invents Act of 2011 · 20	U.S.C. Title 17 · 73
American Association of State Highway and	
Transportation Officials · 147	U.S.C. Title 37 · 78
American National Standards Institute · 173	CRADA
AMERICAN TECHNOLOGY PREEMINENCE ACT OF 1991 · 16	AMERICAN TECHNOLOGY PREEMINENCE ACT OF 1991
Anti-Deficiency Act · 150, 180	Exchange of Federal Laboratory Personnel with
antitrust issues · 20, 24, 71, 108	Recipients of Federal Funding · 78
Arms Export Control Act of 1976 · 139	FEDERAL TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER ACT OF 1986 · 14
Arms Export Control of 1976 · 129	NATIONAL COMPETITIVENESS TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER
	ACT OF 1989 · 16
ARPA-E (Advanced Research Projects Agency-Energy)	NATIONAL TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER AND
167	ADVANCEMENT ACT OF 1995 · 18
	Other Legislation · 20
	TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER COMMERCIALIZATION ACT
В	OF 2000 · 18
Doub Dala Act of 1000, 103	
Bayh-Dole Act of 1980 · 192	
BAYH-DOLEACT OF 1980 · 13, 192, 193, 194	D
Bright Tomorrow Lighting Prizes · 173	
	Defense Authorization Act
_	FY 1991 · 20
C	FY 1993 · 20
CFR · See Code of Federal Regulations	defense laboratories
Clearinghouse for State and Local Initiatives on	education programs · 124
Productivity · 26	Defense laboratories
Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), defined · 21	technology programs · 140
	Defense Laboratories
Commercial Use, retention of funds · 137	technology transfer programs · 141
confidentiality	Department of Agriculture
invention disclosure · 96	Forest Rangeland and Renewable Resources Planning ·
Confidentiality · 69	144
information · 113	Department of Commerce
test results · 142	America Competes Act · 19
Cooperative Agreements	Competitive Technology · 27
EXECUTIVE ORDER 12591 · 14	Utilization of Federal Technology · 44
Experimental Program to Stimulate Competitive	Department of Defense
Technology · 26	Army Industrial Facilities · 137
MEMORANDUM FOR STEPHEN D. POTTS DIRECTOR,	•
,	Article and Services of Industrial Facilities · 128
OFFICE OF GOVERNMENT ETHICS · 200	cooperative education programs · 126
Cooperative Education Programs-DoD · 126	critical technology program · 140

F	1
Technology · 5, 26, 212, 214, 217, 226	Intergovernmental Personnel Act (IPA) · 115 International Science and technology · 185
Experimental Program to Stimulate Competitive	Industrial Extension Services · 15
Stimulate Competitive Technology · 26	1.1.1.15.1.1.0.1.1.
Experimental Program	1
Technology Innovation Legislation Highlights $\cdot$ 13	1
Other Legislation · 21	
12618 · 81	187
12591 · 14	High-Growth Businesses, Presidential Memorandum
10930 · 115	Higher Education Act of 1965 · 124, 125
10695 · 116	144
10096 · 184	hardwood technology transfer and applied research
Executive Orders	
Standard Patent Rights Clauses · 103	**
81	H
Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations	
Memorandum for Stephen D. Potts · 202	23.3/milotic Groffiance and Robatto Act of 1000 44
Contractor Appeals of Exceptions · 87	Government Performance and Results Act of 1993 · 44
exceptions	laboratories (GOGO) · 13, 14
Eureka Prize Competitions · 153	government owned and government operated
Eureka Competitions · 214	16
Energy Transformation · 167	government owned and government operated (GOGO)
Technologies · 160	(GOCO) · 16
Improved Technology Transfer of Ennergy	government owned and contractor operated laboratories
Energy Policy Act of 2005 · 18	General Services Administration · 58, 79
energy technology commercialization	
ENERGY POLICY ACT OF 2005 · 18	G
Standard Patent Rights Clauses · 101	
Improvement of education in technical fields · 123	
educational programs	Freedom Prize Foundation · 162
Disposition of Rights · 72	Freedom of Information Act · 97
Educational Awards	144
	Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Act of 1978 $\cdot$
E	federally funded research · 13, 24, 184
	Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986 · 14
	Federal Laboratory Consortium · 11, 14, 40
Government Employees · 115	Federal laboratory consortium · 42
Uniform Patent Policy for Rights in Inventions Made by	personnel exchanges · 40
84	federal laboratories and agencies
Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations	Federal Defense Laboratory Diversification · 141
Patentability of Inventions and Grant of Patents $\cdot$ 65	research equipment loans · 45
1989 · 16	Prize Competitions · 55
National Competitiveness Technology Transfer Act of	personnel exchanges · 53
Energy Policy Act of 2005 · 18	patents · 61
CRADA · 49	partnership intermediaries · 54
Department of Energy	National Technical Information Service · 32
U.S.C Title 10 · 123	employees and employee activities · 52
Transactions Other Than Contracts and Grants · 134	distribution of royalties · 50
encouragement of technology transfer · 141	disposition of rights · 65
Defense Authorization Act FY 1993 · 20	cooperation with federal agencies · 178

federal agencies and laboratories

cash awards · 50, 123, 203

Japanese Technical Literature Act of 1986 · 20

#### L

Leahy-Smith America Invents Act · 98

#### M

Major Range and Test Facility Installations · 137 march-in rights · 6, 68, 81, 90, 102
Microelectronics and Computer Technology
Cooperation · 20
Minority Serving Institutional Digital and Wireless
Technology Opportunity Program · 27, 190, 210, 217, 220

#### Ν

National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) · 38, 41, 176, 185, 190, 220 National Cancer Institute · 154, 220, 223 National Competitiveness Technology Transfer Act of 1989  $\cdot 5.16$ National Institute of Health (NIH) · 153, 214, 218, 220, 221, 225 National Institute of Standards and Technology · 11, 15, 20, 33, 42, 83, 105, 115, 119, 191, 206, 220, 221 National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research · 42 National Literacy Act of 1991 · 153 National Research Council · 152 National Research Institute · 153 National Science Foundation · 5, 25, 26, 38, 39, 40, 41, 53, 165, 176, 186, 190, 212, 214, 217, 220, 221 National Science Foundation Act of 1950 · 38 National Technical Information Services · 5, 32, 33, 34, 35, 40, 41, 212, 215, 216, 221 Nuclear Regulatory Commission · 156, 221

#### 0

Office of Federal Procurement Policy · 65, 66, 81, 86, 185, 221
Office of Management and Budget · 43, 81, 188, 191, 221, 222
Office of Productivity · 31
Office of Research and Technology Applications (ORTA) · 39
Office of Science and Technology Policy · 38, 53, 54, 186, 188, 190, 222
Office of Technology Transition · 212, 213, 222
Omnibus Trade and Competitiveness Act of 1988 · 5, 14

#### P

Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980 · 92, 192, 222 partnership agreements with educational institutions · 124, 222 Partnership Intermediary Agreements · 20 Patent and Trademark Office · 69, 97, 101, 222, 227 patents · 13, 14, 20, 43, 62, 70, 104, 141, 157, 184, 185, 188, 192, 204, 210, 213, 215, 216, 217, 218, 222, 223, 224, 227 President's Commission on Executive Changes · 185, Presidential Memorandum Accelerating Technology Transfer and Commercialization of Federal Research in Support of High-Growth Businesses  $(2011) \cdot 8, 187$ private industry dissemination of technical information · 40 ethics · 200 improved yechnology transfer of energy technologies · National Technical Technology Transfer and Advancement Act of 1995 · 18 technology innovation · 13 Technology Transfer Commercialization Act of 2000 · prize competitions · 55, 57, 58, 59, 148, 151, 154, 162, 163, 164, 176, 179, 209, 210, 212, 213, 214, 215, 217, 218, 219, 221, 223, 224, 225 Public Health Service · 7, 153

### Q

qualification requirement · 130, 131, 132

#### R

regulations · See code of federal regulations royalties
cooperative research centers · 36
CRADA · 46
distribution · 50
domestic abd foreign protection of federally owned inventions · 70
Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986 · 14
modification and tailoring clauses · 89
other legislation · 20
rights · 206

### S

sales of articles and services · 128, 129, 130, 139, 210, 213, 223, 225 SBA · See Small Business Administration science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) · 19, 214, 225, 226 Semiconductor Research Corporation · 20, 225 Small Business Act of 1953 · 131, 132, 225 Small Business Administration (SBA) · 26, 38, 64, 65, 83, 86, 92, 98, 107, 131, 189, 191, 225 Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) · 5, 13, 14, 16, 17, 59, 140, 188, 189, 191, 225 Small Business Research and Development Act of 1992 · 5, 16, 26, 31, 33, 34, 35, 45, 49, 69, 75, 134, 135, 141, 142, 157, 226 Small Business Technology Transfer Program (STTR) · 16, 140, 188, 191, 226 software developer elgibility · 20 special government employees · 52 Spectrum Challenge Prize · 8, 176, 224, 226 Stevenson-Wydler Technology Innovation Act of 1980 13, 18, 50, 72, 78, 152, 160, 200, 226 strategic research portfolio analysis · 8, 157 surface transportation research and technology development · 7, 146

#### T

Technology Share Program · 185, 187, 211, 212, 213, 214, 227

Technology Transfer Coordinator · 18

Technology Transfer Working Group · 18

trade and commerce · See Department of Commerce

Trademarks · 127, 128, 197

Transportation Research and Innovative Technology Act of 2012 · 148, 227

#### U

uniform patent policy · 115, 214, 219, 223, 227
United States Code · 21, 78, 81, 83, 84, 96, 98, 113, 185, 206, 227
University and Small Business Patent Procedure Act of 1980 · 184, 206, 221, 223, 226, 228
utilization reporting · 96

#### W

Wood Education and Resource Center · 144, 228